Involvement of the Polyamine System in Suicide

Laura Marie Fiori

Department of Neurology and Neurosurgery McGill University, Montreal

Submitted September 2010

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

> © Laura Marie Fiori, 2010

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT/RÉSUMÉ	2
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	5
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	6
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	8
1.1 Genetic and Neurobiological Approaches to Understanding Suicidal	
Behaviors	10
1.2 Gene Expression Profiling of Suicide Completers	46
1.3 Implication of the Polyamine System in Mental Disorders	55
1.4 Rationale and Objectives	75
CHAPTER 2: LARGE-SCALE STUDIES INVESTIGATING THE	
POLYAMINE SYSTEM IN SUICIDE	76
2.1 Global Gene Expression Profiling of the Polyamine System in Suicide	
Completers	79
2.2 Association of Polyaminergic Loci with Anxiety, Mood Disorders, and	
Suicide Attempts	102
2.3 X Chromosome and Suicide	132
CHAPTER 3: MOLECULAR MECHANISMS GOVERNING SAT1	
EXPRESSION	153
3.1 Identification and Characterization of SAT1 Promoter Variants in Suicio	de
Completers	155
3.2 Association of the SAT1 In/del Polymorphism with Suicide Completion	177
3.3 Epigenetic Regulation of SAT1 in Suicide	186
CHAPTER 4: INVESTIGATION OF GENETIC AND EPIGENETIC	
VARIABILITY ON THE EXPRESSION OF SMS AND SMOX	205
4.1 Genetic and Epigenetic Influences on Expression of SMS and SMOX in	L
Suicide	206
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	229
REFERENCES	242

ABSTRACT/RÉSUMÉ

The polyamine system plays an essential role in a myriad of cellular functions, and dysregulated polyamine metabolism and functioning has been implicated in a number of pathological conditions, including neurological and psychiatric disorders. In recent years, gene expression and genetic association studies have provided strong evidence implicating the polyamine system in suicide, yet it was unclear how extensively polyamine metabolism is affected across the brains of suicide completers, if similar mechanisms are involved in other psychiatric conditions, nor the molecular events by which these alterations in gene expression arise. The studies comprising this thesis were thus designed to address these issues, as they represent essential considerations both for interpreting previous findings regarding the polyamine system, as well as for evaluating the potential for this system to be used as a therapeutic target for the treatment of suicidal behaviors. To address these issues, a combination of gene expression and genetic association studies were first performed in order to better characterize the extent by which polyamine metabolism is affected across the brains of suicide completers, to determine if similar mechanisms are implicated in other psychiatric conditions, and to assess how the altered expression of these genes is related to the local genetic environment. Following these studies, a series of experiments were performed to investigate the involvement of genetic and epigenetic mechanisms in determining the expression of polyamine genes in the brain, as well as to evaluate the association of these factors with suicide. Collectively, the studies contained herein have not only replicated previous findings implicating the polyamine system in suicide, but have also greatly expanded our knowledge regarding the extent by which this system is affected in suicide, and have extended these findings towards other psychiatric conditions. In addition, several genetic and epigenetic mechanisms were identified which account, in part, for alterations in polyamine gene expression that occur in suicide. Ultimately, these findings have established that the polyamine system represents an important facet of the neurobiological alterations that occur in suicide, and have provided insight into the means by which this system is involved in the etiology and pathology of suicidal behaviors.

Le système des polyamines joue un rôle essentiel dans une myriade de fonctions cellulaires, et la dysrégulation du métabolisme et du fonctionnement des polyamines ont été impliqué dans quelques conditions pathologiques, incluant les troubles neurologiques et psychiatriques. Durant les dernières années, des études investiguant l'expression des gènes et les associations génétiques ont apporté des preuves convaincantes impliquant le système des polyamines dans le suicide. Ces études, par contre, n'indiquaient pas à quel point le métabolisme des polyamines est affecté dans les cerveaux de suicidés, ni si des mécanismes similaires sont impliqués dans d'autres conditions psychiatriques, et ne traitaient pas des événements moléculaires par lesquels ces altérations dans l'expression des gènes se présentent. Les études comprises dans cette thèse ont donc été conçus pour répondre à ces questions, car ils représentent les considérations essentielles pour interpréter les résultats antérieurs concernant le système des polyamines, ainsi que pour évaluer le potentiel de ce système à être utilisé comme cible thérapeutique pour le traitement des comportements suicidaires. Pour répondre à ces questions, une combinaison d'études examinant l'expression des gènes et d'études d'associations génétiques ont d'abord été réalisées afin de mieux caractériser dans quelle mesure le métabolisme des polyamines est affecté dans les cerveaux de suicidés. De plus, ces études ont permis de déterminer si des mécanismes similaires sont impliqués dans d'autres conditions psychiatriques et d'évaluer comment l'expression de ces gènes est liée à l'environnement local génétique. Suite à ces études, une série d'expériences ont été effectuées pour enquêter sur l'implication des mécanismes génétiques et épigénétiques dans la détermination de l'expression des gènes des polyamines dans le cerveau, ainsi que pour évaluer l'association de ces facteurs avec le suicide. Collectivement, les études contenues dans cette thèse n'ont pas seulement reproduit les résultats antérieurs impliquant le système des polyamines dans le suicide, mais ont également augmenté considérablement nos connaissances quant à la mesure de l'affectation de ce système dans le suicide, tout en étendant ces résultats à d'autres conditions psychiatriques. En outre, plusieurs mécanismes génétiques et épigénétiques ont été identifiés qui compte, entre autre, des altérations de l'expression génique des polyamines qui se produisent dans le suicide. En fin de compte, ces résultats ont établi que le système des polyamines représente un aspect important des modifications neurobiologiques qui se produisent dans le suicide, et ont permis de mieux comprendre les moyens par lesquels ce système est impliqué dans l'étiologie et la pathologie des comportements suicidaires.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported by funding provided by the Natural Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada and the Canadian Institute of Health Research.

I would first like to thank my supervisor, Dr. Gustavo Turecki, who provided me with the setting and tools by which to pursue research into a topic that has great meaning for me, and whose trust in my abilities has given me the confidence I needed to undertake this project.

Secondly, I would like to thank the current and former members of the McGill Group for Suicide Studies, whose constant support throughout these years has been invaluable. I would like to specifically thank Firoza Mamdani, Véronique Lebel, Carla Himmelman, Vesselina Deleva, Erika Freemantle, Marissa Maheu, Cristiana Cruceanu, Corina Nagy, and Benoit Labonté, who have always been there for me whenever I needed advice or encouragement.

Finally, I would like to thank my family, without whom none of this would have been possible nor even conceivable. You believed in me long after I had stopped believing in myself, and without you I certainly would not be where I am today. While I cannot repay you, or make up for everything I have put you through, I can only hope that someday, through this work and anything else I may accomplish in the future, I will eventually be able to explain why.

CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

1.1 Genetic and Neurobiological Approaches to Understanding Suicidal **Behaviors**

Fiori: Designed study, collected data, wrote manuscript Ernst: Designed study, collected data, wrote manuscript Turecki: Designed study, wrote manuscript, supervised

1.2 Gene Expression Profiling of Suicide Completers

Fiori: Designed study, collected data, wrote manuscript Turecki: Designed study, wrote manuscript, supervised

1.3 Implication of the Polyamine System in Mental Disorders

Fiori: Designed study, collected data, wrote manuscript Turecki: Designed study, wrote manuscript, supervised

2.1 Global Gene Expression Profiling of the Polyamine System in Suicide Completers

Fiori: Experimental design, performed experiments, wrote manuscript Labbe: Experimental design, statistical analysis, supervised Bureau: Experimental design, statistical analysis, supervised Croteau: Statistical analysis

Noël: Statistical analysis

Mérette: Experimental design, statistical analysis

Turecki: Experimental design, results, wrote manuscript, supervised

2.2 Association of Polyaminergic Loci with Anxiety, Mood Disorders, and **Suicide Attempts**

Fiori: Experimental design, wrote manuscript Wanner: Experimental design, statistical analysis, wrote manuscript Jomphe: Statistical analysis Vitaro: Experimental design Tremblay: Experimental design Bureau: Experimental design, wrote manuscript, supervised Turecki: Experimental design, wrote manuscript, supervised

2.3 X Chromosome and Suicide

Fiori: Experimental design, performed experiments, wrote manuscript Zouk: Experimental design, performed experiments

Himmelman: Performed experiments

Turecki: Experimental design, wrote manuscript, supervised

3.1 Identification and Characterization of SAT1 Promoter Variants in

Suicide Completers

Fiori: Experimental design, performed experiments, wrote manuscript Mechawar: Provided samples

Turecki: Experimental design, wrote manuscript, supervised

3.2 Association of the SAT1 In/del Polymorphism with Suicide Completion

Fiori: Experimental design, performed experiments, wrote manuscript Turecki: Experimental design, wrote manuscript, supervised

3.3 Epigenetic Regulation of SAT1 in Suicide

Fiori: Experimental design, performed experiments, wrote manuscript Turecki: Experimental design, wrote manuscript, supervised

4.1 Genetic and Epigenetic Influences on Expression of SMS and SMOX in Suicide

Fiori: Experimental design, performed experiments, wrote manuscript Turecki: Experimental design, wrote manuscript, supervised

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Mental illnesses are common and often chronic conditions which are associated with significant disability and mortality (1). Suicide and suicidal behaviors are among the most devastating consequences of these disorders, and range between ideation, attempts, and completed suicide, which accounts for one million deaths worldwide each year (2). Over the last century, numerous family, twin, and adoption studies have demonstrated the existence of heritable genetic factors which are involved in conferring risk for suicidal behaviors, and while a diagnosis of an Axis I psychiatric disorder is found in the majority of individuals who complete suicide (3), the heritability of these conditions appears to be based upon both shared and distinct genetic factors (4;5). Overall, the heritability rate for suicide ranges between 30-50% (6-8), with the remainder of the risk being due to environmental factors.

While an extensive number of epidemiological and psychological studies have been performed to identify clinical and sociodemographic variables which are associated with suicidal behaviors, it has become increasingly recognized that the etiology and pathology of suicide depends upon the interplay between epidemiological, psychosocial, genetic, and neurobiological factors. In accordance, each of these elements must also be incorporated into the development of effective means to treat and prevent suicidal behaviors. Unfortunately, in many respects the treatment of suicidal behaviors has lagged far behind those of other psychiatric conditions, such that clinicians have focused primarily on addressing co-morbid psychiatric disorders in the hopes that symptoms related to suicidal behaviors will also be diminished. While this approach has not been altogether unsuccessful, likely in part due to shared neurobiological mechanisms, this is clearly not optimal, and it is imperative that better psychological and pharmacological interventions be developed. Clearly, an essential first step in this process is identifying the biological substrates of suicide, as these represent the optimal targets for psychopharmaceutical treatments. While early studies investigating suicide focused primarily on neurobiological pathways

implicated in other psychiatric conditions, it has become increasingly recognized that research must expand its focus beyond studies of candidate genes or pathways in order to identify additional pathological factors. In recent years, studies using large scale profiling techniques have begun to address this issue. Amongst the findings arising from this research, the polyamine system has begun to emerge as an exciting new frontier in the investigation of suicide and other psychiatric conditions. Both expanding our understanding of the nature of the dysregulation of this system in suicidal behaviors, and elucidating mechanisms by which this occurs, comprise the focus of this thesis and the studies described herein.

This introductory chapter first discusses the wide range of genetic and neurobiological findings which have been obtained in studies examining suicidal behaviors to date (Chapter 1.1), then examines more specifically the methodologies and findings obtained through gene expression profiling studies of suicide completers (Chapter 1.2), and finally, summarizes the evidence supporting the involvement of the polyamine system in suicide and other psychiatric disorders and proposes mechanisms by which alterations in components of the polyamine system may ultimately lead to the development of these complex disorders (Chapter 1.3). The final section of this chapter (Chapter 1.4) describes the rationale and objectives for the studies undertaken in this thesis in order to investigate the role of the polyamine system in suicide.

1.1 Genetic and Neurobiological Approaches to Understanding Suicidal Behaviors

Laura M. Fiori, Carl Ernst, and Gustavo Turecki

McGill Group for Suicide Studies, Douglas Mental Health University Institute, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

Published in *Oxford Handbook of Suicide and Self-Injury*. Oxford University Press. M.K. Nock (ed)., 2010. (9)

Abstract:

Historically, societal views on suicidal behaviors have largely revolved around the religious and moral implications of ending ones' life. These views have differed greatly across cultures and time, and only recently has it become recognized that suicidal behaviors often reflect underlying mental illnesses and are not simply matters of conscience. This understanding led to the awareness that suicide could be empirically studied: a fundamental idea which has ultimately given rise to the current state of suicide research. This chapter focuses on studies investigating neurobiological processes associated to suicide. We first examine evidence implicating genetic factors in the susceptibility to suicidal behaviors, and subsequently, discuss molecular, neurochemical and other biological approaches used by studies investigating this complex phenotype.

1. Introduction

Over the past century, a myriad of studies have provided recognition and insight into the presence and role of hereditary factors in relation to suicidal behaviors, and have played a crucial role in directing future studies to understanding the development and clinical presentation of these behaviors.

Arising from this, examination of the most basic of inherited factors, the genetic code, became a logical step in uncovering molecular mechanisms involved in suicide. In parallel, neurobiological studies have provided evidence for the presence of specific biological alterations which are functionally associated with suicidal behaviors. Through the integration of genetic and neurobiological findings, the identification of the biological substrates of suicide and the characterization of the mechanisms by which these act and interact will eventually allow us to develop improved methods by which to treat and prevent suicidal behaviors. While historically there has been a separation between epidemiological, psychosocial, genetic, and neurobiological studies, these fields have begun to merge in recent decades as it has become increasingly evident that there is a strong interplay between each of these factors. As such, although the focus of this chapter is on the genetic and neurobiological aspects of suicidal behavior, most of the studies incorporate many additional variables, which may eventually allow us to develop an integrated understanding of the biological and environmental factors involved in the etiology and pathology of suicidal behaviors. This chapter first reviews research into the genetic epidemiology and neurochemistry of suicide, then examines how genetic and molecular studies will be instrumental in gaining important insight into neurobiological factors underlying the suicide process.

2. Genetics

The idea that hereditary factors played a role in suicidal behavior is not new and has been noted by many researchers over time, as early as 1790, when Charles Moore, in his book entitled A *Full Enquiry into the Subject of Suicide*, noted that suicide tended to cluster in families. In the centuries following this publication, case reports of twins concordant for suicide began to emerge, pointing the way towards the understanding that suicidal behaviors may possess what today we interpret as a genetic component. In 1949, Franz Kallman and colleagues noted that, "suicide is likely to be conceded as the least disputable example of a trait determined largely by heredity, while accidental death is often found to be the favorite choice of a condition attributed to strictly environmental influences" (10).

The idea that suicide possessed a neurobiological basis also began to emerge in the 1900's. In a set of papers published in the 1930's, Nolan Lewis reviewed many of the demographic, social, and medical factors associated with suicide and attempted suicide, and noted the importance of biology, particularly in terms of "adaptation" for suicidal behaviors (11;12). A series of studies followed that progressively helped in the recognition that suicidal behavior had a biological basis. Progressively, researchers became interested in the investigation of the genetic epidemiology of suicide, and more recently, on the study of molecular factors conferring susceptibility to suicidal behavior and underlying the suicide process. This section first examines studies that support the existence of heritable factors in suicidal behavior, then examines methods by which these genetic factors have been studied.

Whereas case-report studies played an important role in first demonstrating the potential for the involvement of heritable factors in suicidality, these types of studies have an inherent risk of representing chance findings, and lack the power to properly assess genetic and environmental effects that may be involved in the transmission of suicidal behavior. In the last few decades, numerous family, twin, and adoption studies have provided the necessary statistical evidence to support the role of genetic factors in the transmission of suicidal behavior and have allowed researchers to identify specific clinical and behavioral components which are associated with the familial transmission of suicidality. In addition, these studies have suggested that genetic factors accounting for the transmission of suicidal behavior are distinct from those influencing the transmission of other psychiatric disorders.

2.1 Family Studies

Family studies allow us to test the hypothesis that a trait aggregates (clusters) in families, as well as to investigate patterns of transmission and other factors, such as co-transmitted conditions, that may help to explain familial aggregation. One of the first studies to quantify the magnitude of familial aggregation of suicide completion was the seminal psychological autopsy study conducted by Eli Robins and colleagues in 1959, which found that between 6 and 31% of 1st and 2nd degree relatives of suicide probands had a history of suicidal behavior, depending on the psychiatric diagnosis of the proband. A series of subsequent studies have supported this observation in different populations (13-16) using primarily a family-history design, i.e., asking the proband or an informant about familial recurrence of suicidal behavior.

Family-history studies are limited by several biases and cannot properly investigate familial aggregation. One of the central questions puzzling researchers investigating familial transmission of suicidal behavior has been whether or not familial aggregation of suicide was explained by familial aggregation of psychiatric disorders, which frequently co-segregate in suicidal families. Properly designed family studies can address this type of question. One of the first studies to suggest that suicidal behavior was transmitted independently from psychiatric illnesses was the family study by Tsuang in 1983, who examined, by means of a combination of direct interviews and medical charts, relatives of patients with schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and depression, of whom a subset had completed suicide (17). This study identified different rates of risk for suicide in the relatives of suicides, non-suicides, and non-psychiatric controls, suggesting that transmission of psychopathology and suicide were not identical.

Greater proof for the independent transmission of psychiatric disorders and suicide came from the study by Egeland and Sussex, who examined mood disorders and suicide in the Old Order Amish, an isolated religious community in Pennsylvania (18). Using the extensive medical and genealogical records kept by this community over the past century, they identified 26 suicide completers, all clustered in four families in which mood disorders also displayed familial aggregation. No suicides occurred in other families who also displayed aggregation of similar mood disorders, strongly suggesting that genetic factors which increase the predisposition to suicide completion are distinct from those affecting the predisposition to other psychiatric disorders. However, as no suicides were found among families without mood disorders, it also seemed clear that transmission of suicidal behavior was conditional on the liability for psychopathology.

The first study to properly measure the familial aggregation of suicide, while adjusting for the role of psychopathology, was the study conducted by Brent and colleagues, which focused on adolescent suicide completers. They found higher recurrence in families of suicide completers compared to those of controls, an effect that remained significant after controlling for the increased rates of psychopathology in the probands and their families (4). Specifically, they found adjusted recurrence risks of 5.2 and 2.4, respectively, for 1st and 2nd degree relatives of suicide completers. This study also found that probands with high levels of cluster B traits had higher familial loading of suicide than other probands, an observation that is consistent with the notion that part of the familial aggregation of suicidal behavior could be attributed to cosegregation with impulsive-aggressive traits. Similar results were found in a study conducted by our group in families of adult suicide completers and population controls (19). We found that relatives of suicide completers were over 10 times more likely than relatives of comparison subjects to attempt or complete suicide after controlling for psychopathology. While relatives of suicide completers were not more likely to exhibit suicidal ideation, they had more severe suicidal ideation than relatives of comparison subjects. Similarly to the observations made by Brent et al (1996), we found that familial aggregation was stronger for the suicide completers diagnosed with cluster B personality disorders (19).

As these studies were only able to control statistically for the effects of psychopathology, our group more recently conducted a study using a three-group design. More specifically, we conducted direct and blind assessments of a total of 718 relatives from 51 families of depressed suicide probands, 34 families of living depressed probands without histories of suicidal behavior, and 35 families of psychiatrically normal community controls. We found clear evidence that familial transmission of suicide and major depression are distinct, while partially overlapping. In addition, using this design we could demonstrate that histories of aggression and cluster B personality disorders function as endophenotypes of suicide: in other words, they account for familial recurrence of suicidal behavior (5).

2.2 Twin Studies

Compared to family studies, twin studies can separate environmental from genetic effects, as monozygotic (MZ) twins and dizygotic (DZ) twins share, respectively, 100% and an average of 50% of the genomic variants, while both twin types equally share the environment. The first case report of suicide concordance among MZ twins was made almost two centuries ago, and since that time numerous other case reports and twin studies have emerged, of which the majority have found support for a higher concordance of suicidal behavior among MZ compared to DZ twins (20).

The three largest studies examining suicidal behavior in twins used twin pairs recruited through twin registries, and examined only suicide attempts or suicidal ideation. The largest study was performed by Statham and colleagues using an Australian sample, and found that the history of suicidal behavior in one twin was a predictor for suicidal behavior in MZ but not DZ twins (7). This study also found that genetic factors explained approximately 45% of the variance in these behaviors, and 55% of the heritability for serious suicide attempts. Following this study, Glowinski and colleagues examined a sample of female adolescent twins from the USA, and found higher rates of suicide attempts in MZ twins, with genetic influences explaining 35-75% of the variance in risk (21). Thirdly, using the Vietnam Era Twin Registry from the USA, Fu and colleagues examined suicidal ideation and suicide attempts in men, and found that after

controlling for psychiatric disorders, the heritability for ideation was 36%, and the heritability for suicide attempts was 17% (8).

Given the infrequent nature of suicide completion, studies examining concordance rates for suicide completion have been forced to use much smaller sample sizes. Roy and colleagues examined 176 twin pairs in which at least one twin had committed suicide, and found that the concordance for suicide completion was 11.3% in the MZ twins, and 1.8% in the DZ twins (22). Roy and colleagues also examined rates of suicide attempts in surviving co-twins, and found that 10 of 26 surviving MZ co-twins had attempted suicide compared to 0 of 9 surviving DZ co-twins (23). In order to determine if this elevated risk was due to factors associated with grief, rather than a shared inheritance for suicidality, Segal and Roy examined suicide attempts in surviving co-twins whose twin died by means other than suicide. They found no differences between rates of suicide attempts between MZ and DZ twins, supporting the hypothesis that the higher rates of concordance were specifically due to the inheritance of risk factors for suicide (24).

2.3 Adoption Studies

Similar to twin studies, adoption studies can also differentiate between genetic and environmental factors by comparing the rates of suicidality or other psychiatric disorders between the biological and adoptive relatives of adoptees.

The first study to specifically examine the relationship between suicide completion in adoptees and suicide completion among their adopted and biological families was carried out by Schulsinger and colleagues 30 years ago (25). This study compared rates of familial (biological and adopted) suicides between 57 adoptees who committed suicide and 57 living adoptees, identified using the Danish population registry. Among the 269 biological relatives of suicide completers, 12 had committed suicide, compared to 2 biological relatives of the control adoptees. Additionally, they found no incidents of suicide among

the adoptive families of the suicide completers or controls, highlighting the important role of genetic, rather than environmental influences.

A second adoption study was performed by Wender and colleagues using a larger sample from the Danish population registry, comprised of 71 adoptees with affective disorders and 71 healthy adopted controls (26). They identified increases in both attempted and completed suicides among biological relatives of adoptees with affective disorders compared to the biological relatives of controls. Rates of suicide completions were particularly elevated, and displayed a 15-fold higher prevalence in the biological relatives of the cases. They found no differences in suicide attempts or completion among the adoptive relatives, again demonstrating the importance of heritable factors. Interestingly, results showed only an eightfold increase in unipolar depression, which provides additional support for the independent heritability for factors related to suicide and other psychiatric disorders. Indeed, they found that affect regulation was a greater indicator than depression for suicidal behavior, and proposed that impulse control may play an important role in suicide.

Third, and most recently, a study using a large sample from the National Swedish Register identified greater rates of suicidal behavior in adoptees compared to non-adopted controls, and observed that psychiatric morbidity in the biological parents accounted for a third of the increased risk (27).

2.4 Identification of Genetic Loci

The results of the family, twin, and adoption studies have made it clear that heritable factors play a role in suicidal behaviors, and in doing so, point towards a role for genetic factors in the etiology and psychopathology of suicide. Below is a summary of studies conducted attempting to map and/or identify molecular genetic factors implicated in suicidal behavior.

2.4.1 Association and Linkage Studies

Linkage studies investigate co-segregation between a phenotype and genetic markers, and have been typically non-hypothesis driven, as they have tested markers spanning the entire genome. Relatively few linkage studies have been conducted with suicidal behavior compared to studies investigating different psychiatric phenotypes. In part this is related to the challenges associated with having access to biological material from affected relatives, some of whom may have died by suicide. As such, only three linkage studies have been conducted investigating loci segregating with suicidal behavior. One study examined suicidality among families with alcohol-dependent probands, and found that suicide attempts and suicidality were linked with regions on chromosomes 1, 2, and 3 (28). Another study using probands with recurrent early-onset major depressive disorder, identified a number of chromosomal regions linked with suicide attempts, including 2p, 5q, 6q, 8p, 11q, and Xq (29). A third study, performed in a large bipolar pedigree, identified regions linked with either suicide completions (2q, 4p, 6q) or suicide attempts (10q) (30). As seen for other phenotypes, there has been a decrease in the level of enthusiasm for linkage studies, at least as conducted until now, as they are seen as not having yielded meaningful and consistent results.

Unlike linkage studies, association studies do not investigate co-segregation, but instead compare genetic variability between all cases and controls. Numerous association studies have been performed to investigate polymorphisms in candidate genes, many of which will be discussed in later sections. Many of these studies also examined the relationship between these polymorphisms and clinical correlates of suicidality, such as co-morbid psychiatric disorders, as well as impulsive-aggression and cluster B personality disorders. Our group maintains a database of these studies, which may be accessed through our webpage (www.douglasrecherche.qc.ca/suicide). As with linkage studies, there has also been a significant decrease in the enthusiasm associated with studies using a candidate gene approach. However, the availability of dense single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) panels now allows researchers to instead conduct exploratory, genome-wide studies, investigating large samples of unrelated individuals. These studies, usually referred to as genome-wide association studies (GWAS), are currently being conducted in several psychiatric phenotypes, including suicidal behavior.

To date, however, only one non-candidate gene association study has been performed. This study, conducted by our group, examined the relationship between markers on the X chromosome and suicide completion in a French-Canadian sample (31). This study identified several regions displaying high evidence of association with suicide, as well as loci which were specifically associated with suicide in individuals with co-morbid depressive disorders.

2.4.2 Gene Expression Studies

Gene expression studies provide us with gene functional information. By comparing brain tissue from individuals who died by suicide with tissue from controls, we can obtain valuable information on the functional profile of the brain prior to death. The use of microarray technology allows us to screen genes in parallel and virtually obtain a snapshot of brain gene activity in the moments before death, and as such, gain valuable insight into biological processes underlying suicide. To date, 13 microarray studies have been performed which specifically examined gene expression differences between suicide completers and non-suicide controls. All of these studies have examined postmortem brain tissues, and have mainly focused on the prefrontal cortex (Brodmann areas (BA) 8, 9, 10, 11, 44, 45, 46, and 47) or the limbic area (amygdala, hippocampus, BA 24, and BA 29). Two more recent studies by our group have examined additional brain regions in order to obtain a broader view of gene expression changes occurring in the brain (32;33).

All but one study (34) identified multiple genes that displayed differential expression in suicide completers. As these studies generate large amounts of data, and the reporting of significant findings is often at the discretion of the researcher,

the tendency to focus upon genes within known and potentially relevant pathways can make it difficult to identify trends in "non-traditional" genes which are highly differentially expressed but were not reported. Nonetheless, several pathways have been consistently implicated in these studies, including the glutamatergic and γ -amino-butyric acid (GABA)-ergic neurotransmitter systems, as well as the polyamine system, which will be discussed in later sections of this chapter. Although these large data sets have the potential to generate many false positive results, the consistency of findings in these pathways provides strong evidence to support the notion that differential gene expression is an important factor in suicidality.

Interestingly, microarray studies have only produced minimal evidence for dysregulation of genes involved in the more traditional neurotransmitter pathways. This is in contradiction to the results of many studies that have specifically implicated these pathways in suicide. The reason for this discrepancy is not clear.

2.4.3 Epigenetics

Epigenetics refer to processes that alter gene expression without changing DNA sequences. Two important epigenetic processes are DNA methylation and post-translational histone modifications. Evidence suggests that environmental factors can influence epigenetic processes (35), and as such, epigenetic factors are excellent mechanisms to investigate in suicide and other psychiatric conditions where the environment is thought to play an important etiological role.

DNA methylation is a covalent modification at the 5' position of cytosine, occurring at CG dinucleotides. This modification can prevent the binding of proteins to DNA, and typically has been associated with gene repression when located in promoter regions (36), although increased gene expression also could occur if methylation prevented the binding of repressive elements. Altered levels of DNA methylation have been observed in the promoter regions of several genes in suicide completers. The first study to examine this was performed by our group

using DNA extracted from the hippocampus of suicide completers with a history of early childhood neglect or abuse, and identified increased methylation in the promoter regions of the ribosomal RNA genes which was associated with decreased gene expression (37). Following this, Poulter and colleagues identified altered levels of DNA methyltransferase activities in several brain regions of suicide completers as well as alterations in DNA methylation in the promoter region of the GABA_A α 1 subunit which was associated with levels of a particular isoform of DNA methyltransferase (38). Another study examined the role of allele-specific methylation of the serotonin 2A receptor (HTR2A) and found that methylation of the C allele of the T102C polymorphism was significantly different in white blood cells obtained from suicide attempters diagnosed with schizophrenia, but not in attempters diagnosed with bipolar disorder, nor was it differentially methylated in brain tissues of suicide completers (39). Two other studies conducted by our group examining methylation patterns of gene promoters should be mentioned. The first study examined the promoter region of the tropomyosin-related kinase B T1 variant (TrkB.T1) in brains of suicide completers and found that methylation at specific sites was correlated with gene expression, which was associated with the decreased brain expression of this gene in a subset of suicide completers (32). The other study focused on the hippocampus glucocorticoid receptor and translated results to humans that had previously been found in animal models of early environmental influences (40). This study highlighted the importance of early environmental adversity on the regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis, a system that is important in stress response.

Histones are the core proteins involved in the packaging of DNA into nucleosomes, and can be covalently modified at specific residues by acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, SUMOylation, and ubiquitinylation (41). The effect of these modifications on gene expression depends upon the histone protein (H2A, H2B, H3, H4), amino acid residue, modification, and positioning within the gene. Alterations in histone modifications have been examined in a number of psychiatric disorders, including suicide (42-44). Our group examined the tri-

methyl modification of lysine 27 in histone 3 (H3K27me3) and found increased levels of this modification in the promoter region of TrkB.T1, which were associated with decreased expression of this gene in BA 10 (44). On the other hand, we conducted another study examining the H3K27me3 modification in the promoter region of two polyamine genes, spermine synthase (SMS) and spermine oxidase (SMOX), and found no association between levels of modified H3K27 and suicide completion or expression of these genes in BA 8/9.

2.4.4 Proteomics

Although alterations in mRNA levels are often indicators for alterations in protein expression, this is not always the case. As the levels of the various proteins comprising the proteome theoretically represent the endpoint for gene expression changes, measurement of their levels should conceivably reveal a more accurate picture of the mechanisms involved in suicidal behavior. However, the field of proteomics has lagged behind that of high throughput genetic research, largely due to a lack of suitable experimental techniques. To date, only two studies have been performed investigating proteome alterations in suicidal behavior. The first study was performed by Brunner and colleagues who investigated the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) of unmedicated, depressed suicide attempters and non-attempter controls (45). Using 2-dimensional gel electrophoresis, they identified one protein which was found at much lower concentrations in the suicide attempters. However they were unable to determine the identity of this protein due to the limited amount of material. The second proteomic study was performed by Schlicht and colleagues using prefrontal cortex tissues obtained from suicide completers and healthy controls (46). Using 2dimensional gel electrophoresis and mass spectrometry, they identified five proteins which differed in intensity between the two groups, and were able to identify three of these: crystallin chain B, glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), and manganese superoxide dismutase.

3. Neurotransmitter Systems

Synaptic transmission in the central nervous system (CNS) underlies much of what makes us who we are. It is also the main site of the action of the psychopharmaceutical agents currently in use, and it is therefore not surprising that the role of the neurotransmitter systems represents one of the most commonly studied facets of suicidal behaviors. Classically, these pathways have been examined through measurements of the levels of the neurotransmitters and their metabolites, as well as the binding properties of their receptors, in the blood, urine, CSF, or brains of suicide completers. This early work has now been complemented with numerous molecular studies to examine many aspects of gene transcription, as well as more detailed analyses of the metabolic and downstream signalling pathways. This section will focus on the main neurotransmitter systems investigated in suicide to date, summarizing results from neurochemical studies, as well as those using complementary approaches.

3.1 Serotonin

The serotonin (5-HT) system is the most studied neurotransmitter in suicide research and studies focusing on this system have a long history, dating back a few decades. 5-HT neurons originate in the dorsal raphe nucleus of the brainstem, where 5-HT is synthesized from tryptophan by the actions of tryptophan hydroxylase (TPH) and aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase. Metabolism occurs mainly by monoamine oxidase (MAO) and aldehyde dehydrogenase to produce 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid (5-HIAA). At least 14 mammalian 5-HT receptors are known, and all are G-protein coupled receptors (GPCR) except HTR3, a ligand-gated ion channel (47).

Alterations in serotonergic function related to suicidal behavior have been found using techniques aimed at assessing various markers of serotonin in living humans and in postmortem brain tissue. The findings from these studies point to a net reduction in serotonergic neurotransmission as the neurobiological alteration associated with suicidality. However, not all studies have obtained these results, and it has been recognized that these compounds are highly influenced by postmortem and antemortem factors not associated with suicide (48).

Numerous studies also have examined the expression and function of genes involved in 5-HT neurotransmission, of which the most well-characterized are the 5-HT transporter (SERT, SLC6A4), and the receptors HTR1A and HTR2A. Many studies have examined the levels of SERT in the frontal cortex by measuring the binding of ligands such as [³H]-paroxetine or [³H]-imipramine. As this protein is found on axons of 5-HT neurons, these measurements are interpreted to indicate the integrity of 5-HT innervation. Overall, results have been mixed and although the general trend appears to be for decreased binding in suicide completers, studies have also found increases, or no changes (49). HTR1A also has been studied in suicide completers, however postmortem binding studies have been fairly inconsistent. Several studies have found decreases in HTR1A binding in the brainstem (50;51), and increases have been seen in the prefrontal cortex of suicide completers in some (52;53), but not all studies (54;55). Interestingly, alterations in downstream signalling pathways following HTR1A activation have also been observed in suicide completers (56). Greater support has been found for the involvement of HTR2A than HTR1A. Several studies have found increased binding in postmortem samples using either [³H]-ketanserin or [¹²⁵I]-lysergic acid diethylamide (57-60), and increased protein and mRNA expression have also been observed (58;61). However, as with SERT and HTR1A, there have been inconsistent findings (55;62-64). Interestingly, imaging studies of suicide attempters have found decreases in HTR2A binding in anxious and depressed individuals, which was negatively correlated with personality measures of hopelessness (65;66). As with HTR1A, alterations in downstream signalling pathways involved in HTR2A signalling have been observed in some brain regions of suicide completers (67).

Expression studies have assessed the role of genes involved in 5-HT metabolism, particularly the TPH genes (1 and 2) and MAO genes (A and B). Several studies have examined the expression of TPH2 in the dorsal raphe nucleus

of suicide completers and have found elevated levels of mRNA, protein, and TPH immunoreactivity in suicide completers (68-70). As this finding is counter to the idea that low 5-HT transmission is involved in suicide, it was suggested that these increases may reflect a compensatory mechanism in the brainstem. MAO-A and MAO-B are involved in the metabolism of 5-HT as well as the catecholamines, and have also been implicated in suicidal behavior. However, most studies have focused on genetic polymorphisms rather than expression or function of these genes. There is some evidence for increased expression of MAO-A, although this was found only in the hypothalamus of suicide completers (71). Although results for the involvement of MAO-B have been typically negative, a recent study found increased density of MAO-B in the frontal cortex of suicide completers (72).

Numerous genetic association studies have been performed in serotonergic genes, including SERT, HTR1A, HTR1B, HTR2A, MAO-A, TPH1, and TPH2 (73-75). The most convincing association has been with a functional promoter insertion/deletion in SERT. A recent meta-analysis found that the short allele, which is associated with decreased gene expression, was overrepresented in those with suicide attempts and violent suicides (75). Although positive associations have been seen with the majority of other serotonergic genes examined, many conflicting results have also been obtained, and there has been no overwhelming evidence to support the involvement of genetic polymorphisms in any of these genes in suicidal behavior.

3.2. Catecholamines

The catecholamines comprise dopamine (DA), norepinephrine (NE), and epinephrine (Epi). The role of DA in psychiatry has been best studied in schizophrenia, where it is the main target of the antipsychotics. NE plays many roles in the sympathetic nervous system, while Epi is a hormone released by the adrenal gland into the bloodstream (76). DA is synthesized from tyrosine through the sequential actions of tyrosine hydroxylase and aromatic L-amino acid decarboxylase. DA is then converted to NE by dopamine- β -hydroxylase, and NE is acted upon by phenylethanolamine N-methyltransferase to produce Epi. Catecholamine metabolism occurs through the actions of MAO and catechol-Omethyltransferase (COMT). There are five DA receptors, which are all GPCRs, and are classified as D1-like (DRD1 and DRD5), and D2-like (DRD2, DRD3, and DRD4), which differ in their localization and downstream signalling effects (77). Both NE and Epi activate two forms of GPCRs, the α - and β -adrenoceptors, each of which have several subtypes and are associated with specific second messenger systems (78).

Studies examining DA and its metabolites have focused largely on levels of its metabolites, homovanillic acid (HVA) and dihydroxyphenylacetic acid (DOPAC), in the CSF or urine of suicide attempters. Although several studies identified decreased levels of metabolites in suicide attempters (79-83) and completers (84), this has not been found in all studies (85-87). Inconsistent results have also been obtained when assessing the relationship between CSF HVA levels and behavioral correlates of suicidal behavior (88;89). Similar conflicting findings have been found by researchers measuring NE and its metabolite 3-methoxy-4-hydroxyphenylglycol (MHPG) in urine or CSF samples from suicide attempters, as well as in postmortem tissues of suicide completers. Some studies have found decreased levels of NE and MHPG (85;90;91), whereas others have found decreased levels (92), or no differences (86;93-95).

Receptor binding studies have assessed the properties of DRD1 and DRD2 in suicide completers. One study examined the basal ganglia of depressed suicide completers and found no differences in numbers or affinities of DRD1 and DRD2 in antidepressant-free suicides, but increased numbers and decreased affinity of DRD2, and increased DRD1 in antidepressant-treated suicides, suggesting that differences were related to treatment rather than suicide (96). Another study investigating DRD2 in the caudate of depressed suicide completers also found no significant differences in number or affinity (97). However, several studies by Pitchot and colleagues assessing downstream effects of DRD2 activation found significant differences between suicide attempters and controls, with suicide attempters demonstrating reduced growth hormone responses after treatment with

a DRD2 agonist (98-100). Two studies examined DA uptake sites in several brain regions of depressed suicide completers and found no significant differences in either numbers or affinities (101;102).

The adrenoceptors also have been examined in suicide completers. Arango and colleagues examined $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ receptors in the prefrontal and temporal cortices of suicide completers, and found an increase in $\alpha 1$ binding sites in the prefrontal cortex, with no alterations in the temporal cortex, and no differences in $\alpha 2$ receptors in either region (91). The opposite trend was observed by three studies which found decreased $\alpha 1$ binding in the prefrontal cortex, temporal cortex, and caudate of suicide completers (103), the hippocampus of antidepressant treated suicide completers (104), and the prefrontal cortex of alcoholic suicide completers (105). Another study found no differences in numbers of α 1 receptors in suicide completers, but increased $\alpha 2$ binding in the temporal cortex, and decreased numbers of $\alpha 2$ receptors in the occipital cortex, hippocampus, caudate, and amygdala (106). Several other groups have investigated a2 binding and protein levels and have found increased amounts of $\alpha 2$ receptors in the high affinity state (107-109), increased α^2 numbers in the hippocampus and frontal cortex (110), and elevated $\alpha 2$ protein levels and mRNA expression in the prefrontal cortex (61;111). However, one study found decreased $\alpha 2$ binding in the frontal cortex of alcoholic suicide completers (105), and a recent microarray study found decreased mRNA expression of a2A receptors in depressed suicide completers (64). Many researchers also have investigated the β receptors in suicide completers, with differing results. Several groups found increased β receptor binding in the frontal cortex (60) and temporal cortex (59) of suicide completers, whereas others have found decreases in these same regions (112;113). In the same vein, although one study found an increased risk for suicide in individuals taking β -blocking medication for cardiovascular diseases (114), this was not confirmed in another study (115).

Several association studies have investigated catecholamine receptors and their metabolism in suicidal behavior. Two studies investigated an exon III polymorphism in DRD4 and found no significant differences between suicide attempters and controls (116;117). Two studies have found positive associations with suicide attempts and polymorphisms in DRD2 (118;119). Several association studies have also examined polymorphisms in the α 2A receptor, and while one study from our group found a weak association with the functional Asn251Lys polymorphism in male French-Canadian suicide completers (120), this was not found in other populations (121;122). Interestingly, another study found an association of a promoter polymorphism with suicide completion in Japanese females, but not males (122), which was also not significantly associated in the all-male sample used in our study (120). Recently, another α 2A polymorphism was identified to be associated with increased suicidal ideation during antidepressant treatment (123). The relationship between COMT and suicidal behavior has been extensively studied, in particular the Val158Met polymorphism. The Met allele of this enzyme is associated with decreased activity (124), and a recent meta-analysis of association studies supported its involvement in suicidal behavior (125).

Overall, the results for the catecholamine systems are highly diverse, but several trends have emerged. Measurements in postmortem and peripheral samples points towards a decrease in levels of DA and its metabolites, as well as decreased activity of DRD2 receptors. There also appears to be an increase in NE and its metabolites, as well as increased expression of the $\alpha 2$ and $\beta 2$ receptors in the brains of suicide completers (126). However, it is clear that additional studies will be required in order to gain a consensus on the role of these systems in suicidal behavior.

3.3 Other Systems

3.3.1 Glutamate and GABA

Glutamate and GABA are the primary excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitters in the brain, respectively. Glutamate is synthesized either from glucose obtained from the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle, or from glutamine, which is synthesized by glial cells and taken up by neurons (127). Glutamate transmission is terminated by reuptake into neurons or astrocytes, which then convert it to glutamine to be resynthesized into glutamate by glutaminase (GLS) (127). The metabolism of GABA is intricately tied to that of glutamate, which is the precursor for GABA synthesis by glutamic acid decarboxylase (GAD). Additionally, following its release into synapses, GABA is transported into astrocytes and converted to glutamine (128).

Glutamate acts on four classes of receptors: the ionotropic α -amino-3hydroxy-5-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionate (AMPA), kainate, and Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptors, as well as the metabotropic glutamate receptors (129;130). Several protein studies have assessed the ionotropic receptors in suicide. Two studies examining NMDA receptors in the brain found no differences in antagonist binding between suicide completers and controls (131;132). However, another study found a decrease in high affinity, glycine displaceable binding in suicide completers, although no changes to the potency or efficacy of glycine to inhibit this binding, as well as no differences in antagonist binding (133). Another study examined modulatory sites of the NMDA receptor and found no alterations in the frontal and parietal cortices of suicide completers (134), but significant differences in the hippocampus, suggesting region-specific alterations in NMDA receptor functioning (135). Two studies examining AMPA receptors found increased binding in the caudate (132;136), although no differences in the putamen or nucleus accumbens (132). Another study found no differences in kainate receptor binding in the striatum or nucleus accumbens (132).

Microarray studies have identified alterations in the levels of several glutamate receptors, including subunits for NMDA, AMPA and kainite receptors, as well as the metabotropic glutamate receptor 3 (33;64;137). Additionally, downregulated expression has been observed for GLS, glutamate-ammonia ligase (glutamine synthetase) (GLUL), and glial high-affinity glutamate transporters SLC1A2 and SLC1A3 (33;64;138). The involvement of AMPA receptor 3 (GRIA3) is particularly interesting as it has been associated with a number of

psychiatric conditions, including bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and citalopram treatment-emergent suicidal ideation (139-142). Treatment-emergent suicidal ideation has also been associated with polymorphisms in kainite receptor 2 (GRIK2) (141;143). Interestingly, several of these glutamatergic genes are localized to glia, which lends support for the involvement of dysregulated astroglial functioning in psychiatric disorders.

The relationship of GABA levels to suicide was assessed by Korpi and colleagues who measured GABA concentrations in several brain regions of suicide completers and controls, and found no significant differences in any region, although there was a trend for increased levels in the hypothalamus (144). Another study measured GABA concentrations in the CSF of suicide attempters with personality disorders, and found increased levels which were highly related to impulsivity in these individuals (145).

GABA acts upon two classes of receptors: ionotropic GABA_A receptors and metabotropic GABA_B receptors. Measurements of benzodiazepine binding sites, reflecting quantities of the GABAA receptors, have been performed by several groups. Manchon and colleagues reported an increased number of type I binding sites in the hippocampus with a slightly increased binding affinity in suicide completers (146). A later study by the same group found no differences in receptor density but increased affinity of GABAA receptors in the hippocampus of violent suicide completers (147). Pandey and colleagues found significantly increased receptor density in the prefrontal cortex, particularly in violent suicide completers, although no alterations in ligand affinity (148). Other studies have found an increased number of sites in the frontal cortex of suicide completers, with no differences in the temporal cortex, amygdala, hippocampus, or locus coeruleus (149-151). Only two receptor binding studies have examined GABA_B receptors in brains of suicide completers, and have been mainly negative, with the exception of a slight increase in binding affinity in the temporal cortex of drugfree suicide completers (152;153). Other protein studies examining proteins such as GABA aminotransferase (71), GAD (149), and GABA transporter-1 (154), have also been negative. Finally, a recent neuroanatomical study investigating

GAD-immunoreactivity found significantly increased reactivity in the hippocampus of suicide completers (155), which may indicate alterations in the levels of GABAergic neurons in suicide completers.

In spite of the conflicting results from protein studies, expression studies have now observed dysregulated expression of many GABAergic genes in suicide completers. Altered expression of numerous GABA_A and GABA_B receptor subunits was observed across prefrontal and limbic brain regions, as well as GABA_A receptor-associated protein like 1, and a GABA transporter (SLC6A1) (33;64;138;156-158). Moreover, a study from our group found that 16 and 36% of the probesets annotated to be involved in GABAergic signalling were significantly differentially expressed in BA 44 and 46, respectively (64). There also is evidence for the involvement of epigenetic processes in the alteration of GABAergic transmission in suicide, as a recent study by Poulter and colleagues found a hypermethylation of the promoter region of GABA_A α 1 in the prefrontal cortex of suicide completers, which was associated with decreased expression (38). This effect was not found in the α 5 subunit, indicating gene-specificity.

In sum, although studies investigating glutamate and GABA have yielded some conflicting results, the evidence for their involvement in suicide is overwhelming. Although the traditional focus on suicide research has been the 5-HT system, it seems clear that these two systems show considerable promise for investigating the neurobiological basis of suicide as well as being potential sites for pharmaceutical treatments.

3.3.2 Other

Acetylcholine (ACh) is a key neurotransmitter in both the parasympathetic and sympathetic components of the autonomic nervous system, and plays an important role in the control of attention, learning and memory in the CNS (159-161). The two major classes of ACh receptors are the metabotropic GPCR muscarinic receptors (mAChR) and the ionotropic nicotinic receptors (nAChR) (162). The role of cholinergic neurotransmission in suicide has been examined in several binding studies. Meyerson and colleagues found increased mAChR densities in the cerebral cortex of suicide completers (163), however no differences were observed by two studies in the frontal cortex, hypothalamus, or pons (164;165). Downstream signalling through mAChR was examined by measuring [35 S]GTP γ S binding following receptor stimulation in the prefrontal cortex, and was not found to be significantly different in suicide completers (166). Interestingly, a more recent study investigating M1 and M4 mAChR found higher binding in the anterior cingulate cortex of suicide completers, particularly in those with schizophrenia (167), which may indicate a role for specific receptor types in suicide.

On another note, suicide by ingestion of organophosphate pesticides, which irreversibly inhibit the breakdown of ACh in the synapse, is an increasingly-recognized problem in developing countries. And while this reflects the availability of a highly effective means of committing suicide, it has also been suggested that long-term exposure to organophosphates may play a causal role in suicidal behavior (168;169). It also has been recently proposed that ACh may be involved in suicidality through its effects on other neurotransmitter systems (170). Overall there is some evidence for increased AChR or ACh signalling in suicide; however, more studies will be needed to confirm these findings and to investigate the possible relationship between organophosphates and suicide.

Endogenous opioids are a class of short peptides including the enkephalins, dynorphins, endorphins, endomorphins, and nociceptin, which have important roles in mood and nociception. Opioids bind with differing affinities to the four major types of opioid receptors, which are all GPCRs, and display different anatomical distributions (171). Although the effects of opioids on mood are well-known and opioids have been suggested as candidates for new antidepressants (172), relatively few studies have examined the opioid system in suicide. Three studies have examined μ -opioid receptor density and affinity in brains of suicide completers, although the results have not been consistent. Two studies observed elevated receptor density in several brain regions of suicide completers, with no

significant changes in receptor affinity (173;174), while another study found no alterations in receptor density but higher affinity ligand-binding in suicide completers (175). Another study assessed signalling through μ -opioid receptors and found no significant differences between the groups (166). Finally, one study investigated the mRNA expression of μ -opioid receptors and found it to be upregulated in the prefrontal cortex of suicide completers (61). Overall, there is only minimal and conflicting evidence for the involvement of the opioids in the psychopathology of suicide, with results suggesting increased binding affinities and/or expression of μ -opioid receptors. However, given that this system is still not fully understood, further studies are warranted to confirm these findings and to investigate the role of other opioid receptors.

4. Stress Systems

One of the most-widely used models to conceptualize risk for mental disorders, which has also been adopted in suicide research, is based on the notion of a stress-diathesis interaction. In the case of suicidal behavior, this model assumes that suicide results from the combination of stressors and predisposing factors. The systems discussed in this section may be involved in both stress and predisposition, as they represent sites at which the first effects resulting from stress may be apparent. Any factors influencing their capacities to respond to these stressors can have numerous long-term consequences. The two traditional stress systems in humans include the sympathetic nervous system, in which the catecholamines described above play essential roles, and the HPA axis system. A third stress response system whose role in psychiatric disorders has been less studied, is the polyamine system.

4.1 Hypothalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Axis

The HPA axis plays an essential role in adaptation to biological and behavioral homeostatic stressors. Activation of the HPA system involves the release of corticotrophin releasing hormone (CRH) from the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus, which stimulates the pituitary gland to release adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH), resulting in the release of glucocorticoids from the adrenal gland (176). These hormones travel systemically and act to increase the expression of genes involved in metabolism and inflammatory responses, and produce numerous effects in the CNS.

Dysregulation of the HPA system has been proposed for several psychiatric conditions, including depressive disorders (177), psychotic disorders (178), and post-traumatic stress disorder (179). One of the earliest studies to implicate the HPA axis in suicide was by Bunney and Fawcett in 1965, with the identification of high levels of 17-hydroxycorticosteroids in depressed suicidal patients (180). Following this, studies identified elevated levels of CRH in the CSF (181) and frontal cortex (182) of suicide completers, indicative of increased activation of the HPA axis in suicide. One of the most common methods to examine the functioning of the HPA axis is the dexamethasone suppression test, with dexamethasone non-suppression being indicative of elevated HPA activity. Early studies identified increased non-suppression among suicidal adolescents (183), and suicide attempters who later died by suicide demonstrated a greater rate of non-suppression compared to suicide attempters and non-attempters who did not go on to commit suicide (184). Similar results continue to be seen, supporting good predictive power of dexamethasone non-suppression for suicidal behavior (185;186). Gene expression differences have also been found in suicide completers, including a decreased expression of the glucocorticoid receptor in the hippocampus of suicide completers with a history of childhood abuse (40), and elevated expression of the CRH1 receptor (CRHR1) in the prefrontal cortex of suicide completers (158).

Relatively few genetic association studies have been performed for HPA axis genes. Of note are the studies focusing on the CRHR1, which was found to be associated with suicide attempts, but not in individuals exposed to high levels of lifetime stress (187;188). Another study found that genotypes in CRHR1 and the CRH binding protein (CRHBP) influenced suicide attempts and severity of

suicidal behaviors in individuals with schizophrenia (189), and the same group found a small association between suicidal behaviors and CRH receptor 2 (CRHR2) in those with bipolar disorder (190). Although there is only minor evidence regarding the role of heritable factors in HPA dysfunction, recent findings have indicated that first-degree relatives of suicide completers also display blunted cortisol responses under stress, indicating that alterations in HPA functioning are partially due to heritable factors.

Overall, there is strong support for a disturbance in HPA axis functioning in suicidal behavior, although the biological mechanisms linking the two are not yet known. One popular theory regarding the role of the HPA system in depression postulates that long-term activation of the HPA axis, and the resulting elevated glucocorticoid levels, have toxic effects on neurons in the hippocampus (191). As hippocampal neurogenesis is an important mechanism involved in antidepressant and stress responses (192), this chronic over-activity may also be relevant to suicidal behavior.

4.2 Polyamines

The polyamines are ubiquitous aliphatic molecules comprising putrescine, spermidine, and spermine, which contain two, three, and four amino groups, respectively, and which are positively charged at physiological pH. In addition, the guanidino-amine agmatine, whose presence in mammalian brains was discovered much more recently than the other polyamines (193), may also be considered among this group (194). The polyamine system has been identified in all organisms, and plays an important role in numerous essential cellular functions, including growth, division, and signalling cascades (195-198). In addition, evidence supports its involvement in stress responses at both cellular and behavioral levels (197;199). Interestingly, the polyamine stress response (PSR) appears to be developmentally regulated, and the emergence of the adult PSR is correlated with the cessation of the hyporesponsive period of the HPA system (200).
Alterations of the polyamine system have been observed in several pathological conditions including cancer (196), ischemia (201), Alzheimer's disease (202), and mental disorders (203). Although the involvement of the polyamine system in schizophrenia, depression, and anxiety disorders has been studied for over two decades, its role in suicide had not been suspected prior to a study by our group which found consistent decreases in levels of spermidine/spermine N-1 acetyltransferase (SAT1) across several brain regions obtained from French-Canadian suicide completers both with and without major depression. Further, our study identified a SNP (rs6526342) in the promoter region, which was significantly associated with suicide completion (204). Since this initial study, decreased expression of SAT1 has been observed in other brain regions and populations (64;157;205;206). Dysregulated expression of additional polyamine related genes, including SMS, SMOX, and ornithine aminotransferase-like 1 (OATL1), has also been identified (64;157).

We recently characterized the haplotype structure of the promoter region of SAT1, and identified three polymorphisms, including rs6526342, which played a role in determining the expression of SAT1 in the brain and *in vitro* (207). The most interesting results were found with a variable-length tandem adenine repeat in the promoter region, whose length was sufficient to determine the expression of reporter gene constructs, and which was found to be significantly associated with suicide completion among individuals with depressive disorders (208). Additional studies by our group have identified elevated levels of putrescine and spermidine in the brains of suicide completers, which may be a consequence of the decreased activity of SAT1 (209).

Although the mechanism by which altered polyamine levels can influence risk for suicide or other psychiatric disorders is not yet clear, several mechanisms have been proposed. Firstly, the polyamines have been shown to influence transmission through several neurotransmitter systems, including the catecholamines (210-213), glutamate (214), GABA (215-217), and nitric oxide (218), each of which may be involved in psychiatric disorders. Agmatine itself is believed to act as a neurotransmitter through imidazoline receptors, $\alpha 2$ - adrenoceptors, nAChR, and HTR3 receptors: this theory is supported by its storage in synaptic vesicles and capacity to be released upon depolarization (219). Secondly, polyamines interact with several transmembrane channels, including inward-rectifying K^+ channels, ionotropic glutamate receptors, and L-type Ca²⁺ channels, and thus can influence the properties of excitable cells (214;220). Finally, both agmatine and putrescine demonstrate anxiolytic and antidepressant effects in animal studies (221-227), which could be particularly relevant for suicide completers with co-morbid mood or anxiety disorders.

5. Cell Signalling

The main function of cell signalling pathways is to transduce messages from outside the cell to produce specific alterations within the cell. This section will focus specifically on signal transduction pathways that result in changes in gene expression. The two mechanisms by which these effects occur are through receptors located at the cell surface, whose effects on gene transcription occur through second messenger systems, and nuclear receptors, whose inactive forms reside primarily in the cytoplasm and which become activated when bound by their membrane-permeable ligands. These receptors then pass through the nuclear pore to the nucleus where they act directly upon the DNA by binding to specific recognition sites within gene promoter regions.

Cell surface receptors typically possess extracellular, transmembrane, and intracellular domains. Following binding of a ligand to the extracellular domain, conformational changes are induced which can alter its ability to interact with intracellular molecules or activate the enzymatic activity of the receptor itself. Based upon the type of receptor and the nature of the ligand being bound, different intracellular signalling pathways are activated or repressed.

Many of the neurotransmitter receptors are GPCRs, for which ligand-binding allows the intracellular domain to interact with various G-proteins to activate second messenger signalling pathways, mainly those involving cyclic AMP (cAMP) or 1,4,5-inositoltriphosphate (IP3). As discussed above, many of these receptors have already been implicated in suicidal behavior, and alterations in downstream signalling pathways have also been observed in suicide completers. Although the trend has been for impaired signalling through various components of the cAMP and IP3 pathways in postmortem brain tissues of suicide completers (56;228-232), some studies have either found no change, or evidence for increased signalling (233;234). These differences may be due to differing regulation of second messenger signalling across the brain (235), use of antidepressants (234), or the presence of other psychiatric disorders (236).

Growth factor receptors are another important class of cell surface receptors, and following binding of their ligands, the receptors dimerize and activate the tyrosine kinase activity of their intracellular domain, resulting in autophosphorylation that allows the intracellular domains to interact with proteins involved in various second messenger systems (237). The neurotrophins are a class of peptide growth factors secreted by specific cells to increase the growth and survival of neurons, and include nerve growth factor (NGF), neurotrophin 3 (NT-3), neurotrophin 4 (NT-4), and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF). Among this group, only signalling by BDNF, and its receptor TrkB, have been implicated in suicide. While microarray studies have failed to identify differences in the expression of BDNF itself, decreased protein levels of BDNF and expression of TrkB have been observed in several postmortem studies of suicide completers (32;238;239), supporting a role for a downregulation of BDNF/TrkB signalling. One of these studies determined that downregulated TrkB expression was due to the decreased expression of one specific TrkB isoform, TrkB.T1, which is expressed exclusively in astrocytes (32). Many association studies have examined the Val66Met polymorphism of BDNF in suicidal behavior, although results have been mixed, and associations generally appear not to be with suicide completion, but rather with other aspects of suicidal behavior (240-243). Although the mechanism by which decreased BDNF/TrkB signalling plays a role in suicide is not yet known, several studies have implicated this pathway in depression. Antidepressant use has been shown to increase the expression of BDNF in both the periphery (244) and the brain (245), which has been associated with improvement of depressive symptoms (246). Interestingly, a recent study found that SNPs in BDNF and the neurotrophin tyrosine kinase receptor 2 (NTRK2) were associated with antidepressant treatment-emergent suicidal ideation (123).

Fibroblast growth factor (FGF) is another growth factor which has been implicated in suicide. This growth factor is involved in cell proliferation and differentiation in development, and has essential roles in neuronal signal transduction in adults (247). Several microarray studies have identified downregulated expression of proteins involved in FGF signalling in brains of suicide completers (138;248). Similar to BDNF, FGF has also been shown to be upregulated following antidepressant treatment (249).

As discussed earlier, there is some evidence for dysregulated function of the glucocorticoid receptor in suicide, but there have been few studies on the role of other nuclear receptors in suicidal behavior. Estrogen has been implicated in depression and schizophrenia (250), and several studies have examined polymorphisms in estrogen receptors in suicidal behavior, none of which were found to be significantly associated (251-253). Low levels of testosterone, which acts at the androgen receptor, have been observed in suicide attempters, although the relationship with violence of the attempts has not been consistent (254;255). Whether there are defects in androgen receptor functioning in suicidal behavior remains unknown.

6. Cholesterol and Lipid Metabolism

Lipids and their metabolites are involved in numerous biological processes including energy metabolism, immune function, and second messenger signalling, as well as being essential components of cellular membranes. Cholesterol metabolism appears to be particularly important in psychiatric disorders, and beyond its essential role in determining membrane fluidity and localization of proteins in lipid bilayers, is required for the synthesis of steroid hormones and fatsoluble vitamins.

The interest in cholesterol as a possible biological correlate of suicide and related behaviors dates as far back as 1979, when Virkkunen demonstrated that male subjects with antisocial personality disorder — a high risk group prone to violence and suicide — had lower levels of serum cholesterol than the control group of male patients with other personality disorders (256). It was only after concerns were raised over the safety of using cholesterol-lowering medications that particular attention was paid to the seeming relationship between cholesterol and violent behavior. In particular, two large randomized, double-blind lipidlowering trials revealed that although decreasing serum cholesterol with lipidlowering medications was effective in reducing mortality from coronary heart disease, the overall mortality rate was not significantly different (257;258). The reduction in cardiac-related deaths appeared to be offset by an increase in violence-related deaths including suicide, accidents, and homicide. To examine the issue more globally, Muldoon and colleagues combined the results of primary prevention trials using meta-analytic techniques and concluded that there was a significant increase in non-illness-related mortality (i.e., deaths from accidents, suicide or violence) in groups receiving treatment to lower cholesterol concentrations compared with controls (259). Although nonsignificant results have been observed among more recent meta-analyses, this may reflect the modification of inclusion criteria in these trials to exclude individuals with histories of psychiatric illnesses and substance abuse (260). Support for a relationship between cholesterol metabolism and suicide has also been found in large epidemiological studies in which low serum cholesterol levels have been frequently associated with suicidal behavior (261-265). Although gender-specific effects have been observed (261;266), this has not been the case in all studies (263). Although a relationship between low serum cholesterol levels and suicide has not been described in all studies (267), the overall evidence strongly supports the involvement of cholesterol in suicidal behavior.

There also has been some evidence supporting a relationship between suicide attempts and low serum levels of cholesterol, as well as other lipids, from studies in psychiatric populations (268-274). Clinical studies, however, have not been as

consistent as epidemiological studies. Nevertheless, intriguingly, many studies have identified low cholesterol levels to be a specific marker for violent suicide methods, such that lower serum cholesterol levels have been observed in violent compared to non-violent suicide attempters (275-279), as well as in the brain tissues of violent suicide completers (280). As with the epidemiological studies, gender-specific differences have sometimes been observed, with greater effects being found in male compared to female suicide attempters (271;272). The relationship between suicidal behavior and the levels of other lipids, such as fatty acids and triglycerides, has been difficult to interpret, as some studies have described decreased levels in the serum of suicide attempters (283;284). As the relationship between peripheral and brain levels of cholesterol and other lipids remains unclear (285), these discrepant results could suggest differing roles for lipid metabolism in suicidal behavior between the two systems, or alternatively, alterations in lipid metabolism may be specific to suicide attempters.

In addition to altered levels of the lipids themselves, evidence for a dysregulation in lipid metabolism in suicidal behavior also has emerged from gene expression studies. Recent microarray studies have identified altered expression of several lipid-related genes in the brains of suicide completers, including the low density lipoprotein receptor (LDL-R) (138), chemokine-like factor superfamily 5 (CKLFSF5), erbb2 interacting protein (ERBB2IP), fatty acid desaturase 1 (FADS1), gremlin 1, cysteine knot superfamily (GREM1), interferon gamma-inducible protein 16 (IFI16), leptin receptor (LEPR), myotubularin related protein 10 (MTMR10), Notch homolog 1 (NOTCH1), phosphoinositide-3-kinase (class 2 alpha; PIK3C2A), phosphatidylinositol 3,4,5-trisphosphate-dependent RAC exchanger 1 (PREX1), S100 calcium binding protein beta (S100B), and stearoyl-CoA desaturase (SCD) (286). The ability of long-term alterations in the expression of cholesterol metabolic genes to confer risk for suicidal behavior has been observed in carriers of a mutation involved in Smith-Lemli-Opitz (SLO) syndrome, an autosomal recessive disorder resulting from mutations in the gene coding for 7-dehydrocholesterol reductase (DHCR7), an enzyme involved in

cholesterol biosynthesis. While carriers of this mutation are phenotypically normal, they display low levels of cholesterol and display suicidal behavior (287).

Several mechanisms have been proposed to explain the role of altered lipid and cholesterol metabolism in suicide and other psychiatric disorders. Many of these theories propose a relationship between cholesterol and 5-HT neurotransmission resulting from alterations in membrane fluidity (288;289). Although unlikely, this mechanism is partly supported by experimental studies confirming a relationship between cholesterol and 5-HT in humans (290). Secondly, altered immune responses, in which lipids play an essential role, have been implicated in other psychiatric disorders (291) and some studies have suggested that the role of lipid metabolism in suicide may be due to a relationship between increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines and the levels of cholesterol and fatty acids (292;293). A more recent explanation is associated with the role cholesterol plays in the development and function of neural synapses (294;295). Regardless of the molecular mechanisms that may mediate this relationship, a possible behavioral link may be through impulsive-aggressive traits. Accordingly, it seems reasonable to posit that a relationship should exist between our dietary needs and our behaviors. As such, when in need of dietary intake, our behavior should naturally become more aggressive, which in turn, may increase suicide risk in individuals at risk.

7. Other Systems

As research into the neurobiological basis of suicidal behavior continues, new biological pathways continue to emerge as potential sites harbouring factors involved in this complex trait. While a discussion of all known pathways which have been implicated in suicide is beyond the scope of this chapter, several of the newer findings will be discussed in this section.

As well as being involved in intracellular signalling pathways through its conversion to cAMP, adenosine triphosphate (ATP) is an essential component of cellular energy metabolism. Altered expression of several ATP-related genes has been observed in two microarray studies. One study observed downregulated expression of the Na+/K+-ATPase alpha 3 subunit (ATP1A3) in the prefrontal cortex of suicide completers with depression, bipolar disorder, and schizophrenia (248). Another study found that TCA cycle and ATP-related genes were significantly associated with gene expression differences between depressed and non-depressed suicide completers, and suggested that these defects may be markers for suicidal behavior in the context of depression (64). Mitochondria are the organelles in which much of the cellular energy metabolism occurs, and it is of interest that altered expression of genes encoded by mitochondrial DNA has also been observed in suicide and other psychiatric disorders (296;297).

Nitric oxide (NO) is a gaseous signalling molecule with important roles in cardiovascular, muscular, immune, and nervous system functions. NO is synthesized from L-arginine by several NO synthases (NOS), which differ in both their tissue and cellular distributions. NO has been implicated in several psychiatric conditions including depression, and appears to play an important role in learning and memory (298). Several studies have now investigated the role of NO function in suicide. Two studies found elevated plasma levels of NO in depressed suicide attempters (299;300). Two studies have also examined polymorphisms in NOS genes, and while one study found that genotypes within NOS1 and NOS3 were associated with aspects of suicidal behavior (301), another group found no association between NOS3 polymorphisms and suicide attempts (302). Clearly additional work will be required to clarify the role of NO in suicidal behavior, although there is some evidence that its involvement may be through increasing impulsive behaviors (303).

In addition to many of the factors described in previous sections, synaptic transmission is also highly regulated by presynaptic factors controlling the vesicle-mediated release of neurotransmitters. Considerable evidence is now emerging implicating altered function of this system in suicide. One study identified a decreased ratio of synapsin/synaptophysin in suicide completers (304), while another group observed alterations in syntaxin and synaptosomal-associated protein (25 kDa) (SNAP25) levels in the SNARE complex (305).

Alterations in the expression of numerous other related genes have been found in microarray studies of suicide completers, including vesicle-associated membrane protein 3 (VAMP3), synaptotagmin XIII (SYT13), synaptophysin-like protein (SYPL), synapsin II (SYN2), synaptosomal-associated protein (23 kDa) SNAP23, SNAP25, and synaptosomal-associated protein (29 kDa) (SNAP29) (33;64). Finally, variants in vesicle-associated membrane protein 4 (VAMP4) were associated with suicide attempts in one study (306).

8. Future Studies

Although the understanding of the role of neurobiological factors in suicide has vastly increased within the last few decades, we are far from developing an integrated picture of how specific alterations at the levels of DNA, mRNA, protein, or neuroactive molecules interact to confer risk for suicidal behaviors. Additionally, we remain far from understanding how this knowledge can be used to chemically treat these behaviors. The majority of studies performed to date have focused on genes and proteins of interest, and while these studies continue to be important, they are not sufficient to address these issues. Microarrays have played an essential role in highlighting new molecular pathways involved in suicidal behavior, and in the future more high throughput methods should be used to study this complex trait.

GWAS have become a popular tool to investigate complex diseases, and have been performed in several psychiatric disorders including depression, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and attention deficit hyperactivity disorder. A GWAS has not yet been performed in suicide completers, although efforts to do so are currently underway. Along with identifying SNPs associated with suicide, these studies can be used to examine copy number variations (CNV), large segments of chromosomal deletions and amplifications, which have been observed in other psychiatric conditions, most notably bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and autism (307). The majority of microarray studies in suicide performed to date have used 3' expression arrays, which typically probe only the 3' end of mRNAs. Newer arrays have now been developed which can specifically probe the expression of each exon within a gene. Importantly, this will allow for the identification of proteins which show specific splicing differences among suicide completers, and which may improve our understanding of how these genes function in suicide.

While gene expression studies have typically focused on mRNA, the importance of other classes of RNA molecules has become increasingly recognized. MicroRNAs are short, single-stranded RNA molecules which bind to specific mRNA molecules and target them for degradation (308). Recent studies have examined the role of altered microRNA levels and functions in other psychiatric conditions (309-311), and microRNAs are currently under investigation for their role in suicide.

Finally, the epigenetic studies of suicide to date have only focused on genes of interest. Examination of alterations in CpG methylation at a larger scale is now possible using comparative hybridization arrays (312), and very soon through large scale, genome-based deep sequencing. Histone modifications can also be examined at a higher throughput level using ChIP-based methods. These large scale studies will open the door to the systematic investigation of epigenetic effects that may be involved in suicide risk. As epigenetic markings are potentially reversed, this is an exciting area of investigation that creates the opportunity for eventual intervention and future avenues for risk modification.

1.2 Gene Expression Profiling of Suicide Completers

Laura M. Fiori and Gustavo Turecki

McGill Group for Suicide Studies, Douglas Mental Health University Institute, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

Published in Journal of European Psychiatry, In Press (313)

Abstract

Despite strong evidence for a role of biological factors in the etiology and pathology of suicide, the study of traditional neurotransmitter systems has been able to explain only a small proportion of the neurobiology of what is now recognized as a complex genetic trait. The use of microarrays to simultaneously examine the expression levels of thousands of gene transcripts has vastly expanded our capacity to detect the involvement of additional genes and pathways in suicidality, and has opened many new avenues for the discovery of the biological underpinnings of suicide completion. This review examines microarray studies which have been used to identify genes displaying altered expression in suicide completers, and highlights some of the important methodological considerations and metabolic pathways which have emerged from these analyses.

Introduction

Suicide is one of the leading causes of death worldwide, and the importance of both biological and environmental factors in the etiology and pathology of suicidal behavior has been well established. As with other psychiatric conditions, suicidal behavior is a complex phenotype, and efforts to identify the precise molecular mechanisms involved have been hampered by the large heterogeneity found within groups of suicide completers. Traditional candidate gene studies of suicide focused largely on the serotonergic, noradrenergic, and dopaminergic systems due to their strong affiliations with other psychiatric disorders. However, while many interesting findings have been generated regarding the roles of these systems in suicidality, genetic and epigenetic variability within these genes has explained only a fraction of the known heritability and environmental influences. To identify additional contributing genetic factors, large-scale studies have been completed, and other studies are in the process of being conducted, to pinpoint genetic loci that may be putatively involved in the etiology of suicide. However, as with all studies of genetic variation, once a promising region has been identified there still remains the need of determining which variant within the associated haplotype block is etiologically implicated, the mechanism by which it exerts its effects, where exactly in the brain and at what cellular level these effects occur, and as importantly, at what stage in development they take place and how they interact with the environment. The use of microarray technology to examine gene expression in suicide completers represents a useful shortcut to most of these challenges and provides us with a functional snapshot of cellular processes in the brain of individuals who died by suicide. When compared to similar information of control samples, we can obtain valuable insight into molecular processes underlying suicide.

This review will focus on studies which have used microarray technology as a screening tool to identify genes displaying altered postmortem brain expression levels in suicide completers. These are shown in Table 1. Although many additional genome wide expression studies have included subjects who died by suicide (reviewed in (296;314;315)), this list comprises only those which 1) used microarrays to measure differences in mRNA levels, 2) specifically assessed differences between suicide completers and non-suicide controls, and 3) used the data as a screening tool rather than to study specific pre-selected genes or pathways.

This review will first discuss the methodological similarities and differences between these studies, then will highlight several of the metabolic pathways which have emerged from these studies. Finally, future directions of gene expression studies in identifying biological mechanisms involved in suicidality will be examined.

Methodology

This section will discuss methodological issues such as sample characteristics, brain regions, and microarray technologies. Additional considerations such as normalization methods, false discovery correction, and statistical tools to specifically examine confounding factors are beyond the scope of this review.

Sample Characteristics and Confounding Factors

The power to detect significantly differentially expressed genes, and what this information represents in terms of relevance for suicidality, depends both upon the number of samples within each group, and the method by which groups are defined.

Owing to the cost of microarray studies and difficulties in subject recruitment, sample sizes have typically been small, ranging from 6 (316) to 90 (138) subjects overall, with generally between 10 to 15 subjects within each experimental group. Psychopathology is an important confounder in expression studies of suicide. Although familial transmission of suicidality suggest that suicide segregates independently from psychopathology (317), biological factors associated with the latter need to be carefully controlled for, a process that is methodologically and operationally challenging. Three Axis I diagnoses that are frequently associated with suicide, major depression (MD), bipolar disorder (BD), and schizophrenia (SCZ), have been commonly included in the studies performed to date, and several methods have been used to attempt to separate their effect from that of suicide. One method has been to group together all suicide completers regardless of underlying psychopathology and compare this suicide group to a healthy control group (34;137;316;318;319). A second strategy has

been to group suicide completers with each Axis I disorder separately (ie. suicide completers with MD, suicide completers with BD, suicide completers with SCZ) then to compare each different suicide group to the healthy control population (33;64;156;157;204;248). Finally, one study compared, within psychopathological groups, individuals who died by suicide with those who died of other causes (138). The latter strategy is probably the best one to properly control for psychopathology. However, it is operationally challenging to collect a control group affected by psychopathology that is comparable to the suicide group in a number of other variables that could correlate with brain gene expression, including demographic, sudden death, and treatment factors, and that in addition were actively ill at the moment of death.

The potential effects of other confounding factors, such as substances and medication have been less well addressed. Two studies (64;157) identified multiple probesets whose expression was significantly altered in users of alcohol or cocaine, one study (138) included drug or alcohol use in the statistical models, and one study examined the effects of alcohol consumption on specific probesets in another population and in an animal study (33). However, the majority of studies have either excluded subjects based upon toxicology reports, or ignored the issue altogether. These measures are clearly suboptimal. For instance, toxicological reports provide only one level of information about substance use. It is not unusual that individuals with significant patterns of abuse of certain drugs are not intoxicated at the moment of death. More frequently, however, is the opposite. In other words, it is not infrequent that suicide cases were intoxicated at the moment of death with drugs on which no pattern of dependence/abuse existed prior to death. To more appropriately control for the effect of substance, toxicological, six month and lifetime diagnoses of substance disorders should be considered.

Gender is also an important factor to be considered in gene expression studies in general, and particularly so in studies of psychiatric disorders due to known gender differences in their rates and clinical presentations. The rate of suicide completion in males is significantly higher than in females. Unfortunately, this gender difference makes it also operationally more difficult to recruit large samples from female suicides, and researchers have been more likely to focus exclusively on male samples to avoid gender-specific effects, or to use mixed samples in which the numbers of female subjects are insufficient to specifically examine the influence of gender.

Brain Regions

All microarray studies of suicide completers to date have examined gene expression differences in postmortem brain tissues and have largely focused on tissues obtained from the prefrontal cortex (Brodmann areas (BA) 8, 9, 10, 11, 44, 45, 46, and 47) or the limbic area (amygdala, hippocampus, BA 24, and BA 29). Two more recent studies have examined additional brain regions in order to obtain a broader view of gene expression changes occurring in the brain (32;33).

Microarray Technology and Validation of Findings

The majority of studies have used Affymetrix microarray chips, which are one-color arrays printed with hundreds of thousands of short oligonucleotides. RNA that has been extracted from brain tissues is converted to cDNA, which is then converted to cRNA for hybridization to the chips. Each generation of microarray chips differs slightly, with the most important difference being in the number of sequences that are included. The Illumina BeadChip used by Thalmeier and colleagues (137) utilizes different labeling and hybridization methods, but yields comparable results.

Validation of significant findings is generally required for the publication of microarray studies, although the choice of genes to validate is at the discretion of the researcher and is generally based upon the statistical significance of the findings, potential relevance of the genes to psychiatric conditions, and their involvement in pathways of specific interest to the researcher. Quantitative real time polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) is considered to be the "gold-standard"

method of validation, although other methods such as semi-quantitative RT-PCR, Western blotting, and immunohistochemistry have also been used. Two of the studies in Table 1 (204;316) further investigated the involvement of selected genes by performing genetic association studies using polymorphisms found within those genes in larger groups of suicide completers and controls

Dysregulated Genes and Pathways

As mentioned above, the validation and reporting of significant findings is often at the discretion of the reviewer, and the tendency to focus upon genes within known and potentially relevant pathways can make it difficult to identify trends in "non-traditional" genes which are highly differentially expressed but were not reported. Nonetheless, several pathways have been consistently implicated in these studies, including the glutamatergic and γ -amino-butyric acid (GABA)-ergic neurotransmitter systems, as well as the polyamine system.

GABA

GABA is the primary inhibitory neurotransmitter in the brain, and altered expression of genes involved in GABAergic neurotransmission has been observed in several neuropsychiatric conditions (315). Several microarray studies have now observed dysregulated expression of GABAergic genes in suicide completers. Altered expression of numerous GABA receptor subunits was observed across prefrontal and limbic brain regions, including GABA_A, α 1, (GABRA1), GABA_A, α 4 (GABRA4), GABA_A, α 5 (GABRA5), GABA_A, β 1 (GABRB1), GABA_A, β 3 (GABRB3), GABA_A, δ (GABRD), GABA_A, γ -1 and γ -2 (GABRG1 and GABRG2), GABA_B, β 2 (GABBR2), and GABA_C, ρ 1 (GABRR1), as well as GABA_A receptor-associated protein like 1 (GABARAPL1), and a GABA transporter (SLC6A1) (33;64;138;156;157) Moreover, one study found that 16 and 36% of the probesets annotated to be involved in GABAergic signalling were significantly differentially expressed in BA 44 and 46, respectively (64).

Glutamate

In opposition to GABA, glutamate is the primary excitatory neurotransmitter in the brain, however it too has been implicated in psychiatric disorders, and these two neurotransmitters share an important metabolic connection through the activity of glutamate decarboxylase (GAD), an enzyme which converts glutamate to GABA, and which has also been implicated in psychiatric conditions (315). Alterations in the levels of several glutamate receptors were observed, including glutamate receptor, ionotropic, N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA)-like 1A (GRINL1A), glutamate receptor, ionotropic, NMDA 2A (GRIN2A), glutamate receptor, ionotropic, α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid receptors 1-4 (GRIA1, GRIA2, GRIA3, and GRIA4), glutamate receptor, metabotropic 3 (GRM3), and glutamate receptor, ionotropic, kainite 1 (GRIK1) (33:64:137). Additionally, downregulated expression was observed for glutamateammonia ligase (glutamine synthetase) (GLUL), the enzyme responsible for removing glutamate from synapses, glutaminase (GLS), which produces glutamate from glutamine, and glial high-affinity glutamate transporters SLC1A2 and SLC1A3 (33;64;138).

Interestingly, several of these genes are localized to glia, which lends support for the involvement of dysregulated astroglial functioning in psychiatric disorders. Choudary and colleagues identified a number of glutamatergic genes which were altered in mood disorders independently of suicide (156), while additional glialassociated genes, including quaking homolog, KH domain RNA binding (mouse) (QKI), glycoprotein M6B (GPM6B), S100 calcium binding protein B (S100B), and a truncated form of the tropomyosin-related kinase B receptor (TrkB.T1), appear to play a specific role in suicide (32;64).

Polyamines

The polyamine system has been implicated in other psychiatric disorders, including SCZ, MD, and anxiety, and the polyamines play important roles in

multiple neurotransmitter systems, including modulating transmission through both GABA and glutamate receptors (203). Unlike the GABA and glutamatergic systems however, the involvement of the polyamine system in suicide had not been suspected prior to the study by Sequeira and colleagues who observed consistent decreases in levels of spermidine/spermine N-1 acetyltransferase (SAT1) across several brain regions (204). Since this initial study, decreased expression of SAT1 was observed in other brain regions and populations (64;157;205;206). Dysregulated expression of additional polyamine related genes, including spermine synthase (SMS), spermine oxidase (SMOX), and ornithine aminotransferase-like 1 (OATL1), has also been identified (64;157).

Future Steps

In the future, newer technologies, including arrays designed to measure transcription of individual exons, microRNAs, and proteins, can be used to examine gene expression differences at a finer level, while single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) and DNA methylation arrays can be used to identify genetic and epigenetic mechanisms to account for these alterations. In addition, continued recruitment of subjects will increase sample sizes to allow the effects of confounders such as substance use and gender to be more thoroughly examined.

Conclusions

Microarray technology has greatly improved our understanding of the complexity of gene expression changes that occur in the brains of suicide completers, and has expanded our knowledge of genes and pathways which are involved in this complex trait. Combination of these findings with those that can be obtained from more detailed analyses of implicated loci has the potential to clarify the molecular mechanisms involved in suicidality, and which can eventually lead to the identification of pharmacological targets that may one day be used in suicide prevention.

Table 1: Microarray studies examining gene expression in post-mortem brain tissues from suicide completers.

Study	Platform	Tissue (s)	Diagnostic Groups	Gender (s)
Sibille et al., 2004 (34)	HG-U133A	BA 9, 47	MD-S, C	M/F
Yanagi et al., 2005 (316)	HG-U95A	Amygdala	S, C	Μ
Gwadry et al., 2005 (318)	HG-U133A/B	BA 11	MD-S, C	Μ
Choudary et al., 2005 (156)	HG-U95Av2	BA 9/46, 24	MD-S, BD-S, C	M/F
Sequeira et al., 2006 (204)	HG-U133A/B	BA 4, 8/9, 11	MD-S, S, C	М
Sequeira et al., 2007 (157)	HG-U133A/B	Amygdala, hippocampus, BA 24, BA 29	MD-S, S, C	Μ
Kim et al., 2007 (138)	HG-U133A	BA 46/10	BD-S, BS-NS, SCZ-S, SCZ-NS	M/F
Thalmeier et al., 2008 (137)	HumanRef-8 BeadChip	BA 11	S (violent), C	M/F
Tochigi et al., 2008 (248)	HG-U95Av2	BA 10	MD-S, SCZ-S, BD-S, C	M/F
Ernst et al., 2008 (319)	HG-U133A/B	BA 8/9, 11	MD-S, C	М
Klempan et al., 2009 (64)	HG-U133A/B	BA 44, 45, 46, 47	MD-S, S, C	М
Ernst et al., 2009 (32)	HG-U133 plus 2	BA 4, 6, 8/9, 10, 11, 45, 46, 47, cerebellum	S, C	М
Sequeira et al., 2009 (33)	HG-U133A/B	BA 4, 6, 8/9, 10, 11, 20, 21, 38, 24, 29, 44, 45, 46, 47, amygdala, hippocampus, nucleus accumbens	MD-S, S, C	M

BA – Brodmann area; BD – bipolar disorder; C – healthy control; MD - major depressive disorder; S – suicide completer; SCZ - schizophrenia

1.3 Implication of the Polyamine System in Mental Disorders

Laura M. Fiori and Gustavo Turecki

McGill Group for Suicide Studies, Douglas Mental Health University Institute, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

Published in Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience, 2008 Mar;33(2):102-110 (203)

<u>Abstract</u>

The polyamine pathway has an essential role in many cellular functions and has been implicated in several pathological conditions. Accumulating evidence suggests that the polyamine system also plays a role in the etiology and pathology of mental disorders. Alterations in the expression and activity of polyamine metabolic enzymes, as well as changes in the levels of the individual polyamines, have been observed in multiple conditions including schizophrenia, mood disorders, anxiety, and suicidal behavior. Additionally, these components have been found to be altered by a variety of psychiatric treatments. Furthermore, the polyamines and their precursors have demonstrated both antidepressant and anxiolytic effects. Overall, findings to date suggest that the polyamine pathway represents an important frontier for the development of neuropharmacological treatments.

Introduction

Mostly due to the elucidation of the molecular targets of effective psychopharmaceutical agents, much of the neurochemical work in mental disorders to date has focused on the role of the monoaminergic system. In spite of the success of monoamine-related pharmacological treatments, they are not effective in many individuals, indicating that these systems are not the sole factors involved in these conditions. An alternative pathway which has been gaining support for its role in mental illness is the polyamine system. Although better known for their role in modulation of the cell cycle, and consequently their relevance to cancer, research in the last few decades has shown the importance of the polyamines in numerous neurodegenerative conditions, and substantial evidence is emerging which supports their role in the pathophysiology of psychiatric disorders. Accordingly, the polyamines represent an important system for understanding the causes of mental illnesses, and in addition, provide a new pharmacological target for their treatment.

This review will focus on evidence pertaining to altered levels of the polyamines and their metabolic enzymes in psychiatry, as well as the possible role the polyamine system plays in the etiology of these disorders and mechanisms by which its effects may occur. Firstly, however, the basic properties of the polyamines, as well as their metabolism, localization in the central nervous system (CNS), and relevant cellular functions will be discussed.

1. Properties of the Polyamine System

The polyamines are ubiquitous aliphatic molecules comprising putrescine, spermidine, and spermine, which contain two, three, and four amino groups, respectively. In addition, the guanidino-amine agmatine, whose presence in mammalian brains was discovered much more recently than the other polyamines (193), may also be considered among this group (194). Due to their essential roles in many cellular functions, their homeostasis is highly regulated through their

biosynthesis, degradation, and transport, as well as the interconversion between individual polyamines.

1.1 Metabolism and Accumulation

Both the polyamine synthesis and interconversion pathways have been extensively studied, and the major reactions are depicted in Figure 1.

Due to their vital roles, the polyamine metabolic pathways are highly regulated. The major rate-limiting enzymes are ornithine decarboxylase (ODC), S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) decarboxylase (AMD1), and spermidine/spermine N^1 -acetyltransferase (SAT1), whose activities are controlled at multiple levels by numerous mechanisms including feedback control by the polyamines themselves (196). The activities of spermidine synthase (SRM) and spermine synthase (SMS) are generally constant although there may be induction under certain conditions (320). Polyamine oxidase (PAO) activity appears to be regulated by substrate availability (321).

Multiple transport systems have been identified, and have been found in a variety of cell types including hepatocytes, synaptosomes, synaptic vesicles, and glial cells (322-324).

1.2 CNS Localization

The polyamines and their biosynthetic enzymes are found throughout the body, including the CNS, where they display specific regional distributions. Many methods have been used to assess these distributions in the CNS, which have been reviewed by Bernstein and Müller (325). Both agmatine and its precursor arginine have been shown to cross the blood brain barrier, allowing both the concentration and localization of agmatine in the brain to be determined by peripheral agmatine and arginine levels as well as through endogenous synthesis by the inducible enzyme arginine decarboxylase (193;326). Putrescine, spermidine and spermine possess only a limited capacity to cross the blood brain barrier (327) and as such,

their localization in the healthy CNS largely represents those which have been endogenously synthesized. Concentrations in brain tissues are typically in the nM range (328). The localization and concentrations of each of the metabolic enzymes and polyamines are not identical for brain region or cell type (325;329-336), indicating that synthesis and storage may not occur in identical locations.

1.3 Cellular effects

The polyamines have numerous roles and are involved in many aspects of cellular function. Due to their cationic nature, they interact well with nucleic acids, and not surprisingly, are involved in many aspects of gene expression (196). In addition, polyamines influence the properties of proteins and membranes (196;337), and function as antioxidants and scavengers of reactive oxygen species (338;339).

The polyamines have an important role in cell proliferation, and demonstrate both pro- and anti-apoptotic effects (198). Additionally, the polyamines are involved in many signalling pathways through their effects on G-proteins, protein kinases, nucleotide cyclases, receptors, as well as by regulating the expression of proteins involved in these processes (196-198). Owing to their interactions with several transmembrane channels, they also influence the electrical properties of excitable cells (214). Agmatine is believed to act as a neurotransmitter by its actions through several receptors, and this theory is supported by its storage in synaptic vesicles and capacity to be released upon depolarization (219). Spermine has also been shown to be released from synaptic vesicles upon depolarization, indicating that the polyamines may function as neuromodulators (323). Additionally, polyamines influence the properties of several neurotransmitter pathways known to be involved in mental disorders, including the catecholamines (210-213;340), gamma amino-butyric acid (215-217;341), nitric oxide (NO) (218), and glutamate (221;227;342-344).

2. Possible Implication in Mental Disorders

2.1 Schizophrenia

The role of the polyamine system in the pathology of schizophrenia and other psychotic disorders was first proposed by Richardson-Andrews who noted that the structures of certain neuroleptics and antimalarials both contain a spermidine moiety and are associated with extrapyramidal symptoms and psychosis (345;346). Since this time, alterations of many aspects of the polyamine system have been observed in both human schizophrenic patients as well as in animal models. Furthermore, certain treatments for schizophrenia have been shown to alter both polyamine levels as well as the activities of polyamine-related enzymes, supporting the role of the polyamine system in the pathophysiology of this disorder. A summary of relevant studies performed in human subjects is found in Table 1.

2.1.1 Polyamine Levels

Increased blood levels of all polyamines have been observed in schizophrenic patients (347-351). Levels appear to be related to neuroleptic treatment, as increased concentrations were observed in treated patients compared to untreated patients and control subjects (352). This effect may be related to treatment response as no changes in polyamine levels were found after clozapine treatment of neuroleptic-resistant schizophrenics (350).

Unlike the periphery, a study of human brains found no differences in polyamine levels in the frontal cortex or hippocampus of schizophrenic patients compared to controls (353). However, as levels of the polyamines and some of their metabolic enzymes are known to vary with post-mortem interval (329;330;332;353) which could not be fully controlled for in this experiment, further studies are warranted to confirm these findings.

2.1.2 Enzyme Activities

Studies examining serum from schizophrenic patients have shown increased levels of polyamine oxidative enzymes (354;355), which were normalized in patients who showed improvement in clinical symptoms after electroconvulsive shock therapy (ECT) (354;355). Early studies of the relationship between plasma amine oxidase and schizophrenia demonstrated a trend towards decreased activity, which may have been associated with familial transmission of the disorder (356-358). Although plasma amine oxidase is not specific for the polyamines, decreases in activity combined with increases in polyamine concentrations might be expected to alter its substrate profile.

The role of ODC is less clear. Studies in schizophrenic patients found no differences in ODC levels or activity in the frontal cortex, hippocampus, or entorhinal cortex (353;359). However, increased activity was observed in cortical neurons from a rat model of schizophrenia (360). Although these results may indicate that the animal model does not properly represent the neurobiology of schizophrenia, it may be that differences in ODC activity are found only in specific CNS regions which have not yet been clearly identified in humans. Interestingly, ECT has been shown to increase ODC activity in multiple regions of rat brains (361;362).

Regardless of the findings with ODC, there is support for alterations in ornithine metabolism in schizophrenia as the activities of ornithine aminotransferase (OAT), antizyme inhibitor (AZIN1), and ornithine cyclodeaminase (OCD), were shown to be decreased in the prefrontal cortex of both treated and untreated patients (363).

Information on the activities of other enzymes is lacking, although in addition to no evidence of altered polyamines or ODC activity, Gilad *et.al.* were unable to demonstrate changes in AMD1 or SAT1 activities (353).

2.1.3 Potential Mechanisms

The complexity of this system makes it unlikely that a single mechanism is responsible and hence a simple explanation is impossible. One possibility is that the increased peripheral polyamine concentrations are a result of decreased plasma amine oxidase activity, and that the increased PAO activity is a compensatory mechanism to decrease these levels. It would be of interest to determine if the normalization of PAO activity in clinically-improved patients is also associated with normalization of polyamine levels. Additionally, oxidative deamination by both plasma amine oxidase and PAO yields compounds capable of causing cell damage (198), and as such, alterations in their activities could reflect either a causative role or compensatory mechanisms to reduce this damage.

The mechanism in the brain is even less clear and further studies are necessary in order to provide a consensus on the actual levels of the polyamines in each brain region, as well as the activities and relationships between each enzyme. The decreased expression of OAT and OCD in the prefrontal cortex should theoretically provide increased ornithine for polyamine production but decreased expression of AZIN1 would allow for increased inhibition of ODC. It was proposed that these results may reflect either a mechanism to compensate for increased polyamine levels, or possibly an attempt to downregulate the entire pathway (363).

As mentioned above, the polyamines act on the dopamine pathway. As this system is strongly associated with the pathology of schizophrenia, its modulation by the polyamines could be of great relevance to both the etiology of this illness as well as in influencing the clinical outcome of antidopaminergic treatments.

Polyamines alter the functioning of *N*-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (NMDAR) (214), and the increased polyamine levels in schizophrenia patients has therefore been proposed to be related to the implication of hypofunctional NMDAR signalling in schizophrenia (352). In this case, increased polyamines should be associated with increased glutamate signalling, with increases representing a compensatory mechanism. Alternatively, as excessive glutamate

signalling can produce excitotoxicity (364), polyamines may instead be destructive rather than beneficial. However, if polyamine levels are confirmed to be unchanged in the brain, these mechanisms may not be applicable.

It seems clear that the neuroleptics are capable of influencing polyamine metabolism, however the mechanisms involved are not yet apparent. Although polyamines were higher in treated patients (352), their lack of change in neuroleptic-resistant patients (350), suggests that the effects of neuroleptics on the polyamine system occur further downstream and may mediate responses rather than determining if a response to treatment will occur.

Obviously significant work remains in order to determine the precise role of the polyamine system in schizophrenia, and although it seems clear that dysregulation of the system is associated with this illness, it is not yet certain if these alterations are etiologically related or represent compensatory mechanisms.

2.2 Mood Disorders and Suicide

As with schizophrenia, the ability of antimalarials to produce depressive symptoms was proposed as an indication of a role of the polyamines in depression (346). Although there have been fewer studies in humans examining the polyamine system in mood disorders, evidence also exists to implicate this system in their pathology. In addition, emerging evidence points to a role of the polyamine system in suicidal behavior. A summary of studies examining the polyamine system in mood disorders in human subjects is found in Table 2, while relevant animal studies are shown in Tables 3 to 5.

2.2.1 Polyamine Levels

Although Gilad *et.al.* found no differences in polyamine levels in the hippocampus and frontal cortex of depressed patients (353), a rat model displayed decreased hippocampal putrescine, spermidine and spermine, as well as decreased putrescine in the nucleus accumbens septi (365). In addition, plasma agmatine

was significantly elevated in depressed patients, and was normalized by antidepressant treatment (366). Agmatine produces both antidepressant and anxiolytic effects in animals through mechanisms involving multiple receptor systems (221-226). The antidepressant effects of putrescine also appear to involve NMDAR (227), and the possibility that at least some of the roles of polyamines in depression is due to modulation of NMDAR is supported by the mechanism of the antidepressant eliprodil which acts as an antagonist at polyamine-binding sites (367). SAM also produces antidepressant effects in humans (368). The exact mechanism remains uncertain, but animal studies have indicated that antidepressant doses of SAM could normalize putrescine and partially restore spermine and spermidine levels (365). However, as SAM is also required for synthesis of dopamine, norepinephrine, and serotonin, and is essential for folate and vitamin B12 metabolism, each of which are implicated in mood disorders (369), its antidepressant effects may not necessarily be mediated through the polyamine system.

2.2.2 Enzyme Activities

As with schizophrenic patients, high levels of plasma PAO activity were observed in depressed patients, and these were normalized by ECT (355). Also similar, no differences were observed in ODC levels in the entorhinal cortex of depressed patients (359), or in the activities of ODC, AMD1, or SAT1 in the hippocampus or frontal cortex of patients who were depressed or committed suicide (353). However, studies performed by our group using both depressed and non-depressed suicide completers demonstrated a downregulation of SAT1 in several brain regions (157;204). SAT1 expression was more profoundly decreased in depressed suicide completers (204) and was lower in the posterior cingulate gyrus of depressed compared to non-depressed suicide completers (157), suggesting an important role in depression. Additional studies performed by our group have identified other polyamine-related genes which are dysregulated in the

limbic system of suicide completers (157), providing further support for an involvement of the polyamine pathway in depression and suicide.

2.2.3 Potential Mechanisms

The antidepressant effects of agmatine, putrescine, and SAM lend support for the role of the polyamine system in depression and perhaps other mood disorders. Similar to schizophrenia however, the relationship between polyamine concentrations and activities of the associated enzymes cannot be formulated into a simple explanation. In order to gain a better understanding of the roles of the polyamines in depression and suicidal behavior, it is essential to determine the actual levels of each of the polyamines in the CNS. As with schizophrenia, further studies are required to assess whether dysregulation of the polyamine system should be considered a cause or a consequence of these disorders. However, as discussed below, evidence suggests that dysregulation of the system may precede development of mood disorders.

2.3 Polyamine Stress Response

Of considerable interest to the role of the polyamine system in the morbidity and etiology of psychiatric disorders is the polyamine stress response (PSR). This phenomenon has been reviewed by Gilad and Gilad (197) and is implicated in both the detrimental effects of stress and anxiety, as well as their role in the development of other psychiatric disorders. Studies assessing the PSR as well as animal models of anxiety are summarized in Table 4.

Unlike the peripheral system where acute stressors activate the PSR to increase the concentrations of all polyamines (370), acute stressors in the CNS result in only the elevation of ODC activity and putrescine and agmatine levels (197;371). The PSR can be induced by multiple forms of stress, and its magnitude appears to be related to the intensity of the stressor (372;373). Consistent with this are findings that anxiolytic pretreatment can diminish or eliminate stress-induced

alterations of the polyamine system (374;375). Chronic stress increases ODC activity and putrescine levels after each application, whereas spermidine and spermine concentrations increase only after several treatments, which is suggestive of an adaptive response (376).

In support of a role of the PSR in behavioral responses to stress, increases in polyamine levels and ODC activity were found to be larger in strains of rats exhibiting greater behavioral and physiological responsiveness to stress (197;377). Furthermore, chronic administration of α -difluoromethylornithine (α -DFMO), an irreversible inhibitor of ODC, yielded rats which displayed distinctive behavioral changes when exposed to stressors (376). Interestingly, memory impairments have been observed in both ODC- and SAT1-overexpressing mice, which possess substantially increased putrescine levels (378;379). Additionally, SAT1-overexpressing mice are hypomotoric and display decreased aggressiveness (379). It has been proposed that partial blockade of NMDAR by putrescine may be involved in these effects (380).

The PSR appears to be developmentally regulated, and may be associated with the development of mood disorders. Early post-natal stressors have been shown to alter putrescine concentrations and ODC activity (381), and yield altered behavioral reactivity and an attenuated PSR in adults (382). Furthermore, the emergence of the characteristic adult PSR is correlated with the cessation of the hyporesponsive period of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical (HPA) axis system (200). As this developmental stage in rats is equivalent to a period in humans associated with a high incidence of affective disorders, it was proposed that the PSR might therefore be involved in development of these conditions (200). The HPA axis is implicated in depression and effects are believed to be associated with dysregulation of the glucocorticoid system (383). Consequently, the occurrence of a characteristic PSR after glucocorticoid treatment adds further weight to the theory that the PSR and the polyamines are involved in the development of affective disorders (376). Additionally, the combination of treatment with α -DFMO and a polyamine-deficient diet reduced polyamine, catecholamine, and corticosteroid concentrations (210). Overall, these results suggest that the PSR, through modulation of the HPA axis, may be directly involved in the pathogenesis of depression, and shed some light on the relevance of environmental influences in the etiology of this disorder.

Lithium is commonly used in the treatment of bipolar disorder, and although many cellular effects have been proposed, the precise mechanisms by which it exerts its therapeutic effects have not been fully determined. Considerable work has been performed investigating the influence of lithium on the PSR. Specifically, chronic lithium treatment prevents stress-induced ODC activity in rat brains, thereby decreasing the intensity of the PSR (372;384). Decreased ODC activity is not due to a direct interaction with lithium (385) and was proposed to be a result of interference with a signal required for induction of ODC (197). *In vitro* experiments demonstrated that these decreases may be associated with altered glial cell properties (386).

Conclusions

Several lines of evidence support a possible role for the polyamine system in the neurobiology of major psychiatric disorders and suicide. The significant number of metabolic enzymes which show altered expression in these disorders, the findings of altered levels and ratios of each polyamine, and the effects of psychiatric treatments on many aspects of the polyamine system, each add support for the idea that modulation of this system may represent a possible pharmacological target in the treatment of these disorders. As the precise mechanisms involved have not yet been fully elucidated, it seems clear that the study of this system remains a crucial frontier for understanding the pathophysiology of several mental disorders, including schizophrenia, mood disorders, and suicide.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) MOP 79253. GT is a Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec (FRSQ) scholar. LMF received a scholarship from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC).

Figures



Figure 1: Polyamine synthesis and interconversion pathways. AGMAT agmatinase, AMD1 S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) decarboxylase, dcSAM decarboxylated SAM, MTA 5' methylthioadenosine, ODC ornithine decarboxylase, PAO polyamine oxidase, SAT1 spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase, SMOX spermine oxidase, SMS spermine synthase, SRM spermidine synthase.

Tables

Table 1: Summary of findings from studies analyzing the polyamine system in schizophrenia. AMD S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase, AZIN1 antizyme inhibitor, ECT electroconvulsive shock therapy, OAT ornithine aminotransferase, OCD ornithine cyclodeaminase, ODC ornithine decarboxylase, PAO polyamine oxidase, SAT spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase

Study Findings System				
<u>Study</u> (356)	Plasma amine oxidase activity lower in	System Plasma		
(330)	schizophrenics, only significant for acute cases	1 Iasilia		
(387)	Plasma amine oxidase activity unaltered after 3	Plasma		
(307)	month neuroleptic treatment	i idsiiid		
(357)	Reduced plasma amine oxidase activity associated	Plasma		
(337)	with schizophrenia spectrum disorders within	i idoilla		
	families			
(358)		Plasma		
(550)	oxidase activity	1 Iusiliu		
	Familial transmission may occur in families where			
	probands have extremely low activity			
(388)	Plasma amine oxidase activity unrelated to subtype,	Plasma		
(222)	diagnostic criteria, prognosis, or age at onset			
(347)	Increased spermidine	Serum		
(354)	Increased spermidine oxidase activity, unrelated to	Serum		
× ,	gender, age, or treatment			
(349)	Increased polyamines, no correlation with gender	Whole blood,		
	or treatment	plasma		
	Increased PAO activity			
(350)	Increased polyamines in neuroleptic-resistant	Blood		
	patients compared to healthy controls, unchanged			
	after 6 month clozapine treatment			
(351)	Increased polyamines in fibroblasts	Skin fibroblasts		
	Increased spermine in culture medium			
(353)	No alterations in polyamines, ODC, AMD1, or	Frontal cortex,		
	SAT1	hippocampus		
(359)	No alterations in ODC immunoreactivity	Entorhinal cortex		
(352)	Increased total polyamines in neuroleptic-treated	Skin fibroblasts		
	schizophrenics compared to controls and untreated			
	patients	~		
(355)	Increased PAO activity, normalized in patients	Serum		
	improved after ECT			
(363)	Decreased activities of OAT, AZIN1, and OCD, no	Prefrontal cortex		
	relationship to treatment			

Table 2: Summary of polyamine-related findings in human mood disorder studies. AMD S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase, ECT electroconvulsive shock therapy, OATL ornithine aminotransferase-like, ODC ornithine decarboxylase, PAO polyamine oxidase, SAT spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase

Study	Findings	System
(353)	No alterations in levels of polyamines, ODC,	Frontal cortex,
	AMD1, or SAT1 in depressed patients or suicide	hippocampus
	completers	
(359)	No alterations in ODC immunoreactivity in	Entorhinal cortex
	depressed patients	
(366)	Increased agmatine in depressed patients,	Plasma
	normalized after 8 week bupropion treatment	
(355)	Increased PAO activity in severely depressed	Serum
	patients, normalized in patients showing	
	improvement after ECT	
(204)	Decreased SAT1 expression in depressed and non-	
	1 1 /	motor cortex,
	profound in depressed suicide completers	dorsolateral
		prefrontal cortex
(157)	Increased hippocampal expression of SAT2 and	Amygdala,
	OATL1 in non-depressed suicide completers,	
	increased SMS in both depressed and non-	•
	depressed suicide completers	gyrus, posterior
	Decreased SAT1 expression in depressed compared	cingulate gyrus
	to non-depressed suicide completers in the posterior	
	cingulate gyrus	

Table 3: Summary of findings from rodent studies examining the relationship between depression and the polyamine system. 5-HT 5-hydroxytryptamine, NMDAR N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor, NO nitric oxide, SAM Sadenosylmethionine

Study	Findings
(365)	Depression model displayed decreased putrescine, spermidine and
	spermine in hippocampus, decreased putrescine in nucleus accumbens
	septi, no changes in frontal cortex
	SAM normalized putrescine in nucleus accumbens, partially restored
	hippocampal spermine and spermidine
(221)	Agmatine antidepressant effects involve NMDAR, L-arginine-NO
	pathway and α 2-adrenoceptors
(344)	Agmatine antidepressant effects involve NMDAR
(389)	Agmatine demonstrated antidepressant effects
(223)	Agmatine antidepressant effects involve 5-HT1A/1B and 5-HT2
	receptors
(224)	Agmatine antidepressant effects involve δ - and μ -opioid receptors
(227)	Putrescine antidepressant effects involve NMDAR
(226)	Agmatine antidepressant effects involve imidazoline I1 and I2
	receptors
Table 4: Summary of findings from rodent studies examining the relationship between stress, anxiety, and the polyamine system. AMD S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase, α -DFMO α -difluoromethylornithine, NMDAR N-methyl-Daspartate receptor, NOS nitric oxide synthase, ODC ornithine decarboxylase, PSR polyamine stress response, SAT spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase

Study	Findings
(381)	Infant cerebellar putrescine and brain ODC activity decreased after
	maternal separation
(372)	Only chronic lithium treatment prevented glucocorticoid-induced
	increases in ODC, AMD1, and SAT1 activity in hippocampus and frontal
	cortex
(384)	Hippocampal ODC activity increased after each episode of chronic
	intermittent stress, first episode reduced hippocampal AMD1 activity and
	increased liver ODC activity, but both remained constant after all
	subsequent treatments
	Chronic lithium treatment only prevented increases in hippocampal ODC
(200)	activity Decreased hippocampal ODC and AMD1 activities after acute stress at
(200)	day 5, no change in striatal ODC activity
	Adult PSR pattern in hippocampus and striatum apparent at day 30
	Increased behavioral responses and attenuated increases in ODC activity
	when stressed at day 7 then rechallenged as adults
(382)	Adult behavioral responses reduced in animals subjected to mild
× ,	intermittent postnatal stress and increased in animals which received
	acute postnatal stress
	No differences in stress-induced ODC activity between adults which
	received mild or acute postnatal stress
	Enhanced increase in liver ODC activity when subjected to acute
	postnatal stressors then rechallenged as adults
(272)	Adult polyamine concentrations unaffected by postnatal stressors
(373)	ODC activity and putrescine increased in liver and decreased in thymus after acute stress at all ages, only increased in hippocampus of adults
	Basal ODC activity after adrenalectomy increased in hippocampus of adults
	thymus and decreased in liver, increased basal putrescine and spermine in
	hippocampus, and basal putrescine in thymus
	Adrenalectomy enhanced stress-induced changes in ODC activity in
	hippocampus, liver, and thymus, and putrescine changes in liver and
	thymus
(376)	Putrescine increased in hippocampus after each stress episode, increases
	in spermidine and spermine delayed and transient
	a-DFMO combined with stress depleted putrescine and decreased
(25-)	spermidine and spermine in hippocampus, produced behavioral changes

- (377) Acute stress increased putrescine in frontal cortex and hippocampus Chronic stress did not alter putrescine, spermidine or spermine Putrescine concentrations differ between rat strains
- (197) Greater induced changes in ODC and polyamines in rat strain more reactive to stress

- (222) Agmatine anxiolytic effects occur either through NOS, NMDAR or α 2-adrenoceptors
- (389) Agmatine demonstrated anxiolytic effects
- (371) Increased agmatine in plasma and frontal cortex during stress, no changes in hypothalamus, medulla, cerebellum, or hippocampus
- (374) Stress increased putrescine and decreased spermine in frontal cortex and hypothalamus, no effects in plasma

Anxiolytic pretreatment prevented putrescine increases

- (225) Agmatine demonstrated anxiolytic effects
- (390) Agmatine increased hippocampal neurogenesis in chronically stressed mice
- (375) Stress increased brain putrescine, prevented by anxiolytic pretreatment No alterations in spermine, spermidine, or acetylated products

Table 5: Additional animal studies examining the relationship between the polyamine system and mental disorders. α -DFMO α -difluoromethylornithine, ECT electroconvulsive shock therapy, NMDAR N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor, ODC ornithine decarboxylase

Study	Findings								
(211)	Spermidine and spermine acted selectively on mesolimbic, but not								
	striatal, dopamine system								
(361)	Transiently increased ODC activity in adrenals, hippocampus, brain stem,								
	frontal cortex, and cerebellum after ECT								
	Dose response for shock intensity and ODC activity in hippocampus and								
	brain stem								
(213)	Spermine produced dose-dependent cortical synchronization and sedation								
	Spermidine produced cortical synchronization at low doses and cortical								
	desychronization and behavioral arousal at higher doses								
	Spermine and spermidine inhibited methamphetamine-induced behavior								
(362)	Hippocampal ODC increased after repeated ECT								
(391)	Increased cerebral ODC after single ECT, effects partially attenuated								
. ,	using an NMDAR antagonist								
(210)	α -DFMO treatment with polyamine-deficient diet reduced adrenal								
	polyamines and catecholamines, and plasma corticosterone and								
	aldosterone								

1.4 Rationale and Objectives

Rationale

The initial studies by our group identified four polyamine-related genes, SAT1, SMS, SMOX, and OATL1, which displayed altered expression in the brains of suicide completers, and found a strong association with a promoter variant in SAT1 and suicide. While these studies, as well as results emerging from other groups, strongly support the involvement of the polyamine system in suicide, investigation into the extent by which this system is affected and the molecular mechanisms by which this occurs are essential steps towards gaining a greater understanding of the neurobiology of suicide.

Objectives

- To characterize the extent by which the polyamine system and related metabolic pathways are altered across the brains of suicide completers
- To investigate the polyamine system in other psychiatric conditions
- To identify molecular mechanisms regulating the expression of polyamine genes, and determine how they are involved in the pathology of suicide



Overview of the studies designed to investigate the polyamine system in suicide.

CHAPTER 2: LARGE-SCALE STUDIES INVESTIGATING THE POLYAMINE SYSTEM IN SUICIDE

Our previous studies demonstrated differential expression of several genes involved in polyamine metabolism (SAT1, SMS, SMOX, and OATL1) in the brains of suicide completers, yet little was known regarding how altered expression of these genes influences the functioning of the polyamine pathway as a whole, how polyamine metabolism is affected globally across the brain, if similar mechanisms are implicated in other psychiatric conditions, or how expression of these genes in suicide is related to the local chromosomal environment. The three studies included in this chapter were designed to address these questions, as they represent essential considerations when interpreting our previous findings regarding the polyamine system, as well as for evaluating the potential for this system to be used as a target for the development of pharmacological treatments for suicidal behaviors.

Chapter 2.1 describes a study which addresses questions regarding the expression of genes related, both directly and more distally, to polyamine metabolism, and examines patterns of dysregulated expression across the brains of suicide completers. This study used a larger sample set than our previous brain expression studies, and extended this group to include suicide completers with diagnoses of either major depressive disorder or bipolar disorder. Moreover, where our previous studies examined only a few brain regions in isolation, this study assessed polyamine-related gene expression across twenty-two brain regions, and identified genes and regions displaying patterns of either synchronous or asynchronous expression. As with our previous studies, downregulation of SAT1 remained the most consistent and widespread alteration in suicide, and the differential expression of SMS and SMOX was also replicated. Moreover, we identified eleven additional genes, including several with important roles in polyamine biosynthesis, as well as four involved in cellular energy metabolism, which were differentially expressed in suicide completers. Overall, this study served to expand our knowledge regarding which components of polyamine metabolism are involved in the neurobiology of suicide, as well as provided a clearer picture of the interplay between polyamine metabolism and genes involved in other closely connected metabolic pathways.

The second study, described in Chapter 2.2, examines the association between genetic variants in SAT1, SMS, SMOX, and OATL1, and additional clinical measures of psychopathology, including suicide attempts, mood disorders, and anxiety disorders. These analyses were performed in a large French-Canadian cohort which has been followed for over 20 years, thereby allowing the relationship between these polyamine genes and numerous mediating and moderating influences to be examined. The results of this study demonstrated that each of the main outcomes were significantly associated with polyamine variants, and that each polyamine gene contained polymorphisms which were significantly associated with at least one of the main outcomes. Particularly interesting among these findings were that while SMS, SMOX and OATL1 were each implicated only in one condition, several SAT1 polymorphisms were associated with multiple disorders, and moreover, that the risk alleles differed across suicide attempts, mood, and anxiety disorders. This study also highlighted the involvement of gene-gene interactions in conferring risk for anxiety disorders, as well as demonstrated that parental psychopathology was an important risk factor for each condition. These results provided greater evidence for a role for polyamine-related genetic factors in suicidal behaviors, as well as demonstrated that not only does dysregulation of the polyamine system represent an important risk factor for completed suicide, it is also implicated in suicide attempts as well as mood and anxiety disorders. Furthermore, these studies suggest that genetic factors may be involved mechanistically in the altered expression of the polyamine system in the brains of suicide completers.

Thirdly, the study described in Chapter 2.3 moves beyond the polyamine system to examine the association of X chromosomal loci with suicide in males, and to identify genes within associated chromosomal regions which are differentially expressed in the brains of suicide completers. This study was motivated, in part, by the fact that three of the differentially expressed polyamine

genes, SAT1, SMS, and OATL1, are located on the X chromosome, which may thus harbor essential cis- and trans-factors involved in regulating the expression of these genes. Moreover, as males are hemizygous for genes on the X chromosome, we expected that regions containing risk or protective factors for suicide would be more apparent, and that there would be a clearer and more direct relationship between genetic loci and gene expression differences than would be observed in a female or mixed gender sample. This study identified two distinct chromosomal regions displaying strong associations to suicide: Xq24-Xq27.3 and Xp22.2-Xp11.4, which contains both SAT1 and SMS. Genes within these regions were analyzed further by examining their expression in the prefrontal cortex, and six of these were found to be differentially expressed in suicide completers, including SAT1. Thus, not only did this study confirm the significance of X chromosomal factors in the etiology of suicide, it also further affirmed the role of the polyamine system in suicide.

Collectively, the studies within this chapter served to replicate our previous findings implicating the involvement of the polyamine system in suicide, as well as expanded our understanding of how this system relates to closely-related metabolic pathways, nearby genetic loci, and other psychiatric conditions.

2.1 Global Gene Expression Profiling of the Polyamine System in Suicide Completers

Laura M. Fiori¹, Aurélie Labbe², Alexandre Bureau³, Jordie Croteau³, Simon Noël³, Chantal Mérette³, and Gustavo Turecki^{1*}

¹ McGill Group for Suicide Studies, Douglas Mental Health University Institute, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

² Department of Epidemiology, Biostatistics & Occupational Health, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

³ Centre de recherche Université Laval Robert-Giffard, Université Laval, Quebec City, Quebec, Canada

Submitted to the International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology

<u>Abstract</u>

In recent years, gene expression, genetic association, and metabolic studies have implicated the polyamine system in psychiatric conditions, including suicide. Given the extensive regulation of genes involved in polyamine metabolism, as well as their interconnections with the metabolism of other amino acids, we were interested in further investigating the expression of polyamine-related genes across the brain in order to obtain a more comprehensive view of the dysregulation of this system in suicide. To this end, we examined the expression of genes related to polyamine metabolism across 22 brain regions in a sample of 29 mood-disordered suicide completers and 16 healthy controls, and identified 14 genes displaying differential expression. Among these, altered expression of spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase, spermine oxidase, and spermine synthase, has previously been observed in brains of suicide completers, while the remainder of the genes represent novel findings. In addition to genes with direct involvement in polyamine metabolism, including S-adenosylmethionine

decarboxylase, ornithine decarboxylase antizymes 1 and 2, and arginase II, we identified altered expression of several more distally-related genes, including aldehyde dehydrogenase 3 family, member A2, brain creatine kinase, mitochondrial creatine kinase 1, glycine amidinotransferase, glutamic-oxaloacetic transaminase 1, and arginyl-tRNA synthetase-like. Many of these genes displayed altered expression across several brain regions, strongly implying that dysregulated polyamine metabolism is a widespread phenomenon in the brains of suicide completers. This study provides a broader view of the nature and extent of the dysregulation of the polyamine system in suicide, and highlights the importance of this system in the neurobiology of suicide.

Introduction

Suicide is one of the leading causes of death worldwide (2), and while efforts to identify the neurobiological mechanisms involved in suicidal behaviors have been ongoing for decades, we have yet to obtain a comprehensive understanding of the processes involved. Studies initially focused on examining the functioning of monoaminergic metabolism and neurotransmission: however, it has become exceedingly apparent that suicide comprises a far more extensive set of pathophysiological alterations. High-throughput technologies, such as gene expression microarrays, have provided considerable insight into these processes by highlighting molecular pathways which were not previously suspected to be involved in the neurobiology of suicide, including glutamatergic and γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) neurotransmission, as well as the polyamine system (313).

The first microarray study to implicate the polyamine system in suicide completion identified decreased expression of spermidine/spermine N-1 acetyltransferase (SAT1) across three brain regions in French-Canadian suicide completers (204), a finding which has now been observed in additional brain regions and populations (64;157;205;206). Moreover, several SAT1 promoter variants have been found to be associated with suicide completion (204;208) and appear to play important roles in determining the expression of SAT1 in vitro and in the brain (207). Additional studies by our group have identified several other polyamine-related genes displaying differential expression, including spermine synthase (SMS), spermine oxidase (SMOX), and ornithine aminotransferase-like 1 (64;157). We were unable to identify genetic or epigenetic factors involved in determining the expression of SMS or SMOX in the prefrontal cortex, suggesting the involvement of other regulatory elements or proteins in producing the differential expression (392). We recently measured the levels of putrescine and spermidine in several brain regions and found elevated levels of both polyamines in suicide completers (209).

Polyamines are low molecular weight cationic molecules, including agmatine, putrescine, spermidine and spermine. In addition to their numerous intracellular functions (393), the polyamines also play essential roles in neurotransmission, in particular at glutamatergic receptors (214). Furthermore, polyamines have been shown to influence GABA receptors (215;216) and dopaminergic pathways in the brain (211;213). Agmatine, which itself is believed to be a neurotransmitter, interacts with imidazoline receptors, α 2-adrenoceptors, nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, and 5-HT3 receptors (219), and can influence nitric oxide (NO) transmission through effects on NO synthase (218). The levels of the polyamines are highly controlled through extensive regulation of factors involved in their metabolism, accumulation, and transport. The two rate-limiting enzymes involved in polyamine biosynthesis are ornithine decarboxylase (ODC) and S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase (AMD1), while SAT1 is the ratelimiting enzyme in polyamine catabolism. The expression of each of these enzymes is influenced by numerous factors which affect their levels of transcription, translation, post-translational processing, and degradation (393). Putrescine, spermidine and spermine possess a limited capacity to cross the blood brain barrier (394), and as such, their levels in the CNS is largely due to endogenous synthesis. However, arginine, as well as both agmatine and ornithine, can be transported into the brain (395), and as such, factors affecting the metabolism of related amino acids can influence the polyamine system.

Given the importance of polyamine homeostasis, and the substantial evidence supporting a role for the dysregulation of the polyamine system in suicide and other psychiatric conditions, we were thus interested in obtaining a global view of the expression of genes directly and indirectly related to polyamine metabolism, across the brain of suicide completers. By examining the expression of these genes in a sample of mood-disordered suicide completers and healthy controls, we were able to both identify differentially expressed genes, as well as observe the patterns of dysregulated expression across the brain, thus allowing us to develop a greater understanding of the genes and compensatory mechanisms mediating the effects of the polyamine system in the neurobiology of suicide.

Methods

Subjects:

We analyzed brain tissues from 29 male suicide completers with a history of mood disorders (major depressive disorder and bipolar disorders) and 16 male controls with no history of suicidal behavior. This sample includes several of the subjects analyzed in some of our previous studies using a different microarray platform, testing a limited number of brain regions and addressing different hypotheses (204). All subjects were characterized by the psychological autopsy method using structured clinical interviews eliciting Axis I diagnoses according to DSM-IV criteria, as detailed elsewhere (396). The average age, post-mortem interval (PMI), and pH of all subjects was 39.8 ± 14 , 27 ± 11 hours, and 6.6 ± 0.3 , respectively. There were no group differences in any of these variables as assessed using both the Welch's t-test and the Wilcoxon rank sum test with continuity correction (Supplementary Table 1).

Brain samples were obtained from the Quebec Suicide Brain Bank (QSBB) (www.douglasrecherche.qc.ca/suicide), where tissues were processed and dissected at 4°C, then snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen before storage at -80°C, following standard procedures (397). All subjects collected by the QSBB died suddenly without a prolonged agonal period. Brain tissues were dissected in accordance with standard neuroanatomical definitions (398). We analyzed a total of 22 brain regions: Brodmann areas (BA) 4, 6, 8/9, 10, 11, 20, 21, 24, 29, 38, 44, 45, 46, 47, as well as the amygdala, cerebellum, hippocampus, hypothalamus, nucleus accumbens, anterior thalamus, dorsomedial thalamus, and lateral thalamus. This study was approved by our local institutional review board.

Microarray Analysis:

All RNA samples used in this study had minimum A260/A280 > 1.9 and 28S/18S rRNA peak height ratios > 1.6, as assessed using an Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA). Sample preparation and processing were performed as described in the Affymetrix GeneChip Expression Analysis Manual (Affymetrix, Santa Clara, CA) in collaboration with Gene Logic Inc. (Gaithersburg, MD). Samples were analyzed using the Human Genome U133 Plus 2.0 array.

GeneChip signal analysis was performed with Reference Robust Multiarray Average (refRMA) (399). Arrays were pre-filtered prior to statistical analysis by assessing several quality indicators, including β -actin 5'/3' ratio, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) 5'/3' ratio, RawQ (noise), scale factor and percent of "present" calls per array. Outlier subjects were excluded in regions where they did not pass quality standards, such that different numbers of subjects were included in the final analyses for each brain region (Supplementary Table 4).

Statistical Analysis:

We performed a NetAffx query (www.affymetrix.com) for probesets related to arginine and proline metabolism, then expanded this list to include additional polyamine-related enzymes identified in the literature. We identified 69 genes, which were represented by a total of 147 probesets. Within each brain region, each probeset was included in the analyses if it was considered present in at least 50% of all subjects.

In order to identify covariates to include in statistical models, we performed Pearson correlations between the log_2 expression levels of all probesets across all regions (1703 tests) and each of the continuous variables for age, PMI, pH, and two RNA quality measures (5'/3' ratios of β -actin and GAPDH). The involvement of two dichotomous variables: toxicological findings of alcohol, or findings of other drugs, were assessed by first dichotomizing the covariates (independently

for each covariate and also combining the two) and then performing t-tests comparing the transformed expression levels between the dichotomized groups. We then performed Shapiro-Wilk normality tests on the Pearson correlation values to determine if the distribution of correlations was normal and centered at zero. These results are shown in Supplementary Table 2. Variables which yielded P-values ≤ 0.05 were considered to be correlated with expression and used to construct the six statistical models shown in Supplementary Table 3.

To identify probesets displaying differential expression in suicide completers, ANOVAs were performed using *maanova* (400), a package for the R statistical environment, using the log_2 transformed expression values of each included probeset while controlling for the covariates included in each statistical model. Differential expression between the suicide and control groups was tested using the F_S test (401). This is an F test where the estimate of the variance in the denominator is obtained by shrinking the probeset-specific variance estimate toward the mean of the variance estimates for all 147 probesets using the James-Stein estimator. The amount of shrinkage depends on the degree of homogeneity of the variance estimates. When variance estimates are homogeneous, individual estimates are completely shrunk to the mean, effectively pooling the estimates. Pvalues for these tests were obtained using a permutation procedure.

The false discovery rates (FDR) attached to each ANOVA P-value, for all comparisons across all brain regions, were estimated using two methods: Benjamini-Hochsberg (402) and Efron (403) implemented in R using the package *fdrtool*. A probeset was considered significantly differentially expressed if both FDR values were ≤ 0.1 in at least one statistical model in any of the 22 brain regions.

The analysis provided an estimate of the log_2 -fold change between the suicide and control groups for each probeset and each brain region. We then performed hierarchical clustering on the data matrix formed by these log_2 -fold changes. This analysis must be considered exploratory, as the set of subjects included in the analysis varies between regions. We applied the DIANA (404)

divisive clustering algorithm implemented in the R package using the Euclidian distance.

Validation:

Total RNA for each brain region was extracted from adjacent tissue used for the microarray studies. cDNA synthesis was performed using oligo(dT)-priming (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). Real Time-Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR) was performed in quadruplicate for each gene using SYBR green on an ABI PRISM 7900HT Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). β -actin, GAPDH, and β -2-microglobulin (B2M) were used as endogenous controls for relative quantitation. We used three different endogenous controls in order to account for differences in primer efficiencies, which can be an issue using SYBR green chemistry (405). Primer sequences are found in Supplementary Table 5.

Results

Gene expression measurements are known to be influenced by specific postmortem factors, many of which often cannot be avoided due to the difficulties inherent in recruitment of subjects from specific clinical populations. In this study, our statistical strategy first involved the identification of confounding variables which displayed a direct influence on the expression of polyaminerelated genes, then controlled for these variables to identify gene expression changes specific to suicide. Using this methodology, we both avoided unnecessary statistical penalties, as well as identified genes whose expression differences would have otherwise been obscured.

We first assessed the potential confounding effects of several variables commonly associated with post-mortem gene expression studies, including age, PMI, pH, and RNA quality (assessed by the 5'/3' ratios of the housekeeping genes β -actin and GAPDH). To this end, we examined the correlation of each of these variables with the expression of all polyamine-related probesets, and considered a variable to have a significant effect on expression levels if the combination of all correlation values for that variable were not normally distributed. These results indicated that pH, age, and RNA quality may have confounding effects on gene expression levels (Supplementary Table 2). As the5'/3' ratio of GAPDH was highly correlated with that for β -actin, we retained β -actin 5'/3' ratios as our RNA quality measure. We found no evidence to indicate that expression was influenced by PMI, or the presence of alcohol or drugs (not shown).

ANOVAs were performed to identify probesets which were significantly differentially expressed in the suicide completers compared to the controls, while controlling for each of the variables identified in the first step. The most significant results for each probeset are shown in Table 1. In total, we identified 20 probesets, representing 14 genes, which were significantly differentially expressed in at least one brain region in at least one statistical model. Among these, seven significant findings were retained across all statistical models, including probesets representing ornithine decarboxylase antizyme 1 (OAZ1) and creatine kinase mitochondrial 1A (CKMT1A), as well as five representing SAT1 (not shown).

Overall, 13 of the 22 brain regions contained at least one gene which displayed differential expression in our group. The primary motor cortex, BA 4, displayed the largest number of significant probesets, followed closely by the inferior frontal gyrus, BA 44. Among our statistical models, model 2 (age) yielded the most significant P-values, while model 3 (RNA quality) generated the most significant probesets. However, the probesets yielding significant results were fairly consistent across models 1-3 (not shown), indicating that age and RNA quality have only minimal influence on the expression of our differentially expressed genes.

Altogether, the most significant findings were for SAT1, which showed decreased expression in the suicide completers in 10 of the 22 brain regions examined, which is in agreement with our previous findings (64;157;204;206). Among the SAT1 probesets, the most commonly differentially expressed was

230333_at. Although this probeset targets an intronic region between exons 3 and 4, preliminary studies by our group have found that this does represent a transcribed region of SAT1.Two other genes, SMS and SMOX, have also previously been found to be differentially expressed in suicide completers (64;157), and these two genes displayed similar patterns of altered expression in our current study. Although the downregulation of SAT1 was the most globally observed alteration in the suicide group, half of the differentially expressed genes displayed dysregulated expression in more than one brain region, with all but AMD1 showing a consistent direction across each associated brain region. In addition to demonstrating dysregulated expression across the greatest number of brain regions, calculations of fold changes (FC) between suicide completers and controls showed that SAT1 had the greatest decrease in expression, while ALDH3A2 demonstrated the largest increase in expression.

We performed RT-PCR to validate the most significant findings for each gene, with the exception of creatine kinase, brain (CKB) and CKMT1A, which we were unable to examine in the hypothalamus due to the small quantity of tissue available from this region. The results of this validation are shown in Supplementary Table 6. The majority of the genes showed significant correlations with microarray expression values or significant differences between groups, with the exception of CKMT1A/B and ODC antizyme 2 (OAZ2) in BA 4. However, there was a significant correlation between our RT-PCR results and the expression measured by the CKMT1A probeset 235452_at. As probeset 202712_s_at measures both CKMT1A and CKMT1B, which are different isoforms encoded by the same gene (406), our results suggest that our significant findings in BA 4 may be due to altered expression of the CKMT1B isoform. The results for OAZ2 are less clear, as correlations between RT-PCR results and expression of two other OAZ2 probesets gave both positive and negative correlations.

We next used a hierarchical clustering algorithm in order to gain a better understanding of the relationship amongst the alterations in polyamine-related gene expression across each brain region. Figure 1 depicts a heat map of the log_2 fold changes from statistical model 5 (pH + RNA quality) between the suicide and control groups for 19 of the 20 probesets with a significant expression difference in at least one region, as well as the dendogram obtained from the hierarchical clustering of the regions and probesets. We initially carried out these analyses using all 20 significant probesets, however the SAT1 probeset 230333_at was removed as its very strong and extensive downregulation obscured our ability to detect relationships between all other components (not shown). Model 5 was chosen for this analysis as it resulted in the greatest range of log₂ fold changes. The clustering clearly separated two groups of genes, with SAT1 (probesets 210592_s_at and 213988_s_at), SMOX and GATM being mostly downregulated across the brain. In addition, probeset 202053_s_at in ALDH3A2 was distinguished from all other included probesets by its extensive overexpression across multiple regions. These expression differences were particularly strong in the cluster of regions formed by BA4, BA21, BA38, BA44, and all regions of the thalamus. Finally, these results demonstrate a distinct pattern of dysregulated expression in the hypothalamus.

Discussion

We investigated the expression of 69 polyamine-, arginine-, and prolinerelated genes, across 22 brain regions, in a sample of controls and mooddisordered suicide completers, and identified 14 genes displaying altered levels of gene expression, as well as several clusters of genes and brain regions which appear to be particularly important for the involvement of these systems in suicide.

As with our previous gene expression studies in suicide completers, SAT1, the main rate-limiting enzyme in polyamine catabolism and interconversion, demonstrated the most widespread and consistent alterations in expression. Previous studies by our group have also identified upregulated expression of SMS and decreased expression of SMOX in suicide completers (64;157), and these two genes displayed a similar pattern of dysregulated expression in the current study. The consistency of the findings for these three genes, with our use of an expanded

sample set and different microarray platform, reinforces the validity of our previous findings, and highlights their importance in suicide. Altogether, increased polyamine synthesis, combined with decreased polyamine catabolism, would be expected to generate similar, and possibly cumulative effects on cellular and intracellular levels of the polyamines and their metabolites. These alterations are likely related to the increased levels of putrescine and spermidine we recently quantified by GC-MS in the brains of suicide completers (209). Although the direct effects of altered expression of SAT1, SMOX, and SMS on the overall profile of the polyamines and metabolites are unknown, these changes may reflect compensatory mechanisms to reduce the levels of the lower polyamines, or could indicate an increased cellular requirement for spermine. However, as described below, the present study identified dysregulated expression of additional genes with important roles in controlling polyamine levels, and it remains difficult to distinguish between those whose altered expression levels represent compensatory rather than pathological mechanisms.

In this study, our focused approach and expanded sample allowed us to identify additional polyamine-related genes which show differential expression in suicide completers. Whereas our original studies highlighted genes involved in controlling the levels of the higher polyamines, the current study also revealed the importance of enzymes involved in the biosynthesis of the lower polyamines. AMD1 is one of the rate-limiting biosynthetic enzymes, and acts on Sadenosylmethionine (SAM) to produce the aminopropyl donor required for the conversion of putrescine to spermidine, and spermidine to spermine. AMD1 levels are regulated at multiple levels, including transcription, translation, proenzyme processing, enzymatic activity, and protein degradation, and several of these processes are known to be influenced by the polyamines (393). In addition to its essential role in polyamine biosynthesis, its effects on the levels of SAM and decarboxylated SAM influences the synthesis of several neurotransmitters, as well as levels of DNA methylation and histone modifications (369;407-411), each of which may play a role in the antidepressant effects of SAM in humans (368). Post-mortem studies have found elevated levels of SAM in BA 9 of psychotic, but

not depressed patients (411), whereas depressed individuals display a downregulation of AMD1 in BA 21 (412). Interestingly, given the important role of putrescine on AMD1 activity, AMD1 is downregulated in BA 4, a region demonstrating elevated putrescine levels in suicide completers (209). Although ODC is the second major rate-limiting enzyme in polyamine biosynthesis, and plays the leading role in the polyamine stress response (197), post-mortem studies in humans have not detected altered expression of this gene in suicide or other psychiatric conditions. However, as this gene is extensively regulated at numerous levels, the apparent lack of alterations in mRNA levels does not necessarily rule out its involvement in suicide. Thus it is of great interest that we identified increased expression of two genes, the antizymes OAZ1 and OAZ2, which directly influence ODC activity and protein levels. The ODC antizymes are a class of three related isoforms which bind ODC and target it for degradation, as well as inhibit the uptake and induce the secretion of polyamines from the cell (413). Interestingly, translation of each antizyme is controlled by a unique frameshift which is induced by elevated polyamine levels (413). Taking into account the presence of increased polyamine levels (209) in conjunction with elevated antizyme mRNA levels, it seems likely that protein levels of antizyme are also increased, with the potential effect of decreasing ODC activity in these brain regions. A recent study found OAZ1 to be downregulated in BA 10 of schizophrenics (414), thus emphasizing the importance of the antizymes in psychiatry.

The production of ornithine by arginases is also an important site for the control of polyamine metabolism as well as other arginine-related pathways. Arginase II (ARG2) is the mitochondrial variant and is found at high levels in the brain where it plays important roles in both polyamine and NO metabolism (415). Arginase induction can result in decreased NO synthesis as well as increased polyamine biosynthesis through the reduction of arginine and elevation in ornithine levels (416). As such, the upregulation of ARG2 is particularly interesting given the relationship of NO with suicidal behaviors (300;303).

Furthermore, altered arginase activity has been observed in plasma of patients with major depressive disorder, schizophrenia, and bipolar disorder (417-419).

In addition to enzymes directly involved in polyamine metabolism, we identified several genes with more distal relationships which may influence the availability of substrates for polyamine biosynthesis. These include aldehyde dehydrogenase 3 family, member A2 (ALDH3A2), CKB, CKMT1A/B, glycine amidinotransferase (GATM), glutamic-oxaloacetic transaminase 1, soluble (GOT1), and arginyl-tRNAsynthetase-like (RARSL). Interestingly, three of these enzymes, CKB, CKMT1A/B, and GATM are involved in creatine metabolism, which plays an essential role in controlling levels of adenosine 5'-triphosphate (ATP) in the cell (420). CKB, CKMT1A, and CKMT1B represent different isoforms of creatine kinase, and are involved in the regeneration of cellular ATP (406). Both CKB and CKMT1A were upregulated in the hypothalamus, which may indicate a higher energy use in this structure, or could reflect a compensatory mechanism to increase low ATP levels. Intriguingly, the hypothalamus displayed a pattern of dysregulated expression which was distinct from those of other brain regions, which is of great interest given the strong support for the involvement of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis system in suicide (421). In BA 4, we observed a downregulation of GATM, the rate-limiting enzyme in creatine biosynthesis (422), as well as increased expression of CKMT1A and/or CKMT1B, which is in agreement with our previous findings of significant alterations in ATP production in the prefrontal cortex of suicide completers (64). Finally, alterations in CKB have previously been observed in several brain regions of patients with schizophrenia (423;424), and mutations in GATM appear to have behavioral and cognitive effects (425), emphasizing the important neurobiological consequences resulting from dysregulated creatine metabolism.

The relationship between the other differentially expressed genes and the polyamine system is not straightforward. ALDH3A2 is a microsomal enzyme involved in the metabolism of aldehydes, including those produced during putrescine catabolism. Deficiency of this gene is associated with Sjögren-Larsson syndrome, which is characterized by physical and neurological defects resulting

from the accumulation of fatty alcohols (426). Upregulation may reflect increased polyamine catabolism, or may be a consequence its involvement in lipid metabolism, which has also been implicated in suicidal behaviors (421). Indeed, our multivariate analyses demonstrated a distinct pattern of dysregulated expression for this gene, which may indicate that its involvement in suicide is not related to polyamine metabolism. Along the same line, GOT1 catalyzes the conversion of aspartate and α -ketoglutarate to oxaloacetate and glutamate, which is an essential reaction in several metabolic pathways, thereby making it difficult to determine if its upregulation is directly related to polyamine metabolism. Finally, RARSL uses arginine to produce arginyl-tRNA, which is essential for protein synthesis, and plays a role in protein degradation (416).

There are several limitations to this study. As with all studies of this nature, the effects of post-mortem factors as well as other confounding clinical variables may influence the interpretation of results. However, we used statistical methods to identify and control for confounding variables, and by statistically assessing the effects of these and other variables on overall expression, we were able to identify the most relevant factors in terms of quality (β -actin 5'/3' ratio), post-mortem (pH), and clinical (age) characteristics. Given that our results were fairly consistent across the models, our expression results appear relatively robust to the effects of these variables. Nonetheless, we cannot rule out the possibility that additional confounding factors may have been present which were not controlled for. By expanding our sample to include individuals with depression and bipolar disorders, we may have obscured our ability to detect suicide-specific alterations by introducing disease-specific effects. Additionally, as we did not have a suicide group without mood disorders, we are unable to completely dissociate the processes related to suicide from those associated with mood disorders. Nonetheless, in doing so we may have generated results which can be better generalized to other populations. Finally, it is possible that additional quality or post-mortem variables were present which were not accounted for in our statistical models.

Microarray studies generate large amounts of data, potentially leading to false positive findings when inadequate statistical methods are used to control for multiple testing. Conversely, the use of overly stringent correction methods can prevent the identification of biologically relevant alterations in expression. By pre-selecting probesets to include only those which may be relevant for polyamine metabolism, we have greatly decreased the amount of statistical correction required for multiple testing, while at the same time, we have limited false positive results by the use of two separate FDR methods.

In conclusion, we have performed a global analysis of the expression of polyamine-related genes across many brain regions of suicide completers, and have identified several genes displaying significantly altered expression. This study has allowed us to obtain a broader view of the polyamine-related processes associated with suicide, and has highlighted the importance of the polyamine system in the psychopathology of suicide.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) MOP 79253. AB and GT are Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec (FRSQ) research fellows. LMF received a scholarship from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC).



Figure 1: Heat map generated using the DIANA algorithm with the log_2 fold changes from 19 probesets between suicide completers and controls in model 5 (β -actin and pH). AMY: amygdala; BA: Brodmann area; HC: hippocampus; HT: hypothalamus; Thal-A: anterior thalamus; Thal-D: dorsomedial thalamus; Thal-L: lateral thalamus.

Tables

Table 1: Differentially expressed probesets in suicide completers with mood disorders compared to controls. The lowest Efron false discovery rate (FDR)-corrected P-value and the associated statistical model are indicated. Probesets in bold are those which displayed an FDR ≤ 0.1 across all six statistical models. Fold change (FC) indicates expression in suicides relative to controls.

Gene	Probeset	Region	FC	FDR	Model *
ALDH3A2	202053_s_at	BA 4	1.80	0.04	3
	210544_s_at	BA 44	1.29	0.06	2
	202053_s_at	Thal-L	1.72	0.08	6
AMD1	201196_s_at	AMY	0.74	0.08	1
	201196_s_at	BA 4	1.26	0.08	1
	201197_at	BA 4	1.30	0.1	3
ARG2	203946_s_at	BA 4	1.57	0.06	2
CKB	200884_at	HT	1.42	0.04	3
CKMT1A	202712_s_at	BA 4	1.46	0.08	1
CKMT1A, CKMT1B	235452 at	HT	1.49	0.03	1
GATM	216733 s at	BA 4	0.64	0.06	2
GOT1	208813 at	BA 21	1.71	0.08	1
	208813 at	BA 4	1.53	0.06	2
	208813 at	BA 44	1.42	0.06	2
OAZ1	200077 ⁻ s at	BA 21	1.28	0.04	1
	215952 s at	BA 21	1.35	0.07	5
	200077 s at	BA 4	1.27	0.03	2
	200077 s at		1.20	0.06	2
	215952 s at			0.06	2
	215952 s at	BA 47	1.36	0.06	2
OAZ2	201364 s at				3
	201365 at				3
	201365 at		1.19	0.08	1
RARSL	232902 s at				1
SAT1	230333 at				6
	230333 ⁻ at				2
	230333 ⁻ at			0.1	3
	210592 s at	BA 4	0.77	0.04	3
	213988 s at		0.72		1
	230333 at		0.39	0.001	4
	213988 s at		0.76	0.1	3
	230333 ^{at}	BA 44	0.48	0.04	4
	230333 at	BA 6	0.49	0.07	5
	230333 ⁻ at	HC	0.40	0.04	3
	230333 at	Thal-A	0.39	0.04	3
	230333 at	Thal-D	0.35	0.03	2
	230333 at	Thal-L	0.23	0.0004	5
SMOX	210357 s at		0.76	0.06	2
SMS	202043 s at		1.31	0.06	2

^{*} Model covariates: 1 (none), 2 (age), 3 (RNA quality), 4 (pH), 5 (RNA quality + pH), 6 (RNA quality + age)
AMY: amygdala; BA: Brodmann area; FC: fold change; HC: hippocampus; HT:

AMY: amygdala; BA: Brodmann area; FC: fold change; HC: hippocampus; HT: hypothalamus; Thal-A: anterior thalamus; Thal-D: dorsomedial thalamus; Thal-L: lateral thalamus

Supplementary Material

Supplementary Table 1: P-values for the comparison of age, post-mortem interval (PMI) and pH between suicide completers and controls.

Test	Age	PMI	pН
Welch Two Sample t-test	0.51	0.16	0.30
Wilcoxon rank sum test with continuity correction	0.56	0.28	0.40

Supplementary Table 2: P-values of Shapiro-Wilk tests performed on the 1703 Pearson correlation values between the expression level and each covariable.

Age	PMI	рН	β-actin	GAPDH
0.006	0.24	0.0002	5.5x10 ⁻⁸	4.4×10^{-5}

Supplementary Table 3: Statistical models used to examine group differences in expression of polyamine-related probesets between suicide completers and controls.

Model	Covariate (s)
1	None
2	Age
3	β-actin
4	pН
5	β -actin + pH
6	β -actin + age

Region	Controls	Suicides
BA 4	12	
		18
BA 6	6	15
BA 8/9	6	15
BA 10	7	14
BA 11	10	17
BA 20	8	13
BA 21	10	16
BA 24	9	18
BA 29	10	21
BA 38	6	16
BA 44	11	12
BA 45	6	14
BA 46	5	14
BA 47	9	14
Amygdala	11	13
Cerebellum	11	14
Hippocampus	9	18
Hypothalamus	8	14
Nucleus accumbens	10	18
Thalamus-Anterior	9	14
Thalamus-Dorsomedial	7	15
Thalamus-Lateral	10	12

Supplementary Table 4: Numbers of controls and suicide completers used in the analysis of each brain region. BA: Brodmann area.

Gene	Region	Size	Sequence
ALDH3A2	BA4	111	CCTCTGGCTCTTTATGTATTTTCGC
			GAGCGTGAAGTGCATAATGACG
AMD1	BA4	178	GATGGAACTTATTGGACTATTCACATCAC
			CTGTGCGACATTTAGAACTCTGATTAAC
ARG2	BA4	105	TTGCTGAGGAAATACACAATACAGG
			GGTTAGCTGTAGTCTTCGCCTC
CKMT1A/B	BA4	135	ATAGCCGCTTCCCAAAGATCCTG
			CCAGCTCCACCTCTGATTTGC
GATM	BA4	90	TGGATGCCAATGAAGTTCCAATTC
			CCAGGGAATTGGCATTACGAATG
GOT1	BA44	100	GGCATGTTCAGCTTCACTGG
			CACTCACGTTGATTCGACCAC
OAZ1	BA4	106	GACAGCTTTGCAGTTCTCCTGG
			TTCGGAGCAAGGCGGCTC
OAZ2	BA4	130	GCTGATGGGAGCAAAGAAGG
			AGCTGAAGGTCTTCAGGAGTG
SAT1	BA4	179	CAGTGACATACTGCGGCTGATCAAG
			AACCAACAATGCTGTGTCCTTCCG
SMS	BA4	145	TTACACAGGGGAACTGTGTC
			CAAACAGTGTAAAATACCCACAATTCC
SMOX	BA44	193	AGTTCACAGGGAACCCCAAC
			CCGGAAAACAGCACCTGCATG
RARSL	Thal-D	120	CAACCCAGGCATATCGTCAG
			TGAAAAGATGAAGTCTGGCCC
β-actin	Control	93	GCACAGAGCCTCGCCTT
			GTTGTCGACGACGAGCG
B2M	Control	198	CTCACGTCATCCAGCAGAGA
			TCTTTTCAGTGGGGGGTGAA
GAPDH	Control	202	TTGTCAAGCTCATTTCCTGG
			TGTGAGGAGGGGAGATTCAG

Supplementary Table 5: Primers used for RT-PCR validation of microarray results.

Supplementary Table 6: Validation of differentially expressed genes by RT-PCR. P-values from one-tailed Student *t*-tests between controls and suicides, as well as Pearson correlations and associated P-values between microarray expression values and normalized RT-PCR expression values are shown when using β -actin, GAPDH, or B2M as the endogenous control. False discovery rate (FDR) refers to Efron FDR-corrected P-values from the analysis of microarray data.

				β-actin		GAPDH			B2M			
Gene	Probeset	Region	FDR	<i>t</i> -test	С	Р	<i>t</i> -test	С	Р	<i>t</i> -test	С	Р
ALDH3A2	202053_s_at	BA4	0.04	0.25	0.03	0.87	0.17	0.14	0.46	0.05	0.49	0.01
AMD1	201196_s_at	BA4	0.08	0.40	0.005	0.98	0.12	0.27	0.15	0.04	0.20	0.28
	201197_at	BA4	0.1		0.08	0.67		0.33	0.08		0.23	0.21
ARG2	203946_s_at	BA4	0.06	0.28	0.07	0.73	0.14	0.44	0.02	0.09	0.37	0.05
CKMT1A/B	202712_s_at	BA4	0.08	0.20	-0.22	0.25	0.36	0.20	0.29	0.15	0.07	0.72
CKMT1A	235452_at	BA4	NS		-0.22	0.24		-0.19	0.32		0.39	0.03
GATM	216733_s_at	BA4	0.06	0.24	0.60	0.001	0.37	0.29	0.13	0.28	0.12	0.54
GOT1	208813_at	BA44	0.06	0.35	0.43	0.04	0.43	0.48	0.02	0.05	0.54	0.01
OAZ1	200077_s_at	BA4	0.03	0.37	-0.27	0.15	0.19	0.23	0.23	0.12	0.40	0.03
OAZ2	201365_at	BA4	0.08	0.34	-0.27	0.15	0.24	-0.02	0.92	0.11	0.07	0.72
	201364_s_at	BA4	NS		-0.36	0.05		0.21	0.26		0.03	0.86
	238024_at	BA4	NS		0.47	0.01		-0.33	0.08		-0.40	0.03
RARSL	232902_s_at	Thal-D	0.08	0.003	0.16	0.47	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND	ND
SAT1	213988_s_at	BA4	0.03	0.49	-0.09	0.64	0.27	-0.28	0.13	0.19	-0.23	0.22
	230333_at	BA4	0.001		-0.08	0.66		-0.16	0.41		-0.17	0.36
	210592_s_at	BA4	0.04		0.35	0.06		0.05	0.79		-0.01	0.97
SMOX	210357_s_at	BA44	0.06	0.06	0.52	0.01	0.04	0.53	0.01	0.46	0.25	0.24
SMS	202043_s_at	BA4	0.06	0.29	-0.24	0.20	0.08	0.23	0.22	0.03	0.48	0.01

C: Pearson correlation; ND: not done; NS: non-significant; P: correlation P-value; Thal-D: dorsomedial thalamus

2.2 Association of Polyaminergic Loci with Anxiety, Mood Disorders, and Suicide Attempts

Laura M. Fiori¹, Brigitte Wanner², Valérie Jomphe³, Jordie Croteau³, Frank Vitaro², Richard E. Tremblay^{2,4,*}, Alexandre Bureau^{3,*}, and Gustavo Turecki^{1,*}

¹ McGill Group for Suicide Studies, Douglas Mental Health University Institute, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

² Research Unit on Children's Psychosocial Maladjustment, Université de Montréal, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

³ Centre de recherche Université Laval Robert-Giffard, Université Laval, Quebec City, Quebec, Canada

⁴ School of Public Health and Population Sciences, University College Dublin, Ireland

* Share senior authorship.

Submitted to PLoS ONE

<u>Abstract</u>

Background: The polyamine system has been implicated in a number of psychiatric conditions, which display both alterations in polyamine levels and altered expression of genes related to polyamine metabolism. Studies have identified associations between genetic variants in spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase (SAT1) and both anxiety and suicide, and several polymorphisms appear to play important roles in determining gene expression.

Methodology/Principle Findings: We genotyped 63 polymorphisms, spread across four polyaminergic genes (SAT1, spermine synthase (SMS), spermine oxidase (SMOX), and ornithine aminotransferase like-1 (OATL1)), in 1255 French-Canadian individuals who have been followed longitudinally for 22 years.

We assessed univariate associations with anxiety, mood disorders, and attempted suicide, as assessed during early adulthood. We also investigated the involvement of gene-environment interactions in terms of childhood abuse, and assessed internalizing and externalizing symptoms as endophenotypes mediating these interactions. Overall, each gene was associated with at least one main outcome: anxiety (SAT1, SMS), mood disorders (SAT1, SMOX), and suicide attempts (SAT1, OATL1). Several SAT1 polymorphisms displayed disease-specific risk alleles, and polymorphisms in this gene were involved in gene-gene interactions with SMS to confer risk for anxiety disorders, as well as gene-environment interactions between childhood physical abuse and mood disorders. Externalizing behaviors demonstrated significant mediation with regards to the association between OATL1 and attempted suicide, however there was no evidence that externalizing or internalizing behaviors were appropriate endophenotypes to explain the associations with mood or anxiety disorders. Finally, childhood sexual abuse did not demonstrate mediating influences on any of our outcomes.

Conclusions/Significance: These results demonstrate that genetic variants in polyaminergic genes are associated with psychiatric conditions, each of which involves a set of separate and distinct risk alleles. As several of these polymorphisms are associated with gene expression, these findings may provide mechanisms to explain the alterations in polyamine metabolism which have been observed in psychiatric disorders.

Introduction

Mood and anxiety disorders represent the two most common forms of mental illness, and are associated with a wide range of behavioural and somatic symptoms as well as substantial disability and decreased quality of life (427). Suicidal behaviors are closely, but not exclusively, associated with both psychiatric disorders. These behaviors, which comprise ideation, attempts, and completed suicide, are amongst the most devastating consequences of psychiatric disorders, and account for over a million deaths worldwide each year (2). Over the years, the importance of genetic factors in psychiatric disorders has become increasingly apparent, with overall heritability rates for depressive disorders, anxiety disorders, and suicide ranging between 30-50% (6-8;428;429), involving both shared and distinct genetic vulnerabilities (5:430). Substantial efforts have been put towards identifying genes and pathways involved in the pathology and etiology of these conditions as these both represent sites involved in conferring risk for their development, as well as act as potential targets for pharmaceutical treatments. Although the substantial evidence emerging from genetic, metabolic, and pharmacological studies investigating these disorders has implicated the involvement of monoaminergic neurotransmission, particularly the serotonin and catecholamine systems, dysregulation of these systems is not sufficient to account for all aspects of the clinical presentations or heritability associated with these disorders, and it has become abundantly clear that additional systems are involved.

The polyamine system represents an important source for neurobiological factors involved in mood disorders, anxiety disorders, and suicide. In recent years, the majority of the focus has been on its involvement in suicidal behaviours, yet considerable research across the last three decades has pointed towards roles for the polyamine system in several psychiatric conditions, including schizophrenia, mood disorders, and anxiety disorders, and particular emphasis has been placed on the importance of this system in the physiological and behavioural responses to stress (203).

The polyamines are ubiquitous aliphatic molecules, comprising spermine, spermidine, putrescine, and agmatine, which are involved in a vast range of cellular functions, including cell cycle modulation, scavenging reactive oxygen species, control of gene expression, and possess important roles in neurotransmission through their modulation of the functioning of cell-surface receptors, involvement in intracellular signalling pathways, as well as their putative roles as neurotransmitters (198;219). Cellular levels of the polyamines are extensively regulated through tight control of their biosynthesis, catabolism, and transport, and much of the evidence for their involvement in psychiatric conditions to date has revolved around variations in the levels of the polyamines, as well as alterations in the expression of genes involved in polyamine metabolism, including spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase (SAT1), spermine oxidase (SMOX), spermine synthase (SMS), and ornithine aminotransferase-like 1 (OATL1) (64;157;204-206;431). Given the extensive molecular functions of the polyamines, their precise roles in the etiology and pathology of psychiatric disorders remain unclear, although evidence from animal studies have suggested that at least some of their antidepressant and anxiolytic effects involve modulation of transmission through N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors, α 2-adrenoceptors, imidazoline receptors, and serotonin receptors (203).

In spite of the strong evidence suggesting a role for the polyamine system in depression, anxiety, and suicide, with recent evidence indicating direct polyamine dysregulation in brain tissue from individual who died by suicide (209), only a few studies have investigated polyamine-related genes at the genetic level, all of which have focused exclusively on promoter polymorphisms in SAT1, the main rate-limiting enzyme in polyamine catabolism. Three studies found significant associations: rs6526342 with suicide (204), rs6151267 with suicide in depressed individuals (432), and rs1960264 with anxiety (433). However, another study found no association between either rs6526342 or rs17286006 and suicide (205), nor was rs1960264 found to be associated with schizophrenia (434). Interestingly, these polymorphisms are part of a larger haplotype block which is associated with SAT1 expression in the brain (207), thereby representing a link between genetic

variability and downstream functional consequences. To date, no genetic studies have examined the relationships between polymorphisms in other polyamine-related genes and psychiatric disorders.

The aim of the present study was to expand our understanding of the relationship between polymorphisms in polyamine-related genes and psychiatric disorders, in particular mood disorders, anxiety disorders, and suicidal behaviours, as well as to investigate the potential for epistasis between genetic risk factors, and to identify variables which may influence the effects of genetics on psychopathology. To this end, we genotyped a large number of polymorphisms in several genes involved in polyamine metabolism in a French-Canadian cohort which has been followed for over 20 years. During this time, substantial clinical and epidemiological measures were collected, and a number of these were assessed as potential mediators for our genetic associations. Given the influence of environmental stressors on the polyamine system (197;203) as well as consistent findings implicating early life adversity in the development of psychiatric disorders (435-437), the influence of childhood sexual and physical abuse was assessed. We also investigated several personality measures, comprising externalizing or internalizing behaviors, as endophenotypes for our main outcomes. As our previous research investigating externalizing and internalizing trajectories in young children (ages 6 to 12) did not identify mediating effects with regards to mood disorders or suicide attempts (438;439), in this study these symptoms were investigated at an older age (adolescence).

Overall, we identified several genetic risk factors associated with mood disorders, anxiety disorders, and suicidal behaviours, as well as several clinical variables which mediate these effects.

Methods

Study Participants:

Participants in this study were part of a larger cohort of French-Canadians recruited in 1986-1987, then followed-up for over 20 years. A more detailed description of this cohort as well as the assessment schedules is found in (436;438). In brief, children were recruited from francophone schools in Quebec at age 6, where they were assessed through a variety of demographic, social and behavioral measures in several waves, representing childhood, mid-adolescence, early adulthood, and mid-adulthood. The initial sample comprised 3017 children, of which 2000 were randomly selected and are considered representative of the young French-speaking population. DNA was collected from the 1255 respondents among the initial sample. In the representative sample of 2000 subjects, there were no differences between the respondents and nonrespondents for parental age at birth of first child, maternal socioeconomic status, or proportion living with both biological parents. As both family adversity (described below) and gender were related to attrition in our previous studies in this cohort (438), we used them to construct weights for multivariate analyses. This study was approved by the institutional review boards of the University of Montreal and McGill University. Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects.

Measures:

Genetic Factors:

Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) were selected from four polyamine-related genes: SAT1 (NM_002970), SMOX (NM_175839), SMS (NM_004595), and OATL1 (NM_001006113). SNPs were located between 5 kb upstream of the transcription start site to 5 kb downstream of the end of the last
exon. Common tag SNPs (minor allele frequencies > 5%) for each gene were selected using HapMap data for the Utah residents with Northern and Western European ancestry (440) and the multi-marker tagging procedure in Tagger (r^2 > 0.8) (441). Additional SNPs in the upstream regions were selected using the NCBI, Pupa, and Ensembl databases. In total, 63 polyamine-related SNPs were genotyped, as shown in Supplementary Table S1. We also included 42 anonymous markers spread in non-coding regions across the genome in order to detect population stratification. Genotyping was performed using a 768-SNP Illumina platform with a custom-designed GoldenGate panel. Following genotyping, several quality control steps were performed as described in (438). Two SNPs (rs1535225 and rs2238958) had call rates of less than 90% and were removed.

Environmental Factors:

Among the overall study group, we defined two subsamples through their exposure to physical (CPA) or sexual (CSA) abuse in childhood (under 18 years of age). Subjects in the CPA group self-reported severe or very severe physical abuse perpetrated by either parent, as assessed in the Conflict Tactics Scales (442;443). Childhood sexual abuse was defined as incidences of sexual violence experienced before the age of 18, and was assessed by self-report as described in (444).

The effects of family adversity were also assessed. As described in (445), we computed a family adversity index based upon maternal reports regarding: (1) family structure (two parent or single), (2) educational level of both parents (or the parent with whom the child was living), (3) occupational status of both parents (or occupation of the parent with whom the child was living) based on the Blishen's occupational prestige scale (446) and, (4) mother's and father's age at birth of the first child. Higher values correspond to higher family adversity levels at the time when the participants were approximately 6 years of age.

Mediators:

Diagnostic Interview Schedule for Children (DIS-C) (447):

Using the DIS-C, self-reports of hyperactivity-impulsivity (8 symptoms), oppositional defiant disorder (9 symptoms), conduct disorder (11 symptoms), generalized anxiety (18 symptoms), panic disorder (13 symptoms), major depression (9 symptoms), and dysthymia (6 symptoms) were assessed. A total externalizing-disruptiveness score was obtained by summing the symptom counts associated with hyperactivity-impulsivity, oppositional defiant disorder, and conduct disorder (Cronbach alpha = 0.77). Two separate internalizing scores were generated: an internalizing-anxiety score was calculated by summing generalized anxiety and panic disorder symptoms (Cronbach alpha = 0.93), while an internalizing-depression score was generated by summing major depression and dysthymia symptoms (Cronbach alpha = 0.94). To equally weight each disorder when calculating the total sum scores, each count variable was transformed to range between 0 and 1 (by dividing the total count by the maximum count after adding 1 as a constant) before calculating the total sum score.

Covariates and Outcomes:

Diagnostic Interview Schedule for Adults (DIS) (448):

This schedule assesses mood (major depression, bipolar disorder and dysthymia), anxiety (generalized anxiety, panic and phobias), disruptive (i.e., antisocial personality), and substance abuse disorders (abuse and/or dependence on drugs, alcohol and nicotine) using DSM-III-R criteria. Mood and anxiety disorders represented outcomes and, in addition, served together with disruptive and substance abuse disorders and suicide attempts (see below) as the covariate "history of psychopathology", following previous research (438). This count variable summarized the number of diagnoses in each individual (see Table 3).

For each of the main outcome variables, the other two outcomes were part of this count variable, in addition to substance and disruptive disorders. By means of controlling for the other disorders, any significant gene-outcome relationship is independent of these potentially confounding effects. The DIS was also used to provide information regarding parental history of suicide attempts, anxiety, and mood disorders. If either parent had a positive history for these control variables, the respective history was coded as '1', otherwise it was coded as '0'.

Suicide attempts:

Suicide attempt status was based on both adolescent and adult assessments. Adolescent history was obtained from parental/adolescent responses to a question from the DIS-C (447): 'Have you already attempted suicide?' Either parental or self-report was sufficient for a person to be classified as an attempter. Adult suicide attempts were assessed with a question from the Suicidal Intent Scale (449): 'Have you already attempted suicide?' A positive attempt status was coded as '1' and negative as '0'.

Statistical Approach:

Population Stratification:

Although the French Canadians descended from a small number of individuals and displays a well-known founder effect (450;451), we nonetheless felt it was necessary to identify population outliers - individuals displaying significantly different allele frequency distributions from the rest of the sample (452). We used the genotype log likelihood test statistic with a cut-off of P = 0.01, identifying 12 outliers, which were excluded from subsequent analyses. All SNPs fulfilled Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium.

Univariate analyses:

We first investigated direct effects exerted by SNPs and haplotypes on our main outcomes (suicide attempts, mood disorders, and anxiety disorders). We also postulated that CSA or CPA may create associations of genetic variants with phenotypes only in subjects exposed to these environments and, therefore screened for such moderating or interaction effects by testing for associations of SNPs with the phenotypes in the subsamples of subjects exposed to CSA or CPA.

Firstly, in order to identify redundant SNPs, we used the squared correlations between each SNP to identify all groups of SNPs with $r^2 > 0.99$, then selected only one SNP from within each group of these perfectly correlated SNPs, yielding a set of 43 SNPs which were retained for all further analyses. These are shown in Supplementary Table S1.

 χ^2 -tests and Fisher's exact tests, in conjunction with a false detection rate (FDR) cutoff of ≤ 0.20 , were used to identify significant SNPs under allelic, recessive and dominant genetic models with respect to the minor allele. For X-linked SNPs, males were coded as homozygous when assessing recessive and dominant models. The FDR attached to each P-value for suicide attempts in the total sample as well as all analyses in the CSA and CPA subsamples was estimated using the Efron (403) method implemented in R. The Benjamini-Hochsberg (402) method was used to compute FDRs for analyses of anxiety and depression in the total sample. The Benjamini-Hochsberg method was employed for these analyses as the empirical null distribution was heavily skewed and did not fit a normal distribution, which is required to apply the Efron method. SNPs with FDR corrected P-value ≤ 0.20 were further tested in adjusted multivariate models.

We determined haplotype blocks within each gene in the total sample using *entropy.blocker* (453) implemented in the R statistical environment. Global association tests to haplotypes within each haplotype block were performed for suicide, depression, and anxiety. For SMOX, haplotype analyses were performed using the function *haplo.score* (454) from the package *haplo.stats*, implemented

in R. Analyses for the X chromosome genes were performed using UNPHASED (455). The analysis of SMS haplotypes was more complicated due to the large number of SNPs in the SMS haplotype block. Firstly, we formed ten subgroups of strongly correlated SNPs, then made three different selections of ten SNPs by randomly picking one SNP in each subgroup. These three selections were then analysed using UNPHASED.

Multivariate analyses:

Using a series of regression-based analyses adjusted for psychopathology, we retained all significant SNPs in a given gene (P < 0.05), and included them together in a model across genes. We also tested if the results in the final models changed if we applied weights adjusting for the probability of remaining in the sample conditional on the variables related to attrition: gender and family adversity. The expectation-maximization method (EM) was used to impute missing covariate values.

We analyzed two forms of moderating effects: gene-gene interactions, and gene-environment interactions. Gene-gene interactive effects were assessed in order to examine moderation of the effects of polyaminergic loci on the three outcomes by other polyaminergic loci. These interactions were performed between pairs of SNPs, in separate genes, from among those that displayed significant univariate associations to the three main outcomes. To assess these effects, in each regression model, we included two of the significant main effects from the univariate analyses as well as their interaction term. Interactions were only assessed using SNPs which were significant in the univariate analyses, and only between SNPs of different genes. Each set of predictors was tested with a logistic and an additive regression model. We examined allelic–allelic, dominant–dominant, dominant–recessive, recessive–dominant and recessive–recessive model combinations, depending on the significant mode found on the univariate step. Specifically, we conducted ten regressions (suicide attempts: 2, mood disorders: 0, anxiety disorders: 8) and empirically determined whether logistic or

additive link functions yielded a better fit to the data, resulting in two highly correlated sets of regressions and a total of twenty tests. We believe that the low statistical power to detect interaction effects in field studies, as described by McClelland and Judd (456), also applies to psychiatric and genetic studies. We therefore did not employ Type-I Error protection for the gene-gene interaction tests. Following similar procedures, we tested gene-environment interactions to examine the moderation of the effects of childhood abuse on the associations of SNPs with any of the three outcomes. We controlled for confounding effects of passive or evocative gene-environment correlations by adjusting models for parental histories of psychopathology, and by demonstrating that genotypes did not influence the exposure to abuse. Post-hoc tests were used to quantify regression slopes and examine the statistical significance of significant moderating effects (457). Corrections for multiple testing were not performed at this stage in the analyses, as these tests were performed using only SNPs which passed our FDR criteria in the CSA and CPA subsamples prior to the inclusion of covariates. Power analyses for these tests with the mood disorder phenotype are shown in Supplementary Tables S2 and S3. As the prevalence of suicide attempts and anxiety disorders were higher than that of mood disorders in the sample, greater power is expected for these two phenotypes.

In the presence of covariates, count scores of externalizing and internalizing disorders were investigated as endophenotypes mediating the significant main effects identified in the final models of suicide attempts, mood disorders, and anxiety disorders. Specifically, mediation testing was performed to identify variables which accounted for some or all of the associations between our genotypes and main outcomes (458), and the significance of these results was assessed using Sobel and Goodman tests.

Results

<u>Sample:</u>

From the initial 1255 subjects, fourteen subjects with call rates less than 95% were excluded, and 108 subjects were removed as they displayed non-White ethnicity. Assessment for population outliers identified 12 subjects displaying significantly different allele frequencies than the remainder of the population. After exclusions, the total analyzed sample consisted of 1121 (N = 664, 59% female) individuals, as shown in Table 1. Overall, exposure to CSA or CPA was significantly associated with higher rates of suicide attempts, mood disorders, and anxiety disorders.

Univariate analyses:

Our first objective was to determine if genetic variants within these polyamine genes were associated with our main outcomes in order to identify potential risk or protective factors involved in suicide attempts, mood disorders, or anxiety disorders.

Individual SNPs:

We first examined association of the 43 non-redundant SNPs with each of the three adult outcomes (mood disorders, anxiety disorders, and suicide attempts) under allelic, dominant, and recessive models. As shown in Table 2, two SAT1 and five SMS SNPs exhibited recessive modes of inheritance regarding the prediction of anxiety disorders, while three SMS SNPs were significant in the dominant model. These two SAT1 SNPs were also significantly associated with mood disorders, where they exhibited a dominant mode of inheritance. Additionally, six SNPs were found to be significantly associated with mood disorders in the CPA subsample in the dominant mode. Finally, three SNPs, including one in SAT1 and two in OATL1, were significantly associated with suicide attempts. Additionally, the results of the univariate analyses for the CSA subsample indicated no significant links to any of the adult outcomes, ruling out gene X environment interactions involving childhood sexual abuse.

Haplotypes:

The haplotype block analysis revealed that each gene was contained within a single haplotype block. Overall, association tests between haplotypes from each of the genes and the adult outcomes indicated that common haplotypes did not yield any more information than individual SNPs on the association between the studied genes and the phenotypes (not shown).

Multivariate analyses:

Gene-gene and gene-environment interactions:

Given the extensive regulation of polyamine metabolism, we were next interested in determining if genetic factors found within separate genes (Table 2) may interact in conferring risk for psychiatric disorders. We found no significant interactions for either mood disorders or suicide attempts, as both the interaction terms between the two SNPs in mood disorders, and the three significant SNPs associated with suicide attempts, were not significant.

As there was a high correlation between two of the pairs of SNPs that were significantly associated with anxiety disorders (rs10521911 and rs6654100 in SMS: $r^2 = 0.96$; and rs6526342 and rs3764885 in SAT1: $r^2 = 0.86$), we randomly dropped one of the SNPs of each pair from the interaction analyses. We found a significant interaction in the additive model including the main effects and the interaction term of rs3764885 (SAT1) and rs6654100 (SMS) with respect to anxiety disorders ($\chi^2_{(1)} = 6.25$, P = 0.01). As shown in Figure 1, individuals with homo/heterozyosity for the G alleles in rs3764885 (SAT1) and in rs6654100

(SMS) had an elevated risk for anxiety disorders. No other interaction tests were significant for anxiety disorders.

Next, we tested whether the significant SNPs for mood disorders found in the CPA subsample (Table 2) may yield significant gene-environment interactions in the overall sample. We found a significant interaction in the additive model including the main effects and the interaction term of rs3764885 (SAT1) and CPA as well as parental mood disorder ($\chi^2_{(1)} = 5.51$, P = 0.02). As depicted in Figure 2, individuals with homo/heterozyosity for the G allele in rs3764885 (SAT1) and who were CPA victims had elevated rates of mood disorders. This gene-environment interaction was not confounded by evocative gene-environment correlation as indicated by a nonsignificant correlation between the SNP and CPA (P = 0.75). In terms of passive gene-environment correlations, parental mood disorders were weakly associated with CPA ($r^2 = 0.081$, P = 0.005). No other gene-environment interactions were significant.

Main/mediating effects:

Our final objective was to identify SNPs that are uniquely associated with our main outcomes, along with clinical variables which mediate these associations. The results of the multivariate analyses of the main effects are depicted in Table 3. Overall, the final logistic models explained approximately 18%, 14%, and 11% of the variance in mood disorders, suicide attempts and anxiety disorders, respectively. Using an equivalent of Cook's statistic for logistic regression, outlier diagnostics indicated no cases of extreme influence except, in the analysis of anxiety, the combination formed by the reference values of all variables. However, the latter represented the largest group of subjects. Multicollinearity was unlikely, as the highest correlation among our variables was $r^2 = 10.8\%$. The final estimates obtained with the EM missing-value imputation method had narrower confidence intervals (CI) but were otherwise similar to unimputed estimates. Weighting for gender and family adversity did not change estimates of significance levels or odds ratios (*OR*) (not shown).

Mood disorders:

As mentioned above, rs3764885 and rs6526342 were highly associated, and were the only SNPs that were significant for the prediction of mood disorders in the overall sample. Table 3 depicts the final additive model that included standardized history of psychopathology in addition to the interaction model described above. We found no evidence for a mediating effect of CSA, although there was a relationship between CSA and mood disorders (r = 0.10, P = 0.0005), after controlling for the covariate effects.

Suicide attempts:

One SNP (OATL1, rs11795513) made a statistically significant contribution to suicide attempts (OR = 1.80) independently of parental attempt (OR = 3.52) and Axis I diagnoses (OR = 2.74). We found evidence for evocative gene-environment correlation for this SNP and CSA (r = 0.10, P = 0.0008) as well as a link between CSA and suicide attempts (r = 0.17, P = 0.0001) after controlling for the covariate effects. After entering CSA in the regression model, the link between the OATL1 SNP and suicide attempt dropped (OR = 1.66, CI 1.09-2.51**). A Sobel test indicated significant (partial) mediation (Sobel statistic: z = 2.73, P = 0.0064; Goodman statistic z = 2.77, P = 0.0056). Parental suicide attempts were linked to CSA (r = 0.09, P = 0.0021) and CPA (r = 0.07, P = 0.0129). Although CPA was significantly linked to suicide attempts (r = -0.03, P = 0.3038), making further analyses unnecessary.

Anxiety disorders:

In addition to the interaction effect of SAT1 (rs3764885) and SMS (rs6654100) described above, one SNP (SMS, rs5951676) made a statistically

significant contribution to anxiety disorders (OR = 2.05), independently of the nonsignificant effect of parental anxiety disorders (OR = 1.05) and the significant effect of history of psychopathology (OR = 1.14). Neither CSA nor CPA demonstrated mediating effects for anxiety disorders.

Candidate endophenotypes:

Externalizing (disruptiveness) symptoms were significantly linked to mood disorders (r = 0.16, P < 0.0001), anxiety disorders (r = 0.09, P = 0.0024), and suicide attempts (r = 0.21, P < 0.0001). Disruptiveness was also linked to the OATL1 SNP rs11795513 (r = 0.09, P = 0.0042) that was linked to suicide attempts (see Table 3). After entering disruptiveness in the regression model predicting suicide attempts, the relationship between the OATL1 SNP and the outcome dropped (OR = 1.71, CI 1.13-2.59**). A Sobel test indicated significant (partial) mediation (Sobel statistic: z = 2.25, P = 0.0244; Goodman statistic z = 2.30, P = 0.0215). Disruptiveness did not demonstrate mediating effects with respect to mood disorders or anxiety disorders, although it was significantly linked to rs3764885 (SAT1) (r = -0.09, P = 0.0009) which predicted anxiety disorders and mood disorders.

Neither of the internalizing endophenotypes demonstrated mediating effects with respect to any of the three outcomes.

Discussion

In this study, we examined the relationships between genetic variants in polyamine genes and three main outcomes: suicide attempts, mood disorders, and anxiety disorders. In addition, we assessed the gene-gene and gene-environment interactions as well as investigated the involvement of several potential endophenotypes as mediators for our genetic effects. Overall, not only did each of the four genes examined demonstrate significant associations with at least one of our main outcomes, but each of these outcomes was in turn associated with polyaminergic variants.

Among the genes examined, SAT1 displayed the greatest range of effects, with polymorphisms demonstrating significant associations with each of the three main outcomes. The SAT1 gene encodes the rate-limiting enzyme in polyamine catabolism, and has provided the most compelling evidence for the involvement of dysregulated polyamine catabolism in psychiatric conditions, particularly in completed suicide where it displays widespread decreases in expression across the brain (64;157;204;206). In the present study, three SAT1 SNPs, rs6526342, rs3764885, and rs1894289, demonstrated significant associations with the main outcomes; interestingly however, our results indicate disease-specificity with respect to the risk alleles at these polymorphisms. Indeed, while rs6526342 and rs3764885 were significantly associated with both mood and anxiety disorders, the major alleles at these SNPs represented the risk alleles in anxiety disorders, whereas the minor alleles conferred susceptibility towards mood disorders. Both these SNPs, as well as two other polymorphisms, rs6151267 and rs1960264, are found on the same haplotype block (207), and greater proportions of the major haplotype at this locus have been associated with both completed suicide and anxiety disorders (204;432;433). Interestingly, the association of rs6151267 with completed suicide was only found when comparing individuals with depressive disorders, indicating that the risk conferred by this polymorphism is specific to suicide performed in the context of depression. The results of the present study may thus help explain this effect, as it could be that the ability of this haplotype to confer susceptibility to suicide may have been more apparent in a sample in which the opposite allele is found at higher proportions. At the molecular level, we recently characterized the role of this haplotype in influencing the expression of SAT1, and found that the more common haplotype was associated with lower gene expression in vitro and in the brain (207). Accordingly, it could be speculated that the relationships between these SNPs and mood and anxiety disorders are mediated by the effects of this haplotype on gene expression. Another SAT1 SNP, rs1894289, also possessed disease-specific risk alleles in

terms of its associations with attempted suicide and mood disorders. Given that this SNP is located approximately 3.5 kb downstream of SAT1, it is unlikely that it possesses a functional role, and rather is tagging the functional variant. Compared to the other SAT1 SNPs examined, the linkage disequilibrium between this SNP and others on the haplotype block is much lower: it is therefore quite possible that this SNP is tagging an adjacent haplotype block, and that the associations of this SNP involve distinct molecular mechanisms.

In this study, SMS, which is involved in spermine biosynthesis, demonstrated strong associations with anxiety disorders through both main genetic effects as well as through a gene-gene interaction with SAT1. Although our previous results had indicated that this gene demonstrates altered expression in the hippocampus of suicide completers (157), this represents the first study indicating that it may also be involved in anxiety. We recently characterized genetic and epigenetic factors in the promoter region of SMS and found no indication that promoter variants, DNA methylation, or chromatin modifications played a role in determining the expression of this gene (392). However, as all of our significant associations in the present study map to introns or regions downstream from SMS, these results may indicate that genetic variants outside of the promoter region could influence the expression of this gene. Alternatively, the functional variants responsible for the associations with anxiety may influence later gene regulatory steps, such as mRNA processing or enzymatic activity. Indeed, several rare mutations in SMS, resulting in altered splicing or enzymatic activity, are responsible for Snyder-Robinson syndrome, a form of X-linked mental retardation which manifests with both intellectual and physical symptoms including alterations in brain morphology (459-462). Certainly additional studies will be required to identify the variants which are responsible for our associations as well as the mechanisms by which they exert their effects. In addition to the main genetic effects, we identified a gene-gene interaction between SMS and SAT1 in conferring risk for anxiety disorders. Interestingly, SMS and SAT1 are located in close proximity on the X chromosome, and are at a chromosomal region which was recently found to be associated with suicide (31). This could indicate the involvement of shared regulatory mechanisms, which may be involved in the interactive effects between SNPs in these two genes.

Unlike the other genes included in this study, the significant findings regarding SMOX and mood disorders were only apparent in the subset of individuals who had experienced physical abuse in childhood. Within this subgroup, three SNPs, two within the third intron and one located 3 kb downstream, demonstrated significant associations with mood disorders. Along with SMS, we recently examined genetic and epigenetic elements in the SMOX promoter, and found little indication that expression of this gene was influenced through these mechanisms (392). Aside from our previous findings regarding altered expression of this gene in suicide completers (64), little is known concerning the involvement of this gene in psychiatric conditions. As such, the mechanisms by which these SNPs may act to confer susceptibility to mood disorders is unknown.

OATL1 yielded the strongest univariate associations in this study, with two SNPs being significantly associated with suicide attempts. Compared to the other genes in this study, the relationship of OATL1 to polyamine metabolism is more distant, and its physiological function or role in polyamine metabolism has not been well characterized. This gene was selected for this study due to its potential involvement in suicide, as it displays altered expression in the hippocampus of suicide completers (157). While the current study appears to support its involvement in suicidal behaviors, the mechanism by which it exerts its pathological effects remains unclear. Indeed, the two SNPs associated with attempted suicide map outside of the gene, with rs11795513 located approximately 2 kb upstream and rs2249583 approximately 13 kb downstream. These SNPs are part of a larger haplotype block on the X chromosome which encompasses several genes (440;463), and as such, it is also possible that these associations may be due to genes located nearby rather than OATL1.

In addition to main genetic effects and gene-gene interactions, this study examined the role of gene-environment interactions in conferring risk towards each of the three main outcomes, as well as controlled for possible confounding effects of gene-environment correlations. Our results demonstrated that exposure to either physical or sexual abuse was associated with elevated risk for suicide attempts, mood disorders, and anxiety disorders, however our results indicated that sexual abuse did not moderate the genetic associations of the polyamine genes with these outcomes. Our results identified a significant moderating effect of physical abuse on the association between the SAT1 SNP rs3764885 and mood disorders. Particularly interesting is that while higher levels of the minor allele were associated with mood disorders in the univariate analyses, the effects of physical abuse were to increase the risk for mood disorders in individuals carrying the major allele. Finally, we identified several evocative gene-environment correlations with regards to CSA and its involvement in mood disorders and suicide attempts, however the mechanisms involved in these effects are not clear.

Along with analyses investigating the relationship between genetics and the environment, a growing trend in psychiatric research has been to investigate endophenotypes as a means to disentangle the relationships between genetic variables and psychiatric disorders. Whereas our previous findings demonstrated that externalizing and internalizing trajectories measured in childhood were not suitable endophenotypes for mood disorders or suicidal behaviors (438;439), the present study demonstrates that measurement of these symptoms at an older age may be more appropriate for describing suicidal behaviors. The ability of externalizing behaviors to act as an endophenotype to explain the relationship between our genetic findings and suicide attempts agrees well with the strong association between impulsive aggression and suicidal behaviors (464). In addition, these results agree with our previous findings that trajectories based upon disruptiveness demonstrate a stronger relationship with suicide attempts than those derived from measures of anxiousness (439). We found no evidence that our externalizing or internalizing endophenotypes mediate the relationships between our genetic findings and mood or anxiety disorders. This may reflect a lack of statistical power in our sample to detect these effects, or alternatively, these relationships may be mediated by other personality measures.

There are several potential limitations to this study. Although we removed perfectly correlated SNPs from our analyses in order to reduce statistical corrections, it is clear that many of the remaining SNPs were highly correlated. As such, we likely overcorrected for multiple testing in using the Benjamini– Hochsberg procedure and may have missed additional weaker associations. Moreover, as with all studies of this nature, the presence of linkage disequilibrium prevents us from conclusively identifying the functional variants nor the mechanisms by which they exert their effects. Additionally, our statistical power to characterize genetic effects in the smaller CPA and CSA subsamples was limited and may have prevented us from identifying gene-environment interactions. Also, as CSA and CPA were assessed by self-report, recall bias may have affected these measurements. Finally, as we did not correct our interaction analyses for multiple testing, these findings should thus be interpreted with caution, as they are in need of replication.

In conclusion, this study identified a number of genetic and environmental variables associated with attempted suicide, mood disorders, and anxiety disorders. While the precise biological mechanisms by which these genetic variants confer risk to these disorders remains to be determined, these studies have greatly extended our knowledge regarding the involvement of dysregulated polyamine metabolism in the etiology and pathology of psychiatric conditions.

Acknowledgements

We would like to thank the families for their participation in this study. This work was supported by the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) MOPs 79253 and 53321 as well as an AFSP award to GT. LMF received a scholarship from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC).





Figure 1: Significant gene-gene interaction for anxiety disorders between SAT1 (rs3764885) and SMS (rs6654100).



Figure 2: Significant gene-environment interaction between rs3764885 (SAT1) and childhood physical abuse (CPA) for mood disorders.

<u>Tables</u>

Table 1: Characteristics of the total sample and the childhood sexual abuse (CSA) and childhood physical abuse (CPA) subsamples with respect to the main outcomes.

ЪT			
Ν	Suicide Attempts	Mood Disorders	Anxiety Disorders
1121	117 (10%)	107 (10%)	239 (21%)
230	53 (23%)	44 (19%)	77 (33%)
	$\chi^2_{(1)} = 48.9$	$\chi^2_{(1)} = 28.1$	$\chi^2_{(1)} = 25.5$
	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.001
316	55 (17%)	47 (15%)	88 (28%)
	$\chi^{2}_{(1)} = 22.9$	$\chi^2_{(1)} = 12.9$	$\chi^2_{(1)} = 11.2$
	P < 0.001	P < 0.001	P < 0.001
	1121 230	$\begin{array}{ccccc} 1121 & 117 (10\%) \\ 230 & 53 (23\%) \\ & \chi^2_{(1)} = 48.9 \\ & P < 0.001 \\ 316 & 55 (17\%) \\ & \chi^2_{(1)} = 22.9 \end{array}$	1121117 (10%)107 (10%)23053 (23%)44 (19%) $\chi^2_{(1)} = 48.9$ $\chi^2_{(1)} = 28.1$ $P < 0.001$ $P < 0.001$ 31655 (17%)47 (15%) $\chi^2_{(1)} = 22.9$ $\chi^2_{(1)} = 12.9$

N = number; Percentages refer to the respective sample.

Table 2: Significant univariate associations between polyamine genes and adult outcomes in the total and childhood physical abuse (CPA) samples. False discovery rate (FDR) corrected P-values are shown for each association, and the mode under which the significant effect is observed is indicated. The percentage of affected and unaffected subjects carrying the minor allele is indicated.

Gene	SNP	FDR	Mode	Affected	Unaffected	Sample
Anxiety Disorders						
SAT1 **	rs6526342	0.14	recessive	0.221	0.234	Total
SAT1 **	rs3764885	0.14	recessive	0.217	0.220	Total
SMS *	rs5951672	0.19	dominant	0.071	0.050	Total
SMS [*]	rs2040357	0.19	recessive	0.333	0.344	Total
SMS *	rs732946	0.19	dominant	0.064	0.042	Total
SMS **	rs5904598	0.14	recessive	0.262	0.310	Total
SMS **	rs10521911	0.16	recessive	0.171	0.214	Total
SMS **	rs5951676	0.14	dominant	0.071	0.046	Total
SMS *	rs5951678	0.19	recessive	0.243	0.260	Total
SMS **	rs6654100	0.14	recessive	0.167	0.210	Total
Mood Diso	rders					
SAT1 **	rs6526342	0.19	dominant	0.283	0.224	Total
SAT1 **	rs3764885	0.19	dominant	0.262	0.214	Total
SAT1 A**	rs6526342	0.02	dominant	0.305	0.211	CPA
SAT1 A**	rs3764885	0.02	dominant	0.305	0.202	CPA
SAT1 [*]	rs1894289	0.04	dominant	0.451	0.366	CPA
SMOX ^{A*}	rs1622950	0.04	dominant	0.596	0.459	CPA
SMOX A*	rs1765017	0.04	dominant	0.564	0.447	CPA
SMOX A*	rs6084657	0.14	dominant	0.596	0.489	CPA
Suicide Attempts						
OATL1 ^{A**}	rs11795513	0.007	dominant	0.400	0.330	Total
OATL1 *	rs2249583	0.03	dominant	0.460	0.411	Total
SAT1 ^{A*}	rs1894289	0.07	recessive	0.325	0.406	Total

^A allelic test FDR also < 0.20

P-values: *= 0.05-0.01 inclusive,**= 0.0099-0.001 inclusive,*** < 0.001

Table 3: Main and interactive effects for single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNP) and adult outcomes of mood disorders, suicide attempts, and anxiety. Effects and 95% confidence intervals (CI) are shown for each phenotype. Effects for mood disorders are represented by unstandardized regression coefficients, while effects for suicide attempts and anxiety disorders are represented by odds ratios (OR).

Phenotype	Gene	SNP	Effects, CI	Covariates	OR, 95%, CI
Mood disorders					
Model information ^D	SAT1	rs3764885	0.01, -0.02 - 0.05	Parental mood disorder	0.05, 0.01 - 0.10
Omnibus test: $\chi^{2}_{(n=1121, 5)}$ = 87.14***				History of psychopathology ^A	0.07, 0.05 - 0.10****
Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.16$				CPA	0.00, -0.03 - 0.04
	SAT1	rs3764885 X CPA	0.10, 0.01 - 0.19*		
Suicide attempts					
Model information	OATL1	rs11795513	1.80, 1.20 - 2.71**	Parental suicide attempt	3.52, 1.84 - 6.72***
Omnibus test: $\chi^2_{(n=1121, 3)}$ = 80.68***				History of psychopathology ^B	2.74, 2.12 - 3.55***
Hosmer-Lemeshow test:					
$\chi^{2}_{(3)}=2.15, p=0.54$					
Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.14$					
Anxiety disorders					
Model information	SMS	rs5951676	1.96, 1.21-3.17**	Parental anxiety disorder	1.49, 0.91-2.45
Omnibus test: $\chi^{2}_{(n=1121, 6)}$ = 81.27***	SAT1	rs3764885	0.39, 0.29-0.77**	History of psychopathology ^C	2.03, 1.67-2.46***
Hosmer-Lemeshow test:	SMS	rs6654100	0.34, 0.17-0.67**		
$\chi^{2}_{(4)}=3.76, p=0.44$					
Nagelkerke $R^2 = 0.11$	SAT1 X	rs3764885 X	5.39, 1.11-26.20*		
A	SMS	rs6654100	1 • • 1 44 4		

^A Anxiety, disruptive and substance abuse disorders, and suicide attempts. ^B Anxiety, disruptive, mood and substance abuse disorders.

^CMood, disruptive and substance abuse disorders, and suicide attempts.

^DAdditive model

P-values: *= 0.05-0.01 inclusive, **= 0.0099-0.001 inclusive, *** <0.001

Supplemental Information

OATL1	SAT1	SMOX	SMS
rs11795513 (C/T)	rs5925934 (T/C) ^B	rs1741296 (A/G)	rs5951670 (G/A)
rs6608814 (T/C) ^B	rs6526342 (C/A)	rs1741305 (C/T)	rs2238958 (G/A) ^A
rs11795697 (G/A) ^B	rs17286006 (C/T)	rs6076627 (A/T)	rs5951672 (G/A)
rs7880909 (G/A)	rs3764885 (G/A)	rs1741314 (C/T)	rs1007321 (C/G)
rs2293948 (A/G) ^B	rs1894289 (T/G)	rs1741315 (G/A)	rs4824171 (G/A)
rs235834 (T/A) ^B	rs12846646 (G/A)	rs1765014 (A/G) ^B	rs5904497 (T/G) ^B
rs2249583 (G/C)		$rs1765016 (G/T)^{B}$	rs2238962 (G/A)
		rs1741317 (G/A) ^B	rs2238963 (G/A) ^B
		rs1741318 (G/A)	rs2040357 (G/A)
		rs1535225 (G/A) ^A	rs2283723 (A/G)
		rs1622950 (A/G)	rs2238964 (C/T)
		rs1765017 (T/G)	rs12688591 (A/C)
		rs1337281 (G/T)	$rs6528074 (G/A)^{B}$
		rs1741328 (C/T)	rs7059727 (C/T) ^B
		rs6084657 (T/C)	rs3747276 (C/T)
			rs732946 (G/A)
			rs732945 (C/G) ^B
			rs2238966 (C/T)
			rs12013805 (G/T)
			rs7051872 (C/G) ^B
			rs5951490 (A/C)
			rs5951491 (G/A) ^B
			rs5904598 (A/T)
			rs10521911 (C/T)
			rs2239674 (A/G) ^B
			rs1009643 (T/C)
			rs2071136 (T/C)
			$rs7887293 (G/T)^{B}_{P}$
			rs7891381 (A/G) ^B
			rs5951676 (T/C)
			rs5904600 (G/A)
			rs5951678 (G/A)
			rs4824217 (T/G)
			rs3891326 (G/A)
A Evaludad dua ta aa			rs6654100 (G/T)

Supplementary Table 1: Single nucleotide polymorphisms genotyped in each gene. Major and minor alleles are shown for each variant.

 ^A Excluded due to call rate below 90%
 ^B Excluded due to perfect (r=1.0) correlation with at least one other SNP in this list.

Supplementary Table 2: Power analyses for association testing with mood disorders in the total sample and the subgroup of individuals exposed to childhood physical abuse (CPA), under the assumption of an interaction between genotype and CPA. Tests were computed under the dominant genetic model by combining carriers (homozygotes and heterozygotes) of the risk allele. Power calculations were assessed for α levels corresponding to false discovery rates (FDR) of 0.2.

Genotype	Frequency of	Relative	Power (%)	
attributable risk	risk allele (%)	risk [*]	CPA (α=0.05)	Total (α=0.005)
0.10	0.05	3.84	99	62
	0.10	2.46	86	27
	0.30	1.54	42	5
	0.50	1.37	23	1
0.20	0.10	5.04	100	97
	0.30	2.50	91	57
	0.50	2.02	48	30

* Relative risk of mood disorders between carriers and non-carriers of the risk genotype in the CPA subgroup. The relative risk in the non-CPA subgroup was equal to 1.

Supplementary Table 3: Power analyses for regression analyses of the interaction between a genotype and childhood physical abuse (CPA) on mood disorders. Tests were computed under the dominant genetic model by combining carriers (homozygotes and heterozygotes) of the risk allele. Power calculations were assessed for $\alpha = 0.05$.

Genotype	Frequency of	Relative	Power (%)	
attributable risk	risk allele (%)	risk [*]	Additive	Logistic
0.10	0.05	3.84	95	100
	0.10	2.46	76	100
	0.30	1.54	32	83
	0.50	1.37	15	32
0.20	0.10	5.04	100	100
	0.30	2.50	86	100
	0.50	2.02	51	80

* Relative risk of mood disorders between carriers and non-carriers of the risk genotype in the CPA subgroup. The relative risk in the non-CPA subgroup was equal to 1.



Supplementary Figure 1: Linkage disequilibrium (r^2) between polymorphisms within each gene.

2.3 X Chromosome and Suicide

Laura M. Fiori, Hana Zouk, Carla Himmelman, and Gustavo Turecki

McGill Group for Suicide Studies, Douglas Mental Health University Institute, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

Published in Molecular Psychiatry, In Press (31)

<u>Abstract</u>

Suicide completion rates are significantly higher in males than females in most societies. While gender differences in suicide rates have been partially explained by environmental and behavioral factors, it is possible that genetic factors, through differential expression between genders, may also help explain gender moderation of suicide risk. This study investigated X-linked genes in suicide completers using a 2-step strategy. We first took advantage of the genetic structure of the French-Canadian population and genotyped 722 unrelated French-Canadian male subjects, of whom 333 were suicide completers and 389 were nonsuicide controls, using a panel of 37 microsatellite markers spanning the entire X chromosome. Nine haplotype windows and several individual markers were associated with suicide. Significant results aggregated primarily in two regions, one in the long arm and another in the short arm of chromosome X, limited by markers DXS8051 and DXS8102, and DXS1001 and DXS8106, respectively. The second stage of the study investigated differential brain expression of genes mapping to associated regions in Brodmann areas 8/9, 11, 44, and 46, in an independent sample of suicide completers and controls. Six genes within these regions, ARHGAP6, AP1S2, GPM6B, RPS6KA3, SAT1, and THOC2, were found to be differentially expressed in suicide completers.

Introduction

Suicide is a major public health problem and is one of the leading causes of death in Western countries (465). Although a history of psychiatric disorders is detected in the majority of suicide completers, transmission of psychopathology appears to be independent of suicide (317), supporting the concept that suicidal behavior is a distinct phenotype. There is a significant amount of evidence to support a genetic component to suicidal behavior, as evidenced by twin (466), adoption (25;26) and family studies (317).

A few linkage studies have been conducted investigating loci segregating with suicide completion, suicide attempt, and suicidal ideation. In a sample of alcohol-dependent and control subjects, regions in chromosomes 1, 2, and 3 were linked with suicide attempts (chromosome 2) or suicidality (chromosomes 1 and 3) (28). Using probands with recurrent early-onset major depressive disorder, a number of chromosomal regions were linked with suicide attempts, including 2p, 5q, 6q, 8p, 11q, and Xq (29). In this study, the regions with the two highest LOD scores were 8p22-p21 and Xq25-26.1, in affected relative pairs with depression spectrum disorder, and recurrent early-onset major depressive disorder, respectively. A third study, performed in a large bipolar pedigree, identified regions linked with either suicide completions (2q, 4p, 6q) or suicide attempts (10q) (30).

Suicidal behavior has remarkably different distribution between genders (reviewed in (467)). These differences have been attributed to a number of different factors, including the use of higher lethality methods by male suicide victims, as well as differences in comorbid Axis I and Axis II diagnoses (3;468;469). In addition, both risk and protective factors vary between genders (470). It is possible that genetic factors, through differential expression between the genders, may also help explain gender moderation of suicide risk. Exploring this rationale, candidate gene studies have identified a number of genes with gender-specific effects related to suicidal behaviors, including catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) (125;471), the serotonin transporter (5-HTT) (472),

cholecystokinin (CCK) (473), and monoamine oxidase A (MAO-A) (474). MAO-A is particularly interesting as it is located on the X chromosome, and genetic variants have been associated with impulsivity, aggression, and antisocial behavior (475;476), each of which are risk factors for suicide.

As males are hemizygous for genes on the X chromosome, loci that map to this chromosome are an important source of potential variability, and are thus of interest to the investigation of genetic factors that could moderate gender differences in suicidal behavior. In this study, we chose to perform a two-stage case-control study investigating X-linked markers in a sample of suicide completers and controls. The first stage comprised an association study using markers spanning the X-chromosome. This stage took advantage of the genetic structure of the French-Canadian population, which is a young (12 generations) population that remained isolated until very recently because of cultural and religious reasons, leading to a founder effect confirmed by many studies. For instance, among individuals affected by oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy (OPMD), a disease caused by a gene on chromosome 14, unrelated French Canadian OPMD patients shared 75% of alleles for a 5-cM interval (477;478). Similar results were observed for other diseases (479). As approximately 70% of the gene pool of the present French-Canadian population derives from an initial group of 3380 founders, it is reasonable to hypothesize that there is reduced variability in genetic factors that may be etiologically related to suicide among French-Canadians. Taken together, this means that by testing French-Canadian suicide completers, it is possible to detect ancestral predisposing variants by typing markers within an average interval of 5cM.

The second stage consisted of investigating genes mapping to associated regions by studying their differential pattern of expression in the brain in a sample of suicide completers and controls.

Methods

Subjects:

Genetic Association Study:

We investigated a total of 722 unrelated French-Canadian male subjects, as shown in Table 1A. Cases for this study were 333 individuals who died by suicide (S), as assessed by the Quebec Coroner's office. We also included 389 subjects who did not die by suicide (NS), which comprised both living (311) and deceased (78) individuals. These subjects were recruited from outpatient clinics or from the Quebec general population. Psychiatric diagnoses were assessed using the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I (SCID-I) (480) or the Diagnostic Interview Schedule using DSM-III-R criteria (481). When possible, interviewees were the subjects themselves; in other cases, the psychological autopsy method was used with the informant best acquainted with the subject. As major depressive disorder is the most common Axis I disorder among suicide completers (3), we selected our non-suicide control group to include a high percentage of subjects with depressive disorders. We classified subjects as being among the depressive disorders group when they had either a present or lifetime diagnosis of major depression, dysthymic disorder, or depressive disorders not otherwise specified (NOS). Informed consent was obtained from either the subject or their next-ofkin, as appropriate.

Gene Expression Study:

An independent sample of French-Canadian male subjects was used to assess gene expression. Brain samples from Brodmann area (BA) 8/9 (dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC)), BA 11 (orbital cortex), BA 44 (inferior frontal gyrus), and BA 46 (DLPFC) were obtained from the Quebec Suicide Brain Bank (QSBB) (www.douglasrecherche.qc.ca/suicide). These regions were selected due to evidence for their involvement in suicide and major depression (482). Brain tissues were processed and dissected at 4°C, and snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen before storage at -80°C, following standard procedures (397). All subjects collected by the QSBB died suddenly without a prolonged agonal period. Brain tissues were dissected in accordance with standard neuroanatomical definitions (398). All subjects were characterized by the psychological autopsy method using structured diagnostic methods eliciting Axis I diagnoses according to DSM-IV criteria, as detailed elsewhere (396). Diagnostic information is shown in Table 1B. The sample consisted of 14 depressed suicide completers who died during an episode of major depression, 8 suicide completers with no history of major depression, and 13 controls with no history of suicidal behavior. These subjects had an average age of 35.6 with an average post-mortem interval of 25 hours. There were no significant differences between the groups for either of these variables. This study was approved by our local institutional review board.

Genotyping:

Genomic DNA was extracted from blood or saliva using standard procedures (483). A total of 37 microsatellite markers were genotyped, with an average intermarker distance of 5.7 centimorgans (cM) (0.0-11.1 cM). Markers were obtained from the ABI Prism Linkage Mapping Set 2.5 and were analyzed using the ABI Prism 3100 Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Genotypes were assessed using GeneMapper 3.7 (Applied Biosystems).

Statistical Analysis:

The likelihood ratio chi-square test statistic was used to identify differences in allele or haplotype frequencies between cases and controls. These association tests were computed using the UNPHASED (version 3.0) suite of software for case-control data (455) and were performed for both single markers as well as marker pairs using a sliding window approach. In order to control for the presence of depressive disorders, these analyses were also performed with depressive disorders (present, absent, unknown) added as a covariate. As the number of subjects with other Axis I diagnoses was small, their effects were not assessed. Alleles with frequencies less than 0.05 in the entire sample were pooled in order to reduce the effects of rare alleles. All tests of significance were two-sided at the level of $P \le 0.05$. Corrections for multiple testing were not performed. Linkage disequilibrium (LD) was assessed using the LDMAX algorithm of the Graphical Overview of Linkage Disequilibrium (GOLD) program (484).

Microarray Analysis:

RNA quality was assessed using an Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA). RNA samples used for analysis possessed A260/A280 > 1.9 and 28S/18S rRNA peak height ratios > 1.6. Samples were analysed using the Human Genome U133 A/B set, which comprises 2 GeneChip arrays with 45000 probesets, representing approximately 33000 human genes (http://www.affymetrix.com).

GeneChip analysis was performed with Microarray Analysis Suite version 5.0 (MAS 5), Data Mining Tool 2.0. All of the genes represented on the GeneChip were globally normalized and scaled to a signal intensity of 100. RNA quality indicators used to pre-filter samples prior to analysis included β -actin 5'/3' ratio, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) 5'/3' ratio, RawQ (noise), scale factor and percent of "present" calls per array. Outlier subjects were excluded in regions where they did not pass quality standards, such that different numbers of subjects were included in the final analysis across the four regions (for BA 8/9: 7 C, 5 NDS, and 11 DS; for BA 11: 7 C, 5 NDS, and 11 DS; for BA 44: 12 C, 6 NDS, and 13 DS; and for BA 46: 7 C, 7 NDS, and 12 DS).

Data Analysis:

Gene expression data was analyzed using Genesis (GeneLogic Inc., Gaithersburg, MD) and AVADIS software (Strand Genomics, Redwood City, CA). Gene expression values were log2-transformed, then Student's *t*-tests were performed for each probeset for contrasts of DS vs NDS, DS vs C, and NDS vs C. Genes selected for further analysis had to display, in at least two brain regions, a P-value – fold change (FC) combination of $P \le 0.01$ and FC of at least ±1.3. Additionally, genes where all significant probesets had a present call of less than 75% were not included.

RT-PCR Validation:

Total RNA for each brain region was extracted from frozen tissue using an RNeasy Lipid Tissue Mini Kit (Qiagen, Canada). RNA quality was measured using an Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies), and only samples with an RNA integrity number (RIN) > 5 were included. cDNA synthesis was performed using oligo(dT)-priming (Invitrogen, The Netherlands).

The PCR reactions used 100 ng of cDNA template in a 20 μ l reaction volume, and were run on 2% agarose gels. FC and P-values between groups were evaluated using relative quantitation with GAPDH as an endogenous control. All reactions were carried out in triplicate. Semi-quantitative results were analyzed with GeneTools v3.06 (SynGene, Cambridge, England), with automatic computation of gene and control band densitometry. One-tailed Student's *t*-tests were performed (SPSS, v15.0).

Results

A total of 722 subjects were genotyped at thirty-seven microsatellite markers in order to identify loci associated with completed suicide. There was an average genetic distance between contiguous markers of 5.7 cM. Alleles with frequencies of less than 0.05 were pooled into a single allele. Prior to pooling infrequent alleles, the average marker heterozygosity was 0.71.

Chi-square analyses revealed five markers that were significantly associated with completed suicide. In order to identify haplotypes associated with suicide completion, a sliding window approach was used for each pair of markers. Nine haplotype windows were found to be associated with suicide. Results from both sets of analysis are shown in Figure 1A. For both analyses, the most significant findings were obtained with markers DXS1001 and DXS8106, (P=0.001 and 0.0003, respectively), both of which survive correction for multiple testing. Seven of the marker pairs encompassed single markers which were significant or near-significant, of which the pair DXS1227-DXS8106 survives correction for multiple testing.

Score tests were used to assess the effects of individual alleles for each significant marker and marker pair. These results are depicted in Tables 2A and B. For marker DXS984, the most significant allele represents the pooled alleles. Prior to pooling at this locus, the P-value was 0.034, and the strongest associations were observed with alleles 176 and 188, although these did not reach nominal statistical significance (P-values of 0.078 and 0.057, respectively).

Both protective and susceptibility alleles were observed at the majority of markers and marker pairs. For both DXS1001 and DXS8106, the most significantly associated allele at each locus conferred a susceptibility to suicide. The most strongly protective allele was also found at DXS1001. Among marker pairs, the strongest association was found with DXS1227-DXS8106, with the most significant haplotype being found with a frequency eight times higher among suicide completers.

As risk factors for suicide completion may differ among Axis I disorders, we repeated the analyses while controlling for a history of depressive disorders, the most common diagnostic category associated with suicide (3). When this was done, marker DXS8051, and pairs DXS1106-DXS8088 and DXS8091-DXS8069 lost significance (P=0.070, 0.066, and 0.082, respectively). In order to further characterize this effect, and to identify regions that may be specific to suicide

completions in the context of depressive disorders, these analyses were performed using only depressed suicides and depressed controls (N=302). These results are depicted in Figure 1B and Tables 3A and B. While a number of regions are identical or adjacent (DXS1224 and the pair DXS1060-DXS8051) to those found in the entire sample, an additional region was found with marker DXS8102 and nearby marker pairs DXS1214-DXS8102 and DXS8090-DXS1068. The intervening pair (DXS8102-DXS8090) also displayed a near-significant association (P=0.092). Additionally, a number of markers found to be associated with suicide in the entire sample were no longer significant in the subset of subjects with depressive disorders (DXS8051, DXS1047, and DXS984). The strongest associations were found with DXS1224, DXS8106, and DSX1224-DXS8019, each of which survive corrections for multiple testing.

In order to further characterize the regions showing evidence of involvement in suicide, and to confirm that our use of uncorrected statistical tests identified truly associated regions, we investigated the differential expression of genes mapping to these regions by means of microarray analyses in brain tissues obtained from an independent sample of French-Canadian males who died by suicide as compared to French-Canadian males who died suddenly by other causes. Analyses were performed in four cortical brain regions, BA 8/9, 11, 44, and 46, which are believed to be involved in the neurobiology of suicide and major depressive disorder (482). Based on results from both the entire sample and the subset depressed subjects, we focused on two X-chromosomal regions: between DXS8051 (Xp22.2) and DXS8102 (Xp11.4) (34.1 cM), and between DXS1001 (Xq24) and DXS8106 (Xq27.3) (34.2 cM). These two regions contain 131 and 121 annotated genes, respectively. In order to minimize false positive findings, we focused on genes which were differentially expressed within at least one of the comparisons in at least two brain regions. A total of eight genes fulfilled these criteria and are shown in Table 4.

We subsequently proceeded to the validation of these eight differentially expressed genes. Our group has been working on SAT1 because of results that independently pointed to this gene as important in suicide/major depressive disorder, and the validation and investigation of its differential expression in these regions has previously been performed by our group (204;206). Of the remaining genes, Rho GTPase activating protein 6 (ARHGAP6), glycoprotein M6B (GPM6B), adaptor-related protein complex 1 sigma 2 subunit (AP1S2), ribosomal protein S6 kinase 90kDa polypeptide 3 (RPS6KA3), and THO complex 2 (THOC2) validated for several of the comparisons that were significant from microarray analysis. The expression of ARHGAP6 in BA44, and AP1S2 in BA8/9 were significantly different for the comparisons of interest, but the FCs were in the opposite direction than those observed from microarray experiments. The reason for this is not clear.

Both stromal antigen 2 (STAG2) and X-linked RNA binding motif protein (RBMX) failed to validate. When examined further, it appears that the RBMX probeset 225310_at is located within an exonic region which has only been observed in a processed transcript (RBMX-004, OTTHUMT00000058510). As the primers we used for validation do not bind to this transcript, this may partially explain the failure of this gene to validate.

Discussion

We conducted a two-stage investigation of X chromosome loci in suicide completion using a sample of male French-Canadian subjects. We first identified a number of chromosomal regions which displayed association to suicide, and subsequently studied patterns of differential expression in the brain for several genes that map within these regions.

This study identified five markers, DXS8051, DXS1001, DXS1047, DXS984, and DXS8106 which were significantly associated with completed suicide in the entire sample. The two strongest associations were obtained with DXS1001 and DXS8106, which are localized to Xq24 and Xq27.3, respectively. Nine marker pairs were also found to be significant, of which the strongest signals were seen in Xp22, Xq24, and Xq27. When suicide was examined in the context of depression, several other markers were found to be significant, producing a

peak spanning a 10MB region from Xp21.2 to Xp11.4. Additionally, several markers which were significant in the entire sample were not significant in the depressed subgroup, which may indicate that these peaks were related to other comorbid conditions. Alternatively, this may simply be a consequence of reduced power in the smaller sample. Overall, markers DXS1001, and DXS8106, as well as pairs DXS1224-DXS8019, DXS1001-DXS8009, DXS1227-DXS8106, and DXS8106-DXS8043, were significant in both analyses.

The identification of DXS1047, found in Xq25, as being associated with suicide is in partial agreement with results from a previous linkage study which showed significant findings for this marker in the context of suicide among families with recurrent, early onset, depressive disorders (29). It is thus interesting that in our study this marker was not significant in the depressed sample. DXS1047 has also been associated with bipolar disorder (485;486) and both this marker and DXS1001 have been associated with autism (487;488). In addition, DXS1001 is closely linked with the glutamate receptor subunit 3 gene (GRIA3) at Xq25, which has been associated with a number of psychiatric conditions including bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, and citalopram treatment-emergent suicidal ideation (139-142).

In the second stage of our study, we focused our efforts on identifying genes within our associated regions that demonstrate differential expression in the brains of suicide completers. Using microarray expression data from BA 8/9, 11, 44, and 46, six genes were identified which were differentially expressed in suicide completers in at least two brain regions.

One of the genes identified in this study, SAT1, was previously identified by our group to be significantly downregulated in a number of different brain regions in suicide completers, and identified a promoter single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP), rs6926342, which was associated with suicide completion and expression of SAT1 in the brain (64;157;204;206). This gene is involved in polyamine catabolism, and the polyamine system has been implicated in a number of psychiatric conditions, including suicide (203).

The remaining five genes also demonstrated decreased expression in suicide completers. Interestingly, RPS6KA3 displayed region-specific alterations in expression, with increased expression in depressed compared to non-depressed suicides in BA 8/9, and decreased expression in BA 44. This gene, which is involved in cognitive function and brain development (489;490), has been implicated in several forms of X-linked mental retardation (XLMR) resulting from both duplications and mutations (490-494). This suggests that dysregulation in the expression of this gene in either direction can have profound effects, and may explain our findings of both increased and decreased levels. AP1S2 has also been implicated in XLMR (495-497), and behavioral effects resulting from mutations are theorized to be due to brain-specific defects in intracellular protein trafficking (497). Dysregulation of ARHGAP6 and GPM6B in suicide completers is also of interest as both of these genes are involved in neuronal function. Indeed, ARHGAP6 has been found to be upregulated during neurogenesis (498), while GPM6B is involved in myelination and is upregulated in the brain during terminal neuronal differentiation and myelination (499-501). Our findings of decreased expression of these two genes may indicate alterations in neuronal functioning or in numbers of the neurons themselves.

One of the aims of this study was to identify genetic factors that may explain the gender moderation of suicide risk. In this light, it is of interest that two of the genes displaying downregulation in our suicide completers, GPM6B and AP1S2, have also been shown to escape X inactivation, and demonstrate increased expression, in females (502-504). This may thus indicate that elevated levels of these genes may be protective against suicide in females. Also, as males are hemizygous for the majority of genes on the X chromosome, they are also more susceptible to the effects of genetic variations, which may alter the function or expression of genes. Indeed, as mentioned above, a promoter variant influencing the expression of SAT1 has already been identified (204), and it could be speculated that heterozygous females possessing the risk allele may be less affected than hemizygous males.
Although the majority of genes on the X chromosome do not escape inactivation in females (502), and therefore, may not be responsible for gender differences in suicide rates, the X chromosome remains of significant interest for the investigation of genes related to psychiatric phenotypes. It has been noted that the X chromosome possesses a disproportionately high number of genes associated with mental function, including intelligence, social-cognition, and emotional regulation (505). Therefore it is not surprising that numerous studies have identified X chromosomal loci linked and/or associated with mental disorders, including bipolar disorder (485;486;506;507), schizophrenia (508;509), major depression (510), autism (511;512), and suicide (29). Our findings of multiple X-linked loci associated with suicide provide additional evidence suggesting that genes mapping to the X chromosome may be important in complex behavioral phenotypes.

Our use of a sample comprised entirely of French-Canadian subjects allowed us to use a genetic strategy to detect suicide-related loci that would not have been possible in samples from admixed populations, where linkage disequilibrium with predisposing genes would have been much lower. The French-Canadian population was established relatively recently and the majority of individuals are descendants of approximately 7000 individuals who immigrated to Quebec from France prior to 1760, and who, until recently, have remained relatively isolated from other populations (479). The existence of a founder effect in this population has been well documented (450;477-479), and the high level of genetic homogeneity has allowed the detection of predisposing ancestral variants by typing markers within relatively small intervals. The power to detect these predisposing variants decreases with increased genetic variability resulting from the introduction of other predisposing variants within a single gene and in other predisposing genes. However, our use of a relatively large sample and a complementary design to follow up on positive findings circumvented these problems.

There are a number of limitations to this study. As this study was performed exclusively in French-Canadians, it is possible that the associations obtained in this sample may not be found in other populations. Additionally, psychiatric information was not available for all subjects, which limited our ability to examine suicide in the context of other Axis I disorders. Thirdly, we chose not to correct our association tests for multiple testing, which may have increased the likelihood of false positive findings. However, our findings of differentially expressed genes within these chromosomal regions served as a confirmation of the association of these loci with suicide completion in spite of our lack of correction. Finally, it is possible that the genes identified in this study are not those responsible for the association peaks, and that the causal genes remain to be identified. Indeed, it is likely that additional genes are involved as we only validated one gene, THOC2, in the Xq region examined, despite this region displaying markers with stronger associations to suicide.

In summary, we present results demonstrating a number of regions on the X chromosome which are associated with suicide completion, and identified six genes in these regions which display differential expression in suicide completers. These results highlight the importance of the X chromosome in suicidal behavior, and expand our knowledge of pathways involved in this complex trait.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Veronique Lebel for technical assistance. This work was supported by the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) MOPs 79253 and 53321. GT is a Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec (FRSQ) chercheur boursier. LMF received a scholarship from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC).





Figure 1: Single and two-marker association tests in (a) suicide and non-suicide subjects in the entire sample, and (b) suicide and non-suicide subjects in the depressed subjects. The results of likelihood ratio chi-square tests are plotted as $-\log 10$ P-values. Black lines represent tests for single markers. Grey lines represent the results for marker pairs. The dotted line indicates P=0.05.

Tables

Table 1: Characteristics of case and control subjects used for A) genotyping study and B) gene expression study. Percentages in A) are indicated in brackets; percentages for specific Axis I disorders were calculated within only the assessed individuals. C – control; DS - depressed suicide completers; NDS - non-depressed suicide completers; NS – non-suicide controls; S – suicide completers

	S (N=333)	NS (N=	389)
Mean age	41.2 ± 13.8	39.3 ± 1	3.5
Assessed for Axis I disorders	209 (63)	226 (58))
Depressive disorders	121 (58)	181 (8	(0)
Bipolar disorder	20 (10)	2 (1)
Schizophrenia	12 (6)	3 (1)
Panic disorder	9 (4)	14 (6)
Generalized anxiety disorder	5 (2)	14 (6	5)
B)			
	DS(N = 14)	NDS $(N = 8)$	C(N = 13)
Mean age	34.9 ± 12.5	34.8 ± 9.3	36.8 ± 10.4
Depressive disorders	14	0	1
Alcohol/substance dependence	6	4	3

14	7
----	---

A)						
Marker	Р	df	Alleles	S (%)	NS (%)	Score test P
DXS8051	0.044	7	116	19.3	11.9	0.018
			118	7.3	14.6	0.009
DXS1001	0.001	5	197	38.0	23.2	0.0001
			201	14.1	22.9	0.007
DXS1047	0.008	7	158	6.2	13.4	0.008
			160	39.5	30.2	0.024
			168	4.3	9.3	0.030
DXS984	0.026	4	159, 176, 178, 180, 186, 188, 190	20.2	11.7	0.007
			172	44.4	54.5	0.018
DXS8106	0.0003	4	283	10.3	2.2	0.0001

Table 2: Significant alleles associated with completed suicide for A) markers and B) two-marker haplotypes. NS – non-suicide; PA – pooled alleles; S – suicide

B)

Marker Pair	Р	Haplotypes	S (%)	NS (%)	Score test P
DXS1224-DXS8019	0.003	168-163	0.5	5.8	0.002
		170-161	1.4	5.0	0.032
		162-165	14.8	8.6	0.032
		168-167	3.3	0.7	0.033
		PA-161	1.4	0.0	0.045
		170-169	0.0	1.8	0.051
DXS1106-DXS8088	0.042	128-265	5.0	11.2	0.024
		126-265	3.3	0.8	0.048
DXS8064-DXS1001	0.002	217-201	6.1	15.3	0.002
		215-197	5.6	1.4	0.007
		215-203	3.6	0.7	0.019
DXS1001-DXS8009	0.035	197-263	24.4	14.7	0.005
		201-255	0.5	3.5	0.024
		201-263	7.2	13.1	0.033
		197-255	5.7	2.2	0.035
DXS1047-DXS984	0.022	160-PA	11.7	4.0	0.002
		168-172	1.2	7.2	0.004
		158-172	1.8	6.1	0.029
		162-172	2.9	7.2	0.054
DXS984-DXS1205	0.015	172-188	14.4	27.5	0.001
		PA-196	1.5	0.0	0.042
DXS1227-DXS8106	0.001	80-283	8.8	1.1	0.00005
		88-PA	0.9	6.3	0.002
		PA-271	7.9	3.7	0.047
		82-271	1.4	4.5	0.052
DXS8106-DXS8043	0.019	283-159	5.3	0.4	0.001
DXS8091-DXS8069	0.052	86-149	3.5	0.0	0.007

Table 3: Significant alleles associated with completed suicide in depressed individuals for A) markers and B) two-marker haplotypes. NS – non-suicide; PA – pooled alleles; S – suicide

A)						
Marker	Р	df	Alleles	S (%)	NS (%)	Score test P
DXS1224	0.001	3	152, 158, 160, 164, 166, 168, 172, 176	16.7	2.6	0.0001
DXS8019	0.042	7	165	20.0	10.6	0.045
DXS8102	0.027	4	98	80.4	64.3	0.006
			102	5.4	16.8	0.008
DXS1001	0.002	5	197	40.0	20.7	0.001
			199	9.4	21.3	0.018
DXS1227	0.031	4	80	67.7	54.3	0.031
			88	13.1	24.9	0.021
DXS8106	0.001	4	283	12.8	1.4	0.0003

B)

Marker Pair	Р	Haplotypes	S (%)	NS (%)	Score test P
DXS1060-DXS8051	0.038	246-122	0.05	0	0.002
		250-116	0.07	0.02	0.040
DXS1224-DXS8019	0.001	PA-161	0.03	0	0.047
		168-163	0	0.08	0.015
		168-167	0.07	0	0.002
		170-161	0	0.06	0.039
DXS1214-DXS8102	0.005	PA-98	0.06	0.01	0.011
		290-102	0	0.05	0.050
DXS8090-DXS1068	0.047	PA-260	0.09	0.09	0.022
		300-PA	0.05	0.01	0.029
DXS1001-DXS8009	0.022	197-261	0.08	0.02	0.021
		197-263	0.26	0.14	0.026
		201-255	0	0.05	0.050
DXS1227-DXS8106	0.04	80-283	0.11	0.01	0.0003
DXS8106-DXS8043	0.003	PA-147	0	0.08	0.043
		270-163	0	0.10	0.021
		283-147	0.04	0	0.016
		283-159	0.08	0	0.0006

Table 4: Genes differentially expressed in at least two regions in brains of suicide completers in BA 8/9, 11, 44, and 46. BA - Brodmann Area; C - control; DS depressed suicide completer; FC - fold change; NDS - non-depressed suicide completer; PCR – semi-quantitative PCR; S – suicide completer

				Microarray		PC	CR
Gene	BA	Probeset	Comparison	Р	FC	P ¹	FC
ARHGAP6	11	206167_s_at	DS-C	0.01	-1.30	0.05	-1.06
	44	208085_s_at	DS-NDS	0.01	-1.40	0.005	1.11
GPM6B	8/9	209167_at	DS-C	0.01	-1.80	0.03	-1.18
		209168_at	DS-NDS	0.01	-1.30	0.25	-1.06
	44	209167_at	DS-C	0.01	-1.40	0.0009	-1.40
	46	209169_at	NDS-C	0.00008	1.30	0.21	1.21
		209170_s_at		0.01	1.30		
		209167_at	DS-NDS	0.004	-1.70	0.03	-1.45
		209169_at		0.001	-1.30		
		209170_s_at		0.001	-1.60		
AP1S2	8/9	203300_x_at	NDS-C	0.01	-1.60	0.15	1.05
		243745_at	DS-NDS	0.004	3.70	0.004	-1.15
	11	203300_x_at	NDS-C	0.01	-1.50	0.05	-1.32
	44	243745_at	DS-C	0.01	-2.40	0.05	-1.02
RPS6KA3	8/9	203843_at	DS-NDS	0.01	1.30	0.04	1.02
	44	203843_at	DS-NDS	0.002	-1.40	0.03	-1.10
SAT1	11	210592_s_at	DS-C	0.01	-1.50	0.02^{-2}	-1.85 ²
	44	203455_s_at	DS-C	0.004	-1.40	0.004^{2}	-1.37 ²
	46	203455_s_at	DS-NDS	0.01	-1.50	0.20^{-3}	-1.23 ³
THOC2	8/9	222122_s_at	NDS-C	0.0004	-1.40	0.09	1.02
		212994_at	DS-NDS	0.01	-1.30	0.05	-1.03
	46	222122_s_at	DS-C	0.001	-1.50	0.03	-1.02
STAG2	8/9	207983_s_at	NDS-C	0.01	-1.60	0.31	1.05
	46	209022_at	NDS-C	0.01	1.30	0.33	-1.05
		209022_at	DS-NDS	0.0002	-1.50	0.12	-1.08
		209023_s_at		0.01	-1.40		
RBMX	8/9	213762_x_at	NDS-C	0.0001	1.40	0.23	-1.05
		213762_x_at	DS-NDS	0.002	-1.50	0.16	-1.06
		225310_at		0.008	-1.60		
	11	225310 ⁻ at	DS-C	0.01	-1.30	0.39	-1.01

¹ One-tailed ² Previously reported in (206) ³ Previously reported in (64)

Supplemental Information:

Supplementary Table 1: Primers used for validation of microarray results.	

Gene	Primer	Sequence
ARHGAP6	ARHGAP6-F2	CTGTCAGATCACCATTCCCA
	ARHGAP6-R4	AGAATCCACTGACATGGCAC
GPM6B	GPM6B-F3	GCCGATGCATCAGTGGAATG
OF MOD	GPM6B-R3	CGTTTGTGTTGCAGATGTTCTC
AP1S2	AP1S2-F1	CGGCAGTGTCTGTGAACTAG
AF 152	AP1S2-R1	TACAGTGTGTGAAATGCCAC
RPS6KA3	RPSKA6-F1	ACCACATCTAGTAAAGGGTGC
KI SUKAJ	RPSKA6-R1	TCTCTCAGATACGTGCTACC
THOC2	THOC2-F2	GGAGAGAGAAATGGACAAGAAAG
THOC2	THOC2-R2	TCTCATTTGGATAAGGAGATTCAC
STAG2	STAG2-F1	GAGAACAGAACTGAAGCCTG
	STAG2-R1	TGCACTTGATCTTGGTAAGC
	RBMX-F1	CTACTAAAGACAGCTATTCAAGCAG
RBMX	RBMX-R2	CTACGTGAGTTACCATAACTCTC



Supplementary Figure 1: Positions of markers significantly associated with suicide completion and genes examined in this study. Lines indicate regions examined for differentially expressed probesets in the gene expression analyses.

CHAPTER 3: MOLECULAR MECHANISMS GOVERNING SAT1 EXPRESSION

The results from both our previous studies as well as the three studies described in Chapter 2 clearly pinpointed SAT1 as playing a central role in the involvement of the polyamine system in suicide as well as other psychiatric disorders. However, while it was clear that both genetic variants and gene expression differences were involved, both the precise mechanisms mediating this relationship, as well as which non-genetic mechanisms may also be involved in regulating SAT1 expression, were unknown. The three studies in this chapter were designed to identify and characterize the molecular mechanisms involved in determining SAT1 expression, as well as to provide direct evidence linking these factors to suicide.

The first study, described in Chapter 3.1, concerned the identification and characterization of genetic variants which were involved in determining SAT1 expression. Promoter regions are known to contain important regulatory sequences, and thus this region was selected as the best site in which to search for polymorphisms influencing SAT1 expression. Genotyping of eighteen promoter polymorphisms was first performed in order to characterize the haplotype structure of the promoter, which was followed by *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies which demonstrated the presence of two major haplotypes which were associated with SAT1 expression. Further experiments found that the differential expression of the two haplotypes was largely due to an insertion/deletion in the promoter region, and two single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) were found to display haplotype-specific effects on expression. This study provided direct evidence for a relationship between genetic variants and gene expression, as well as indicated a potential mechanism through which the genetic variants characterized in Chapter 2.2 may be functionally involved suicide and other psychiatric disorders.

The analyses performed in Chapter 2.2 were based upon SNPs only, and thus the relationship between the promoter insertion/deletion and suicide was not known. As this variant appeared to be the best predictor of SAT1 expression, the study in Chapter 3.2 was performed in order to determine if this variant was associated with suicide, as well as how the presence of depressive disorders may influence this relationship. To accomplish this, the insertion/deletion was genotyped in a large number of depressed and non-depressed suicide completers and non-suicide controls, and statistical analyses indicated that while this variant was not associated with suicide in the entire population, it was associated with suicide performed in the context of depressive disorders. This study was thus able to provide additional support for the link between SAT1 promoter variants and suicide, as well as indicated that Axis I disorders play an important role in this relationship.

The third study in this chapter, described in Chapter 3.3, was designed to determine if epigenetic factors were also involved in determining SAT1 expression in the brain. Epigenetic modifications have previously been found to be involved in the pathology of suicide, and represent mechanisms by which the environment and other developmental factors may act to influence gene expression. This study assessed two well-known epigenetic modifications, DNA methylation and histone-tail modification, and determined their relationships with suicide and SAT1 expression. Overall, the results indicated that DNA methylation had a strong negative influence on SAT1 expression, and that several polymorphic CpG sites were highly methylated. Accordingly, this study demonstrated both the involvement and the importance of epigenetic factors in the regulation of SAT1 expression.

Altogether, the results of these three studies point to the involvement of specific genetic and epigenetic factors in determining the expression of SAT1, and demonstrate that these factors themselves are altered in suicide completers. Moreover, these results indicate that when investigating SAT1 expression, it is essential that each of these factors, in addition to clinical variables such as age, are taken into consideration.

3.1 Identification and Characterization of SAT1 Promoter Variants in Suicide Completers

Laura M. Fiori, Naguib Mechawar, and Gustavo Turecki

McGill Group for Suicide Studies, Douglas Mental Health University Institute, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

Published in Biological Psychiatry, 2009 Sep 1;66(5):460-467. (207)

Abstract

Background: We have previously shown that the expression of spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase (SAT1) is decreased in the brain Brodmann areas (BA) 4, 8/9, and 11 of suicide completers, and found an association between rs6526342, a SAT1 promoter SNP, with suicide completion (204).

Methods: We genotyped eighteen promoter polymorphisms in SAT1 in a French-Canadian population. The relationship between haplotypes and gene expression was assessed using microarray analysis of three brain regions, as well as reporter gene assays in three cell lines. Site-directed mutagenesis was used to examine the role of individual polymorphisms in reporter gene expression.

Results: We identified two major and several minor haplotypes in the promoter region of SAT1. Subjects who possessed the haplotype containing the risk allele for rs6526342 demonstrated decreased SAT1 expression in BA 4, 8/9, and 11. This haplotype was also associated with decreased expression in reporter gene assays. Site-directed mutagenesis identified three polymorphisms - an insertion/deletion (rs6151267), and two SNPs (rs6526342 and rs928931) - that were involved in determining reporter gene expression. These polymorphisms do not appear to exert their effects through the polyamine responsive element, as all constructs were induced to a similar extent in the presence of spermine.

Conclusions: Our results indicate that genetic variations in the promoter region of SAT1 are involved in determining levels of gene expression, and may provide a mechanism for the decreased SAT1 expression observed in suicide completers.

Introduction

Polyamines are ubiquitous aliphatic molecules which contain two, three or four amino groups, as well as the guanidino-amine agmatine. Polyamine homeostasis is highly regulated through their biosynthesis, degradation, and transport, and well as the interconversion between individual polyamines. The polyamines have numerous roles and are involved in many aspects of cellular function. Due to their cationic nature, they are well able to interact with nucleic acids, and not surprisingly, they are involved in many aspects of gene expression through their ability to alter DNA structure and stability, as well as their interactions with mRNA, tRNA, and ribosomal subunits (196). Polyamines are involved in many signalling pathways through their effects on G-proteins, protein kinases, nucleotide cyclases, and receptors, as well as through regulating the expression of proteins involved in these processes (196-198). Owing to their interactions with several transmembrane channels, including inward-rectifying K⁺ channels, ionotropic glutamate receptors, and L-type Ca²⁺ channels, they also influence the electrical properties of excitable cells (214:220). Agmatine is believed to act as a CNS neurotransmitter by its actions through imidazoline receptors, a2-adrenoceptors, nicotinic acetylcholine receptors, and 5-HT3 receptors, and this theory is supported by its storage in synaptic vesicles and capacity to be released upon depolarization (219). Spermine has also been shown to be released from synaptic vesicles upon depolarization, indicating that the polyamines may function as neuromodulators (323).

Spermidine/spermine N1-acetylatransferase (SAT1) is the rate-limiting enzyme in the interconversion pathway, and is involved in regulating polyamine levels. SAT1 is located on Xp22.1 and contains 6 exons (513), yielding mRNAs of approximately 1.3 and 1.5 kb, depending on the length of the poly-A tail (514). The promoter region of this gene lacks a TATA box (513), however transcription appears to be controlled by the Sp1 element which has been shown to bind a GCbox at -42 to -51 bp (515). Additionally, the upstream region contains sites bound by other transcription factors including NF- κ B (516;517), and peroxisome proliferator-activated proteins (PPAR) (518), and certain cell lines have been shown to constitutively bind NF-E2 related factor (Nrf-2) at the polyamine responsive element (PRE) (519), which is involved in increasing transcription in the presence of polyamines or polyamine analogues through interactions with polyamine-modulated factor-1 (PMF-1) (520). The promoter region also contains potential binding sites for numerous other factors including Ap1, heat shock factor (HSF), GAGA factor, cAMP response element binding protein (CREB), CCAT/enhancer binding protein- β (C/EBP β), and additional Sp1 sites (513;515). In addition to transcriptional regulation, the levels of SAT1 are influenced by the regulation of mRNA stability, translational efficiency, and stabilization of the SAT1 protein (reviewed in (521)). Through these mechanisms, levels of SAT1 can be influenced by many factors, including polyamines (522), polyamine analogues (523), non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (524), amino acid deprivation (525), and other stressors (526).

Previously, using post-mortem brain tissues collected from French-Canadian suicide completers and healthy control subjects, our group demonstrated decreased expression of SAT1 in Brodmann areas (BA) 4, 8/9, and 11, and identified a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP), rs6526342, in the promoter region of SAT1 that was significantly associated with suicide completion (204). Decreases in SAT1 expression have now been identified in other populations of suicide completers (205;206) as well as in an animal model of stress and major depression (527). Additionally, another promoter SNP in SAT1, rs1960264, has been reported to be associated with anxiety disorders (433).

To follow up on our previous results, we investigated genetic factors in the promoter region of SAT1 in order to identify potential causes for the downregulation of SAT1 expression in suicide completers. To do so, we examined the influence of promoter polymorphisms on gene expression in BA 4, 8/9, and 11, and used site-directed mutagenesis and reporter gene assays to individually characterize several of these polymorphisms.

Methods and Materials

1.0 Genotyping

1.1 Subjects

Our sample consisted of 96 male subjects of French-Canadian origin. This sample included brain tissues obtained from a group of 40 subjects, including those originally studied in (204), comprised of 14 control subjects, 10 non-depressed suicide completers, and 16 subjects who committed suicide in the context of a major depressive episode. These samples were obtained from the Quebec Suicide Brain Bank (www.douglasrecherche.qc.ca/suicide), and the cause of death was assessed by the Quebec Coroner's office. The remaining 56 subjects were obtained from a cohort of individuals representative of the Quebec general population (described in (435)).

Psychiatric diagnoses of brain tissue donors were obtained using the psychological autopsy method with the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I (SCID-I) (480), as described elsewhere (528). Individuals from the cohort analyzed in this study were free of psychopathology and history of suicidal behavior as assessed by a large number of instruments and measures (435). Written informed consent was obtained for each subject or next of kin, as applicable. This study was approved by our local institutional review board.

1.2 Analysis of Polymorphisms

We defined the promoter region of SAT1 (NM_002970) as comprising the sequence from 5000 bp upstream from the transcription start site (TSS) to 500-bp into the first intron. Using public databases, we selected seventeen SNPs for analysis. One insertion/deletion (in/del) polymorphism comprising 15 adenine residues (rs6151267) repeat was also examined.

Genomic DNA was extracted from blood, saliva, or frozen brain tissue using standard procedures (483), and SNP genotyping was performed using the SNaPShot method with an ABI Prism 3100 Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Genotypes were determined using GeneMapper, version 3.7 (Applied Biosystems). The in/del, rs928932, rs1960264, and rs17286006 were genotyped by sequencing.

Linkage disequilibrium between polymorphisms was determined using Haploview version 4.1 (529). Prediction of transcription factor binding sites was performed using Transcription Element Search System (TESS) (530).

2.0 Expression

2.1 Correlation of SAT1 Expression with Genotype

The expression of SAT1 has previously been reported and validated for the 40 subjects described above in BA 4 (motor cortex), 8/9 (dorsolateral prefrontal cortex), and 11 (orbital cortex) using the Affymetrix U133A/B chipset (204). In order to determine if haplotypes were related to expression in these brain areas, ANOVAs were performed with log₂ expression values from Affymetrix probesets 203455_s_at and 210592_s_at (www.Affymetrix.com) and haplotypes determined through genotyping.

2.2 Cell Culture

Dual-reporter gene assays were performed in three different cell lines: COS7 (green monkey kidney), HTB15 (human glio/astrocytoma), and CRL2137 (human neuroblastoma) (American Type Culture Collection, Manassas, VA). Cultures were maintained at 37° C with 5% CO₂, and grown in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, Gibco, Canada) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Gibco),100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Gibco). Where

indicated, COS7 cells were treated with 100µM spermine tetrahydrochloride (Biochemika, Canada).

2.3 Cloning

A 1.8-kb region, shown in Figure 1A, was cloned into the pGL3 Basic Luciferase Reporter Vector (Promega, Madison, MI), upstream of the firefly luciferase gene. Site-directed mutagenesis was then used to alter each of the polymorphisms in this region. Additional information regarding methods used for cloning is found in the Supplemental Methods. All constructs were confirmed by sequencing.

2.4 Transfection and Dual-Reporter Gene Assays

One day prior to transfection, cells were seeded into 24-well plates and grown for 24 hours. Transfections were performed using either Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, Canada) or GeneJuice (Novagen, Canada) systems, as appropriate for each cell line. Each well was treated with equivalent amounts of DNA for each of the vectors of interest, as well as with an internal control vector coding for renilla luciferase, pRL (Promega). Cells were grown for an additional 24 hours prior to assaying luciferase activity. Reporter gene expression was measured using the Dual-Luciferase Assay system (Promega) using an Orion II Microluminometer (Berthold, Canada). Each vector was transfected into three wells per experiment, and at least three independent experiments were performed for each condition. For experiments examining the effects of spermine, COS7 cells were seeded in either medium with spermine supplemented to a concentration of 100µM, or in medium prepared with added distilled water. Two hours following transfection, the appropriate media was again added to the cells, which were then incubated for an additional 22 hours prior to measuring luciferase activity. Firefly luciferase expression values were normalized to those

of pRL. Unpaired Student's *t*-tests between haplotypes were performed, with $P \le 0.05$ considered significant.

Results

Genotyping:

As our previous results had shown an association between a promoter SNP in SAT1 and suicide, we were interested in determining the promoter haplotype structure in order to identify the SNPs which may be in linkage disequilibrium (LD) with this SNP. To this end, we genotyped seventeen SNPs: fourteen located 5' of the TSS, one within exon 1, and two within intron 1, as shown in Figure 1A. Five of these (934, 342, 941, 646, and 885) were genotyped as part of the HapMap project (440). We also analyzed one in/del of 15 adenine residues which is part of a larger tandem adenine repeat.

SAT1 is located on the X chromosome, and as an all-male sample was used in this study, only one allele was observed in each subject. The frequencies of the major haplotypes are shown in Figure 1C. Genotyping revealed one LD block, shown in Figure 1D, which included most SNPs upstream of the TSS as well as both intronic SNPs. Two SNPs, 646 and 006, were found only on the more common haplotype block. SNPs 941 and 952 showed no variation in this sample. The in/del polymorphism and the adjacent SNP 932 were associated with the LD block for 94% of subjects, such that the 25A repeat of the in/del and the G allele of SNP 932 were most frequently observed with the most common haplotype, while the less frequent haplotype displayed the 40 A repeat and the A allele of SNP 932. Of the subjects where the in/del and SNP 932 did not follow this trend, the majority possessed the less common haplotype with a short repeat, and the G allele of SNP 932.

Expression:

As we have previously shown that expression of SAT1 is significantly decreased in suicide completers in a number of different brain regions (64;157;204;206), we were interested in determining if the haplotypes identified in the present study were correlated with SAT1 expression levels observed in BA 4, 8/9, and 11, which were validated in a previous study (204). These analyses are shown in Table 1. We grouped both alleles at SNP 646 (haplotypes 1 and 4), and both combinations at the in/del and SNP 932 (haplotypes 3 and 5) due to small numbers of subjects within these groups. Overall, our results demonstrate that expression is associated with haplotypes in all three regions. Our strongest findings were obtained when only the two major LD blocks were considered (1/2/4 vs 3/5), and post hoc analyses indicated that the most frequent haplotype displayed the lowest expression.

SNP 006 does not appear to be involved in determining expression levels, as genotype at this SNP was not associated with expression either when analyzed as part of the overall haplotype structure (1/4 vs 2), or when assessed alone (not shown).

Dual-Reporter Gene Assays:

To further investigate the functional impact of SAT1 promoter variability on gene expression, we selected one region to be analyzed by reporter gene assays. This region was designed to possess both the core promoter of SAT1 (515), as well as the PRE, as we hypothesized that nearby polymorphisms may influence the ability of polyamines to induce expression through this site. This region is shown in Figure 1B, and contains 162-bp of exon 1 and 1667-bp of upstream sequence. Of the genotyped variations, the in/del, as well as SNPs 342, 264, 931, 932, 646, and 006 are found within this region. Due to the low variability of SNP 646, and the lack of association between SNP 006 and gene expression, only the major alleles for these SNPs (G and C) were examined. This region was

sequenced and cloned in two subjects with each haplotype: CTTDG (haplotype 1) and ACCIA (haplotype 3). These haplotypes correspond to haplotypes 1 and 3 described in Figure 1C. One vector from each haplotype, as well as the empty pGL3 vector, were used to transfect COS7, HTB15, and CRL2137 cells for dual-reporter gene assays. Results are shown in Figure 2.

Both haplotypes demonstrated substantially higher expression than the empty vector. The promoter activity of both haplotypes was different in each cell line such that COS7 cells produced the largest fold change increase compared to pGL3, followed by CRL2137, then HTB15. Additionally, there were differences between the expression of the two different haplotypes, with haplotype 3 showing significantly increased expression compared to haplotype 1 in COS7, HTB15, and CRL2137 cell lines (P=0.0007, 0.000005, and 0.003, respectively).

Site-Directed Mutagenesis:

In order to identify the polymorphisms directly responsible for these differences in expression, we individually altered each polymorphism in these two haplotypes. This yielded twelve different constructs, including the two wildtypes. As this region contains the PRE, which is involved in the induction of SAT1 by spermine and spermidine (519), we performed dual-reporter gene with (Figure 3C) and without (supplementary material) supplemented spermine. As the functional cell assays indicated the haplotype effect on gene expression is similar across the three different cell types, we conducted these experiments only in COS7 cells.

As shown in Figure 3C, alteration of the in/del polymorphism was sufficient to completely reverse the expression levels in both mutants to that of the opposing wildtype haplotype. Changes at SNP 342 reversed the expression when this SNP was altered in the haplotype 3 background (CCCIA), but no changes were observed in the haplotype 1 mutant. For SNP 931, the opposite trend was observed, such that a reversal of the expression phenotype was only seen in the haplotype 1 background (CTCDG). These two trends were observed both with

and without supplemented spermine. For SNPs 932 and 264, all mutants showed increased expression, but the patterns were similar to those of their respective wildtypes (supplementary material).

The addition of spermine increased reporter gene expression, with a mean fold change of 1.38 ± 0.02 , relative to cells grown in media without added spermine. There did not appear to be differences in induction between any of the wildtypes or mutants.

Discussion

In this study we followed up on previous results of significantly decreased expression of SAT1 in the brains of suicide completers and the association of the promoter SNP 342 C allele with suicide and decreased brain expression (204). We identified two major promoter haplotypes in SAT1 which showed significant differences in expression in both reporter gene assays as well as in human brain samples. Additionally, one in/del and two promoter SNPs were found to be involved in determining expression under these conditions.

This study revealed one LD block comprising SNPs both upstream of the first exon and within the first intron of the SAT1 gene, which is consistent with results obtained by the HapMap project (440;463). In our sample, two major haplotypes were observed. Two SNPs, 646 and 006, were found only on the more common haplotype block. The in/del polymorphism and SNP 932 were in high, but not complete, LD with this haplotype block. As mentioned above, one of the SNPs that was genotyped within this sample (342) has previously been found to be significantly associated with suicide completion (204). SNP 342 belongs to the LD block we observed, and thus may act as a tag SNP for the other SNPs examined in this study, and to a lesser extent, can predict variation at the in/del polymorphism and SNP 932. These results expand our knowledge of the effects of promoter variants on SAT1 gene expression, and which polymorphisms may confer susceptibility to suicide.

Our analysis found a significant influence of haplotype 1 on SAT1 expression in BA4, 8/9, and 11, and indicated that this common haplotype, which contains the SNP 342 C allele, was associated with lower expression in these brain regions. This gives good support for the presence of a direct relationship between our association results and the findings of decreased SAT1 expression in suicide completers. Interestingly, the T allele of SNP 264 is also found on the more common haplotype 1 (Figures 3A and B), and has been recently associated with anxiety disorders (433). This may indicate that haplotype 3 is protective against both anxiety and suicidal behaviors.

The region examined in the reporter gene assays contained SNP 342 as well as four additional polymorphisms. This region demonstrated increased promoter activity compared to the empty vector in all three cell lines examined. This is consistent with the assumption that the core promoter is located between -82 and +139-bp of the TSS (515), a sequence completely contained within the region. Significant and consistent differences in reporter gene expression between the two haplotypes were observed in each of the three cell lines. The expression of haplotype 3 ranged from 1.3 to 2.1-fold higher than haplotype 1, and this trend is in line with our brain expression results. This consistent increase in gene expression, observed in cell lines of different origins, indicates that similar factors regulating SAT1 expression are present in a variety of cell types, although the differences in the magnitude of the increased expression could indicate that tissue-specific factors may also be involved.

The addition of spermine to the culture medium increased reporter gene transcription by approximately 1.4-fold. The ability of polyamines and polyamine analogues to increase SAT1 transcription is well-established, and is dependent upon the cell type as well as the polyamine or analogue used (for examples, see (522;523;531-533)). As mentioned above, one mechanism for the induction of SAT1 expression by polyamines involves the interaction between PMF-1 and Nrf-2, which is constitutively bound to the PRE in analogue-sensitive cells (519). The PRE is in close proximity to each of the polymorphisms examined by reporter gene assays, and we had speculated that variants in this region may influence the

ability of Nrf-2 to bind to the PRE. However, this did not appear to be the case as the expression of all constructs was induced to a similar extent by the addition of spermine. It has previously been observed that normal intracellular concentrations of polyamines can be sufficient to induce the transcription of SAT1 following transfection, and that higher increases in transcription are observed when cells are depleted of intracellular polyamines prior to transfection (519). In this light, it may be possible that slight differences do exist between the constructs, which could not be observed due to background levels of induction resulting from polyamines already present in the cells.

Due to LD, all SNPs within this haplotype will give the same strength of association to suicide. Site-directed mutagenesis is an important tool for identifying causal variants and assessing potential interactions between polymorphisms. The results of the site-directed mutagenesis experiments indicate that the promoter activity resulting from variations in the region examined is the result of a combination of factors. On its own, the in/del was sufficient to produce the observed promoter activity, as changing the length of this extended adenine repeat completely reversed the expression in the mutants to those of the reciprocal wildtypes. There are a number of mechanisms by which promoter variants can influence transcription, and generally involve alterations of either the binding of transcription factors, or the accessibility of the DNA (534). It may be speculated that the effects of in/del variation may result from its increased AT content, which decreases the melting temperature of the DNA, or by the 15-bp difference in length, which may impact interactions between transcription factors. The results obtained for SNPs 342 and 931 demonstrate that the in/del is not the only polymorphism involved in determining transcription. Both these SNPs appear to exert haplotype-specific effects, as changing their sequence was only sufficient to reverse the phenotype in one haplotype, with no effects on the other. This suggests that there are interactions between these SNPs and other variations present within this region. The precise mechanism for these effects is not yet clear. The sequence surrounding SNP 342 is not predicted to bind any transcription factors, whereas a number of transcription factors are predicted to

bind at SNP 931, several of which appear to demonstrate allele-specificity. The results obtained by Tomitori and colleagues suggest that at least one repressor element may bind in the sequence between -1639 and -777-bp (515), although this has not been confirmed and may not be relevant to the current study. A study analyzing a large number of promoter regions found that the majority of functional variants did not disrupt any known transcription factor binding sites, suggesting that many transcription factor consensus sequences may not yet be known, and that other mechanisms may be involved (535). Clearly, more work is required in order to determine the precise mechanisms involved in determining transcription levels, and future experiments should be designed to identify proteins displaying allele-specific binding to the SAT1 promoter.

There are a number of potential mechanisms by which the decreased expression associated with haplotype 1 of SAT1 may be involved in increasing the susceptibility to suicide. Spermine has been shown to induce neuronal cell death through activation of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors (536), and it could be speculated that long-term decreases in SAT1 activity may cause damage to the CNS. Alternatively, as mentioned above, the polyamines influence numerous receptor systems, and as such, alterations in their relative proportions may alter the functioning of these systems. Finally, both agmatine and putrescine have been shown to produce antidepressant and anxiolytic effects, and their levels have been shown to increase following stressors (197;221-227;371). Decreased SAT1 expression may result in lower levels of these polyamines, and thus may diminish their mood altering effects and prevent normal stress responses. As both mood disorders and stress are associated with suicide (537), downregulation of SAT1 in suicide completers may simply reflect the involvement of these factors in suicide, or alternatively, could indicate that SAT1 mediates their role in the development of suicidal behavior. Future studies are needed in order to differentiate between these effects, and to determine the precise role for SAT1 in suicide.

A recent study by Guipponi and colleagues also demonstrated decreased expression of SAT1 in BA11 of suicide completers, however they were unable to replicate our previous association of SNP 342 with suicide, or find a relationship between this SNP and SAT1 expression (205). There are a number of potential causes for these different results. Firstly, the study by Guipponi and colleagues combined males and females when assessing the correlation between genotype and expression, whereas our study was performed exclusively in males. It may be possible that gender-specific differences are involved in regulating SAT1 expression, particularly as this gene is located on the X chromosome, and as the levels of polyamines and their metabolic enzymes have been shown to differ between genders (210;538;539). Additionally, we conducted our studies in a sample composed exclusively of French-Canadians, a population with a welldocumented founder effect (450). Accordingly, the reduced genetic heterogeneity in our population may have increased our ability to identify genetic factors involved in suicide. Alternatively, our results may reflect differences in the frequency and properties of haplotypes between populations, which may be especially important for our results with the in/del as it was not in complete LD with SNP 342. As this polymorphism appears to play an important role in determining SAT1 expression, differences in the LD structure at this haplotype block may yield population-specific relationships between expression and genetic variations. Future studies will be required in order to assess the role of SAT1 promoter haplotypes in females, in whom it will also be possible to characterize coding polymorphisms which display differential allelic expression in vivo. This would allow for a more detailed understanding of the role of polymorphisms in determining the expression of SAT1.

In summary, we present results indicating that specific promoter variants in SAT1 have an effect on SAT1 gene expression. Considering the association between suicide and the lower-expressing haplotype, one could speculate, given the role of polyamines as a stress system that is quickly activated, that individuals with the lower-expressing haplotype may be less able to deal with the consequences of stress. This proposition, however, remains to be validated and further studied.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Carla Himmelman and Xiaoming Deng for technical assistance. This work was supported by the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) MOP 79253. GT is a Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec (FRSQ) chercheur boursier. LMF received a scholarship from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC).



Figure 1: Regions and polymorphisms of the SAT1 promoter analyzed in this study. A) Location and sequences at polymorphic sites. Exon 1 is shaded in black, and the translation start site and polyamine responsive element are indicated. B) Region analyzed for reporter gene assays. SNPs with stars were identified during sequencing of this region. C) Haplotypes and frequencies of genotyped polymorphisms in the promoter region of SAT1. D) Linkage disequilibrium between polymorphisms plotted as r^2 I/D – insertion/deletion; PRE – polyamine responsive element.



Figure 2: Results from reporter gene studies for haplotype 1 (grey), haplotype 3 (black), and empty pGL3 (white) in COS7, HTB15, and CRL2137 cell lines. Normalized relative light units/second (RLU/s) and standard errors were obtained from triplicate replications of each assay.



Figure 3: Reporter gene assays for wildtypes and mutant constructs. Constructs are labeled as haplotypepolymorphism. A) and B) Sites and sequences at polymorphisms in reporter gene constructs. Boxes indicate polymorphisms whose sequences have been altered. Exon 1 is indicated as a thick bar. C) Reporter gene expression for haplotype 1 (grey) and 3 (black) wildtypes and mutants in COS7 cells grown with media containing 100 μ M spermine. Values + standard errors were calculated as fold change (FC) relative to empty pGL3. D) P-values for comparisons of reporter gene expression for each construct with wildtype haplotypes 1 and 3. D – deletion; I – insertion; WT – wildtype.

<u>Tables</u>

Table 1: Relationship between promoter haplotypes and SAT1 gene expression in BA 4, 8/9, and 11. A) Number of subjects included in each region for each haplotype. B) Student *t*-tests for comparisons between different haplotypes.

A)

		Num	ber of Sub	ojects
Ha	plotype	BA 4	BA 8/9	BA 11
1	TCTAGATCTTDGGGGGCGC	10	8	9
2	TCTAGATCTTDGGGGGTGC	3	6	6
3	CTGGAGCACCIAGGGCAG	2	1	2
4	TCTAGATCTTDGGGACGC	1	1	1
5	CTGGAGCACCDGGGGGCAG	3	3	2

B)					
BA	Probeset	1/4 vs 2	1/4 vs 3/5	2 vs 3/5	1/2/4 vs 3/5
4	203455_s_at	0.50	0.29	0.24	0.07
	210592_s_at	0.12	0.19	0.86	0.07
8/9	203455_s_at	0.30	0.01	0.02	0.009
	210592_s_at	0.48	0.03	0.02	0.01
11	203455_s_at	0.55	0.45	0.71	0.03
	210592_s_at	0.93	0.95	1.00	0.25

Supplemental Methods

Cloning

A 1.8-kb region was cloned into the pGL3 Basic Luciferase Reporter Vector (Promega, Madison, MI), upstream of the firefly luciferase gene. Polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was performed using HotStar High Fidelity DNA Polymerase (Qiagen), with primers containing recognition sites for *Kpn*I or *Xho*I. Primer sequences, with restriction sites shown in italics, were SSATf-F-*Kpn*I, 5'-CGGGGTACCTTACAGCTACTAGTCTTTCCTGATAGTG and SSATf-R-*Xho*I, 5'- CCGCTCGAGCGTCTTTTGCTTTTCTTCCCTTTGCG. PCR products and pGL3 were digested with *Xho*I and *Kpn*I (New England Biolabs (NEB), Canada), then purified with the GenElute PCR Clean-up Kit (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO). Digested products were ligated together with T4 DNA ligase (NEB), and transformed into competent JM109 cells (Promega) by heat shock. All inserts were sequenced.

Site-directed mutagenesis was used to alter each of the variable SNPs in this region. SNPs were mutated in the wildtype plasmids using the QuikChange Site-Directed Mutagenesis kit (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA). To generate in/del mutants, SNP 932 mutants from both haplotypes were digested with *BstXI* and *MscI* (New England Biolabs) to generate 5581- and 1041-bp products. The 1041-bp products were swapped and ligated with the reciprocal 5581-bp product to generate SNP 931-in/del mutants, then the SNP 931 site was returned to the wildtype sequence by site-directed mutagenesis to create mutants in which only the in/del was altered. Mutations were confirmed by sequencing.

Supplemental Figures



Supplemental Figure 1: Reporter gene expression for wildtypes and mutants. Constructs are labeled as haplotype-polymorphism. Haplotype 1 (grey) and 3 (black) wildtypes and mutants were grown in COS7 cells without supplemented spermine. Values + standard errors were calculated as fold change (FC) relative to empty pGL3.



Supplemental Figure 2: Reporter gene expression for wildtypes and SNPs 264 and 932 mutants. Constructs are labeled as haplotype-polymorphism. Haplotype 1 (grey) and 3 (black) wildtypes and mutants were grown in COS7 cells with media containing 100 μ M spermine. Values + standard errors were calculated as fold change (FC) relative to empty pGL3.

3.2 Association of the SAT1 In/del Polymorphism with Suicide Completion

Laura M. Fiori, and Gustavo Turecki

McGill Group for Suicide Studies, Douglas Mental Health University Institute, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

Published in American Journal of Medical Genetics B: Neuropsychiatric Genetics, 2010 Apr 5;153B(3):825-829. (208)

<u>Abstract</u>

Several studies have observed decreased expression of spermidine/spermine N1acetyltransferase (SAT1) in the brains of suicide completers, and we previously identified a single nucleotide polymorphism in the promoter region of SAT1 which was associated with suicide completion and SAT1 expression in the brain. We recently characterized the haplotype structure of the SAT1 promoter region, and identified an insertion/deletion (in/del) of 15 adenine residues. This variant appears to be a predictor of SAT1 expression, and we were thus interested in determining if the lower-expressing deletion allele was found more frequently among suicide completers. To this end, we genotyped the in/del in a sample of 771 French-Canadian males, comprised of 326 suicide completers and 445 nonsuicide controls. We found no significant difference in the frequencies of the two alleles between suicide completers and controls in the entire sample. However, we observed a significantly higher frequency of the deletion in the depressed suicide completers compared to the depressed non-suicides. These results add support for a role of SAT1 in conferring a risk for suicide completion, in particular in the context of depressive disorders.

Suicide is a major public health problem, and considerable effort has been made to identify molecular mechanisms involved in the etiology and pathology of suicidal behavior. Although the majority of studies have focused on the role of monoaminergic neurotransmission, there is growing evidence to support the involvement of other systems underlying suicidality. One molecular system which has been gaining support for a role in suicide and other mental disorders is the polyamine system (203).

The polyamines comprise agmatine, putrescine, spermidine, and spermine, and are involved in many cellular functions, including growth, division, and signalling cascades (196-198). Of particular importance to psychiatric disorders, the polyamines influence the properties of several neurotransmitter pathways, including the catecholamines (210-213;340), gamma amino-butyric acid (215-217;341), nitric oxide (218), and glutamate (221;227;342-344). Numerous animal studies have demonstrated the antidepressant and anxiolytic effects of agmatine and putrescine (221-227;389), and alterations in the levels of the polyamines and their metabolic enzymes have been observed in several psychiatric conditions, including suicide (203).

To date, the polyamine-related gene which has been most strongly implicated in suicidal behavior is spermidine/spermine *N*-1 acetyltransferase (SAT1), the rate-controlling enzyme in polyamine catabolism and interconversion. SAT1 is located on Xp22.1 and contains 6 exons (513), yielding mRNAs of approximately 1.3 and 1.5 kb, depending on the length of the poly-A tail (514). The expression of SAT1 is highly regulated through control of transcription, mRNA stability, translational efficiency, and stabilization of the SAT1 protein (521).

Downregulation of SAT1 has been observed in multiple brain regions in suicide completers (64;157;204-206), as well as in an animal model for stress and depression (527). In addition, two polymorphisms in the promoter region of SAT1 have been shown to be associated with suicide (204) and anxiety (433). One of these variants, rs6926342, was also found to be associated with SAT1 expression in several brain regions. To further investigate SAT1 promoter polymorphisms, we recently characterized the haplotype structure of the promoter region, and

assessed the relationship between haplotypes and expression of SAT1 in several brain regions and cell lines. We found a significant relationship between promoter variants and expression, and identified two single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) (rs6926342 and rs928931), and one insertion/deletion (in/del) of fifteen adenine residues (rs6151267), which were in high linkage disequilibrium (LD) and were directly involved in controlling reporter gene expression *in vitro* (207). Whereas the SNPs appeared to exert haplotype-specific effects on expression, altering the in/del was sufficient to reverse the expression phenotypes in our system, such that the deletion was associated with decreased expression both *in vitro* and in the brain. The in/del thus appears to be a predictor of SAT1 expression, and may represent an additional functional link between decreased SAT1 expression and the association of SNP rs6926342 to suicide. Accordingly, we chose to investigate the association of the in/del polymorphism to suicide completion in a sample of male French Canadian suicide completers and controls.

We investigated a total of 771 unrelated French Canadian male subjects. Cases for this study were 326 individuals who died by suicide, as assessed by the Quebec Coroner's office, with an average age of 40.8 ± 13.5 . We also included 445 subjects who did not die by suicide. These subjects had an average age of 40.4 ± 13.5 and were recruited from outpatient clinics or from the Quebec general population. French Canadians represent a relatively young population with a well-documented founder effect (450;477-479), and our use of both cases and controls from this population minimizes the potential for population stratification effects.

Psychiatric diagnoses were assessed for a subset of the sample using the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I (SCID-I) (480) or the Diagnostic Interview Schedule using DSM-III-R criteria (481). Diagnostic information on suicide completers was obtained by means of the psychological autopsy method, a well-established and validated method to obtain diagnostic information by proxybased interviews. We conducted interviews with the informant best acquainted with the subject (for detailed information, please consult (540)). Information regarding psychiatric diagnoses is found in the Supplementary Material online. Overall, psychopathology was available for 277 and 213 of the control and suicide
subjects, respectively. In order to investigate the effects of suicide independently from those of depressive disorders, we selected our non-suicide control group to include a high percentage of subjects with depressive disorders. In total, 178 of the non-suicide controls, and 120 of the suicide completers were diagnosed with depressive disorders. Informed consent was obtained from either the subject or their next-of-kin, as appropriate. This study was approved by our local institutional review board.

Genomic DNA was extracted from blood, saliva, or frozen brain tissue using standard procedures (483). We performed a 10μ L polymerase chain reaction (PCR) with Taq DNA polymerase (Qiagen) using primers SSAT-TA-F1 (CTTGAGCCCAGGAGTTCGAG) and SSAT-TA-R1 (TGGTGACTAAAAGAATATGTGCTTGTG), to generate products of 161 or 176 bp, depending on the in/del. The entire reaction was analyzed on 3% agarose gels. The in/del was sequenced in twenty of these subjects to verify our results. Our sample also included the ninety-six subjects in which we previously genotyped the in/del by sequencing (207).

As SAT1 is located on the X chromosome, only one allele was observed for each subject. This 15 residue in/del is part of a larger tandem adenine repeat, yielding alleles with either 25 or 40 consecutive adenine residues. Overall, 87% of our subjects possessed the shorter allele, which we previously demonstrated to be in high LD with the C risk allele of rs6526342 in a French Canadian sample (207).

Pearson χ^2 tests were performed to assess association to suicide in both the overall sample, and in the subset of individuals with current or lifetime histories of depressive disorders. The results of these analyses are shown in Table 1. There was no significant difference in the frequencies of the two alleles between suicide completers and controls in the entire sample. However, when we examined the frequencies in the subset of individuals with depressive disorders, there was a significantly higher frequency of the D allele in the depressed suicide completers compared to the depressed non-suicides. These results remained significant when controlling for age. Although false positives are an important concern in

association testing, our results in the depressed subgroup remain significant even after a correction for multiple tests, which suggests that our findings do not simply reflect a spurious association. Although the size of the depressed subgroup and the number of individuals with the I allele are fairly small, additional support for the importance of our findings lies in the relationship between decreased SAT1 expression and the D allele (207), and our findings of widespread decreases in SAT1 expression in the brains of suicide completers (64;157;204;206). Moreover, as the D allele is on the same haplotype as the C risk allele of rs6526342, our results add further weight to the importance of this haplotype in suicide completion. Interestingly, this haplotype also includes the T allele of rs1960264, which has been found to be significantly associated with anxiety disorders (433). Given the high LD among promoter variants, these associations may all reflect the involvement of a single polymorphism in increasing the susceptibility to suicide and anxiety. As our previous results indicated that, among these variants, the in/del had the greatest role in determining SAT1 expression (207), it is not unreasonable to speculate that the in/del is the functional variant being tagged by these association studies.

It should be noted that Guipponi and colleagues failed to replicate our previous findings for an association of rs6526342 with suicidal behavior (205). This may be due to the increased genetic homogeneity in our sample due to our use of exclusively French Canadian subjects, or may reflect differences in the frequency and properties of alleles between populations.

The fact that our results only reached statistical significance in the depressed subgroup may indicate a specific role for SAT1 in depressed suicide victims. This is supported by our previous findings of greater decreases in SAT1 expression in depressed compared to non-depressed suicide completers (64;157;204;206). Indeed, the polyamine system as a whole has been implicated in mood disorders and stress response (203), and SAT1 downregulation has previously been observed in an animal model of stress and depression (527). However, our results suggest that the role of SAT1 in suicidal behavior is not directly mediated by depression, as we found no direct association between the in/del and depression in

our sample (not shown). Our results instead appear to indicate that depression moderates the effect of the in/del on suicide. However, this remains to be validated and further studied. It is also possible that our results may simply reflect the increased homogeneity in the depressed subsample compared to the overall group, which included individuals with multiple other Axis I disorders. Indeed, a previous study found no association for an involvement of rs1960264 in schizophrenia (434), indicating that SAT1 promoter polymorphisms are indeed specific for certain psychiatric conditions.

There are a number of mechanisms by which SAT1 may be involved in the etiology of suicidal behavior. SAT1 is the rate-limiting enzyme in polyamine catabolism and interconversion, and thus plays an important role in controlling the relative and absolute levels of each of the polyamines. As both agmatine and putrescine have been shown to display both antidepressant and anxiolytic effects in animals (221-227), decreased levels of these compounds due to a downregulation in the expression of SAT1 may prevent or diminish these effects. In addition, as mentioned above, the polyamines influence several neurotransmitter systems, which could be affected by alterations in the relative proportions of each of the polyamines.

There are a number of limitations to our study. We conducted this study in a sample composed exclusively of French Canadians, which as mentioned above, is a genetically homogenous population. It is thus possible that the association obtained in this sample may not be found in other populations. Additionally, as this study was performed in only male subjects, the applicability of these results to females is unclear, particularly as SAT1 is found on the X chromosome. Finally, psychopathology was not available for the entire sample. However, the rate of depressive disorders in our suicide group was 56.3%, which is comparable to those previously reported in the French-Canadian population (396;469).

In summary, our results indicate that the in/del variant in the promoter region of SAT1 is implicated in the predisposition towards suicidal behavior in the context of depressive disorders. Given the putative role of this promoter variant in determining brain expression of SAT1, our results lend support for the involvement of decreased levels of SAT1 expression in suicidal behavior, and highlight the importance of the polyamine system in mental disorders.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) MOP 79253. GT is a Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec (FRSQ) chercheur boursier. LMF received a scholarship from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC).

Tables

Table 1: Allelic frequencies of the in/del in suicide completers and controls. Chisquare (χ^2) tests were performed between suicide completers (S) and non-suicide controls (NS) in both the entire sample as well as in the depressive disorder (DD) subgroup.

Subjects	Ν	D (N, %)	I (N, %)	χ^2	Р	OR (95% CI)
NS	445	380 (85.4)	65 (14.6)	1.74	0.19	1.34 (0.87 –
S	326	289 (88.7)	37 (11.3)	1./4	0.19	2.06)
NS-DD	178	147 (82.6)	31 (17.4)	6.06	0.01	2.60 (1.19 -
S-DD	120	111 (92.5)	9 (7.5)	0.00	0.01	5.69)

Supplemental Information

Supplementary Table 1: Characteristics of case and control subjects. Ages are reported \pm standard deviation. Percentages are indicated in brackets; percentages for specific Axis I disorders were calculated within only the assessed individuals. NS – non-suicide: S – suicide completers

	NS (N=445)	S (N=326)
Mean age	40.4 ± 13.5	40.8 ± 13.5
Assessed for Axis I disorders	277	213
Depressive disorders	178 (64.3)	120 (56.3)
Bipolar disorder	3 (1.0)	21 (9.9)
Schizophrenia	3 (1.0)	13 (6.1)
Anxiety disorders	33 (11.9)	18 (8.5)

3.3 Epigenetic Regulation of SAT1 in Suicide

Laura M. Fiori and Gustavo Turecki

McGill Group for Suicide Studies, Douglas Mental Health University Institute, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

Submitted to the International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology

<u>Abstract</u>

Background: We have recently shown that the expression of spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase (SAT1) is downregulated across the brains of suicide completers, and that its expression is influenced by genetic variations in the promoter. Several promoter polymorphisms in SAT1, including rs6526342, have been associated with suicide and other psychiatric disorders, and display haplotype-specific effects on expression. However, these effects cannot explain total variability in SAT1 expression, and other regulatory mechanisms, such as epigenetic factors, may also be at play.

Methods: We assessed the involvement of epigenetic factors in controlling SAT1 expression in the prefrontal cortex of suicide completers by mapping CpG methylation across a 1880-bp region of the SAT1 promoter, and measuring levels of tri-methylated histone-3-lysine 27 (H3K27me3) at the promoter in suicide completers and controls.

Results: CpG methylation was significantly negatively correlated with SAT1 expression. Although we found no direct evidence that overall or site-specific CpG methylation was associated with suicide or SAT1 expression, we observed high levels of methylation at the polymorphic CpG site created by rs6526342, indicating a relationship between promoter haplotypes and methylation. There was no association between H3K27me3 and suicide, nor was this modification associated with SAT1 expression.

Conclusions: Our results indicate that epigenetic factors in the promoter region of SAT1 influence gene expression levels, and may provide a mechanism for both our previous findings of haplotype-specific effects of promoter variations on SAT1 expression, as well as the widespread downregulation of SAT1 expression observed in the brains of suicide completers.

Introduction

Suicide is one of the leading causes of death in Western countries (2), which results from the interaction of social, environmental, and genetic factors. While there is strong evidence for the involvement of the monoaminergic neurotransmitter systems in the neuropathology of suicide, it has become increasingly evident that additional systems are involved in this complex condition. In recent years, evidence has emerged implicating dysregulation of the polyamine system as an important factor in suicide and other psychiatric disorders (203). To date, alterations of spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase (SAT1), the rate-limiting enzyme in polyamine catabolism, have been one of the most robust findings implicating this system in the neurobiology of suicide. Decreased expression of SAT1 has now been observed in a number of brain regions in suicide completers (64;157;204-206), and two promoter polymorphisms, rs6526342 and rs6151267, have been associated with suicide in French Canadians (204;208). Several single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in the promoter were recently found to be involved in determining expression levels in vitro as well as in the brain, and interestingly two SNPs, rs6526342 and rs928931, produced haplotype-specific effects on expression (207).

In addition to DNA sequence variants, epigenetic regulation is another important determinant of gene expression, and can involve methylation of DNA as well as modification of histones. DNA methylation is a covalent modification at the 5' position of cytosine, occurring at CG dinucleotides (CpG), and is often associated with gene repression when found in promoter regions (541). Histones are the core proteins involved in packaging of DNA into nucleosomes, and can be covalently modified at specific residues by acetylation, methylation, phosphorylation, SUMOylation, and ubiquitinylation (41). The effect of these modifications on gene expression depends upon the histone protein (H2A, H2B, H3, H4), specific amino acid residue, the nature of the modification, and its positioning within the gene.

Interestingly, polyamine metabolism has been shown to influence both DNA methylation and histone modifications (for examples, see (407-410)), and increased S-adenosylmethionine, a precursor in polyamine biosynthesis, has been implicated in the downregulation of several genes in the prefrontal cortex of psychotic patients through altering levels of promoter methylation (411). The expression of several polyamine-related genes has also been shown to be influenced by DNA methylation, including polyamine modulated factor-1 (PMF-1) (542), and methionine adenosyltransferase (MAT1A) (543), although a recent study performed by our group found no relationship between DNA methylation or histone modifications and expression of spermine synthase or spermine oxidase in the brains of suicide completers (392). However, the expression of ornithine aminotransferase and µ-crystallin has been shown to be influenced by histone methylation in the prefrontal cortices of schizophrenia patients (42), suggesting that histone modifications are important modulators for the expression of polyamine genes. Several studies have now identified altered levels of CpG methylation and histone modifications in gene promoter regions in a number of psychiatric disorders, including suicide (32;37-39;42;43;544). Overall, SAT1 appears to be a compelling target for assessing the involvement of epigenetic factors in the regulation of the polyamine system and in conferring risk for suicide.

In this study, we were interested in determining the role of epigenetic modifications in determining the expression of SAT1, and to assess their involvement in downregulating the expression of SAT1 in suicide completers. In addition, we were interested in investigating if epigenetic mechanisms were responsible for the haplotype-specific effects of the functional promoter variants, particularly as rs6526342 and rs928931 create polymorphic CpG sites. Using prefrontal brain tissue from a sample of suicide completers and controls, we focused on promoter CpG methylation and levels of tri-methylated histone-3-lysine 27 (H3K27), epigenetic modifications which are both associated with gene repression (541;545). Both of these modifications have been shown to be relatively unaffected by complications arising in post-mortem tissues such as

altered pH and post-mortem interval (546;547), and are thus well-suited for this type of analysis. Additionally, tri-methylated H3K27 was recently implicated in the downregulation of the TrkB receptor in the prefrontal cortex of suicide completers (44).

Materials and Methods

Subjects:

We examined 20 subjects, comprised of 10 non-suicide controls and 10 suicide completers. Subjects were matched for age, post-mortem interval (PMI), and brain pH. Cause of death was assessed by the Quebec Coroner's office. Samples were obtained from the Quebec Suicide Brain Bank, where they were processed and dissected at 4°C, then snap-frozen in liquid nitrogen before storage at -80°C, following standard procedures (397). All subjects died without a prolonged agonal period. Brodmann area (BA) 8/9 (dorsolateral prefrontal cortex) was dissected in accordance with standard neuroanatomical definitions (398). Psychiatric diagnoses were obtained using the psychological autopsy method with the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I (SCID-I) (480), as described elsewhere (528). This study was approved by our local institutional review board.

Quantitative Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR):

Total RNA was extracted from frozen tissue using an RNeasy Lipid Tissue Mini Kit (Qiagen, Canada). RNA quality was measured using an Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA). cDNA synthesis was performed using oligo(dT)-priming (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA). RT-PCR was performed in quadruplicate for SAT1 with β -actin as an endogenous control using Taqman on an ABI PRISM 7900HT Sequence Detection System (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA).

CpG Methylation Mapping:

Genomic DNA from BA 8/9 was extracted as above, then treated and purified with the Qiagen EpiTect Bisulfite kit. Bisulfite-treated DNA was amplified by PCR using primers listed in Supplementary Table S1. PCR products were purified with the GenElute PCR Clean-up Kit (Sigma-Aldrich, St Louis, MO), ligated into the pDRIVE vector and transformed into EZ Competent cells (PCR Cloning Plus Kit, Qiagen). Plasmids were extracted and sequenced using the reverse primers for each region. CpG sites are labelled relative to the transcription start site (TSS), with 39 consecutive adenine residues at the tandem adenine repeat at -1274 bp (insertion allele at rs6151267).

Chromatin Immunoprecipitation of Tri-Methylated H3K27 (H3K27me3):

Immunoprecipitated DNA was prepared as described in (548). Briefly, tissue from BA 8/9 was treated with micrococcal nuclease (Sigma-Aldrich), which cleaves DNA between adjacent nucleosomes. Intact nucleosomes were extracted, and a portion of sample was treated with anti-trimethyl-H3-lysine 27 antibody (Upstate Biotechnology, New York, NY), while the remainder was used as an input control. The antibody-treated sample was purified and both input and bound fractions were digested with protease before purifying DNA. Quantitative RT-PCR using SYBR green (Applied Biosystems) was used to measure DNA in each sample, in quadruplicate. Relative quantitation was performed with β -actin as an endogenous control, and ratios of bound:input were calculated for each subject. Primer sequences are found in Supplementary Table S1.

Statistics:

Analyses were performed using SPSS, v15.0. Student's *t*-tests and Pearson correlations were used to analyze differences between groups as well as determine

the relationship between CpG methylation, H3K27me3, and SAT1 expression in BA 8/9.

<u>Results</u>

CpG Methylation:

In order to determine if CpG methylation is involved in the differential expression of SAT1 in suicide completers and the relationship between promoter haplotype and expression, we analyzed methylation in BA 8/9 of 20 subjects (10 suicide completers and 10 controls). We examined the 1880 bp region of the SAT1 promoter shown in Figure 1. This region spans -1751 bp to +129 bp from the transcription start site (TSS) and contains a total of 131 CpG sites, including the site created by rs6526342 (-1566), as well as two additional sites (-1429 bp/rs1960264, and -1371 bp/rs928931) affected by SNPs. These are part of the larger haplotype block extending from 5 kb upstream of the TSS to the end of the first intron, which is associated with SAT1 expression in the brain and in vitro (207). Our sample comprised 16 subjects (9 suicide completers, 7 controls) with the low-expressing haplotype, which contains the C allele at rs6526342.

The results of the CpG methylation mapping are shown in Figure 2. The overall percentage of methylation at all sites was 10.5%. Although all but five sites were methylated in at least one clone, the majority of sites were only sparsely methylated. However, 18 sites were methylated in at least a third of the clones, including the site created by rs6526342 which was methylated only in the low-expressing haplotype, with an average of 88.6%. There were also high levels of methylation at rs1960264, whereas rs928931 was completely unmethylated. Aside from methylation at these sites, there were no significant differences in total methylation between subjects with the high- or low-expressing haplotypes.

We assessed the expression of SAT1 in BA 8/9 for these subjects and found results consistent with our previous studies in larger samples, indicating a

decrease in SAT1 expression among suicide completers (one-tailed P = 0.07). To assess the relationship between overall promoter CpG methylation and SAT1 expression, we performed Pearson correlations in the sample as a whole (irrespective of phenotype). There was a significant negative correlation between expression and overall percentage methylation (P = 0.008, Pearson = -0.64), which was not affected by age, pH, or PMI. We were next interested in determining if this effect was due to methylation in specific promoter regions, particularly in order to determine if methylation at the region containing rs6526342 played a functional role in the brain. Given that there appeared to be two distinct patterns of methylation, the promoter region was divided into sparsely (+78 bp to -412 bp) and heavily (-433 bp to -1672 bp) methylated regions. Additionally, the sparsely methylated region was further subdivided to examine the role of methylation in exon 1. These results are also shown in Figure 3A and demonstrate that, with the exception of exon 1, methylation in all regions is strongly negatively correlated with SAT1 expression; however, the strength of correlations between expression and methylation in any of the subdivisions does not exceed that between expression and overall methylation. Moreover, we found no evidence that methylation at any individual site was significantly correlated with expression (Supplementary Figure S1B). Overall, these results indicate that CpG methylation of the entire region plays a role in determining SAT1 expression.

We subsequently compared percentages of methylation between suicide completers and controls and found no differences in overall methylation (P = 0.51), as shown in Figure 3B. Interestingly, although there were no significant differences between suicide completers and controls for site-specific methylation (Supplementary Figure S1A), the rs6526342 site showed a trend for increased methylation in suicide completers (94% vs 82% among subjects possessing the C allele, uncorrected P = 0.07).

H3K27 Methylation:

We were next interested in assessing the role of chromatin modifications in determining levels of SAT1 expression in the brain. We focused on the tri-methyl modification of lysine 27 of histone 3 (H3K27me3), as this modification has been shown to be relatively unaffected by post-mortem factors (547). These results are depicted in Figure 4. There was no significant difference between levels of H3K27me3 in controls and suicide completers (P = 0.72), nor was H3K27me3 significantly correlated with SAT1 expression (P = 0.56, Pearson = 0.17) or the overall percentage of CpG methylation (P = 0.33). Interestingly, there was a correlation between the levels of H3K27me3 and the percentage of exonic CpG methylation (P = 0.03, Pearson = 0.57). However, as neither of these factors appear to play a large role in determining SAT1 expression, the relevance of this finding is unclear.

Discussion

In this study, we examined the role of two epigenetic modifications, CpG methylation and histone methylation, in determining the expression of SAT1 in the brain, and assessed their involvement in the decreased expression of SAT1 previously observed in the brains of suicide completers (64;157;204;206).

We found a strong relationship between CpG methylation and SAT1 expression, such that increased overall levels of CpG methylation was correlated with decreased expression. This effect was not limited to sites close to the TSS, and in fact overall promoter methylation showed a stronger correlation with expression than any promoter subdivision. In general, CpG methylation is associated with transcriptional repression, which can occur through several mechanisms including blocking access by transcription factors, binding of repressive transcription factors, and interfering with transcriptional elongation (541). Given the apparent pattern of CpG methylation in the SAT1 promoter, with a paucity of methylation in exon 1 and the first few hundred bases upstream, then

high levels of methylation at specific sites in the more distal promoter regions, it appears likely that multiple mechanisms are involved in repressing SAT1 transcription. The promoter region of SAT1 was characterized by Tomitori and colleagues, who showed that while the promoter region lacks a TATA box, transcription appears to be controlled by the Sp1 element which binds a GC-box at -42 to -51 bp (515). Additional transcription factor binding sites in the proximal promoter region include several sites for NF- κ B (516;517), as well as a peroxisome proliferator-activated proteins (PPAR) site (518). The promoter region also contains potential binding sites for numerous other factors including Ap1, heat shock factor (HSF), GAGA factor, cAMP response element binding protein (CREB), CCAT/enhancer binding protein- β (C/EBP β), and additional Sp1 sites (513;515). Alterations in CpG methylation levels may influence the binding of any of these factors, or may recruit repressive factors such as methyl-CpGbinding proteins (541).

The polyamine responsive element (PRE) is found within the more distal promoter region. This 9 bp sequence, located between -1518 and -1526 bp from the TSS, has been shown to constitutively bind NF-E2 related factor (Nrf-2) in certain cell lines, which is involved in increasing transcription of SAT1 in the presence of polyamines or polyamine analogues through interactions with polyamine-modulated factor-1 (PMF-1) (519;520). It is therefore of interest that it is located immediately between two highly methylated sites at -1529 and -1516 bp. Given the importance of this mechanism in controlling SAT1 expression in the presence of elevated polyamine levels, even small changes in the levels of CpG methylation may alter the efficiency of the interaction between the PRE and Nrf-2, or between Nrf-2 and PMF-1, which may have important consequences for the regulation of polyamine levels. It is also possible that methylation at these sites is involved in the cell-type specific binding of Nrf-2 to the SAT1 promoter, which could result in variable effects of elevated polyamine levels across different cell-types, and possibly even across different brain regions.

We recently characterized the role of polymorphisms in the promoter region of SAT1, and found haplotype-dependent effects of two SNPs, rs6526342 and rs928931, on SAT1 expression in vitro (207). These two polymorphisms, as well as a third SNP, rs1960264, whose effect on SAT1 expression was less clear, create haplotype-specific CpG sites, such that individuals with the low-expressing haplotype have an additional site at -1566 bp (rs6526342), whereas those with the higher-expressing haplotype have additional sites at -1429 bp (rs1960264) and -1371 bp (rs928931). In this study, rs6526342 was among the highly methylated sites, which could represent a potential mechanism for its haplotype-specific effects on expression. Although methylation at this site was not significantly correlated with SAT1 expression, it is possible that in this study we lacked sufficient power to detect this effect. Although not statistically significant, we observed a trend for increased methylation at rs6526342 in suicide completers. Given that the C allele at this site is more frequent among suicide completers, these results may indicate that methylation at this SNP is involved in the pathology of suicide. Interestingly, while our previous studies indicated that altering the C allele to an A had no effect in the low-expressing haplotype, switching to a C allele in the high-expressing haplotype resulted in a phenotype similar to the low-expressing haplotype (207). These results suggested that the C allele confers lower expression moderated by other components of the haplotype block, such as the insertion/deletion (rs6151267), which was sufficient to generate the expression phenotype on its own. Although the mechanism for these effects remains unclear, examination of this region identified several potential transcription factor binding sites, including those for NF-E2, YY1, and AP-1, and it is possible that the presence of a C allele at rs6526342, with its increased methylation may affect the binding of transcription factors by altering the physical structure of the DNA or accessibility of binding sequences (541). Alternatively, methylation at the C allele could allow the binding of methyl-CpG-binding proteins, which may recruit additional proteins to exert repressive effects on transcription (541). Clearly additional work will be required in order to identify proteins which bind at this site, and the conditions which influence their effects.

We found no association between the H3K27me3 modification and suicide in our sample, nor did this modification appear to be involved in determining levels of SAT1 expression. Nonetheless, numerous other histone modifications exist, and we cannot discount the possibility that alterations in chromatin structure can influence the expression of SAT1.

A previous study by Guipponi and colleagues did not identify a relationship between CpG methylation of SAT1 in BA 11 and suicide or expression (205). There are several possible explanations for the differing results between studies. The previous study examined only a small region, spanning -70 bp to +32 bp from the TSS which, in our study, showed a much weaker association with expression. The previous study included subjects with a range of Axis I disorders, whereas the majority of our suicide completers died in the context of a major depressive episode. It is thus possible that disorder-specific differences may exist, although we found no evidence for a relationship between depressive disorders and methylation in our sample. Finally, our study examined the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex, whereas Guipponi and colleagues examined the orbital prefrontal cortex, and it may be possible that region-specific differences exist.

There are possible limitations to this study. As this study was performed in only male subjects, the applicability of these results to females is unclear, particularly as SAT1 is found on the X chromosome. Indeed, Guipponi and colleagues observed increased CpG methylation in females, irrespective of psychopathology (205). Secondly, although we examined a large section of the SAT1 promoter, we cannot rule out the possibility that additional important epigenetic factors are found beyond the region examined in this study. In particular, intronic sequences may also harbor important regulatory elements and were not examined in this study. We also cannot exclude the possibility that chromatin modifications other than H3K27me3 are involved in determining SAT1 expression or are altered in suicide, as numerous histone modifications have been described (549), of which several appear to be involved in controlling the expression of polyamine-related genes and to be affected in psychiatric conditions (42). Finally, it is possible that the sample investigated in this study lacked sufficient power to detect effects of discrete magnitude, which may have been of particular relevance for evaluating the haplotype-specific effects of methylation on expression.

In summary, our results indicate that CpG methylation plays an important role in determining the expression of SAT1 in the brain. Given the widespread downregulation of SAT1 in the brains of suicide completers, this may represent an important epigenetic mechanism involved in conferring risk for suicide. Moreover, the haplotype-specific CpG site created by the rs6526342 polymorphism was found to be highly methylated, which may indicate that methylation at this site could mediate the genetic association between the C allele and suicide.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) MOP 79253. GT is a Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec (FRSQ) research fellow. LMF received a scholarship from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC).

Figures



Figure 1: Promoter region of SAT1 examined by methylation mapping. A) GC content of the SAT1 gene and upstream promoter region. Black boxes represent exons. Black dots denote CG dinucleotides. B) Details of the three subdivisions used to map CpG methylation.



Figure 2: CpG methylation in the promoter region of SAT1 in all subjects. Positions are relative to the transcription start site. Sites affected by polymorphisms are indicated in grey. The calculated percentage methylation at these sites was obtained from individuals possessing the C alleles. The position of the polyamine responsive element (PRE) is indicated.



Figure 3: Relationship of CpG methylation to expression and suicide. Results are shown for the entire region as well as sections of the promoter. Sites are shown relative to the transcription start site (TSS). A) Pearson correlation (grey bars) and $-\log_{10}$ P-values (black line) for correlation of percentage methylation with SAT1 expression. The dotted line indicates P = 0.05. B) Percentage methylation + SEM for suicide completers (black) and controls (grey).



Figure 4: Tri-methylation of H3K27 in the promoter region of SAT1. Methylation + SEM for controls (grey) and suicides (black) are expressed as the ratio of immunoprecipitated (IP) DNA to input DNA.

Supplemental Information

Supplementary Table 1: Primers used in this study.

Study	Primer	Sequence
CpG	SSAT-ep-F1	GAAATTTTAGAAAGGATTTTGGGATTTG
	SSAT-ep-R1	CCCCTATACTTAAACAATAAAAAA
	SSAT-ep3-F1	GGATTTTGAGTTATTTTGGGAGATTATG
	SSAT-ep3-R1	ATTATAATCCCTACTTAATTCATCTTCTAT
	SSAT-ep2-F1	ATAGAAGATGAATTAAGTAGGGATTATAAT
	SSAT-ep2-R1	CAAATCCCAAAATCCTTTCTAAAATTTC
H3K27	SSAT-ChIP-F	TCCTGAGTTTGCTTCCCACT
	SSAT-ChIP-R	GGTGTGTCCCCCAGTAACAT
	BActin-F	AGGATGGCAAGGGACTTCCTGTAA
	BActin-R	AATGTGGCCGAGGACTTTGATTGC



Supplementary Figure 1: Methylation of CpG sites in the promoter region of SAT1. Sites are shown as position relative to the transcription start site. A) Percentage methylation + SEM for suicide completers (black) and controls (grey). B) Pearson correlation (grey bars) and $-\log_{10}$ P-values (solid black line) for correlation of percentage methylation with SAT1 expression. The dotted line indicates uncorrected P = 0.05.

CHAPTER 4: INVESTIGATION OF GENETIC AND EPIGENETIC VARIABILITY ON THE EXPRESSION OF SMS AND SMOX

Similar to SAT1, both our previous studies as well as those described in Chapter 2 provided strong support for the involvement of SMS and SMOX in suicidal behaviors. Given the strong findings in Chapter 3 demonstrating the involvement of numerous genetic and epigenetic mechanisms in determining the expression of SAT1, it was of interest to determine if similar mechanisms were also at play in the regulation of SMS and SMOX expression. Accordingly, the promoter regions of these two genes were examined for genetic variants associated with expression, as well as both DNA methylation and H3K27 methylation. However, unlike SAT1, the study described in Chapter 4.1 failed to identify genetic or epigenetic regulators which played significant roles in determining expression under the conditions examined. It is therefore clear that additional studies will be necessary in order to identify the mechanisms involved in the differential expression of these genes in suicide completers, which may be found elsewhere in the gene, may involve other epigenetic mechanisms not assessed in this study, or may result from the differential expression of other proteins or compounds which regulate the levels of SMS or SMOX transcripts.

4.1 Genetic and Epigenetic Influences on Expression of SMS and SMOX in Suicide

Laura M. Fiori and Gustavo Turecki

McGill Group for Suicide Studies, Douglas Mental Health University Institute, McGill University, Montreal, Quebec, Canada

Published in International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology, In Press (392)

<u>Abstract</u>

Alterations in the levels of spermine synthase (SMS) and spermine oxidase (SMOX), two enzymes involved in polyamine metabolism, have previously been observed in brains of suicide completers. To characterize the roles played by genetic and epigenetic factors in determining expression levels of these genes, as well as to identify potential mechanisms by which to explain our findings in suicide completers, we 1) assessed the role of promoter polymorphisms in determining expression in the brain and in vitro, and 2) examined CpG methylation and levels of methylated histone-3-lysine 27 in the promoter regions of these genes in the prefrontal cortex of suicide completers and healthy controls. We identified several promoter haplotypes in SMS and SMOX, but found no consistent effects of haplotype on expression levels in either the brain or in reporter gene assays performed in three different cell lines. We also found no overall effects of epigenetic factors in determining expression, with the exception of a relationship between CpG methylation at one site in the promoter of SMOX and its expression in Brodmann area 8/9. In conclusion, the genetic and epigenetic factors examined in this study show little influence on the expression levels of SMS and SMOX, and do not appear to be responsible for the dysregulated expression of these genes in suicide completers.

Introduction

The polyamine system has been identified in all organisms and is essential for life (195). The polyamines comprise agmatine, putrescine, spermidine, and spermine, and are involved in a myriad of essential cellular functions, including growth, division, and signalling cascades (196-198). The levels of the polyamines are highly regulated and are controlled through the activities of enzymes in both the biosynthetic and interconversion pathways, which are depicted in Fig 1. Putrescine can be derived from either L-ornithine by the enzyme ornithine decarboxylase (196) or from agmatine by agmatinase (550). Spermidine and spermine are synthesized by spermidine synthase and spermine synthase (SMS), respectively, which transfer aminopropyl groups produced from Sadenosylmethionine (SAM) through SAM decarboxylase (AMD1) (196). The interconversion pathway is responsible for back-conversion of spermine and spermidine to putrescine. Two mechanisms can be used to convert spermine to spermidine of which the better characterized pathway involves acetylation of spermine by spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase (SAT1), followed by oxidative deamination by polyamine oxidase (PAO) to produce spermidine (551). In addition to the SAT1/PAO pathway, spermine can also be converted to spermidine through spermine oxidase (SMOX). This enzyme is specific for unacetylated spermine, and does not work upon spermidine or acetylated spermidine (552). As such, only the first mechanism is used for conversion of spermidine to putrescine.

Alterations of the polyamine system have been observed in several pathological conditions including cancer (196), ischemia (201), Alzheimer's disease (202), and mental disorders (203). The first evidence for the involvement of the polyamine system in suicide was the observation of downregulation of SAT1 expression in brain Brodmann areas (BA) 4, 8/9, and 11, in suicide completers (204). Following this finding, downregulation of SAT1 in suicide completers was observed in several additional brain regions by our group and others (64;157;205;206), and we identified numerous other polyamine-related

genes which were differentially expressed in suicide completers, including SMS, SMOX, ornithine aminotransferase-like 1, AMD1, and ornithine decarboxylase antizymes 1 and 2 (64;157;206). In addition, we recently characterized several polymorphisms in the promoter region of SAT1, and found three to be associated with expression levels in both the brain and *in vitro* (207).

SMS is located on Xp22.1, and encodes 11 exons to produce a 366 amino acid protein. Disruption of the function of this gene can have deleterious effects, and mutations in SMS are responsible for Snyder-Robinson syndrome, a form of X-linked mental retardation which manifests with both intellectual and physical symptoms, including alterations in brain morphology (459;461;462;553). In addition, mouse Gy mutants, which possess a deletion of a section of the X chromosome containing multiple exons of SMS, display neurological abnormalities and reduced lifespans, which has been attributed to the loss of SMS function (554). Elevated levels of SMS appear to produce far fewer effects, as transgenic mice display only slight increases in spermine and decreases in spermidine levels (555). Under normal conditions, the expression of SMS appears to be regulated primarily by substrate availability although there is evidence for induction under certain conditions (320).

SMOX was isolated much more recently than other enzymes involved in polyamine metabolism (552). This gene is found at 20p13 and has at least 9 known exons, with the translation start site being found in the second exon. Numerous splice forms have been identified although their transcription does not appear to be differentially regulated (556-558). Expression of this gene has been shown to be upregulated following exposure to polyamines and their analogues (558). The increased protein levels appear to be due primarily to increased transcription and stabilization of SMOX mRNA, and the area spanning -55 to - 1117-bp from the transcription start site is implicated in this response (558).

Based on the strong evidence for a global dysregulation of polyamine metabolism in suicide completers, we chose to further investigate genetic and epigenetic factors which may be involved in the altered expression of SMS and SMOX, two important polyaminergic genes that have been shown to be differentially expressed in suicides as compared to controls in our previous studies (64;157). To do so, we examined the influence of promoter polymorphisms on brain gene expression as well as in reporter gene assays. Epigenetic differences are another important source of non-coding functional variations, and alterations in the patterns of both CpG methylation and histone modifications in gene promoter regions have been associated with a number of psychiatric disorders, including suicide (32;37-39;42;43). To determine if methylation is involved in determining the levels of expression of SMS and SMOX, we characterized promoter CpG methylation patterns and levels of trimethylated histone-3-lysine 27 (H3K27me3) in the prefrontal cortex from a sample of suicide completers and healthy controls.

Materials and Methods

1.0 Genotyping

1.1 Subjects

Our sample consisted of 96 male French-Canadians. This sample included brain tissues obtained from 40 subjects, comprised of 14 healthy controls, 10 nondepressed, and 16 depressed suicide completers. These samples were obtained from the Quebec Suicide Brain Bank, and the cause of death was assessed by the Quebec Coroner's office. The remaining 56 subjects were obtained from a cohort of individuals representative of the Quebec general population (described in (435)).

Psychiatric diagnoses of brain tissue donors were obtained using the psychological autopsy method with the Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV Axis I (SCID-I) (480), as described elsewhere (528). Individuals from the cohort analyzed in this study were free of psychopathology and history of suicidal behavior as assessed by a large number of instruments and measures (435).

Written informed consent was obtained for each subject or next of kin, as applicable. This study was approved by our local institutional review board.

1.2 Analysis of Polymorphisms

We defined the promoter regions of SMS (NM_004595) and SMOX (NM_175842) as comprising the sequence spanning 5000-bp upstream from the transcription start site (TSS) to 500-bp into the first intron. SNPs from these regions were selected from public databases including the National Centre for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov), Ensembl (www.ensembl.org), and HapMap (www.hapmap.org).

Genomic DNA was extracted from blood, saliva, or frozen brain tissue using standard procedures (483), and SNP genotyping was performed using the SNaPShot method with an ABI Prism 3100 Genetic Analyzer (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Genotypes were determined using GeneMapper, version 3.7 (Applied Biosystems). Linkage disequilibrium (LD) and Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium were assessed using Haploview version 4.1 (529).

2.0 Expression

2.1 Correlation of Expression with Genotype

Microarray analyses were performed on the 40 brain tissue donors described above in brain regions BA 8/9, BA 47, and the hippocampus. We focused on these regions as previous work indicates polyaminergic dysregulation in prefrontal tissues and the hippocampus in suicide (64;157). RNA quality was assessed using an Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA). RNA samples used for analysis possessed A260/A280 > 1.9 and 28S/18S rRNA peak height ratios > 1.6. Samples were analysed using the HG-U133 A/B set, and GeneChip analysis was performed with Microarray Analysis Suite version 5.0 (MAS 5), Data Mining Tool 2.0. All genes were globally normalized and scaled to a signal intensity of 100. RNA quality indicators used to filter samples prior to analysis included β -actin 5'/3' ratio, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase 5'/3' ratio, RawQ (noise), scale factor and percent of "present" calls per array. Outlier subjects were excluded in regions where they did not pass quality standards.

In order to determine if promoter haplotypes were related to brain expression, ANOVAs were performed with log_2 -transformed expression values from probesets 202043_s_at (SMS) and 210357_s_at (SMOX) (www.Affymetrix.com) and haplotypes determined through genotyping, P-values were corrected for 3 tests, with corrected P \leq 0.05 considered significant.

2.2 Cell Culture

Dual-reporter gene assays were performed in three different cell lines: COS7 (green monkey kidney), HTB15 (human glio/astrocytoma), and CRL2137 (human neuroblastoma) (American Type Culture Collection, Manassas, VA). All cultures were maintained at 37°C with 5% CO₂, and grown in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, Gibco, Canada) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (Gibco), 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (Gibco).

2.3 Cloning

A 2.1-kb region of SMS and a 1.4-kb region of SMOX were cloned into the pGL3 Basic Luciferase Reporter Vector (Promega, Madison, MI), upstream of the firefly luciferase gene. These regions are depicted in Fig 2B and 3B, and primer sequences are shown in the Supplementary Table S1. All inserts were sequenced.

2.4 Transfection and Dual-Reporter Gene Assays

Cells were seeded into 24-well plates and grown at 37°C for 24 hours to reach 90-95% confluency. Transfections were then performed using either

Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen, Canada) or GeneJuice (Novagen, Canada) systems, as appropriate for each cell line. Each well was treated with equivalent amounts of DNA for each of the vectors of interest, as well as with an internal control vector coding for renilla luciferase, pRL (Promega). Cells were grown for an additional 24 hours at 37°C prior to assaying luciferase activity. Reporter gene expression was measured using the Dual-Luciferase Assay system (Promega) using an Orion II Microluminometer (Berthold, Canada). Each vector was analyzed in triplicate within individual experiments, and three independent experiments were performed for each cell line. Firefly luciferase expression values were normalized to those of the internal control. ANOVAs and unpaired Student's *t*-tests between haplotypes were performed, with P \leq 0.05 considered significant.

3.0 Methylation in BA 8/9

3.1 Subjects

A subset of 20 subjects taken from our 40 brain samples was examined, and comprised 10 control subjects and 10 suicide completers. Subjects were matched for age, post-mortem interval, and pH.

3.2 CpG Methylation Mapping

Genomic DNA from BA 8/9 was extracted as above, then treated and purified with the Qiagen EpiTect Bisulfite kit. Bisulfite-treated DNA was amplified by polymerase chain reaction (PCR) using primers shown in the Supplementary Material. PCR products were purified with the GenElute PCR Clean-up Kit (Sigma-Aldrich), ligated into the pDRIVE vector and transformed into EZ Competent cells (PCR Cloning Plus Kit, Qiagen). Plasmids were extracted and sequenced using primers SMS-ep-R2 or SMOX-ep-R3. Using percentages of CpG methylation, unpaired Student's *t*-tests and Pearson correlations were used to analyze differences between groups as well as determine the relationship between methylation and expression in BA 8/9, and P-values were corrected for the number of methylated CpG sites in each gene.

3.3 Chromatin Immunoprecipitation of H3K27me3

Immunoprecipitated DNA was prepared as described by Matevossian and Akbarian (548). Briefly, tissue from BA 8/9 was treated with micrococcal nuclease (Sigma-Aldrich), which cleaves DNA between adjacent nucleosomes. Intact nucleosomes were extracted, and a portion of sample was treated with anti-trimethyl-H3-lysine 27 antibody (Upstate Biotechnology, New York), while the remainder was used as an input control. The antibody-treated sample was purified and both input and bound fractions were digested with protease before DNA was purified. Quantitative real time PCR (RT-PCR) using SYBR green (Applied Biosystems) was used to measure DNA in each sample, in quadruplicate. Relative quantitation was performed with β -actin as an endogenous control, and ratios of bound:input were calculated for each subject. Student's *t*-tests and Pearson correlations were used to analyze differences between groups and the relationship between methylation and expression in BA 8/9.

Results

We previously observed altered expression of SMS and SMOX in several brain regions of suicide completers (64;157). In order to identify molecular mechanisms that may be involved in determining the expression levels of these transcripts, we examined genetic polymorphisms in the promoter regions of these two genes and their relationship to expression in the brain and *in vitro*, as well as assessed methylation at both the level of DNA and histones.

Genotyping:

Our first objective was to characterize the haplotype structures of SMS and SMOX in order to identify haplotypes which may be involved in determining expression in the brain. To this end, we genotyped six and fourteen SNPs in the promoter regions of SMS and SMOX, respectively.

The results for SMS are shown in Fig 2. SMS is located on the X chromosome, and as an all-male sample was used in this study, only one allele was observed in each subject. All of the SNPs but rs7066893 were genotyped as part of the HapMap project (440). Two SNPs, rs7066303 and rs7062138 showed no variability in this sample. The other four SNPs produced three haplotypes, as shown in Fig 2D. The LD structure is shown in Fig 2E, and reveals that both pairs of non-adjacent SNPs are in LD with each other.

The results for SMOX are depicted in Fig 3. Eight of these SNPs (rs1741289, rs6052399, rs6139327, rs1741291, rs2422915, rs7265946, rs945772, and rs945771) were genotyped in Hap Map populations (440). No variability was observed at rs7265946, and only one subject possessed the alternate allele at rs6139327. Four haplotypes were identified with a frequency of at least 5% in our population, and represented approximately 96% of all alleles. The LD structure is shown in Fig 2E. Two major haplotype blocks were observed, comprising rs1741289 to rs1764998, and rs6052399 to rs945771. Interestingly, rs1631654 is included as part of the second block. Most of the variability at this locus is found in the first LD block, with only two major haplotypes being found in the second.

Brain Expression:

Our next step was to determine if promoter haplotypes were related to expression levels of SMS and SMOX in the brain. We examined brain regions BA 8/9, BA 47, and the hippocampus as these regions are implicated to be involved in psychiatric disorders (482). In order to determine the relationship between promoter haplotypes and expression, ANOVAs were performed between expression levels and haplotypes of SMS (Table 1) and SMOX (not shown). We found no association between haplotype and expression for either gene in any of the regions, which suggests that promoter haplotypes may not be responsible for the differential expression of SMS or SMOX in suicide completers.

Dual Reporter Gene Assays:

To further investigate the functional impact of promoter variability on gene expression, we performed dual reporter gene assays to examine the relative promoter activities of the major haplotypes from both genes.

We selected a 2.1-kb region of SMS, as shown in Fig 2B. The region contains 158-bp of exon 1, including the translation start site, as well as all four polymorphic SNPs. Two individuals for each haplotype were sequenced in order to identify additional SNPs in LD with the genotyped SNPs. This revealed two additional SNPs, of which one, rs34507903, has been previously identified. Based upon these results, the three haplotypes examined were TCACGA (haplotype 1), TTACAG (haplotype 2), and CTCAAG (haplotype 3), of which underlined SNPs represent those genotyped in our sample. One vector from each haplotype, as well as the empty pGL3 vector, were used to transfect COS7, HTB15, and CRL2137 cells. As shown in Fig 4A, all constructs had promoter activity compared to the empty pGL3 vector, with average fold changes (FC) of 4.1, 1.8, and 11.6 for COS7, HTB15, and CRL2137, respectively. There were significant differences between haplotypes in COS7 cells (ANOVA P = 0.04). In this case, haplotype 2 was expressed significantly higher than haplotype 1 (FC = 1.15, P = 0.007) and haplotype 3 (FC = 1.18, P = 0.04). This partially agrees with our findings in the brain, where haplotype 1 demonstrated the lowest expression levels. There were no significant differences in HTB15 or CRL2137 cell lines (P = 0.69 and 0.39), which suggests that the haplotype effects may be cell-type specific. Alternatively, as the FCs were relatively small, differences in the other cell lines may have been masked by the increased variability between replicates in these assays.
We analyzed a 1.4-kb region of SMOX, which contains all of the upstream sequence studied by Wang and colleagues (558). This region is shown in Fig 3B, and contains three of the variable SNPs from the second LD block, giving two haplotypes: CGC (haplotype 1) and GTG (haplotype 4). Sequencing of this region did not reveal any additional SNPs. The results for the two haplotypes are shown in Fig 4B. Both constructs demonstrated promoter activity, with FC of 88.5, 4.0, and 36.7 in COS7, HTB15, and CRL2137 cells, respectively. However, there were no significant differences between the two haplotypes in any of the cell lines examined (P = 0.70, 0.61, and 0.84).

CpG Methylation:

Another possible mechanism for regulation of gene expression is by epigenetic control, which is mediated through different mechanisms, an important one being promoter methylation at CG dinucleotides (559). In order to determine if CpG methylation was involved in the differential expression of SMS and SMOX in suicide, we analyzed CpG methylation in ten suicide completers and ten healthy controls. This analysis was performed in BA 8/9, as previous studies have identified the prefrontal cortex as being an important source of differential patterns of CpG methylation in suicide (32;38;39).

We examined the 741-bp region of SMS shown in Fig 2C. This region has a 62% GC content, and contains all of exon 1 as well as 567-bp of upstream sequence. The results for methylation at individual CpG sites are shown in Fig 5A. Overall, there was a low level of methylation, with an average of 2.4% at all CpG sites. Five sites were completely unmethylated, and the majority of other sites were methylated in less than 5% of all clones. The main exception was the site at -471, which was methylated in 36% of clones. There was no difference in overall methylation between suicide completers and controls (P = 0.57), nor was methylation at any individual sites significant after correcting for multiple testing. We also assessed the relationship between methylation and expression of SMS in

BA 8/9. These results are shown in Fig 5B. We found no relationship between expression and methylation overall (P = 0.57), or at specific sites.

The 566-bp region of SMOX is shown in Fig 3C, and has a 72% GC content. The results for each site are shown in Fig 6A. As with SMS, this region was only sparsely methylated, with an average of 3.1% methylation. We did not identify any relationship between methylation and promoter haplotypes. Similar to SMS, there were no differences in either overall (P = 0.92), or site-specific methylation between suicide completers and control subjects, nor was there a significant correlation between overall methylation and expression of SMOX in BA 8/9 (P = 0.19). As shown in Fig 6B, we found a significant correlation between methylation at only one site (+73-bp, corrected P = 0.035, Pearson = -0.7).

Histone-3-Lysine-27 Methylation:

Histone modifications are another important form of epigenetic regulation. We chose to focus on tri-methylated H3K27, a modification which is associated with gene repression when found in promoter regions (545), and which we recently found to display increased levels in the promoter region of the TrkB receptor in the prefrontal cortex of suicide completers (44). We examined levels of H3K27me3 in the promoter regions of SMS and SMOX in BA 8/9 from the same 20 subjects used for the CpG methylation study. The results of these experiments are depicted in Fig 7. We found no significant differences between levels of H3K27 methylation at the promoter region of SMS (P = 0.80) or SMOX (P = 0.89) in suicide completers compared to controls. In addition, there was no relationship between H3K27 methylation for either gene (not shown).

Discussion

In this study, we followed up on our previous findings of differential expression of SMS and SMOX in the brains of suicide completers by examining the role of both genetic and epigenetic factors in determining the expression of these two genes.

We identified three major promoter haplotypes in SMS, however we found no relationship between haplotypes and expression in the brain, and differential expression of the haplotypes was only observed in one cell line. We also saw no relationship between brain expression and either of the epigenetic mechanisms we examined. Promoter CpG methylation in SMS has previously been examined in bipolar disorder, although findings were inconclusive, and, in agreement with our results, methylation was not found to be significantly correlated with SMS expression (560).

The overall percentage CpG methylation and levels of H3K27me3 in the promoter region of SMS did not differ between suicide completers and controls, although this is not overly surprising as we saw no differences in expression between these two groups in BA 8/9. We also found no indication that promoter haplotypes were involved in the increased expression of SMS in the hippocampus of depressed suicide completers.

The haplotype structure of SMOX was more complex than that of SMS. We were unable to identify any relationship between various haplotypes and the expression of SMOX in prefrontal brain regions. However the complexity at this locus and the fact that unlike SMS, individuals possessed two alleles at each SNP, may have prevented us from identifying any small magnitude effects. Nonetheless, it does appear unlikely that the second LD block plays a role in determining expression under normal conditions, as there were no significant differences between the two haplotypes in this block in reporter gene assays. However, this region has previously been shown to be responsive to polyamine analogues (558), and it remains possible that the two haplotypes may differ in their ability to induce SMOX expression in the presence of polyamines.

We also examined CpG methylation of the promoter region of SMOX and found that methylation at one CpG site in exon 1 was significantly negatively correlated with expression, which could indicate that this site plays a regulatory role in determining transcription levels. As with SMS, we did not identify any significant differences in CpG or H3K27 methylation in the promoter region of SMOX between suicides and controls. Interestingly, SMOX has been observed to display monoallelic expression in a human cell line (561), which could have obscured the effects of genetic and epigenetic factors involved in determining expression.

Overall, we failed to identify molecular mechanisms with significant effects in determining the levels of SMS and SMOX transcripts, and which could explain the differential expression of these genes in suicide completers. Although we found little evidence for a role for genetic polymorphisms in determining transcript levels, this study focused only on SNPs within the upstream promoter regions of these genes. Introns also play important functions in regulating levels of gene transcripts by providing additional sites for transcriptional regulatory elements, influencing alternative splicing and nonsense mediated mRNA decay, and allowing export of mRNA to the nucleus (562): and each of these mechanisms may be influenced by polymorphisms in these genes. In addition to their regulation at the level of gene transcription, sequences in the processed transcript can affect RNA stability and rates of degradation. Indeed, SMOX mRNA has been found to be stabilized by polyamine analogues (558), indicating the importance of post-transcriptional mechanisms in regulating levels of SMOX transcripts.

Although we found no evidence for a role of H3K27 methylation in determining the expression levels of SMS or SMOX, numerous other histone modifications are known to play a role in regulating various aspects of transcription (549). Indeed, the expression of two polyamine metabolic genes, ornithine aminotransferase and μ -crystallin, has previously been shown to be influenced by elevated methylation at H3-arginine 17 in prefrontal cortices of schizophrenia patients (42). We thus cannot rule out the possibility that

modifications at the chromatin level are involved in regulating the expression of SMS or SMOX.

There are a number of possible limitations that should be considered. Our study was conducted in a sample composed exclusively of French Canadians, a population with a well-documented founder effect (450). It is therefore possible that the frequency and properties of the haplotypes investigated in this study are different in other populations. Similarly, as this study was performed in only male subjects, the applicability of these results to females is unclear, particularly as SMS is found on the X chromosome. Although the subjects used for the epigenetic studies were matched for age, pH and PMI, it is possible that additional factors may have confounded our results. It is equally possible that the sample investigated in this study lacked power to detect methylation effects of discrete magnitude.

In summary, we found little evidence to support roles for either genetic or epigenetic factors in regulating the expression of SMS and SMOX. It is clear that additional mechanisms are involved in determining the levels of SMS and SMOX transcripts in the brain, and further work will be required to identify factors responsible for the dysregulated expression of these genes in suicide completers.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by the Canadian Institute of Health Research (CIHR) MOP 79253. GT is a Fonds de la recherche en santé du Québec (FRSQ) chercheur boursier. LMF received a scholarship from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC).

Figures



Figure 1: Polyamine synthesis and interconversion pathways. Ac: acetyl, AGMAT: agmatinase, AMD1: S-adenosylmethionine (SAM) decarboxylase, dcSAM: decarboxylated SAM, MTA: 5' methylthioadenosine, ODC: ornithine decarboxylase, PAO: polyamine oxidase, SAT1: spermidine/spermine N¹-acetyltransferase, SMOX: spermine oxidase, SMS: spermine synthase, SRM: spermidine synthase.



Figure 2: Regions and polymorphisms of the SMS promoter analyzed in this study. (a) Location and sequences at polymorphic sites. Exon 1 is shaded in black, and the translation start site is indicated. (b) Region analyzed for reporter gene assays. SNPs with stars were identified during sequencing of this region. (c) Region analyzed for CpG methylation. (d) Haplotypes and frequencies of genotyped polymorphisms. (e) Linkage disequilibrium between polymorphisms plotted as r^2 .



Figure 3: Regions and polymorphisms of the SMOX promoter analyzed in this study. (a) Location and sequences at polymorphic sites. Exon 1 is shaded in black. (b) Region analyzed for reporter gene assays. (c) Region analyzed for CpG methylation. (d) Haplotypes and frequencies of genotyped polymorphisms. (e) Linkage disequilibrium between polymorphisms plotted as r^2 .



Figure 4: Results from reporter gene studies in COS7, HTB15, and CRL2137 cell lines. Normalized relative light units/second (RLU/s) and standard errors were obtained from triplicate replications of each assay. (a) SMS haplotype 1 (black), haplotype 2 (white), haplotype 3 (grey), and empty pGL3 (striped), and (b) SMOX haplotype 1 (black), haplotype 4 (white), and empty pGL3 (grey).



Figure 5: Methylation of CpG sites in the promoter region of SMS. Sites are shown as position relative to the transcription start site. (a) Percentage methylation + SEM for suicide completers (black) and controls (grey). (b) Pearson correlation (grey bars) and $-\log_{10}$ P-values (solid black line) for correlation of percentage methylation with SMS expression. The dotted line indicates corrected P = 0.05.



Figure 6: Methylation of CpG sites in the promoter region of SMOX. Sites are shown as position relative to the transcription start site. (a) Percentage methylation + SEM for suicide completers (black) and controls (grey). (b) Pearson correlation (grey bars) and $-\log_{10}$ P-values (solid black line) for correlation of percentage methylation with SMOX expression. The dotted line indicates corrected P = 0.05.



Figure 7: Methylation of H3K27 in the promoter regions of SMS and SMOX. Methylation + SEM for controls (grey) and suicides (black) are expressed as the ratio of immunoprecipitated DNA to input DNA.

Tables

Table 1: Relationship between haplotype and brain expression of SMS. Corrected ANOVA P-values and mean log_2 -expression are shown for subjects with each haplotype.

	_	Haplotype		
Region	ANOVA	1	2	3
BA 8/9	0.09	7.42	7.70	7.86
BA 47	0.14	7.29	7.47	7.55
hippocampus	0.85	7.13	6.89	7.24

BA: Brodmann area.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Overall Findings and Implications:

When the studies contained within this thesis were first initiated, our knowledge regarding the involvement of the polyamine system in suicide was restricted to three gene expression studies demonstrating altered expression of a few polyamine-related genes in the brains of suicide completers (64;157;204), and one study showing a significant association between a polymorphism in the promoter region of one of these genes and completed suicide (204). Given that altered expression of the polyamine gene SAT1 was among the most significant findings arising from our gene expression studies of suicide, and that the involvement of the polyamine system had not been previously suspected in suicide, we were greatly interested in expanding our knowledge regarding the role of this system in the neurobiology of psychiatric disorders. To address this issue, a series of experiments were designed in order to examine concepts related to the extent by which polyamine and related metabolic pathways are affected in the brains of suicide completers, if the polyamine system may also be implicated in other psychiatric conditions, and to identify the molecular mechanisms responsible for the dysregulated expression of polyamine-related genes in suicide.

The study described in Chapter 2.1 was primarily designed to address the first research question in order to characterize the extent by which polyamine and related metabolic pathways display differential gene expression in the brains of suicide completers. While our previous microarray experiments had examined only a few brain regions, and assessed gene expression across the entire transcriptome, this study greatly increased the coverage of the brain, and preselected probesets related to polyamine metabolism in order to reduce the amount of required statistical corrections. The overwhelming conclusions arising from this study were that the expression of genes related to polyamine metabolism was extensively altered in suicide completers, and that the downregulated expression of SAT1 remained one of the most pervasive changes observed in brains of

suicide completers. Moreover, we identified altered expression of four genes, AMD1, OAZ1, OAZ2, and ARG2, which play essential roles in the early steps of polyamine biosynthesis. These results were particularly interesting given that among our previously-identified genes, SAT1, SMOX, and SMS all act at higher steps in polyamine metabolism. Thus, not only did these new findings confirm our previous results for SAT1, SMOX, and SMS, but they also demonstrated that alterations in polyamine metabolism are found at all levels of biosynthesis and catabolism. Additionally, this study identified dysregulated expression of several genes related more distally to polyamine metabolism, indicating that altered expression of polyamine metabolism does not occur in isolation. Rather, it comprises one part of a network of arginine- and proline-related metabolic genes which are dysregulated in suicide completers.

While both our previous results and those in Chapter 2.1 examined the involvement of the polyamine system in suicide completers, the studies described in Chapter 1.3 strongly suggested that alterations to the polyamine system may be characteristic of a variety of psychiatric conditions. The experiments described in Chapter 2.2 were thus designed to examine the relationship between genetic variants in polyamine-related genes and a variety of psychiatric conditions including suicide attempts, mood disorders, and anxiety disorders - and subsequently to characterize how these effects may be mediated by environmental or psychological variables. Each of the four genes examined, SAT1, SMS, SMOX, and OATL1, displayed significant associations to at least one of the main outcomes, and we observed evidence of several gene-environment and gene-gene interactions. Interestingly, the results for SAT1 indicated that the minor allele of rs6526342, which was previously associated with completed suicide, was associated with higher rates of mood disorders yet lower rates of anxiety disorders. As our previous results for this SNP found a lower proportion of the minor allele in suicide completers, these results indicate distinct roles of SAT1 in these conditions. Overall, this study established that alterations in the polyamine system are not constrained to completed suicide, but that they are also involved in conferring risk for attempted suicide, as well as mood and anxiety disorders.

These findings indicate that the involvement of the polyamine system in suicide is complex, and that alterations in polyamine metabolism reflect a combination of factors related to suicidal behaviors and co-morbid psychiatric conditions. However, these findings also offer hope that treatment of polyamine-related perturbations may not only reduce or prevent suicidal behaviors, but may also ameliorate symptoms associated with other psychiatric conditions.

The findings from the first two studies indicated that not only is altered polyamine metabolism part of a larger network of metabolic genes displaying dysregulated expression in suicide, but it also plays a role in a variety of psychiatric conditions. Intriguingly, several of our initially-identified genes, as well as a number of other genes which have previously been associated with suicidal behaviors, are located on the X chromosome. Our next question was therefore to determine if our findings of alterations in the expression of polyamine-related genes could be extended to proximally located genes, as they may be subject to similar factors regulating their expression. Moreover, we hypothesized that the X chromosome was a strong candidate for genes which could be involved in the large gender differences associated with attempted and completed suicide. The study described in Chapter 2.3 was therefore undertaken as a means to identify chromosomal locations harbouring genetic risk factors associated with suicide completion, and to determine if genes found within these regions display differential expression in the brain (31). Not only did this study accomplish both these objectives, but it also demonstrated that two of the polyamine-related genes on the X chromosome, SAT1 and SMS, are found within regions strongly associated with suicide. These results provided even further support for the involvement of these two genes in suicide, and suggested that factors related to their differential expression may lie in nearby chromosomal locations.

Arising from the studies in Chapter 2 was the notion that not only are genes related to polyamine metabolism differentially expressed in the brains of suicide completers, but that these alterations in polyamine metabolism likely result from the effects of specific genetic variations combined with developmental and environmental factors. Our next objective was to elucidate the mechanisms by which these genetic and environmental factors are involved in conferring risk for suicide and other psychiatric disorders, as these represent important targets for treatment as well as potential biomarkers for these conditions. With this in mind, we undertook the studies described in Chapters 3 and 4 in order to identify and characterize genetic and epigenetic factors which may be involved in influencing the expression of SAT1 (Chapter 3), SMS, and SMOX (Chapter 4).

Given the widespread decreases in SAT1 expression across the brains of suicide completers, as well our previous association study and the genetic findings from Chapters 2.2 and 2.3, this gene appeared to be an ideal candidate to harbour important genetic factors directly influencing its expression. Additionally, given that the effects of a number of SAT1 SNPs appeared to be related to environmental influences on the risk for mood disorders, we were also interested in assessing the effect of epigenetic factors on SAT1. The three studies described in Chapter 3 were thus aimed towards elucidating the genetic and epigenetic factors associated with SAT1 expression and understanding the mechanisms by which they exert their effects. Overall, these studies highlighted the involvement of both genetic and epigenetic mechanisms in regulating SAT1 expression, as well as provided a functional link through which the SNPs associated with psychopathology exert their phenotypic effects. Promoter haplotypes were identified which were directly involved in controlling SAT1 expression, and three specific promoter variants responsible for these effects were uncovered (207). Of particular interest was the finding that the minor allele of rs6526342 was on the higher-expressing haplotype, indicating that the lower percentage of this allele in suicide completers may be involved in the decreased expression of SAT1 in the brain. These results also suggested that similar effects may be at play in individuals with anxiety disorders, whereas the opposite effect could be involved in mood disorders. One of the variants on this haplotype, an insertion/deletion of 15 adenine residues, appeared to play a particularly important role in determining SAT1 expression, and was found to be significantly associated with suicide completion in the context of depressive disorders (208). However, it was not

significant when examined in subjects with a mixture of Axis I disorders. It is quite possible that the effect of this insertion/deletion may be stronger in subjects with mood disorders due to the fact that the opposite allele represents the risk allele for these disorders. Although the insertion/deletion was sufficient to determine SAT1 expression in both haplotypes, two other variants, rs6526342 and rs928931, displayed haplotype-specific effects. It was thus of great interest that rs6526342, rs928931, as well as another SNP on this haplotype, rs1960264, generate sites for CpG methylation. Investigation of epigenetic modifications of the promoter region demonstrated that CpG methylation had a significant negative effect on SAT1 expression in the brain, and that rs6526342 and rs1960264 were both highly methylated. Neither levels of the overall CpG methylation nor the H3K27me3 modification were significantly different in suicide completers, although these results may also be due to insufficient statistical power. Indeed, methylation at several specific CpG sites, including rs6526342, displayed a trend for increased levels in suicide completers, which may be involved in the downregulation of SAT1 expression. Altogether, the studies in Chapter 3 provided considerable insight into the molecular mechanisms regulating expression of SAT1, which in turn resulted in a greater understanding of the means through which genetic factors in SAT1 associated with psychiatric conditions may act to confer these phenotypes.

Given the strong evidence regarding the role of genetic and epigenetic factors in regulating SAT1 expression, the next objective was to determine if these represented common mechanisms for the dysregulation of the polyamine system in suicide completers. As both SMS and SMOX displayed consistent findings across microarray experiments as well as strong associations with mood and anxiety disorders, these two genes were selected for the study described in Chapter 4 (392). Although these experiments did serve to better characterize the genetic and epigenetic landscapes of the promoter regions of these two genes, there appeared to be relatively little influence of promoter haplotypes, CpG methylation, or H3K27me3 on influencing gene expression. In some respects, it is not overly surprising that SMS and SMOX do not display the same strong genetic

and epigenetic regulation as SAT1, given that while SAT1 demonstrates a widespread downregulation across the entire brain of suicide completers, the differential expression of SMS and SMOX is constrained to only a few brain regions. While it remains possible that genetic or epigenetic regulators of SMS or SMOX expression do exist but are located outside of the regions examined in this study, it is equally possible that their differential expression is due to other factors in those brain regions, such as altered expression of various transcription factors, microRNAs, or other compounds such as the polyamines themselves.

In addition to the studies described in this thesis, we recently developed and validated several methods to allow for the accurate quantitation of polyamine levels in post-mortem brain tissues (563;564). Using gas chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry in several brain regions obtained from suicide completers and healthy controls, we found that suicide completers displayed elevated levels of putrescine and spermidine (209), as well as decreased levels of agmatine (Chen et.al., In Preparation). While these methods are not capable of distinguishing between free and bound polyamines, nor can they indicate where in the cell the polyamine levels are altered, they strongly support the concept that dysregulated expression of polyamine-related genes has direct effects on polyamine levels, and that changes in cellular polyamine profiles may have important consequences on polyamine targets.

Our initial results regarding the decreased expression of SAT1 and SMOX, combined with the elevated expression of SMS, had been theorized to result in increased levels of the higher polyamines with a concomitant decrease of lower polyamines such as putrescine and agmatine. This concept became less clear when combined with the newer gene expression results in which elevated expression of AMD1 and ARG2 would have been expected to increase polyamine biosynthesis whereas elevated expression of the ODC antizymes, OAZ1 and OAZ2, should have decreased conversion of ornithine to putrescine. Our measurements of agmatine, putrescine, and spermidine indicate that the picture is even more complicated. Although measurements of spermine and ornithine will be required to gain a more complete profile, it seems clear that while some of the

alterations in gene expression are involved in the etiology of suicide, others likely represent compensatory mechanisms.

Putative Mechanisms:

Given the extensive and diverse cellular functions of the polyamines, it is difficult to pinpoint their precise roles in the etiology and pathology of psychiatric disorders. Moreover, given that the polyamine system has been implicated in a variety of psychiatric conditions, it seems likely that multiple downstream effects of altered polyamine metabolism are relevant, and that these act in conjunction with other systems involved in suicide, schizophrenia, mood disorders, and anxiety disorders to produce each specific phenotype. It is evident that while alterations in the polyamine system likely have direct functional consequences on polyamine-influenced systems, indirect functions, such as those arising from dysregulated expression of genes more distally related to polyamine metabolism, are also relevant. This section discusses several potential mechanisms by which alterations in polyamine metabolism may be involved in the development and neurobiology of suicide and other psychiatric disorders.

Among the direct effects of the polyamines, their involvement in influencing the electrophysiological properties of NMDARs has been among the best-studied neurobiological function of the polyamine system. The role of these receptors in schizophrenia and depression continues to gain support, and dysregulated expression of genes related to glutamatergic neurotransmission has been among the most consistent findings in gene expression studies of suicide completers. Alterations in polyamine concentrations may have an important effect on transmission through NMDARs, and the antidepressant effects of putrescine, agmatine, and NMDAR antagonists which act through the polyamine binding site lend support to the involvement of this mechanism in suicide and other psychiatric conditions. In addition, spermidine has been shown to inhibit the binding of haloperidol, ifenprodil, trifluperidol, and spiperone to NMDARs (342;343), which may be relevant for treatment responses. NMDARs also play essential functions in learning and memory, and many studies have shown that experimental manipulation of polyamine levels has direct effects on memory tasks through glutamatergic neurotransmission, which appear to be particularly relevant for anxiety-like behaviors (565;566).

GABAergic neurotransmission has also been among the pathways which have been consistently implicated in gene expression studies of suicide, and this system has been shown to be influenced by the polyamines. Functioning of GABA receptors has been shown to be modulated by spermine, possibly through an inhibition of receptor desensitization (217). While the binding of GABA itself does not appear to be altered by polyamines (216), binding of diazepam, a positive allosteric modulator of GABA receptors, is potentiated by putrescine, spermidine, and spermine (215;216). In addition, polyamine catabolism can lead to synthesis of GABA through reactions involving diamine oxidase or monoamine oxidase (341), thus indicating the potential for a direct connection between alterations in polyamine metabolic enzymes and GABAergic functioning.

The catecholamine systems also appear to be influenced by the polyamines. Polyamine depletion decreases adrenal concentrations of dopamine, epinephrine and norepinephrine (210), while polyamine administration produces effects, including behavioral sedation, cortical synchronization, and inhibition of methamphetamine-induced behavior, which are similar to those observed with the classical neuroleptics whose therapeutic effects result primarily from their modulation of dopamine neurotransmission (213). Evidence indicates that the polyamines also act on dopaminergic pathways but through different mechanisms than the neuroleptics, such that polyamine administration produces effects on the mesolimbic dopamine system similar to that of dopamine receptor antagonists, but without the effects on striatal dopamine functions typically seen with neuroleptics (211). Spermine has been shown to inhibit the binding of cocaine to dopamine transporters, with kinetics suggesting a non-competitive interaction with the ligand binding site (212). Finally, some of the antidepressant effects of agmatine involve α 2-adrenoceptors (221;222).

There is also evidence supporting a connection between the polyamines and serotonergic neurotransmission, although these effects appear largely constrained to agmatine. Specifically, the antidepressant effects of agmatine involve several serotonin receptors (223), and modulation of imidazoline receptors by agmatine has been implicated in the antidepressant effects of SSRIs (567). While extracellular spermine and spermidine have been shown to block the hyperpolarization-activated transient current of serotonin transporters, this effect was only observed at high polyamine concentrations, suggesting that this effect may not be significant *in vivo* (568). Furthermore, the binding of paroxetine to the serotonin transporter was not affected by spermine, suggesting that the polyamines have little influence on serotonin reuptake (212).

The nitric oxide pathway may also represent an important site for the involvement of dysregulated polyamine metabolism in psychiatric conditions. This pathway has been implicated in several psychiatric disorders, including schizophrenia, depression, panic disorder, and suicide (299;569-571), and is directly related to polyamine metabolism through arginine. Indeed, induction of arginase activity has been shown to decrease nitric oxide synthesis by increasing polyamine biosynthesis (416), and agmatine has been found to inhibit nitric oxide synthase (218). Given the importance of the nitric oxide system on other neurotransmitter systems (570;572;573), modulation of this pathway by polyamines and polyamine metabolism may have wide-reaching neurobiological consequences.

Finally, interactions between the polyamine system and imidazoline binding sites offer a particularly interesting mechanism by which altered polyamine metabolism may be involved in suicide. Although the existence of imidazoline binding sites has been recognized for several decades, efforts to characterize both the substrates and the receptors are ongoing. Nonetheless, it has been well established that these sites are distributed both peripherally and centrally, and are bound by a variety of substrates, including agmatine (193). Additionally, research has shown that imidazoline binding sites are involved in a variety of physiological effects, among which alterations in monoamine synthesis and neurotransmission

are particularly relevant for suicide and other psychiatric disorders (574). Indeed, alterations in imidazoline receptor binding sites have been implicated in depression and anxiety, and their importance in modulating behavioral stress responses has become accepted (575-577). Moreover, some of the antidepressant and anxiolytic effects of agmatine involve imidazoline receptors (226;366;567), strongly suggesting that imidazoline binding sites play meaningful roles in the relationship between polyamines and psychopathology.

Ancillary to their direct actions at specific receptors and other polyaminebinding sites, the polyamines play essential roles in a myriad of additional cellular functions. Considerable research has focused on their involvement in cellular growth, replication, and death, with particular emphasis on their roles in cancer (578). While suicide and other psychiatric conditions do not display such extreme alterations in cell numbers or function, numerous studies have demonstrated a variety of neuroanatomical changes associated with these disorders (482), and the importance of neurogenesis in the development and treatment of psychiatric disorders has been increasingly recognized (192;579). It is therefore of great interest that manipulation of the polyamine system produces significant effects on both central nervous system development and adult brain neurogenesis (328;580), and that variations in polyamine levels are associated with both pro- and antiapoptotic effects in neuronal cells (581;582). Several studies have found relationships connecting the neurogenic and neuroprotective effects of the polyamines with stress and depression (390;583;584), providing evidence that dysregulation of the polyamine system may act in part through these mechanisms.

While it is clear that there are numerous mechanisms by which alterations in polyamine metabolism may influence psychopathology by affecting the physiological functioning of the polyamines, it may also be proposed that some of the effects of altering their concentrations result from decreasing the availability of substrates for other pathways. The use of SAM in polyamine biosynthesis is of particular distinction given that this molecule is used as a methyl donor for production of several neurotransmitters and other important CNS molecules (369). Of further interest is the relationship between polyamine metabolism and epigenetic modifications, including DNA methylation and histone tail modifications, which also use SAM as the methyl donor (407-410).

Future Work:

Certainly the studies comprising this thesis have done much to expand our knowledge regarding the involvement of the polyamine system in suicide, as well as to extend these findings to other psychiatric conditions. However in doing so, they have also generated many new questions regarding how each aspect of dysregulated polyaminergic functioning interacts to confer the phenotypes examined in these studies, the precise molecular mechanisms involved and their downstream effects, and as importantly, the developmental sequence of molecular events that ultimately lead to these alterations. While addressing all of these questions represents a substantial undertaking, several of the more imperative issues are described here.

While the studies described above have demonstrated specific differences in gene expression and polyamine levels in suicide completers, we are still unable to clarify neither which among these represent pathological changes nor which reflect compensatory mechanisms. In addition to obtaining a more complete profile of the metabolic alterations occurring in the polyamine system, efforts must be undertaken to identify the location, both within the cell and in which type of cell, where these effects occur. Given the evidence for cell-type specific effects regarding both polyamine metabolism and storage, and the fact that the polyamines exert their functional effects at numerous intracellular and extracellular sites, addressing these questions is imperative for understanding how the polyamine system contributes to psychiatric phenotypes. In order to properly address these issues, experimental procedures which allow for a more precise examination of the polyamine system, such as *in vitro* hybridization, laser capture microdissection, and fluorescence-activated cell sorting, must be employed.

Another fundamental concept which must be addressed regards the trajectories by which specific genetic and environmental effects combine to

generate the alterations in polyamine metabolism observed in suicide completers. Identifying the developmental sequence of molecular events that occur along the route to completed suicide is invaluable, particularly as this knowledge could provide important information for identifying individuals at risk for completed suicide as well as potential avenues for therapeutic interventions. However, to address this issue poses significant experimental challenges as it requires the study of living subjects. One method to overcome this obstacle could be to identify peripheral markers of altered central polyamine metabolism, then to examine how these markers vary over time and in relation to specific clinical measures. Additionally, animal models could be used to identify metabolic alterations correlated with the development of particular psychological symptoms.

To add to these studies, additional investigations must be performed in order to elucidate the molecular mechanisms involved in the dysregulated expression of polyamine genes in suicide completers. While the studies described in this thesis point towards the involvement of several genetic and epigenetic factors in regulating the expression of SAT1, the mechanisms involved in the differential expression of other polyamine-related genes remain elusive. Moreover, additional studies are required to resolve how the specific SAT1 variants result in the differential expression of each haplotype. Examination of a variety of molecular mechanisms, including differential binding of transcription factors and regulation by microRNAs, in addition to further genetic and epigenetic studies, will be required to address these issues. Of further interest, one particularly fascinating finding which has emerged from our gene expression studies regards the significant and pervasive differential expression of the SAT1 probeset 230333 at, which maps to an intronic region between exons 3 and 4 of this gene. We are currently undertaking studies to identify the nature of this transcript and to examine the possible involvement of differential splicing of SAT1 in suicide completers. In addition to examining alterations in gene expression, studies examining the levels and functionality of the proteins themselves are imperative.

Finally, among the most interesting findings arising from the studies described herein has been the apparent disease-specificity regarding the polyamine system. While addressing this question is likely to involve a large variety of carefully-planned experiments, the studies described above will provide greater information regarding elements which should be both assessed and taken into consideration when investigating these topics.

REFERENCES

- Moussavi S, Chatterji S, Verdes E, Tandon A, Patel V, Ustun B (2007): Depression, chronic diseases, and decrements in health: results from the World Health Surveys. *Lancet* 370(9590): 851-858.
- 2. Nock MK, Borges G, Bromet EJ, Cha CB, Kessler RC, Lee S (2008): Suicide and suicidal behavior. *Epidemiologic Reviews* 30: 133-154.
- 3. Arsenault-Lapierre G, Kim C, Turecki G (2004): Psychiatric diagnoses in 3275 suicides: a meta-analysis. *BMC Psychiatry* 4: 37.
- Brent DA, Bridge J, Johnson BA, Connolly J (1996): Suicidal behavior runs in families. A controlled family study of adolescent suicide victims. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 53(12): 1145-1152.
- McGirr A, Alda M, Seguin M, Cabot S, Lesage A, Turecki G (2009): Familial Aggregation of Suicide Explained by Cluster B Traits: A Three-Group Family Study of Suicide Controlling for Major Depressive Disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 166(10): 1124-1134.
- McGuffin P, Marusic A, Farmer A (2001): What can psychiatric genetics offer suicidology? *Crisis* 22(2): 61-65.
- Statham DJ, Heath AC, Madden PA, Bucholz KK, Bierut L, Dinwiddie SH et al (1998): Suicidal behaviour: an epidemiological and genetic study. *Psychological Medicine* 28(4): 839-855.
- Fu Q, Heath AC, Bucholz KK, Nelson EC, Glowinski AL, Goldberg J *et al* (2002): A twin study of genetic and environmental influences on suicidality in men. *Psychological Medicine* 32(1): 11-24.
- 9. Fiori LM, Ernst C, Turecki G (2010): Genetic and Neurobiological Approaches to Understanding Suicidal Behaviors. In Nock MK, editor. *Oxford Handbook of Suicide and Self-Injury*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press.
- 10. Kallmann FJ, De Porte J, De Porte E, Feingold L (1949): Suicide in twins and only children. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 1(2): 113-126.

- Lewis ND (1933): Studies on Suicide: 1. Preliminary Survey of Some Significant Aspects of Suicide. *Psychoanalytic Review* 20: 241-273.
- Lewis ND (1934): Studies on Suicide: II. Some Comments on the Biological Aspects of Suicide. *Psychoanalytic Review* 21: 146-153.
- Barraclough B, Bunch J, Nelson B, Sainsbury P (1974): A hundred cases of suicide: clinical aspects. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 125(0): 355-373.
- 14. Woodruff RA, Clayton PJ, Guze SB (1972): Suicide attempts and psychiatric diagnosis. *Diseases of the Nervous System* 33(9): 617-621.
- 15. Murphy GE, Wetzel RD (1982): Family history of suicidal behavior among suicide attempters. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease* 170(2): 86-90.
- Roy A (1983): Family history of suicide. Archives of General Psychiatry 40(9): 971-974.
- Tsuang MT (1983): Risk of suicide in the relatives of schizophrenics, manics, depressives, and controls. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry* 44(11): 396-400.
- Egeland JA, Sussex JN (1985): Suicide and family loading for affective disorders. *JAMA* 254(7): 915-918.
- Kim CD, Seguin M, Therrien N, Riopel G, Chawky N, Lesage AD *et al* (2005): Familial aggregation of suicidal behavior: a family study of male suicide completers from the general population. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 162(5): 1017-1019.
- 20. Turecki G (2001): Suicidal behavior: is there a genetic predisposition? *Bipolar Disorders* 3(6): 335-349.
- Glowinski AL, Bucholz KK, Nelson EC, Fu Q, Madden PA, Reich W et al (2001): Suicide attempts in an adolescent female twin sample. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry* 40(11): 1300-1307.
- 22. Roy A, Segal NL, Centerwall BS, Robinette CD (1991): Suicide in twins. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 48(1): 29-32.

- Roy A, Segal NL, Sarchiapone M (1995): Attempted suicide among living co-twins of twin suicide victims. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 152(7): 1075-1076.
- 24. Segal NL, Roy A (1995): Suicide attempts in twins whose co-twins' deaths were non-suicides. *Personality and Individual Differences* 19(6): 937-940.
- Schulsinger F, Kety SS, Rosenthal D, Wender PH (1979): A family study of suicide. In Schou M, Stromgren E., editors. *Origin, prevention and treatment of affective disorders*. London: Academic Press, pp 277-287.
- Wender PH, Kety SS, Rosenthal D, Schulsinger F, Ortmann J, Lunde I (1986): Psychiatric disorders in the biological and adoptive families of adopted individuals with affective disorders. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 43(10): 923-929.
- 27. Von Borczyskowski A, Hjern A, Lindblad F, Vinnerljung B (2006): Suicidal behaviour in national and international adult adoptees: a Swedish cohort study. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology* 41(2): 95-102.
- Hesselbrock V, Dick D, Hesselbrock M, Foroud T, Schuckit M, Edenberg H et al (2004): The search for genetic risk factors associated with suicidal behavior. Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research 28(5 Suppl): 70S-76S.
- 29. Zubenko GS, Maher BS, Hughes HB, III, Zubenko WN, Scott Stiffler J, Marazita ML (2004): Genome-wide linkage survey for genetic loci that affect the risk of suicide attempts in families with recurrent, early-onset, major depression. *American Journal of Medical Genetics B Neuropsychiatric Genetics* 129(1): 47-54.
- 30. Cheng R, Juo SH, Loth JE, Nee J, Iossifov I, Blumenthal R *et al* (2006): Genome-wide linkage scan in a large bipolar disorder sample from the National Institute of Mental Health genetics initiative suggests putative loci for bipolar disorder, psychosis, suicide, and panic disorder. *Molecular Psychiatry* 11(3): 252-260.

- Fiori,LM, Zouk,H, Himmelman,C, and Turecki,G. X Chromosome and Suicide. *Molecular Psychiatry*. In Press.
- 32. Ernst C, Deleva V, Deng X, Sequeira A, Pomarenski A, Klempan T *et al* (2009): Alternative splicing, methylation state, and expression profile of tropomyosin-related kinase B in the frontal cortex of suicide completers. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 66(1): 22-32.
- Sequeira A, Mamdani F, Ernst C, Vawter MP, Bunney WE, Klempan T *et al* (2009): Global Brain Gene Expression Analysis Links Glutamatergic and GABAergic Alterations to Suicide and Major Depression. *PLoS ONE* 4(8): e6585.
- Sibille E, Arango V, Galfalvy HC, Pavlidis P, Erraji-Benchekroun L, Ellis SP *et al* (2004): Gene expression profiling of depression and suicide in human prefrontal cortex. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 29(2): 351-361.
- 35. Weaver IC, Cervoni N, Champagne FA, D'Alessio AC, Sharma S, Seckl JR *et al* (2004): Epigenetic programming by maternal behavior. *Nature Neuroscience* 7(8): 847-854.
- Rollins RA, Haghighi F, Edwards JR, Das R, Zhang MQ, Ju J et al (2006): Large-scale structure of genomic methylation patterns. *Genome Research* 16(2): 157-163.
- McGowan PO, Sasaki A, Huang TC, Unterberger A, Suderman M, Ernst C et al (2008): Promoter-wide hypermethylation of the ribosomal RNA gene promoter in the suicide brain. *PLoS ONE* 3(5): e2085.
- Poulter MO, Du L, Weaver IC, Palkovits M, Faludi G, Merali Z et al (2008): GABAA receptor promoter hypermethylation in suicide brain: implications for the involvement of epigenetic processes. *Biological Psychiatry* 64(8): 645-652.
- De Luca V, Viggiano E, Dhoot R, Kennedy JL, Wong AH (2009): Methylation and QTDT analysis of the 5-HT2A receptor 102C allele: Analysis of suicidality in major psychosis. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 43(5): 532-537.

- McGowan PO, Sasaki A, D'Alessio AC, Dymov S, Labonte B, Szyf M *et al* (2009): Epigenetic regulation of the glucocorticoid receptor in human brain associates with childhood abuse. *Nature Neuroscience* 12(3): 342-348.
- 41. Berger SL (2007): The complex language of chromatin regulation during transcription. *Nature* 447(7143): 407-412.
- 42. Akbarian S, Ruehl MG, Bliven E, Luiz LA, Peranelli AC, Baker SP *et al* (2005): Chromatin alterations associated with down-regulated metabolic gene expression in the prefrontal cortex of subjects with schizophrenia. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 62(8): 829-840.
- Huang HS, Akbarian S (2007): GAD1 mRNA expression and DNA methylation in prefrontal cortex of subjects with schizophrenia. *PLoS ONE* 2(8): e809.
- Ernst C, Chen ES, Turecki G (2009): Histone methylation and decreased expression of TrkB.T1 in orbital frontal cortex of suicide completers. *Molecular Psychiatry* 14(9): 830-832.
- 45. Brunner J, Bronisch T, Uhr M, Ising M, Binder E, Holsboer F et al (2005): Proteomic analysis of the CSF in unmedicated patients with major depressive disorder reveals alterations in suicide attempters. European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience 255(6): 438-440.
- Schlicht K, Buttner A, Siedler F, Scheffer B, Zill P, Eisenmenger W *et al* (2007): Comparative proteomic analysis with postmortem prefrontal cortex tissues of suicide victims versus controls. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 41(6): 493-501.
- 47. Nichols DE, Nichols CD (2008): Serotonin receptors. *Chemical Reviews* 108(5): 1614-1641.
- Arango V, Underwood MD, Mann JJ (1997): Postmortem findings in suicide victims. Implications for in vivo imaging studies. *Annals of the New York Academy of Science* 836: 269-287.
- Purselle DC, Nemeroff CB (2003): Serotonin transporter: a potential substrate in the biology of suicide. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 28(4): 613-619.

- Arango V, Underwood MD, Boldrini M, Tamir H, Kassir SA, Hsiung S *et al* (2001): Serotonin 1A receptors, serotonin transporter binding and serotonin transporter mRNA expression in the brainstem of depressed suicide victims. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 25(6): 892-903.
- Boldrini M, Underwood MD, Mann JJ, Arango V (2008): Serotonin-1A autoreceptor binding in the dorsal raphe nucleus of depressed suicides. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 42(6): 433-442.
- Arango V, Underwood MD, Gubbi AV, Mann JJ (1995): Localized alterations in pre- and postsynaptic serotonin binding sites in the ventrolateral prefrontal cortex of suicide victims. *Brain Research* 688(1-2): 121-133.
- 53. Huang YY, Battistuzzi C, Oquendo MA, Harkavy-Friedman J, Greenhill L, Zalsman G et al (2004): Human 5-HT1A receptor C(-1019)G polymorphism and psychopathology. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology* 7(4): 441-451.
- Matsubara S, Arora RC, Meltzer HY (1991): Serotonergic measures in suicide brain: 5-HT1A binding sites in frontal cortex of suicide victims. *Journal of Neural Transmission General Section* 85(3): 181-194.
- Arranz B, Eriksson A, Mellerup E, Plenge P, Marcusson J (1994): Brain 5-HT1A, 5-HT1D, and 5-HT2 receptors in suicide victims. *Biological Psychiatry* 35(7): 457-463.
- 56. Hsiung SC, Adlersberg M, Arango V, Mann JJ, Tamir H, Liu KP (2003): Attenuated 5-HT1A receptor signaling in brains of suicide victims: involvement of adenylyl cyclase, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase, Akt and mitogen-activated protein kinase. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 87(1): 182-194.
- 57. Hrdina PD, Demeter E, Vu TB, Sotonyi P, Palkovits M (1993): 5-HT uptake sites and 5-HT2 receptors in brain of antidepressant-free suicide victims/depressives: increase in 5-HT2 sites in cortex and amygdala. *Brain Research* 614(1-2): 37-44.

- Pandey GN, Dwivedi Y, Rizavi HS, Ren X, Pandey SC, Pesold C et al (2002): Higher expression of serotonin 5-HT(2A) receptors in the postmortem brains of teenage suicide victims. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 159(3): 419-429.
- 59. Arango V, Ernsberger P, Marzuk PM, Chen JS, Tierney H, Stanley M et al (1990): Autoradiographic demonstration of increased serotonin 5-HT2 and beta-adrenergic receptor binding sites in the brain of suicide victims. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 47(11): 1038-1047.
- 60. Mann JJ, Stanley M, McBride PA, McEwen BS (1986): Increased serotonin2 and beta-adrenergic receptor binding in the frontal cortices of suicide victims. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 43(10): 954-959.
- Escriba PV, Ozaita A, Garcia-Sevilla JA (2004): Increased mRNA expression of alpha2A-adrenoceptors, serotonin receptors and mu-opioid receptors in the brains of suicide victims. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 29(8): 1512-1521.
- Cheetham SC, Crompton MR, Katona CL, Horton RW (1988): Brain 5-HT2 receptor binding sites in depressed suicide victims. *Brain Research* 443(1-2): 272-280.
- Lowther S, De Paermentier F, Crompton MR, Katona CL, Horton RW (1994): Brain 5-HT2 receptors in suicide victims: violence of death, depression and effects of antidepressant treatment. *Brain Research* 642(1-2): 281-289.
- 64. Klempan TA, Sequeira A, Canetti L, Lalovic A, Ernst C, Ffrench-Mullen J et al (2009): Altered expression of genes involved in ATP biosynthesis and GABAergic neurotransmission in the ventral prefrontal cortex of suicides with and without major depression. *Molecular Psychiatry* 14(2): 175-189.
- 65. Audenaert K, Van Laere K, Dumont F, Slegers G, Mertens J, Van Heeringen C *et al* (2001): Decreased frontal serotonin 5-HT 2a receptor binding index in deliberate self-harm patients. *European Journal of Nuclear Medicine* 28(2): 175-182.

- 66. Van Heeringen C, Audenaert K, Van Laere K, Dumont F, Slegers G, Mertens J et al (2003): Prefrontal 5-HT2a receptor binding index, hopelessness and personality characteristics in attempted suicide. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 74(2): 149-158.
- Rosel P, Arranz B, Urretavizcaya M, Oros M, San L, Navarro MA (2004): Altered 5-HT2A and 5-HT4 postsynaptic receptors and their intracellular signalling systems IP3 and cAMP in brains from depressed violent suicide victims. *Neuropsychobiology* 49(4): 189-195.
- Boldrini M, Underwood MD, Mann JJ, Arango V (2005): More tryptophan hydroxylase in the brainstem dorsal raphe nucleus in depressed suicides. *Brain Research* 1041(1): 19-28.
- Bach-Mizrachi H, Underwood MD, Kassir SA, Bakalian MJ, Sibille E, Tamir H *et al* (2006): Neuronal tryptophan hydroxylase mRNA expression in the human dorsal and median raphe nuclei: major depression and suicide. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 31(4): 814-824.
- Bach-Mizrachi H, Underwood MD, Tin A, Ellis SP, Mann JJ, Arango V (2008): Elevated expression of tryptophan hydroxylase-2 mRNA at the neuronal level in the dorsal and median raphe nuclei of depressed suicides. *Molecular Psychiatry* 13(5): 507-13, 465.
- Sherif F, Marcusson J, Oreland L (1991): Brain gamma-aminobutyrate transaminase and monoamine oxidase activities in suicide victims. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience* 241(3): 139-144.
- 72. Ballesteros J, Maeztu AI, Callado LF, Meana JJ, Gutierrez M (2008): Specific binding of [3H]Ro 19-6327 (lazabemide) to monoamine oxidase B is increased in frontal cortex of suicide victims after controlling for age at death. *European Neuropsychopharmacology* 18(1): 55-61.
- Brezo J, Klempan T, Turecki G (2008): The genetics of suicide: a critical review of molecular studies. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America* 31(2): 179-203.

- Arango V, Huang YY, Underwood MD, Mann JJ (2003): Genetics of the serotonergic system in suicidal behavior. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 37(5): 375-386.
- Anguelova M, Benkelfat C, Turecki G (2003): A systematic review of association studies investigating genes coding for serotonin receptors and the serotonin transporter: II. Suicidal behavior. *Molecular Psychiatry* 8(7): 646-653.
- Berecek KH, Brody MJ (1982): Evidence for a neurotransmitter role for epinephrine derived from the adrenal medulla. *American Journal of Physiology* 242(4): H593-H601.
- Missale C, Nash SR, Robinson SW, Jaber M, Caron MG (1998): Dopamine receptors: from structure to function. *Physiological Reviews* 78(1): 189-225.
- 78. Summers RJ, McMartin LR (1993): Adrenoceptors and their second messenger systems. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 60(1): 10-23.
- Sher L, Mann JJ, Traskman-Bendz L, Winchel R, Huang YY, Fertuck E *et al* (2006): Lower cerebrospinal fluid homovanillic acid levels in depressed suicide attempters. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 90(1): 83-89.
- Roy A, Agren H, Pickar D, Linnoila M, Doran AR, Cutler NR *et al* (1986): Reduced CSF concentrations of homovanillic acid and homovanillic acid to 5-hydroxyindoleacetic acid ratios in depressed patients: relationship to suicidal behavior and dexamethasone nonsuppression. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 143(12): 1539-1545.
- Roy A, Karoum F, Pollack S (1992): Marked reduction in indexes of dopamine metabolism among patients with depression who attempt suicide. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 49(6): 447-450.
- Engstrom G, Alling C, Blennow K, Regnell G, Traskman-Bendz L (1999): Reduced cerebrospinal HVA concentrations and HVA/5-HIAA ratios in suicide attempters. Monoamine metabolites in 120 suicide attempters and 47 controls. *European Neuropsychopharmacology* 9(5): 399-405.

- Banki CM, Arato M, Kilts CD (1986): Aminergic studies and cerebrospinal fluid cations in suicide. *Annals of the New York Academy of Science* 487: 221-230.
- Bowden C, Cheetham SC, Lowther S, Katona CL, Crompton MR, Horton RW (1997): Reduced dopamine turnover in the basal ganglia of depressed suicides. *Brain Research* 769(1): 135-140.
- Tripodianakis J, Markianos M, Sarantidis D, Agouridaki M (2002): Biogenic amine turnover and serum cholesterol in suicide attempt. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience* 252(1): 38-43.
- Placidi GP, Oquendo MA, Malone KM, Huang YY, Ellis SP, Mann JJ (2001): Aggressivity, suicide attempts, and depression: relationship to cerebrospinal fluid monoamine metabolite levels. *Biological Psychiatry* 50(10): 783-791.
- Roy A, Ninan P, Mazonson A, Pickar D, Van Kammen D, Linnoila M *et al* (1985): CSF monoamine metabolites in chronic schizophrenic patients who attempt suicide. *Psychological Medicine* 15(2): 335-340.
- Jokinen J, Nordstrom AL, Nordstrom P (2007): The relationship between CSF HVA/5-HIAA ratio and suicide intent in suicide attempters. *Archives* of Suicide Research 11(2): 187-192.
- Mann JJ, Currier D (2007): A review of prospective studies of biologic predictors of suicidal behavior in mood disorders. *Archives of Suicide Research* 11(1): 3-16.
- Brown GL, Goodwin FK, Ballenger JC, Goyer PF, Major LF (1979): Aggression in humans correlates with cerebrospinal fluid amine metabolites. *Psychiatry Research* 1(2): 131-139.
- 91. Arango V, Ernsberger P, Sved AF, Mann JJ (1993): Quantitative autoradiography of alpha 1- and alpha 2-adrenergic receptors in the cerebral cortex of controls and suicide victims. *Brain Research* 630(1-2): 271-282.
- Secunda SK, Cross CK, Koslow S, Katz MM, Kocsis J, Maas JW et al (1986): Biochemistry and suicidal behavior in depressed patients. *Biological Psychiatry* 21(8-9): 756-767.
- Roy A, Pickar D, De Jong J, Karoum F, Linnoila M (1989): Suicidal behavior in depression: relationship to noradrenergic function. *Biological Psychiatry* 25(3): 341-350.
- Arranz B, Blennow K, Eriksson A, Mansson JE, Marcusson J (1997): Serotonergic, noradrenergic, and dopaminergic measures in suicide brains. *Biological Psychiatry* 41(10): 1000-1009.
- 95. Beskow J, Gottfries CG, Roos BE, Winblad B (1976): Determination of monoamine and monoamine metabolites in the human brain: post mortem studies in a group of suicides and in a control group. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 53(1): 7-20.
- 96. Bowden C, Theodorou AE, Cheetham SC, Lowther S, Katona CL, Crompton MR *et al* (1997): Dopamine D1 and D2 receptor binding sites in brain samples from depressed suicides and controls. *Brain Research* 752(1-2): 227-233.
- Allard P, Norlen M (2001): Caudate nucleus dopamine D(2) receptors in depressed suicide victims. *Neuropsychobiology* 44(2): 70-73.
- Pitchot W, Reggers J, Pinto E, Hansenne M, Fuchs S, Pirard S *et al* (2001): Reduced dopaminergic activity in depressed suicides. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 26(3): 331-335.
- 99. Pitchot W, Hansenne M, Gonzalez-Moreno A, Pinto E, Reggers J, Fuchs S et al (2001): Reduced dopamine function in depressed patients is related to suicidal behavior but not its lethality. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 26(7): 689-696.
- 100. Pitchot W, Hansenne M, Gonzalez-Moreno A, Ansseau M (1992): Suicidal behavior and growth hormone response to apomorphine test. *Biological Psychiatry* 31(12): 1213-1219.
- 101. Allard P, Norlen M (1997): Unchanged density of caudate nucleus dopamine uptake sites in depressed suicide victims. *Journal of Neural Transmission* 104(11-12): 1353-1360.
- 102. Bowden C, Cheetham SC, Lowther S, Katona CL, Crompton MR, Horton RW (1997): Dopamine uptake sites, labelled with [3H]GBR12935, in brain

samples from depressed suicides and controls. *European Neuropsychopharmacology* 7(4): 247-252.

- 103. Gross-Isseroff R, Dillon KA, Fieldust SJ, Biegon A (1990): Autoradiographic analysis of alpha 1-noradrenergic receptors in the human brain postmortem. Effect of suicide. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 47(11): 1049-1053.
- 104. Crow TJ, Cross AJ, Cooper SJ, Deakin JF, Ferrier IN, Johnson JA *et al* (1984): Neurotransmitter receptors and monoamine metabolites in the brains of patients with Alzheimer-type dementia and depression, and suicides. *Neuropharmacology* 23(12B): 1561-1569.
- 105. Underwood MD, Mann JJ, Arango V (2004): Serotonergic and noradrenergic neurobiology of alcoholic suicide. *Alcoholism: Clinical and Experimental Research* 28(5 Suppl): 57S-69S.
- 106. De Paermentier F, Mauger JM, Lowther S, Crompton MR, Katona CL, Horton RW (1997): Brain alpha-adrenoceptors in depressed suicides. *Brain Research* 757(1): 60-68.
- 107. Meana JJ, Garcia-Sevilla JA (1987): Increased alpha 2-adrenoceptor density in the frontal cortex of depressed suicide victims. *Journal of Neural Transmission* 70(3-4): 377-381.
- 108. Ordway GA, Widdowson PS, Smith KS, Halaris A (1994): Agonist binding to alpha 2-adrenoceptors is elevated in the locus coeruleus from victims of suicide. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 63(2): 617-624.
- 109. Callado LF, Meana JJ, Grijalba B, Pazos A, Sastre M, Garcia-Sevilla JA (1998): Selective increase of alpha2A-adrenoceptor agonist binding sites in brains of depressed suicide victims. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 70(3): 1114-1123.
- 110. Gonzalez AM, Pascual J, Meana JJ, Barturen F, Del Arco C, Pazos A *et al* (1994): Autoradiographic demonstration of increased alpha 2-adrenoceptor agonist binding sites in the hippocampus and frontal cortex of depressed suicide victims. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 63(1): 256-265.

- 111. Garcia-Sevilla JA, Escriba PV, Ozaita A, La Harpe R, Walzer C, Eytan A et al (1999): Up-regulation of immunolabeled alpha2A-adrenoceptors, Gi coupling proteins, and regulatory receptor kinases in the prefrontal cortex of depressed suicides. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 72(1): 282-291.
- 112. De Paermentier F, Cheetham SC, Crompton MR, Katona CL, Horton RW (1990): Brain beta-adrenoceptor binding sites in antidepressant-free depressed suicide victims. *Brain Research* 525(1): 71-77.
- Little KY, Clark TB, Ranc J, Duncan GE (1993): Beta-adrenergic receptor binding in frontal cortex from suicide victims. *Biological Psychiatry* 34(9): 596-605.
- 114. Sorensen HT, Mellemkjaer L, Olsen JH (2001): Risk of suicide in users of beta-adrenoceptor blockers, calcium channel blockers and angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 52(3): 313-318.
- 115. Callreus T, Agerskov Andersen U, Hallas J, Andersen M (2007): Cardiovascular drugs and the risk of suicide: a nested case-control study. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 63(6): 591-596.
- 116. Zalsman G, Frisch A, Lewis R, Michaelovsky E, Hermesh H, Sher L *et al* (2004): DRD4 receptor gene exon III polymorphism in inpatient suicidal adolescents. *Journal of Neural Transmission* 111(12): 1593-1603.
- 117. Persson ML, Geijer T, Wasserman D, Rockah R, Frisch A, Michaelovsky E et al (1999): Lack of association between suicide attempt and a polymorphism at the dopamine receptor D4 locus. *Psychiatric Genetics* 9(2): 97-100.
- 118. Johann M, Putzhammer A, Eichhammer P, Wodarz N (2005): Association of the -141C Del variant of the dopamine D2 receptor (DRD2) with positive family history and suicidality in German alcoholics. *American Journal of Medical Genetics B Neuropsychiatric Genetics* 132B(1): 46-49.
- 119. Suda A, Kawanishi C, Kishida I, Sato R, Yamada T, Nakagawa M et al (2009): Dopamine D2 receptor gene polymorphisms are associated with

suicide attempt in the Japanese population. *Neuropsychobiology* 59(2): 130-134.

- 120. Sequeira A, Mamdani F, Lalovic A, Anguelova M, Lesage A, Seguin M et al (2004): Alpha 2A adrenergic receptor gene and suicide. Psychiatry Research 125(2): 87-93.
- 121. Martin-Guerrero I, Callado LF, Saitua K, Rivero G, Garcia-Orad A, Meana JJ (2006): The N251K functional polymorphism in the alpha(2A)-adrenoceptor gene is not associated with depression: a study in suicide completers. *Psychopharmacology (Berlin)* 184(1): 82-86.
- 122. Fukutake M, Hishimoto A, Nishiguchi N, Nushida H, Ueno Y, Shirakawa O et al (2008): Association of alpha2A-adrenergic receptor gene polymorphism with susceptibility to suicide in Japanese females. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry 32(6): 1428-1433.
- 123. Perroud N, Aitchison KJ, Uher R, Smith R, Huezo-Diaz P, Marusic A *et al* (2009): Genetic Predictors of Increase in Suicidal Ideation During Antidepressant Treatment in the GENDEP Project. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 34(12): 2517-2528.
- 124. Lachman HM, Papolos DF, Saito T, Yu YM, Szumlanski CL, Weinshilboum RM (1996): Human catechol-O-methyltransferase pharmacogenetics: description of a functional polymorphism and its potential application to neuropsychiatric disorders. *Pharmacogenetics* 6(3): 243-250.
- 125. Kia-Keating BM, Glatt SJ, Tsuang MT (2007): Meta-analyses suggest association between COMT, but not HTR1B, alleles, and suicidal behavior. *American Journal of Medical Genetics B Neuropsychiatric Genetics* 144(8): 1048-1053.
- 126. Pandey GN, Dwivedi Y (2007): Noradrenergic function in suicide. *Archives* of Suicide Research 11(3): 235-246.
- 127. Daikhin Y, Yudkoff M (2000): Compartmentation of brain glutamate metabolism in neurons and glia. *Journal of Nutrition* 130(4S Suppl): 1026S-1031S.

- 128. Bak LK, Schousboe A, Waagepetersen HS (2006): The glutamate/GABAglutamine cycle: aspects of transport, neurotransmitter homeostasis and ammonia transfer. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 98(3): 641-653.
- 129. Conn PJ, Pin JP (1997): Pharmacology and functions of metabotropic glutamate receptors. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology* 37: 205-237.
- 130. Dingledine R, Borges K, Bowie D, Traynelis SF (1999): The glutamate receptor ion channels. *Pharmacological Reviews* 51(1): 7-61.
- 131. Holemans S, De Paermentier F, Horton RW, Crompton MR, Katona CL, Maloteaux JM (1993): NMDA glutamatergic receptors, labelled with [3H]MK-801, in brain samples from drug-free depressed suicides. *Brain Research* 616(1-2): 138-143.
- 132. Noga JT, Hyde TM, Herman MM, Spurney CF, Bigelow LB, Weinberger DR *et al* (1997): Glutamate receptors in the postmortem striatum of schizophrenic, suicide, and control brains. *Synapse* 27(3): 168-176.
- 133. Nowak G, Ordway GA, Paul IA (1995): Alterations in the N-methyl-Daspartate (NMDA) receptor complex in the frontal cortex of suicide victims. *Brain Research* 675(1-2): 157-164.
- 134. Palmer AM, Burns MA, Arango V, Mann JJ (1994): Similar effects of glycine, zinc and an oxidizing agent on [3H]dizocilpine binding to the Nmethyl-D-aspartate receptor in neocortical tissue from suicide victims and controls. *Journal of Neural Transmission General Section* 96(1): 1-8.
- 135. Nowak G, Szewczyk B, Sadlik K, Piekoszewski W, Trela F, Florek E *et al* (2003): Reduced potency of zinc to interact with NMDA receptors in hippocampal tissue of suicide victims. *Polish Journal of Pharmacology* 55(3): 455-459.
- 136. Freed WJ, Dillon-Carter O, Kleinman JE (1993): Properties of [3H]AMPA binding in postmortem human brain from psychotic subjects and controls: increases in caudate nucleus associated with suicide. *Experimental Neurology* 121(1): 48-56.

- 137. Thalmeier A, Dickmann M, Giegling I, Schneider B, Hartmann M, Maurer K et al (2008): Gene expression profiling of post-mortem orbitofrontal cortex in violent suicide victims. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology* 11(2): 217-228.
- 138. Kim S, Choi KH, Baykiz AF, Gershenfeld HK (2007): Suicide candidate genes associated with bipolar disorder and schizophrenia: an exploratory gene expression profiling analysis of post-mortem prefrontal cortex. *BMC Genomics* 8: 413.
- 139. Gécz J, Barnett S, Liu J, Hollway G, Donnelly A, Eyre H *et al* (1999): Characterization of the human glutamate receptor subunit 3 gene (GRIA3), a candidate for bipolar disorder and nonspecific X-linked mental retardation. *Genomics* 62: 356-368.
- 140. O'Connor JA, Muly EC, Arnold SE, Hemby SE (2007): AMPA receptor subunit and splice variant expression in the DLPFC of schizophrenic subjects and rhesus monkeys chronically administered antipsychotic drugs. *Schizophrenia Research* 90(1-3): 28-40.
- 141. Laje G, Paddock S, Manji H, Rush AJ, Wilson AF, Charney D et al (2007): Genetic markers of suicidal ideation emerging during citalopram treatment of major depression. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 164(10): 1530-1538.
- 142. Magri C, Gardella R, Valsecchi P, Barlati SD, Guizzetti L, Imperadori L et al (2008): Study on GRIA2, GRIA3 and GRIA4 genes highlights a positive association between schizophrenia and GRIA3 in female patients. American Journal of Medical Genetics B Neuropsychiatric Genetics 147B(6): 745-753.
- 143. Menke A, Lucae S, Kloiber S, Horstmann S, Bettecken T, Uhr M et al (2008): Genetic markers within glutamate receptors associated with antidepressant treatment-emergent suicidal ideation. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 165(7): 917-918.
- 144. Korpi ER, Kleinman JE, Wyatt RJ (1988): GABA concentrations in forebrain areas of suicide victims. *Biological Psychiatry* 23(2): 109-114.

- 145. Lee R, Petty F, Coccaro EF (2009): Cerebrospinal fluid GABA concentration: relationship with impulsivity and history of suicidal behavior, but not aggression, in human subjects. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 43(4): 353-359.
- 146. Manchon M, Kopp N, Rouzioux JJ, Lecestre D, Deluermoz S, Miachon S (1987): Benzodiazepine receptor and neurotransmitter studies in the brain of suicides. *Life Science* 41(24): 2623-2630.
- 147. Rochet T, Kopp N, Vedrinne J, Deluermoz S, Debilly G, Miachon S (1992): Benzodiazepine binding sites and their modulators in hippocampus of violent suicide victims. *Biological Psychiatry* 32(10): 922-931.
- 148. Pandey GN, Conley RR, Pandey SC, Goel S, Roberts RC, Tamminga CA et al (1997): Benzodiazepine receptors in the post-mortem brain of suicide victims and schizophrenic subjects. *Psychiatry Research* 71(3): 137-149.
- 149. Cheetham SC, Crompton MR, Katona CL, Parker SJ, Horton RW (1988): Brain GABAA/benzodiazepine binding sites and glutamic acid decarboxylase activity in depressed suicide victims. *Brain Research* 460(1): 114-123.
- 150. Stocks GM, Cheetham SC, Crompton MR, Katona CL, Horton RW (1990): Benzodiazepine binding sites in amygdala and hippocampus of depressed suicide victims. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 18(1): 11-15.
- 151. Zhu H, Karolewicz B, Nail E, Stockmeier CA, Szebeni K, Ordway GA (2006): Normal [3H]flunitrazepam binding to GABAA receptors in the locus coeruleus in major depression and suicide. *Brain Research* 1125(1): 138-146.
- 152. Cross JA, Cheetham SC, Crompton MR, Katona CL, Horton RW (1988): Brain GABAB binding sites in depressed suicide victims. *Psychiatry Research* 26(2): 119-129.
- 153. Arranz B, Cowburn R, Eriksson A, Vestling M, Marcusson J (1992): Gamma-aminobutyric acid-B (GABAB) binding sites in postmortem suicide brains. *Neuropsychobiology* 26(1-2): 33-36.

- 154. Sundman-Eriksson I, Allard P (2002): [(3)H]Tiagabine binding to GABA transporter-1 (GAT-1) in suicidal depression. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 71(1-3): 29-33.
- 155. Gos T, Gunther K, Bielau H, Dobrowolny H, Mawrin C, Trubner K *et al* (2009): Suicide and depression in the quantitative analysis of glutamic acid decarboxylase-Immunoreactive neuropil. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 113(1-2): 45-55.
- 156. Choudary PV, Molnar M, Evans SJ, Tomita H, Li JZ, Vawter MP *et al* (2005): Altered cortical glutamatergic and GABAergic signal transmission with glial involvement in depression. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 102(43): 15653-15658.
- 157. Sequeira A, Klempan T, Canetti L, Ffrench-Mullen J, Benkelfat C, Rouleau GA *et al* (2007): Patterns of gene expression in the limbic system of suicides with and without major depression. *Molecular Psychiatry* 12(7): 640-655.
- 158. Merali Z, Du L, Hrdina P, Palkovits M, Faludi G, Poulter MO *et al* (2004): Dysregulation in the suicide brain: mRNA expression of corticotropinreleasing hormone receptors and GABA(A) receptor subunits in frontal cortical brain region. *Journal of Neuroscience* 24(6): 1478-1485.
- 159. Sarter M, Bruno JP, Turchi J (1999): Basal forebrain afferent projections modulating cortical acetylcholine, attention, and implications for neuropsychiatric disorders. *Annals of the New York Academy of Science* 877: 368-382.
- 160. Fine A, Hoyle C, Maclean CJ, Levatte TL, Baker HF, Ridley RM (1997): Learning impairments following injection of a selective cholinergic immunotoxin, ME20.4 IgG-saporin, into the basal nucleus of Meynert in monkeys. *Neuroscience* 81(2): 331-343.
- Hasselmo ME, Anderson BP, Bower JM (1992): Cholinergic modulation of cortical associative memory function. *Journal of Neurophysiology* 67(5): 1230-1246.

- 162. Lucas-Meunier E, Fossier P, Baux G, Amar M (2003): Cholinergic modulation of the cortical neuronal network. *Pflugers Arch* 446(1): 17-29.
- 163. Meyerson LR, Wennogle LP, Abel MS, Coupet J, Lippa AS, Rauh CE et al (1982): Human brain receptor alterations in suicide victims. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior* 17(1): 159-163.
- 164. Stanley M (1984): Cholinergic receptor binding in the frontal cortex of suicide victims. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 141(11): 1432-1436.
- 165. Kaufmann CA, Gillin JC, Hill B, O'Laughlin T, Phillips I, Kleinman JE et al (1984): Muscarinic binding in suicides. Psychiatry Research 12(1): 47-55.
- 166. Gonzalez-Maeso J, Rodriguez-Puertas R, Meana JJ, Garcia-Sevilla JA, Guimon J (2002): Neurotransmitter receptor-mediated activation of Gproteins in brains of suicide victims with mood disorders: selective supersensitivity of alpha(2A)-adrenoceptors. *Molecular Psychiatry* 7(7): 755-767.
- 167. Zavitsanou K, Katsifis A, Mattner F, Huang XF (2004): Investigation of m1/m4 muscarinic receptors in the anterior cingulate cortex in schizophrenia, bipolar disorder, and major depression disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 29(3): 619-625.
- 168. London L, Flisher AJ, Wesseling C, Mergler D, Kromhout H (2005): Suicide and exposure to organophosphate insecticides: cause or effect? *American Journal of Industrial Medicine* 47(4): 308-321.
- 169. Jaga K, Dharmani C (2007): The interrelation between organophosphate toxicity and the epidemiology of depression and suicide. *Reviews on Environmental Health* 22(1): 57-73.
- 170. Niederhofer H (2008): Is suicidality associated with acetylcholine? International Psychogeriatrics 20(6): 1291.
- 171. Corbett AD, Henderson G, McKnight AT, Paterson SJ (2006): 75 years of opioid research: the exciting but vain quest for the Holy Grail. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 147 Suppl 1: S153-S162.

- 172. Berrocoso E, Sanchez-Blazquez P, Garzon J, Mico JA (2009): Opiates as antidepressants. *Current Pharmaceutical Design* 15(14): 1612-1622.
- 173. Gabilondo AM, Meana JJ, Garcia-Sevilla JA (1995): Increased density of mu-opioid receptors in the postmortem brain of suicide victims. *Brain Research* 682(1-2): 245-250.
- 174. Gross-Isseroff R, Dillon KA, Israeli M, Biegon A (1990): Regionally selective increases in mu opioid receptor density in the brains of suicide victims. *Brain Research* 530(2): 312-316.
- 175. Zalsman G, Molcho A, Huang Y, Dwork A, Li S, Mann JJ (2005): Postmortem mu-opioid receptor binding in suicide victims and controls. *Journal of Neural Transmission* 112(7): 949-954.
- 176. Herman JP, Figueiredo H, Mueller NK, Ulrich-Lai Y, Ostrander MM, Choi DC et al (2003): Central mechanisms of stress integration: hierarchical circuitry controlling hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenocortical responsiveness. *Frontiers in Neuroendocrinology* 24(3): 151-180.
- 177. McIsaac SA, Young AH (2009): The role of hypothalamic pituitary-adrenal axis dysfunction in the etiology of depressive disorders. *Drugs of Today* (*Barcelona*) 45(2): 127-133.
- 178. Bennett Ao MR (2008): Stress and anxiety in schizophrenia and depression: glucocorticoids, corticotropin-releasing hormone and synapse regression. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry* 42(12): 995-1002.
- 179. Yehuda R (1997): Sensitization of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in posttraumatic stress disorder. *Annals of the New York Academy of Science* 821: 57-75.
- 180. Bunney WE, Fawcett JA (1965): Possibility of a Biochemical Test for Suicidal Potential: An Analysis of Endocrine Findings Prior to Three Suicides. Archives of General Psychiatry 13: 232-239.
- 181. Arato M, Banki CM, Bissette G, Nemeroff CB (1989): Elevated CSF CRF in suicide victims. *Biological Psychiatry* 25(3): 355-359.

- 182. Nemeroff CB, Owens MJ, Bissette G, Andorn AC, Stanley M (1988): Reduced corticotropin releasing factor binding sites in the frontal cortex of suicide victims. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 45(6): 577-579.
- 183. Robbins DR, Alessi NE (1985): Suicide and the dexamethasone suppression test in adolescence. *Biological Psychiatry* 20(1): 107-110.
- 184. Norman WH, Brown WA, Miller IW, Keitner GI, Overholser JC (1990): The dexamethasone suppression test and completed suicide. Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica 81(2): 120-125.
- 185. Jokinen J, Carlborg A, Martensson B, Forslund K, Nordstrom AL, Nordstrom P (2007): DST non-suppression predicts suicide after attempted suicide. *Psychiatry Research* 150(3): 297-303.
- 186. Coryell W, Schlesser M (2001): The dexamethasone suppression test and suicide prediction. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 158(5): 748-753.
- 187. Wasserman D, Sokolowski M, Rozanov V, Wasserman J (2008): The CRHR1 gene: a marker for suicidality in depressed males exposed to low stress. *Genes, Brain, and Behavior* 7(1): 14-19.
- 188. Wasserman D, Wasserman J, Rozanov V, Sokolowski M (2009): Depression in suicidal males: genetic risk variants in the CRHR1 gene. *Genes, Brain, and Behavior* 8(1): 72-79.
- 189. De Luca V, Tharmalingam S, Zai C, Potapova N, Strauss J, Vincent J *et al* (2010): Association of HPA axis genes with suicidal behaviour in schizophrenia. *Journal of Psychopharmacology* 24(5): 677-682.
- 190. De Luca V, Tharmalingam S, Kennedy JL (2007): Association study between the corticotropin-releasing hormone receptor 2 gene and suicidality in bipolar disorder. *European Psychiatry* 22(5): 282-287.
- 191. McKinnon MC, Yucel K, Nazarov A, MacQueen GM (2009): A metaanalysis examining clinical predictors of hippocampal volume in patients with major depressive disorder. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience* 34(1): 41-54.
- 192. Dranovsky A, Hen R (2006): Hippocampal neurogenesis: regulation by stress and antidepressants. *Biological Psychiatry* 59(12): 1136-1143.

- 193. Li G, Regunathan S, Barrow CJ, Eshraghi J, Cooper R, Reis DJ (1994): Agmatine: an endogenous clonidine-displacing substance in the brain. *Science* 263(5149): 966-969.
- 194. Moinard C, Cynober L, De Bandt JP (2005): Polyamines: metabolism and implications in human diseases. *Clinical Nutrition* 24(2): 184-197.
- 195. Minguet EG, Vera-Sirera F, Marina A, Carbonell J, Blazquez MA (2008): Evolutionary diversification in polyamine biosynthesis. *Molecular Biology* and Evolution 25(10): 2119-2128.
- 196. Tabor CW, Tabor H (1984): Polyamines. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 53: 749-790.
- 197. Gilad GM, Gilad VH (2003): Overview of the brain polyamine-stressresponse: regulation, development, and modulation by lithium and role in cell survival. *Cellular and Molecular Neurobiology* 23(4-5): 637-649.
- 198. Seiler N, Raul F (2005): Polyamines and apoptosis. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine* 9(3): 623-642.
- 199. Rhee HJ, Kim EJ, Lee JK (2007): Physiological polyamines: simple primordial stress molecules. *Journal of Cellular and Molecular Medicine* 11(4): 685-703.
- 200. Gilad GM, Gilad VH, Eliyayev Y, Rabey JM (1998): Developmental regulation of the brain polyamine-stress-response. *International Journal of Developmental Neuroscience* 16(3-4): 271-278.
- 201. Gilad GM, Gilad VH (1991): Polyamines can protect against ischemiainduced nerve cell death in gerbil forebrain. *Experimental Neurology* 111(3): 349-355.
- 202. Morrison LD, Bergeron C, Kish SJ (1993): Brain S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase activity is increased in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience Letters* 154(1-2): 141-144.
- 203. Fiori LM, Turecki G (2008): Implication of the polyamine system in mental disorders. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience* 33(2): 102-110.
- 204. Sequeira A, Gwadry FG, Ffrench-Mullen JM, Canetti L, Gingras Y, Casero RA *et al* (2006): Implication of SSAT by gene expression and genetic

variation in suicide and major depression. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 63(1): 35-48.

- 205. Guipponi M, Deutsch S, Kohler K, Perroud N, Le Gal F, Vessaz M et al (2009): Genetic and epigenetic analysis of SSAT gene dysregulation in suicidal behavior. American Journal of Medical Genetics B Neuropsychiatric Genetics 150B(6): 799-807.
- 206. Klempan TA, Rujescu D, Merette C, Himmelman C, Sequeira A, Canetti L et al (2009): Profiling brain expression of the spermidine/spermine N(1)acetyltransferase 1 (SAT1) gene in suicide. American Journal of Medical Genetics B Neuropsychiatric Genetics 150B(7): 934-943.
- 207. Fiori LM, Mechawar N, Turecki G (2009): Identification and Characterization of SAT1 Promoter Variants in Suicide Completers. *Biological Psychiatry* 66(5): 460-467.
- 208. Fiori LM, Turecki G (2010): Association of the SAT1 In/del Polymorphism with Suicide Completion. *American Journal of Medical Genetics B Neuropsychiatric Genetics* 153B(3): 825-829.
- 209. Chen GG, Fiori LM, Moquin L, Gratton A, Mamer O, Mechawar N *et al* (2010): Evidence of Altered Polyamine Concentrations in Cerebral Cortex of Suicide Completers. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 35(7): 1477-1484.
- 210. Bastida CM, Cremades A, Castells MT, Lopez-Contreras AJ, Lopez-Garcia C, Sanchez-Mas J et al (2007): Sexual dimorphism of ornithine decarboxylase in the mouse adrenal: influence of polyamine deprivation on catecholamine and corticoid levels. American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism 292(4): E1010-E1017.
- 211. Hirsch SR, Richardson-Andrews R, Costall B, Kelly ME, De Belleroche J, Naylor RJ (1987): The effects of some polyamines on putative behavioural indices of mesolimbic versus striatal dopaminergic function. *Psychopharmacology (Berlin)* 93(1): 101-104.
- 212. Ritz MC, Mantione CR, London ED (1994): Spermine interacts with cocaine binding sites on dopamine transporters. *Psychopharmacology* (*Berlin*) 114(1): 47-52.

- 213. Bo P, Giorgetti A, Camana C, Savoldi F (1990): EEG and behavioural effects of polyamines (spermine and spermidine) on rabbits. *Pharmacological Research* 22(4): 481-491.
- 214. Williams K (1997): Modulation and block of ion channels: a new biology of polyamines. *Cellular Signalling* 9(1): 1-13.
- 215. Morgan PF, Stone TW (1983): Structure-activity studies on the potentiation of benzodiazepine receptor binding by ethylenediamine analogues and derivatives. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 79(4): 973-977.
- 216. Gilad GM, Gilad VH, Wyatt RJ (1992): Polyamines modulate the binding of GABAA-benzodiazepine receptor ligands in membranes from the rat forebrain. *Neuropharmacology* 31(9): 895-898.
- 217. Brackley P, Goodnow R, Jr., Nakanishi K, Sudan HL, Usherwood PN (1990): Spermine and philanthotoxin potentiate excitatory amino acid responses of Xenopus oocytes injected with rat and chick brain RNA. *Neuroscience Letters* 114(1): 51-56.
- 218. Galea E, Regunathan S, Eliopoulos V, Feinstein DL, Reis DJ (1996): Inhibition of mammalian nitric oxide synthases by agmatine, an endogenous polyamine formed by decarboxylation of arginine. *Biochemical Journal* 316 (Pt 1): 247-249.
- 219. Reis DJ, Regunathan S (2000): Is agmatine a novel neurotransmitter in brain? *Trends in Pharmacological Sciences* 21(5): 187-193.
- 220. Doyle KM, Kirby BP, Murphy D, Shaw GG (2005): Effect of L-type calcium channel antagonists on spermine-induced CNS excitation in vivo. *Neuroscience Letters* 380(3): 247-251.
- 221. Zomkowski AD, Hammes L, Lin J, Calixto JB, Santos AR, Rodrigues AL (2002): Agmatine produces antidepressant-like effects in two models of depression in mice. *Neuroreport* 13(4): 387-391.
- 222. Lavinsky D, Arteni NS, Netto CA (2003): Agmatine induces anxiolysis in the elevated plus maze task in adult rats. *Behavioural Brain Research* 141(1): 19-24.

- 223. Zomkowski AD, Rosa AO, Lin J, Santos AR, Calixto JB, Rodrigues AL (2004): Evidence for serotonin receptor subtypes involvement in agmatine antidepressant like-effect in the mouse forced swimming test. *Brain Research* 1023: 253-263.
- 224. Zomkowski AD, Santos AR, Rodrigues AL (2005): Evidence for the involvement of the opioid system in the agmatine antidepressant-like effect in the forced swimming test. *Neuroscience Letters* 381(3): 279-283.
- 225. Gong ZH, Li YF, Zhao N, Yang HJ, Su RB, Luo ZP *et al* (2006): Anxiolytic effect of agmatine in rats and mice. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 550(1-3): 112-116.
- 226. Zeidan MP, Zomkowski AD, Rosa AO, Rodrigues AL, Gabilan NH (2007): Evidence for imidazoline receptors involvement in the agmatine antidepressant-like effect in the forced swimming test. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 565(1-3): 125-131.
- 227. Zomkowski AD, Santos AR, Rodrigues AL (2006): Putrescine produces antidepressant-like effects in the forced swimming test and in the tail suspension test in mice. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry* 30(8): 1419-1425.
- 228. Dwivedi Y, Rao JS, Rizavi HS, Kotowski J, Conley RR, Roberts RC *et al* (2003): Abnormal expression and functional characteristics of cyclic adenosine monophosphate response element binding protein in postmortem brain of suicide subjects. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 60(3): 273-282.
- 229. Shimon H, Agam G, Belmaker RH, Hyde TM, Kleinman JE (1997): Reduced frontal cortex inositol levels in postmortem brain of suicide victims and patients with bipolar disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 154(8): 1148-1150.
- 230. Shimon H, Sobolev Y, Davidson M, Haroutunian V, Belmaker RH, Agam G (1998): Inositol levels are decreased in postmortem brain of schizophrenic patients. *Biological Psychiatry* 44(6): 428-432.
- 231. Dwivedi Y, Rizavi HS, Teppen T, Zhang H, Mondal A, Roberts RC *et al* (2008): Lower phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI 3-kinase) activity and

differential expression levels of selective catalytic and regulatory PI 3kinase subunit isoforms in prefrontal cortex and hippocampus of suicide subjects. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 33(10): 2324-2340.

- 232. Pacheco MA, Stockmeier C, Meltzer HY, Overholser JC, Dilley GE, Jope RS (1996): Alterations in phosphoinositide signaling and G-protein levels in depressed suicide brain. *Brain Research* 723(1-2): 37-45.
- 233. Lowther S, Crompton MR, Katona CL, Horton RW (1996): GTP gamma S and forskolin-stimulated adenylyl cyclase activity in post-mortem brain from depressed suicides and controls. *Molecular Psychiatry* 1(6): 470-477.
- 234. Lowther S, Katona CL, Crompton MR, Horton RW (1997): Brain [3H]cAMP binding sites are unaltered in depressed suicides, but decreased by antidepressants. *Brain Research* 758(1-2): 223-228.
- 235. Rosel P, Arranz B, San L, Vallejo J, Crespo JM, Urretavizcaya M *et al* (2000): Altered 5-HT(2A) binding sites and second messenger inositol trisphosphate (IP(3)) levels in hippocampus but not in frontal cortex from depressed suicide victims. *Psychiatry Research* 99(3): 173-181.
- 236. Dwivedi Y, Rizavi HS, Conley RR, Roberts RC, Tamminga CA, Pandey GN (2002): mRNA and protein expression of selective alpha subunits of G proteins are abnormal in prefrontal cortex of suicide victims. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 27(4): 499-517.
- 237. Pawson T (1994): Tyrosine kinase signalling pathways. *Princess Takamatsu Symposia* 24: 303-322.
- 238. Pandey GN, Ren X, Rizavi HS, Conley RR, Roberts RC, Dwivedi Y (2008): Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and tyrosine kinase B receptor signalling in post-mortem brain of teenage suicide victims. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology* 11(8): 1047-1061.
- 239. Dwivedi Y, Rizavi HS, Conley RR, Roberts RC, Tamminga CA, Pandey GN (2003): Altered gene expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and receptor tyrosine kinase B in postmortem brain of suicide subjects. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 60(8): 804-815.

- 240. Zarrilli F, Angiolillo A, Castaldo G, Chiariotti L, Keller S, Sacchetti S *et al* (2009): Brain derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) genetic polymorphism (Val66Met) in suicide: a study of 512 cases. *American Journal of Medical Genetics B Neuropsychiatric Genetics* 150B(4): 599-600.
- 241. Sarchiapone M, Carli V, Roy A, Iacoviello L, Cuomo C, Latella MC *et al* (2008): Association of polymorphism (Val66Met) of brain-derived neurotrophic factor with suicide attempts in depressed patients. *Neuropsychobiology* 57(3): 139-145.
- 242. Perroud N, Courtet P, Vincze I, Jaussent I, Jollant F, Bellivier F *et al* (2008): Interaction between BDNF Val66Met and childhood trauma on adult's violent suicide attempt. *Genes, Brain, and Behavior* 7(3): 314-322.
- 243. Iga J, Ueno S, Yamauchi K, Numata S, Tayoshi-Shibuya S, Kinouchi S *et al* (2007): The Val66Met polymorphism of the brain-derived neurotrophic factor gene is associated with psychotic feature and suicidal behavior in Japanese major depressive patients. *American Journal of Medical Genetics B Neuropsychiatric Genetics* 144B(8): 1003-1006.
- 244. Sen S, Duman R, Sanacora G (2008): Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor, depression, and antidepressant medications: meta-analyses and implications. *Biological Psychiatry* 64(6): 527-532.
- 245. Chen B, Dowlatshahi D, MacQueen GM, Wang JF, Young LT (2001): Increased hippocampal BDNF immunoreactivity in subjects treated with antidepressant medication. *Biological Psychiatry* 50(4): 260-265.
- 246. Brunoni AR, Lopes M, Fregni F (2008): A systematic review and metaanalysis of clinical studies on major depression and BDNF levels: implications for the role of neuroplasticity in depression. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology* 11(8): 1169-1180.
- 247. Ornitz DM, Itoh N (2001): Fibroblast growth factors. *Genome Biology* 2(3): REVIEWS3005.
- 248. Tochigi M, Iwamoto K, Bundo M, Sasaki T, Kato N, Kato T (2008): Gene expression profiling of major depression and suicide in the prefrontal cortex of postmortem brains. *Neuroscience Research* 60(2): 184-191.

- 249. Bachis A, Mallei A, Cruz MI, Wellstein A, Mocchetti I (2008): Chronic antidepressant treatments increase basic fibroblast growth factor and fibroblast growth factor-binding protein in neurons. *Neuropharmacology* 55(7): 1114-1120.
- 250. Ostlund H, Keller E, Hurd Y (2003): Estrogen Receptor Gene Expression in Relation to Neuropsychiatric Disorders. *Annals of the New York Academy* of Science 1007(Steroids and the Nervous System): 54-63.
- 251. Tsai SJ, Wang YC, Hong CJ, Chiu HJ (2003): Association study of oestrogen receptor alpha gene polymorphism and suicidal behaviours in major depressive disorder. *Psychiatric Genetics* 13(1): 19-22.
- 252. Giegling I, Rujescu D, Mandelli L, Schneider B, Hartmann AM, Schnabel A et al (2008): Estrogen receptor gene 1 variants are not associated with suicidal behavior. *Psychiatry Research* 160(1): 1-7.
- 253. Giegling I, Chiesa A, Calati R, Hartmann AM, Moller HJ, De Ronchi D et al (2009): Do the estrogen receptors 1 gene variants influence the temperament and character inventory scores in suicidal attempters and healthy subjects? American Journal of Medical Genetics B Neuropsychiatric Genetics 150B(3): 434-438.
- 254. Gustavsson G, Traskman-Bendz L, Higley JD, Westrin A (2003): CSF testosterone in 43 male suicide attempters. *European Neuropsychopharmacology* 13(2): 105-109.
- 255. Tripodianakis J, Markianos M, Rouvali O, Istikoglou C (2007): Gonadal axis hormones in psychiatric male patients after a suicide attempt. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience* 257(3): 135-139.
- 256. Virkkunen M (1979): Serum cholesterol in antisocial personality. *Neuropsychobiology* 5(1): 27-30.
- 257. Lipid Research Clinics Program (1984): The Lipid Research Clinics Coronary Primary Prevention Trial results. I. Reduction in incidence of coronary heart disease. *JAMA* 251(3): 351-364.

- 258. Frick MH, Elo O, Haapa K, Heinonen OP, Heinsalmi P, Helo P *et al* (1987): Helsinki Heart Study: primary-prevention trial with gemfibrozil in middle-aged men with dyslipidemia. Safety of treatment, changes in risk factors, and incidence of coronary heart disease. *New England Journal of Medicine* 317(20): 1237-1245.
- 259. Muldoon MF, Manuck SB, Matthews KA (1990): Lowering cholesterol concentrations and mortality: a quantitative review of primary prevention trials. *BMJ* 301(6747): 309-314.
- 260. Muldoon MF, Manuck SB, Mendelsohn AB, Kaplan JR, Belle SH (2001): Cholesterol reduction and non-illness mortality: meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials. *BMJ* 322(7277): 11-15.
- 261. Zhang J, McKeown RE, Hussey JR, Thompson SJ, Woods JR, Ainsworth BE (2005): Low HDL cholesterol is associated with suicide attempt among young healthy women: the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Journal of Affective Disorders* 89(1-3): 25-33.
- 262. Zureik M, Courbon D, Ducimetiere P (1996): Serum cholesterol concentration and death from suicide in men: Paris prospective study I. BMJ 313(7058): 649-651.
- 263. Ellison LF, Morrison HI (2001): Low serum cholesterol concentration and risk of suicide. *Epidemiology* 12(2): 168-172.
- 264. Partonen T, Haukka J, Virtamo J, Taylor PR, Lonnqvist J (1999): Association of low serum total cholesterol with major depression and suicide. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 175: 259-262.
- 265. Neaton JD, Blackburn H, Jacobs D, Kuller L, Lee DJ, Sherwin R *et al* (1992): Serum cholesterol level and mortality findings for men screened in the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial Research Group. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 152(7): 1490-1500.
- 266. Lindberg G, Rastam L, Gullberg B, Eklund GA (1992): Low serum cholesterol concentration and short term mortality from injuries in men and women. *BMJ* 305(6848): 277-279.

- 267. Iribarren C, Reed DM, Wergowske G, Burchfiel CM, Dwyer JH (1995): Serum cholesterol level and mortality due to suicide and trauma in the Honolulu Heart Program. *Archives of Internal Medicine* 155(7): 695-700.
- 268. Vuksan-Cusa B, Marcinko D, Nad S, Jakovljevic M (2009): Differences in cholesterol and metabolic syndrome between bipolar disorder men with and without suicide attempts. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry* 33(1): 109-112.
- 269. Atmaca M, Kuloglu M, Tezcan E, Ustundag B, Bayik Y (2002): Serum leptin and cholesterol levels in patients with bipolar disorder. *Neuropsychobiology* 46(4): 176-179.
- 270. Lee HJ, Kim YK (2003): Serum lipid levels and suicide attempts. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 108(3): 215-221.
- 271. Diaz-Sastre C, Baca-Garcia E, Perez-Rodriguez MM, Garcia-Resa E, Ceverino A, Saiz-Ruiz J et al (2007): Low plasma cholesterol levels in suicidal males: a gender- and body mass index-matched case-control study of suicide attempters and nonattempters. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry 31(4): 901-905.
- 272. Perez-Rodriguez MM, Baca-Garcia E, Diaz-Sastre C, Garcia-Resa E, Ceverino A, Saiz-Ruiz J *et al* (2008): Low serum cholesterol may be associated with suicide attempt history. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry* 69(12): 1920-1927.
- 273. Marcinko D, Pivac N, Martinac M, Jakovljevic M, Mihaljevic-Peles A, Muck-Seler D (2007): Platelet serotonin and serum cholesterol concentrations in suicidal and non-suicidal male patients with a first episode of psychosis. *Psychiatry Research* 150(1): 105-108.
- 274. Marcinko D, Marcinko V, Karlovic D, Marcinko A, Martinac M, Begic D et al (2008): Serum lipid levels and suicidality among male patients with schizoaffective disorder. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry 32(1): 193-196.

- 275. Alvarez JC, Cremniter D, Gluck N, Quintin P, Leboyer M, Berlin I *et al* (2000): Low serum cholesterol in violent but not in non-violent suicide attempters. *Psychiatry Research* 95(2): 103-108.
- 276. Vevera J, Zukov I, Morcinek T, Papezova H (2003): Cholesterol concentrations in violent and non-violent women suicide attempters. *European Psychiatry* 18(1): 23-27.
- 277. Atmaca M, Kuloglu M, Tezcan E, Ustundag B (2003): Serum leptin and cholesterol levels in schizophrenic patients with and without suicide attempts. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 108(3): 208-214.
- 278. Atmaca M, Kuloglu M, Tezcan E, Ustundag B (2008): Serum leptin and cholesterol values in violent and non-violent suicide attempters. *Psychiatry Research* 158(1): 87-91.
- 279. Marcinko D, Martinac M, Karlovic D, Loncar C (2004): Cholesterol serum levels in violent and non-violent young male schizophrenic suicide attempters. *Psychiatria Danubina* 16(3): 161-164.
- 280. Lalovic A, Levy E, Luheshi G, Canetti L, Grenier E, Sequeira A *et al* (2007): Cholesterol content in brains of suicide completers. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology* 10(2): 159-166.
- 281. Sublette ME, Hibbeln JR, Galfalvy H, Oquendo MA, Mann JJ (2006): Omega-3 polyunsaturated essential fatty acid status as a predictor of future suicide risk. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 163(6): 1100-1102.
- 282. Huan M, Hamazaki K, Sun Y, Itomura M, Liu H, Kang W et al (2004): Suicide attempt and n-3 fatty acid levels in red blood cells: a case control study in China. *Biological Psychiatry* 56(7): 490-496.
- 283. Lalovic A, Levy E, Canetti L, Sequeira A, Montoudis A, Turecki G (2007): Fatty acid composition in postmortem brains of people who completed suicide. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience* 32(5): 363-370.
- 284. McNamara RK, Jandacek R, Rider T, Tso P, Dwivedi Y, Roberts RC et al (2009): Fatty acid composition of the postmortem prefrontal cortex of adolescent male and female suicide victims. Prostaglandins, Leukotrienes, and Essential Fatty Acids 80(1): 19-26.

- 285. Dietschy JM, Turley SD (2001): Cholesterol metabolism in the brain. *Current Opinion in Lipidology* 12(2): 105-112.
- 286. Lalovic, A, Klempan, T, Sequeira, A, Luheshi, G, and Turecki, G. Altered expression of lipid metabolism and immune response genes in the frontal cortex of suicide completers. *Journal of Affective Disorders*. In Press.
- 287. Lalovic A, Merkens L, Russell L, Arsenault-Lapierre G, Nowaczyk MJ, Porter FD *et al* (2004): Cholesterol metabolism and suicidality in Smith-Lemli-Opitz syndrome carriers. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 161(11): 2123-2126.
- 288. Engelberg H (1992): Low serum cholesterol and suicide. *Lancet* 339(8795): 727-729.
- 289. Diebold K, Michel G, Schweizer J, Diebold-Dorsam M, Fiehn W, Kohl B (1998): Are psychoactive-drug-induced changes in plasma lipid and lipoprotein levels of significance for clinical remission in psychiatric disorders? *Pharmacopsychiatry* 31(2): 60-67.
- 290. Buydens-Branchey L, Branchey M, Hudson J, Fergeson P (2000): Low HDL cholesterol, aggression and altered central serotonergic activity. *Psychiatry Research* 93(2): 93-102.
- 291. Sperner-Unterweger B (2005): Immunological aetiology of major psychiatric disorders: evidence and therapeutic implications. *Drugs* 65(11): 1493-1520.
- 292. Penttinen J (1995): Hypothesis: low serum cholesterol, suicide, and interleukin-2. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 141(8): 716-718.
- 293. Maes M, Smith R, Christophe A, Vandoolaeghe E, Van Gastel A, Neels H et al (1997): Lower serum high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL-C) in major depression and in depressed men with serious suicidal attempts: relationship with immune-inflammatory markers. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica* 95(3): 212-221.
- 294. Chattopadhyay A, Paila YD (2007): Lipid-protein interactions, regulation and dysfunction of brain cholesterol. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 354(3): 627-633.

- 295. Mauch DH, Nagler K, Schumacher S, Goritz C, Muller EC, Otto A *et al* (2001): CNS synaptogenesis promoted by glia-derived cholesterol. *Science* 294(5545): 1354-1357.
- 296. Iwamoto K, Kato T (2006): Gene expression profiling in schizophrenia and related mental disorders. *Neuroscientist* 12(4): 349-361.
- 297. Rezin GT, Amboni G, Zugno AI, Quevedo J, Streck EL (2009): Mitochondrial dysfunction and psychiatric disorders. *Neurochemical Research* 34(6): 1021-1029.
- 298. Zhou L, Zhu DY (2009): Neuronal nitric oxide synthase: structure, subcellular localization, regulation, and clinical implications. *Nitric Oxide* 20(4): 223-230.
- 299. Kim YK, Paik JW, Lee SW, Yoon D, Han C, Lee BH (2006): Increased plasma nitric oxide level associated with suicide attempt in depressive patients. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry* 30(6): 1091-1096.
- 300. Lee BH, Lee SW, Yoon D, Lee HJ, Yang JC, Shim SH et al (2006): Increased plasma nitric oxide metabolites in suicide attempters. *Neuropsychobiology* 53(3): 127-132.
- 301. Rujescu D, Giegling I, Mandelli L, Schneider B, Hartmann AM, Schnabel A et al (2008): NOS-I and -III gene variants are differentially associated with facets of suicidal behavior and aggression-related traits. American Journal of Medical Genetics B Neuropsychiatric Genetics 147B(1): 42-48.
- 302. Saiz PA, Garcia-Portilla MP, Paredes B, Arango C, Morales B, Alvarez V et al (2007): Lack of association between endothelial nitric oxide synthase (NOS3) gene polymorphisms and suicide attempts. *Behavioral and Brain Functions* 3: 32.
- 303. Reif A, Jacob CP, Rujescu D, Herterich S, Lang S, Gutknecht L et al (2009): Influence of functional variant of neuronal nitric oxide synthase on impulsive behaviors in humans. Archives of General Psychiatry 66(1): 41-50.

- 304. Vawter MP, Thatcher L, Usen N, Hyde TM, Kleinman JE, Freed WJ (2002): Reduction of synapsin in the hippocampus of patients with bipolar disorder and schizophrenia. *Molecular Psychiatry* 7(6): 571-578.
- 305. Honer WG, Falkai P, Bayer TA, Xie J, Hu L, Li HY *et al* (2002): Abnormalities of SNARE mechanism proteins in anterior frontal cortex in severe mental illness. *Cerebral Cortex* 12(4): 349-356.
- 306. Wasserman D, Geijer T, Rozanov V, Wasserman J (2005): Suicide attempt and basic mechanisms in neural conduction: relationships to the SCN8A and VAMP4 genes. *American Journal of Medical Genetics B Neuropsychiatric Genetics* 133B(1): 116-119.
- 307. Cook EH, Scherer SW (2008): Copy-number variations associated with neuropsychiatric conditions. *Nature* 455(7215): 919-923.
- 308. Carthew RW, Sontheimer EJ (2009): Origins and Mechanisms of miRNAs and siRNAs. *Cell* 136(4): 642-655.
- 309. Hansen T, Olsen L, Lindow M, Jakobsen KD, Ullum H, Jonsson E et al (2007): Brain expressed microRNAs implicated in schizophrenia etiology. PLoS ONE 2(9): e873.
- 310. Chen H, Wang N, Burmeister M, McInnis MG (2009): MicroRNA expression changes in lymphoblastoid cell lines in response to lithium treatment. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology* 12: 975-981.
- 311. Abu-Elneel K, Liu T, Gazzaniga FS, Nishimura Y, Wall DP, Geschwind DH et al (2008): Heterogeneous dysregulation of microRNAs across the autism spectrum. *Neurogenetics* 9(3): 153-161.
- 312. Wilson IM, Davies JJ, Weber M, Brown CJ, Alvarez CE, MacAulay C *et al* (2006): Epigenomics: mapping the methylome. *Cell Cycle* 5(2): 155-158.
- 313. Fiori LM, Turecki G (2010): Gene Expression Profiling of Suicide Completers. *European Psychiatry* 25(5): 287-290.
- 314. Sequeira A, Turecki G (2006): Genome wide gene expression studies in mood disorders. OMICS 10(4): 444-454.

- 315. Altar CA, Vawter MP, Ginsberg SD (2009): Target identification for CNS diseases by transcriptional profiling. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 34(1): 18-54.
- 316. Yanagi M, Shirakawa O, Kitamura N, Okamura K, Sakurai K, Nishiguchi N et al (2005): Association of 14-3-3 epsilon gene haplotype with completed suicide in Japanese. *Journal of Human Genetics* 50(4): 210-216.
- 317. Brent DA, Mann JJ (2005): Family genetic studies, suicide, and suicidal behavior. *American Journal of Medical Genetics C Seminars in Medical Genetics* 133(1): 13-24.
- 318. Gwadry FG, Sequeira A, Hoke G, Ffrench-Mullen JM, Turecki G (2005): Molecular characterization of suicide by microarray analysis. *American Journal of Medical Genetics C Seminars in Medical Genetics* 133C(1): 48-56.
- 319. Ernst C, Bureau A, Turecki G (2008): Application of microarray outlier detection methodology to psychiatric research. *BMC Psychiatry* 8: 29.
- 320. Ikeguchi Y, Bewley MC, Pegg AE (2006): Aminopropyltransferases: function, structure and genetics. *Journal of Biochemistry (Tokyo)* 139(1): 1-9.
- 321. Wang Y, Casero RA (2006): Mammalian polyamine catabolism: a therapeutic target, a pathological problem, or both? *Journal of Biochemistry* (*Tokyo*) 139(1): 17-25.
- 322. Cabella C, Gardini G, Corpillo D, Testore G, Bedino S, Solinas SP *et al* (2001): Transport and metabolism of agmatine in rat hepatocyte cultures. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 268(4): 940-947.
- 323. Masuko T, Kusama-Eguchi K, Sakata K, Kusama T, Chaki S, Okuyama S et al (2003): Polyamine transport, accumulation, and release in brain. Journal of Neurochemistry 84(3): 610-617.
- 324. Goracke-Postle CJ, Overland AC, Stone LS, Fairbanks CA (2007): Agmatine transport into spinal nerve terminals is modulated by polyamine analogs. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 100(1): 132-141.

- 325. Bernstein HG, Muller M (1999): The cellular localization of the L-ornithine decarboxylase/polyamine system in normal and diseased central nervous systems. *Progress in Neurobiology* 57(5): 485-505.
- 326. Piletz JE, May PJ, Wang G, Zhu H (2003): Agmatine crosses the bloodbrain barrier. *Annals of the New York Academy of Science* 1009: 64-74.
- 327. Shin WW, Fong WF, Pang SF, Wong PC (1985): Limited blood-brain barrier transport of polyamines. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 44(4): 1056-1059.
- 328. Seiler N (1981): Polyamine Metabolism and Function in Brain. *Neurochemistry International* 3(2): 95-110.
- 329. Morrison LD, Becker L, Kish SJ (1993): S-adenosylmethionine decarboxylase in human brain. Regional distribution and influence of aging. *Brain Research Developmental Brain Research* 73(2): 237-241.
- 330. Morrison LD, Becker L, Ang LC, Kish SJ (1995): Polyamines in human brain: regional distribution and influence of aging. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 65(2): 636-642.
- 331. Zoli M, Pedrazzi P, Agnati LF (1996): Regional and cellular distribution of spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase (SSAT) mRNA in the rat central nervous system. *Neuroscience Letters* 207(1): 13-16.
- 332. Morrison LD, Cao XC, Kish SJ (1998): Ornithine decarboxylase in human brain: influence of aging, regional distribution, and Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 71(1): 288-294.
- 333. Laube G, Veh RW (1997): Astrocytes, not neurons, show most prominent staining for spermidine/spermine-like immunoreactivity in adult rat brain. *Glia* 19(2): 171-179.
- 334. Laube G, Bernstein HG, Wolf G, Veh RW (2002): Differential distribution of spermidine/spermine-like immunoreactivity in neurons of the adult rat brain. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 444(4): 369-386.
- 335. Krauss M, Langnaese K, Richter K, Brunk I, Wieske M, Ahnert-Hilger G *et al* (2006): Spermidine synthase is prominently expressed in the striatal

patch compartment and in putative interneurones of the matrix compartment. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 97(1): 174-189.

- 336. Iyo AH, Zhu MY, Ordway GA, Regunathan S (2006): Expression of arginine decarboxylase in brain regions and neuronal cells. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 96(4): 1042-1050.
- 337. Schuber F (1989): Influence of polyamines on membrane functions. *Biochemical Journal* 260(1): 1-10.
- 338. Drolet G (1986): Radical Scavenging Properties of Polyamines. *Phytochemistry* 25(2): 367-371.
- 339. Lovaas E, Carlin G (1991): Spermine: an anti-oxidant and antiinflammatory agent. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine* 11(5): 455-461.
- 340. Deckardt K, Pujol JF, Belin MF, Seiler N, Jouvet M (1978): Increase of ornithine decarboxylase activity elicited by reserpine in the peripheral and central monoaminergic systems of the rat. *Neurochemical Research* 3(6): 745-753.
- 341. Seiler N (2004): Catabolism of polyamines. Amino Acids 26(3): 217-233.
- 342. Lynch DR, Gallagher MJ (1996): Inhibition of N-methyl-D-aspartate receptors by haloperidol: developmental and pharmacological characterization in native and recombinant receptors. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics* 279(1): 154-161.
- 343. Shim SS, Grant ER, Singh S, Gallagher MJ, Lynch DR (1999): Actions of butyrophenones and other antipsychotic agents at NMDA receptors: relationship with clinical effects and structural considerations. *Neurochemistry International* 34(2): 167-175.
- 344. Li YF, Gong ZH, Cao JB, Wang HL, Luo ZP, Li J (2003): Antidepressantlike effect of agmatine and its possible mechanism. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 469(1-3): 81-88.
- 345. Richardson-Andrews RC (1983): A central role for the polyamines in the aetiology of schizophrenia. *Medical Hypotheses* 11(2): 157-166.

- 346. Richardson-Andrews RC (1985): The side effects of antimalarial drugs indicates a polyamine involvement in both schizophrenia and depression. *Medical Hypotheses* 18: 11-18.
- 347. Svinarev VI (1987): [Serum spermidine levels of schizophrenic patients]. *Zhurnal Nevropatologii i Psikhiatrii Imeni S S Korsakova* 87(5): 732-734.
- 348. Das I, De Belleroche J, Essali MA, Richardson-Andrews RC, and Hirsch SR. (1989): Blood polyamine in schizophrenia. Schizophrenia Research 2(1-2), 146.
- 349. Das I, De Belleroche J, Essali M, Richardson-Andrews R, and Hirsch S. (1990): Plasma Polyamine Oxidase in Normal and Schizophrenic Subjects. *Schizophrenia Research* 3(1), 37-38.
- 350. Das I, Adams C, Essali MA, De Belleroche J, and Hirsch SR. (1992): Blood polyamines in schizophrenia: A study of clozapine in drug resistant schizophrenic patients. *Schizophrenia Research* 6(2), 175.
- 351. Ramchand CN, Das I, Gliddon A, Hirsch SR (1994): Role of polyamines in the membrane pathology of schizophrenia. A study using fibroblasts from schizophrenic patients and normal controls. *Schizophrenia Research* 13(3): 249-253.
- 352. Das I, Ramchand CN, Gliddon A, Hirsch SR (1998): Nitric oxide, free radicals and polyamines may have a role in the membrane pathology of schizophrenia. *Neuropsychobiology* 37(2): 65-67.
- 353. Gilad GM, Gilad VH, Casanova MF, Casero RA (1995): Polyamines and their metabolizing enzymes in human frontal cortex and hippocampus: preliminary measurements in affective disorders. *Biological Psychiatry* 38(4): 227-234.
- 354. Flayeh KA (1988): Spermidine Oxidase Activity in Serum of Normal and Schizophrenic Subjects. *Clinical Chemistry* 34(2): 401-403.
- 355. Dahel KA, Al Saffar NM, Flayeh KA (2001): Polyamine oxidase activity in sera of depressed and schizophrenic patients after ECT treatment. *Neurochemical Research* 26(4): 415-418.

- 356. Meltzer HY, Arora RC, Jackman H, Pscheidt G, Smith MD (1980): Platelet monoamine oxidase and plasma amine oxidase in psychiatric patients. *Schizophrenia Bulletin* 6(2): 213-219.
- 357. Baron M, Asnis L, Gruen R, Levitt M (1983): Plasma amine oxidase and genetic vulnerability to schizophrenia. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 40(3): 275-279.
- 358. Baron M, Risch N, Levitt M, Gruen R (1985): Genetic analysis of plasma amine oxidase activity in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Research* 15(2): 121-132.
- 359. Bernstein HG, Henning H, Danos P, Krell D, Falkai P, Stark H, Baumann B, and Bogerts B. A morphometric and immunohistochemical study of the rostral entorhinal cortex in neuropsychiatric patients and controls: heterotopically displaced lamina II neurons are not indicative of schizophrenia. Society for Neuroscience 1997 Annual Meeting, New Orleans, United States of America, 1997
- 360. Bernstein HG, Grecksch G, Becker A, Hollt V, and Bogerts B. (1998): Postnatal lesions by ibotenic acid of the ventral hippocampus in rats: morphofunctional consequence. *Pharmacopsychiatry* 31, 9.
- 361. Bondy SC, Mitchell CL, Rahmaan S, Mason G (1987): Regional variation in the response of cerebral ornithine decarboxylase to electroconvulsive shock. *Neurochemical Pathology* 7(2): 129-141.
- 362. Orzi F, Zoli M, Passarelli F, Ferraguti F, Fieschi C, Agnati LF (1990): Repeated electroconvulsive shock increases glial fibrillary acidic protein, ornithine decarboxylase, somatostatin and cholecystokinin immunoreactivities in the hippocampal formation of the rat. *Brain Research* 533(2): 223-231.
- 363. Middleton FA, Mirnics K, Pierri JN, Lewis DA, Levitt P (2002): Gene expression profiling reveals alterations of specific metabolic pathways in schizophrenia. *Journal of Neuroscience* 22(7): 2718-2729.
- 364. Olney JW (1989): Excitatory amino acids and neuropsychiatric disorders. Biological Psychiatry 26(5): 505-525.

- 365. Genedani S, Saltini S, Benelli A, Filaferro M, Bertolini A (2001): Influence of SAMe on the modifications of brain polyamine levels in an animal model of depression. *Neuroreport* 12(18): 3939-3942.
- 366. Halaris A, Zhu H, Feng Y, Piletz JE (1999): Plasma agmatine and platelet imidazoline receptors in depression. *Annals of the New York Academy of Science* 881: 445-451.
- 367. Layer RT, Popik P, Olds T, Skolnick P (1995): Antidepressant-like actions of the polyamine site NMDA antagonist, eliprodil (SL-82.0715). *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior* 52(3): 621-627.
- 368. Williams A, Girard C, Jui D, Sabina A, Katz DL (2005): Sadenosylmethionine (SAMe) as treatment for depression: a systematic review. *Clinical and Investigative Medicine* 28(3): 132-139.
- 369. Mischoulon D, Fava M (2002): Role of S-adenosyl-L-methionine in the treatment of depression: a review of the evidence. *American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 76(5): 1158S-1161S.
- 370. Gilad GM, Gilad VH (1983): Polyamine biosynthesis is required for survival of sympathetic neurons after axonal injury. *Brain Research* 273(1): 191-194.
- 371. Aricioglu F, Regunathan S, Piletz JE (2003): Is agmatine an endogenous factor against stress? Annals of the New York Academy of Science 1009: 127-132.
- 372. Gilad GM, Gilad VH, Wyatt RJ, Casero RA (1992): Chronic lithium treatment prevents the dexamethasone-induced increase of brain polyamine metabolizing enzymes. *Life Science* 50(18): L149-L154.
- 373. Gilad VH, Rabey JM, Kimiagar Y, Gilad GM (2001): The polyamine stress response: tissue-, endocrine-, and developmental-dependent regulation. *Biochemical Pharmacology* 61(2): 207-213.
- 374. Hayashi Y, Tanaka J, Morizumi Y, Kitamura Y, Hattori Y (2004): Polyamine levels in brain and plasma after acute restraint or waterimmersion restraint stress in mice. *Neuroscience Letters* 355(1-2): 57-60.

- 375. Lee SH, Jung BH, Kim SY, Lee EH, Chung BC (2006): The antistress effect of ginseng total saponin and ginsenoside Rg3 and Rb1 evaluated by brain polyamine level under immobilization stress. *Pharmacological Research* 54(1): 46-49.
- 376. Gilad GM, Gilad VH (2002): Stress-induced dynamic changes in mouse brain polyamines. Role in behavioral reactivity. *Brain Research* 943(1): 23-29.
- 377. Sohn HS, Park YN, Lee SR (2002): Effect of immobilization stress on brain polyamine levels in spontaneously hypertensive and Wistar-Kyoto rats. *Brain Research Bulletins* 57(5): 575-579.
- 378. Halonen T, Sivenius J, Miettinen R, Halmekyto M, Kauppinen R, Sinervirta R et al (1993): Elevated seizure threshold and impaired spatial learning in transgenic mice with putrescine overproduction in the brain. European Journal of Neuroscience 5(9): 1233-1239.
- 379. Kaasinen SK, Oksman M, Alhonen L, Tanila H, Janne J (2004): Spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase overexpression in mice induces hypoactivity and spatial learning impairment. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry, and Behavior* 78(1): 35-45.
- 380. Janne J, Alhonen L, Pietila M, Keinanen TA (2004): Genetic approaches to the cellular functions of polyamines in mammals. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 271(5): 877-894.
- 381. Butler SR, Schanberg SM (1977): Effect of maternal deprivation on polyamine metabolism in preweanling rat brain and heart. *Life Science* 21(6): 877-884.
- 382. Gilad VH, Rabey JM, Eliyayev Y, Gilad GM (2000): Different effects of acute neonatal stressors and long-term postnatal handling on stress-induced changes in behavior and in ornithine decarboxylase activity of adult rats. *Brain Research Developmental Brain Research* 120(2): 255-259.
- 383. Barden N (2004): Implication of the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis in the physiopathology of depression. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience* 29(3): 185-193.

- 384. Gilad GM, Gilad VH (1996): Brain polyamine stress response: recurrence after repetitive stressor and inhibition by lithium. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 67(5): 1992-1996.
- 385. Richards JF, Fox K, Peng T, Hsiao J, Gout PW (1990): Inhibition of hormone-stimulated ornithine decarboxylase activity by lithium chloride. *Life Science* 47(3): 233-240.
- 386. Gilad GM, Gilad VH (2007): Astroglia growth retardation and increased microglia proliferation by lithium and ornithine decarboxylase inhibitor in rat cerebellar cultures: Cytotoxicity by combined lithium and polyamine inhibition. *Journal of Neuroscience Research* 85(3): 594-601.
- 387. Baron M, Gruen R, Levitt M, Kane J (1982): Neuroleptic drug effect on platelet monoamine oxidase and plasma amine oxidase in schizophrenia. *Psychiatry Research* 7(2): 179-187.
- 388. Gruen R, Baron M, Levitt M, Kane J (1985): Plasma amine oxidase and clinical features of schizophrenia. *American Journal of Psychiatry* 142(8): 972-973.
- 389. Aricioglu F, Altunbas H (2003): Is agmatine an endogenous anxiolytic/antidepressant agent? Annals of the New York Academy of Science 1009: 136-140.
- 390. Li YF, Chen HX, Liu Y, Zhang YZ, Liu YQ, Li J (2006): Agmatine increases proliferation of cultured hippocampal progenitor cells and hippocampal neurogenesis in chronically stressed mice. *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica* 27(11): 1395-1400.
- 391. Zawia NH, Bondy SC (1990): Electrically stimulated rapid gene expression in the brain: ornithine decarboxylase and c-fos. *Brain Research Molecular Brain Research* 7(3): 243-247.
- 392. Fiori LM, Turecki G (2010): Genetic and Epigenetic Influences on Expression of Spermine Synthase and Spermine Oxidase in Suicide Completers. *International Journal of Neuropsychopharmacology* 13(6): 725-736.

- 393. Pegg AE (2009): Mammalian polyamine metabolism and function. *IUBMB Life* 61(9): 880-894.
- 394. Shin WW, Fong WF, Pang SF, Wong PC (1985): Limited blood-brain barrier transport of polyamines. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 44(4): 1056-1059.
- 395. Oldendorf WH, Szabo J (1976): Amino acid assignment to one of three blood-brain barrier amino acid carriers. *American Journal of Physiology* 230(1): 94-98.
- 396. Kim C, Lesage A, Seguin M, Chawky N, Vanier C, Lipp O et al (2003): Patterns of co-morbidity in male suicide completers. *Psychological Medicine* 33(7): 1299-1309.
- 397. Bird ED, Vonsattel JP (1993): The development of a brain bank. *Journal of Neural Transmission Supplements* 39: 17-23.
- 398. Nolte J. (2002): *The Human Brain: An Introduction to its Functional Neuroanatomy*, 5th ed. St Louis, MO: Mosby Inc.
- 399. Katz S, Irizarry RA, Lin X, Tripputi M, Porter MW (2006): A summarization approach for Affymetrix GeneChip data using a reference training set from a large, biologically diverse database. *BMC Bioinformatics* 7: 464.
- 400. Wu H, Kerr MK, Cui X, Churchill GA (2003): MAANOVA: a software package for the analysis of spotted cDNA microarray experiments. In Parmigiani G, Garrett ES, Irizarry RA, Zeger SL, editors. *The Analysis of Gene Expression Data: Methods and Software*. New York: Springer.
- 401. Cui X, Hwang JT, Qiu J, Blades NJ, Churchill GA (2005): Improved statistical tests for differential gene expression by shrinking variance components estimates. *Biostatistics* 6(1): 59-75.
- 402. Benjamini Y, Hochberg Y (1995): Controlling the False Discovery Rate A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society Series B-Methodological* 57(1): 289-300.

- 403. Efron B (2004): Large-scale simultaneous hypothesis testing: The choice of a null hypothesis. *Journal of the American Statistical Association* 99(465): 96-104.
- 404. Kaufman L, Rousseeuw PJ (1990): *Finding Groups in Data: An Introduction to Cluster Analysis*. New York: Wiley-Interscience.
- 405. Liu W, Saint DA (2002): A new quantitative method of real time reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction assay based on simulation of polymerase chain reaction kinetics. *Analytical Biochemistry* 302(1): 52-59.
- 406. Friedman DL, Roberts R (1994): Compartmentation of brain-type creatine kinase and ubiquitous mitochondrial creatine kinase in neurons: evidence for a creatine phosphate energy shuttle in adult rat brain. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 343(3): 500-511.
- 407. Frostesjo L, Holm I, Grahn B, Page AW, Bestor TH, Heby O (1997): Interference with DNA methyltransferase activity and genome methylation during F9 teratocarcinoma stem cell differentiation induced by polyamine depletion. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 272(7): 4359-4366.
- 408. Duranton B, Keith G, Goss, Bergmann C, Schleiffer R, Raul F (1998): Concomitant changes in polyamine pools and DNA methylation during growth inhibition of human colonic cancer cells. *Experimental Cell Research* 243(2): 319-325.
- 409. Ara AI, Xia M, Ramani K, Mato JM, Lu SC (2008): S-adenosylmethionine inhibits lipopolysaccharide-induced gene expression via modulation of histone methylation. *Hepatology* 47(5): 1655-1666.
- 410. Schipper RG, Van Den Heuvel LP, Verhofstad AA, De Abreu RA (2007): Polyamines and DNA methylation in childhood leukaemia. *Biochemical Society Transactions* 35(Pt 2): 331-335.
- 411. Guidotti A, Ruzicka W, Grayson DR, Veldic M, Pinna G, Davis JM *et al* (2007): S-adenosyl methionine and DNA methyltransferase-1 mRNA overexpression in psychosis. *Neuroreport* 18(1): 57-60.
- 412. Aston C, Jiang L, Sokolov BP (2005): Transcriptional profiling reveals evidence for signaling and oligodendroglial abnormalities in the temporal

cortex from patients with major depressive disorder. *Molecular Psychiatry* 10(3): 309-322.

- 413. Mangold U (2005): The antizyme family: polyamines and beyond. *IUBMB Life* 57(10): 671-676.
- 414. Maycox PR, Kelly F, Taylor A, Bates S, Reid J, Logendra R *et al* (2009): Analysis of gene expression in two large schizophrenia cohorts identifies multiple changes associated with nerve terminal function. *Molecular Psychiatry* 14(12): 1083-1094.
- 415. Vockley JG, Jenkinson CP, Shukla H, Kern RM, Grody WW, Cederbaum SD (1996): Cloning and characterization of the human type II arginase gene. *Genomics* 38(2): 118-123.
- 416. Morris SM, Jr. (2009): Recent advances in arginine metabolism: roles and regulation of the arginases. *British Journal of Pharmacology* 157(6): 922-930.
- 417. Elgun S, Kumbasar H (2000): Increased serum arginase activity in depressed patients. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry 24(2): 227-232.
- 418. Yanik M, Vural H, Kocyigit A, Tutkun H, Zoroglu SS, Herken H *et al* (2003): Is the arginine-nitric oxide pathway involved in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia? *Neuropsychobiology* 47(2): 61-65.
- 419. Yanik M, Vural H, Tutkun H, Zoroglu SS, Savas HA, Herken H et al (2004): The role of the arginine-nitric oxide pathway in the pathogenesis of bipolar affective disorder. European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience 254(1): 43-47.
- 420. Hemmer W, Wallimann T (1993): Functional aspects of creatine kinase in brain. *Developmental Neuroscience* 15(3-5): 249-260.
- 421. Ernst C, Mechawar N, Turecki G (2009): Suicide neurobiology. *Progress in Neurobiology* 89(4): 315-333.
- 422. Wyss M, Kaddurah-Daouk R (2000): Creatine and creatinine metabolism. *Physiological Reviews* 80(3): 1107-1213.

- 423. Martins-de-Souza D, Gattaz WF, Schmitt A, Novello JC, Marangoni S, Turck CW *et al* (2009): Proteome analysis of schizophrenia patients Wernicke's area reveals an energy metabolism dysregulation. *BMC Psychiatry* 9: 17.
- 424. Martins-de-Souza D, Gattaz WF, Schmitt A, Rewerts C, Maccarrone G, Dias-Neto E *et al* (2009): Prefrontal cortex shotgun proteome analysis reveals altered calcium homeostasis and immune system imbalance in schizophrenia. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience* 259(3): 151-163.
- 425. Schulze A (2003): Creatine deficiency syndromes. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry* 244(1-2): 143-150.
- 426. Rizzo WB, Craft DA (1991): Sjogren-Larsson syndrome. Deficient activity of the fatty aldehyde dehydrogenase component of fatty alcohol:NAD+ oxidoreductase in cultured fibroblasts. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 88(5): 1643-1648.
- 427. Kessler RC, Aguilar-Gaxiola S, Alonso J, Chatterji S, Lee S, Ormel J et al (2009): The global burden of mental disorders: An update from the WHO World Mental Health (WMH) Surveys. Epidemiologia e Psichiatria Sociale-An International Journal for Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences 18(1): 23-33.
- 428. Levinson DF (2006): The genetics of depression: a review. *Biological Psychiatry* 60(2): 84-92.
- 429. Mosing MA, Gordon SD, Medland SE, Statham DJ, Nelson EC, Heath AC et al (2009): Genetic and Environmental Influences on the Co-Morbidity Between Depression, Panic Disorder, Agoraphobia, and Social Phobia: A Twin Study. *Depression and Anxiety* 26(11): 1004-1011.
- 430. Weissman MM, Wickramaratne P, Nomura Y, Warner V, Verdeli H, Pilowsky DJ *et al* (2005): Families at high and low risk for depression A 3-generation study. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 62(1): 29-36.
- 431. Gaiteri C, Guilloux JP, Lewis DA, Sibille E (2010): Altered gene synchrony suggests a combined hormone-mediated dysregulated state in major depression. *PLoS ONE* 5(4): e9970.
- 432. Fiori LM, Turecki G (2009): Association of the SAT1 In/del Polymorphism with Suicide Completion. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet* 153B(3): 825-829.
- 433. Vaquero-Lorenzo C, Riaza Bermudo-Soriano C, Perez-Rodriguez MM, Diaz-Hernandez M, Lopez-Castroman J, Fernandez-Piqueras J et al (2009): Positive association between SAT-1 -1415T/C polymorphism and anxiety. *American Journal of Medical Genetics B Neuropsychiatric Genetics* 150B(4): 515-519.
- 434. Bermudo-Soriano CR, Vaquero-Lorenzo C, Diaz-Hernandez M, Perez-Rodriguez MM, Fernandez-Piqueras J, Saiz-Ruiz J et al (2009): SAT-1 -1415T/C polymorphism and susceptibility to schizophrenia. Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology & Biological Psychiatry 33(2): 345-348.
- 435. Brezo J, Paris J, Barker ED, Tremblay R, Vitaro F, Zoccolillo M *et al* (2007): Natural history of suicidal behaviors in a population-based sample of young adults. *Psychological Medicine* 37(11): 1563-1574.
- 436. Brezo J, Paris J, Vitaro F, Hebert M, Tremblay RE, Turecki G (2008): Predicting suicide attempts in young adults with histories of childhood abuse. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 193(2): 134-139.
- 437. Fergusson DM, Woodward LJ, Horwood LJ (2000): Risk factors and life processes associated with the onset of suicidal behaviour during adolescence and early adulthood. *Psychological Medicine* 30(1): 23-39.
- 438. Brezo J, Bureau A, Merette C, Jomphe V, Barker ED, Vitaro F *et al* (2009): Differences and similarities in the serotonergic diathesis for suicide attempts and mood disorders: a 22-year longitudinal gene-environment study. *Molecular Psychiatry*.
- 439. Brezo J, Barker ED, Paris J, Hebert M, Vitaro F, Tremblay RE *et al* (2008): Childhood Trajectories of Anxiousness and Disruptiveness as Predictors of

Suicide Attempts. *Archives of Pediatrics & Adolescent Medicine* 162(11): 1015-1021.

- 440. The International HapMap Consortium (2003): The International HapMap Project. *Nature* 426(6968): 789-796.
- 441. de Bakker PIW, Yelensky R, Pe'er I, Gabriel SB, Daly MJ, Altshuler D (2005): Efficiency and power in genetic association studies. *Nature Genetics* 37(11): 1217-1223.
- 442. Straus MA (1979): Measuring Intrafamily Conflict and Violence: The Conflict Tactics (CT) Scales. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 41(1): 75-88.
- 443. Straus MA, Hamby SL, BoneyMcCoy S, Sugarman DB (1996): The revised Conflict Tactics Scales (CTS2) - Development and preliminary psychometric data. *Journal of Family Issues* 17(3): 283-316.
- 444. Felitti VJ, Anda RF, Nordenberg D, Williamson DF, Spitz AM, Edwards V et al (1998): Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults The adverse childhood experiences (ACE) study. American Journal of Preventive Medicine 14(4): 245-258.
- 445. Tremblay RE, Loeber R, Gagnon C, Charlebois P, Larivee S, Leblanc M (1991): Disruptive Boys with Stable and Unstable High Fighting Behavior Patterns During Junior Elementary-School. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology* 19(3): 285-300.
- 446. Blishen BR, Carroll WK, Moore C (1987): The 1981 Socioeconomic Index for Occupations in Canada. *Canadian Review of Sociology and Anthropology-Revue Canadienne de Sociologie et D Anthropologie* 24(4): 465-488.
- 447. Breton JJ, Bergeron L, Valla JP, Berthiaume C, St Georges M (1998): Diagnostic Interview Schedule for Children (DISC-2.25) in Quebec: reliability findings in light of the MECA study. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry* 37(11): 1167-1174.

- 448. Robins LN, Helzer JE, Ratcliff KS, Seyfried W (1982): Validity of the Diagnostic Interview Schedule, .2. Dsm-Iii Diagnoses. *Psychological Medicine* 12(4): 855-870.
- 449. Beck RW, Morris JB, Beck AT (1974): Cross-Validation of Suicidal-Intent-Scale. *Psychological Reports* 34(2): 445-446.
- 450. Simard LR, Prescott G, Rochette C, Morgan K, Lemieux B, Mathieu J et al (1994): Linkage disequilibrium analysis of childhood-onset spinal muscular atrophy (SMA) in the French-Canadian population. *Human Molecular Genetics* 3(3): 459-463.
- 451. Heyer E, Tremblay M (1995): Variability of the Genetic Contribution of Quebec Population Founders Associated to Some Deleterious Genes. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 56(4): 970-978.
- 452. Fisher SA, Lewis CM, Wise LH (2001): Detecting population outliers and null alleles in linkage data: Application to GAW12 asthma studies. *Genetic Epidemiology* 21: S18-S23.
- 453. Rinaldo A, Bacanu SA, Devlin B, Sonpar V, Wasserman L, Roeder K (2005): Characterization of multilocus linkage disequilibrium. *Genetic Epidemiology* 28(3): 193-206.
- 454. Schaid DJ, Rowland CM, Tines DE, Jacobson RM, Poland GA (2002): Score tests for association between traits and haplotypes when linkage phase is ambiguous. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 70(2): 425-434.
- 455. Dudbridge F (2003): Pedigree disequilibrium tests for multilocus haplotypes. *Genetic Epidemiology* 25(2): 115-121.
- 456. McClelland GH, Judd CM (1993): Statistical Difficulties of Detecting Interactions and Moderator Effects. *Psychological Bulletin* 114(2): 376-390.
- 457. Holmbeck GN (2002): Post-hoc probing of significant moderational and mediational effects in studies of pediatric populations. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology* 27(1): 87-96.
- 458. Baron RM, Kenny DA (1986): The Moderator Mediator Variable Distinction in Social Psychological-Research Conceptual, Strategic, and

Statistical Considerations. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology* 51(6): 1173-1182.

- 459. Cason AL, Ikeguchi Y, Skinner C, Wood TC, Holden KR, Lubs HA et al (2003): X-linked spermine synthase gene (SMS) defect: the first polyamine deficiency syndrome. *European Journal of Human Genetics* 11(12): 937-944.
- 460. de Alencastro G, McCloskey DE, Kliemann SE, Maranduba CM, Pegg AE, Wang X *et al* (2008): New SMS mutation leads to a striking reduction in spermine synthase protein function and a severe form of Snyder-Robinson X-linked recessive mental retardation syndrome. *J Med Genet* 45(8): 539-543.
- 461. Kesler SR, Schwartz C, Stevenson RE, Reiss AL (2009): The impact of spermine synthase (SMS) mutations on brain morphology. *Neurogenetics* 10(4): 299-305.
- 462. Becerra-Solano LE, Butler J, Castaneda-Cisneros G, McCloskey DE, Wang X, Pegg AE *et al* (2009): A missense mutation, p.V132G, in the X-linked spermine synthase gene (SMS) causes Snyder-Robinson syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics A* 149A(3): 328-335.
- 463. De La Vega FM, Isaac HI, Scafe CR (2006): A tool for selecting SNPs for association studies based on observed linkage disequilibrium patterns. *Pacific Symposium on Biocomputing* : 487-498.
- 464. Turecki G (2005): Dissecting the suicide phenotype: the role of impulsiveaggressive behaviours. *Journal of Psychiatry and Neuroscience* 30(6): 398-408.
- 465. World Health Organization. (2000): World Health Report 2000. Health Systems: Improving Performance. Geneva, World Health Organization.
- 466. Voracek M, Loibl LM (2007): Genetics of suicide: a systematic review of twin studies. *Wiener Klinische Wochenschrift* 119(15-16): 463-475.
- 467. Hawton K (2000): Sex and suicide. Gender differences in suicidal behaviour. *British Journal of Psychiatry* 177: 484-485.

- 468. Schneider B, Wetterling T, Sargk D, Schneider F, Schnabel A, Maurer K et al (2006): Axis I disorders and personality disorders as risk factors for suicide. European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience 256(1): 17-27.
- 469. McGirr A, Seguin M, Renaud J, Benkelfat C, Alda M, Turecki G (2006): Gender and risk factors for suicide: evidence for heterogeneity in predisposing mechanisms in a psychological autopsy study. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry* 67(10): 1612-1617.
- 470. Oquendo MA, Bongiovi-Garcia ME, Galfalvy H, Goldberg PH, Grunebaum MF, Burke AK *et al* (2007): Sex differences in clinical predictors of suicidal acts after major depression: a prospective study. *American Journal* of Psychiatry 164(1): 134-141.
- 471. Ono H, Shirakawa O, Nushida H, Ueno Y, Maeda K (2004): Association between catechol-O-methyltransferase functional polymorphism and male suicide completers. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 29(7): 1374-1377.
- 472. Baca-Garcia E, Vaquero C, Diaz-Sastre C, Saiz-Ruiz J, Fernandez-Piqueras J, De Leon J (2002): A gender-specific association between the serotonin transporter gene and suicide attempts. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 26(5): 692-695.
- 473. Shindo S, Yoshioka N (2005): Polymorphisms of the cholecystokinin gene promoter region in suicide victims in Japan. *Forensic Science International* 150(1): 85-90.
- 474. Du L, Faludi G, Palkovits M, Sotonyi P, Bakish D, Hrdina PD (2002): High activity-related allele of MAO-A gene associated with depressed suicide in males. *Neuroreport* 13(9): 1195-1198.
- 475. Brunner HG, Nelen M, Breakefield XO, Ropers HH, Van Oost BA (1993): Abnormal behavior associated with a point mutation in the structural gene for monoamine oxidase A. *Science* 262(5133): 578-580.
- 476. Caspi A, McClay J, Moffitt TE, Mill J, Martin J, Craig IW *et al* (2002): Role of genotype in the cycle of violence in maltreated children. *Science* 297(5582): 851-854.

- 477. Brais B, Xie YG, Sanson M, Morgan K, Weissenbach J, Korczyn AD *et al* (1995): The oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy locus maps to the region of the cardiac alpha and beta myosin heavy chain genes on chromosome 14q11.2-q13. *Human Molecular Genetics* 4(3): 429-434.
- 478. Brais B, Bouchard JP, Xie YG, Rochefort DL, Chretien N, Tome FM *et al* (1998): Short GCG expansions in the PABP2 gene cause oculopharyngeal muscular dystrophy. *Nature Genetics* 18(2): 164-167.
- 479. Kibar Z, Der Kaloustian V, Brais B, Hani V, Fraser FC, Rouleau GA (1996): The gene responsible for Clouston hidrotic ectodermal dysplasia maps to the pericentromeric region of chromosome 13q. *Human Molecular Genetics* 5(4): 543-547.
- 480. First MB, Gibbon M, and Spitzer RL. (2001): Structured Clinical Interview for DSM-IV-TR Axis I Disorders, Research Version, Patient Edition with Psychotic Screen (SCID-I/P). New York, New York, Biometrics Research Department, New York State Psychiatric Institute.
- 481. C-DIS Management Group. (1991): Computerized Diagnostic Interview Schedule (Revised) DSM-III-R. Ottawa, Ontario, C-DIS Management Group.
- 482. Hercher C, Turecki G, Mechawar N (2009): Through the looking glass: Examining neuroanatomical evidence for cellular alterations in major depression. *Journal of Psychiatric Research* 43(11): 947-961.
- 483. Sambrook J, Fritsch E.F., Maniatis T. (1989): Molecular Cloning. A Laboratory Manual . Plainview, New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press.
- 484. Abecasis GR, Cookson WO (2000): GOLD--graphical overview of linkage disequilibrium. *Bioinformatics* 16(2): 182-183.
- 485. Stine OC, McMahon FJ, Chen L, Xu J, Meyers DA, MacKinnon DF *et al* (1997): Initial genome screen for bipolar disorder in the NIMH genetics initiative pedigrees: chromosomes 2, 11, 13, 14, and X. *American Journal of Medical Genetics* 74(3): 263-269.

- 486. Ekholm JM, Pekkarinen P, Pajukanta P, Kieseppa T, Partonen T, Paunio T et al (2002): Bipolar disorder susceptibility region on Xq24-q27.1 in Finnish families. *Molecular Psychiatry* 7(5): 453-459.
- 487. Liu J, Nyholt DR, Magnussen P, Parano E, Pavone P, Geschwind D et al (2001): A genomewide screen for autism susceptibility loci. American Journal of Human Genetics 69(2): 327-340.
- 488. Hallmayer J, Hebert JM, Spiker D, Lotspeich L, McMahon WM, Petersen PB *et al* (1996): Autism and the X chromosome. Multipoint sib-pair analysis. *Archives of General Psychiatry* 53(11): 985-989.
- 489. Zeniou M, Ding T, Trivier E, Hanauer A (2002): Expression analysis of RSK gene family members: the RSK2 gene, mutated in Coffin-Lowry syndrome, is prominently expressed in brain structures essential for cognitive function and learning. *Human Molecular Genetics* 11(23): 2929-2940.
- 490. Wang Y, Martinez JE, Wilson GL, He XY, Tuck-Muller CM, Maertens P *et al* (2006): A novel RSK2 (RPS6KA3) gene mutation associated with abnormal brain MRI findings in a family with Coffin-Lowry syndrome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics A* 140(12): 1274-1279.
- 491. Merienne K, Jacquot S, Pannetier S, Zeniou M, Bankier A, Gecz J *et al* (1999): A missense mutation in RPS6KA3 (RSK2) responsible for non-specific mental retardation. *Nature Genetics* 22(1): 13-14.
- 492. Field M, Tarpey P, Boyle J, Edkins S, Goodship J, Luo Y *et al* (2006): Mutations in the RSK2(RPS6KA3) gene cause Coffin-Lowry syndrome and nonsyndromic X-linked mental retardation. *Clinical Genetics* 70(6): 509-515.
- 493. Delaunoy JP, Dubos A, Marques Pereira P, Hanauer A (2006): Identification of novel mutations in the RSK2 gene (RPS6KA3) in patients with Coffin-Lowry syndrome. *Clinical Genetics* 70(2): 161-166.
- 494. Madrigal I, Rodriguez-Revenga L, Badenas C, Sanchez A, Martinez F, Fernandez I *et al* (2007): MLPA as first screening method for the detection

of microduplications and microdeletions in patients with X-linked mental retardation. *Genetics in Medicine* 9(2): 117-122.

- 495. Tarpey PS, Stevens C, Teague J, Edkins S, O'Meara S, Avis T *et al* (2006): Mutations in the gene encoding the Sigma 2 subunit of the adaptor protein 1 complex, AP1S2, cause X-linked mental retardation. *American Journal of Human Genetics* 79(6): 1119-1124.
- 496. Saillour Y, Zanni G, Des Portes V, Heron D, Guibaud L, Iba-Zizen MT *et al* (2007): Mutations in the AP1S2 gene encoding the sigma 2 subunit of the adaptor protein 1 complex are associated with syndromic X-linked mental retardation with hydrocephalus and calcifications in basal ganglia. *Journal of Medical Genetics* 44(11): 739-744.
- 497. Borck G, Molla-Herman A, Boddaert N, Encha-Razavi F, Philippe A, Robel L et al (2008): Clinical, cellular, and neuropathological consequences of AP1S2 mutations: further delineation of a recognizable X-linked mental retardation syndrome. *Human Mutation* 29(7): 966-974.
- 498. Tondreau T, Dejeneffe M, Meuleman N, Stamatopoulos B, Delforge A, Martiat P *et al* (2008): Gene expression pattern of functional neuronal cells derived from human bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells. *BMC Genomics* 9: 166.
- 499. Yan Y, Lagenaur C, Narayanan V (1993): Molecular cloning of M6: identification of a PLP/DM20 gene family. *Neuron* 11(3): 423-431.
- 500. Yan Y, Narayanan V, Lagenaur C (1996): Expression of members of the proteolipid protein gene family in the developing murine central nervous system. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 370(4): 465-478.
- 501. Werner H, Dimou L, Klugmann M, Pfeiffer S, Nave KA (2001): Multiple splice isoforms of proteolipid M6B in neurons and oligodendrocytes. *Molecular and Cellular Neurosciences* 18(6): 593-605.
- 502. Carrel L, Willard HF (2005): X-inactivation profile reveals extensive variability in X-linked gene expression in females. *Nature* 434(7031): 400-404.

- 503. Isensee J, Witt H, Pregla R, Hetzer R, Regitz-Zagrosek V, Ruiz Noppinger P (2008): Sexually dimorphic gene expression in the heart of mice and men. *Journal of Molecular Medicine* 86(1): 61-74.
- 504. Talebizadeh Z, Simon SD, Butler MG (2006): X chromosome gene expression in human tissues: male and female comparisons. *Genomics* 88(6): 675-681.
- 505. Skuse DH (2005): X-linked genes and mental functioning. *Human Molecular Genetics* 14 Spec No 1: R27-R32.
- 506. Hebebrand J, Hennighausen K (1992): A critical analysis of data presented in eight studies favouring X-linkage of bipolar illness with special emphasis on formal genetic aspects. *Human Genetics* 90(3): 289-293.
- 507. Zandi PP, Willour VL, Huo Y, Chellis J, Potash JB, MacKinnon DF et al (2003): Genome scan of a second wave of NIMH genetics initiative bipolar pedigrees: chromosomes 2, 11, 13, 14, and X. American Journal of Medical Genetics B Neuropsychiatric Genetics 119(1): 69-76.
- 508. DeLisi LE, Devoto M, Lofthouse R, Poulter M, Smith A, Shields G *et al* (1994): Search for linkage to schizophrenia on the X and Y chromosomes. *American Journal of Medical Genetics* 54(2): 113-121.
- 509. Laval SH, Dann JC, Butler RJ, Loftus J, Rue J, Leask SJ *et al* (1998): Evidence for linkage to psychosis and cerebral asymmetry (relative hand skill) on the X chromosome. *American Journal of Medical Genetics* 81(5): 420-427.
- 510. Zubenko GS, Maher B, Hughes HB, III, Zubenko WN, Stiffler JS, Kaplan BB *et al* (2003): Genome-wide linkage survey for genetic loci that influence the development of depressive disorders in families with recurrent, early-onset, major depression. *American Journal of Medical Genetics B Neuropsychiatric Genetics* 123(1): 1-18.
- 511. Gauthier J, Joober R, Dube MP, St Onge J, Bonnel A, Gariepy D et al (2006): Autism spectrum disorders associated with X chromosome markers in French-Canadian males. *Molecular Psychiatry* 11(2): 206-213.

- 512. Jamain S, Quach H, Betancur C, Rastam M, Colineaux C, Gillberg IC *et al* (2003): Mutations of the X-linked genes encoding neuroligins NLGN3 and NLGN4 are associated with autism. *Nature Genetics* 34(1): 27-29.
- 513. Xiao L, Celano P, Mank AR, Griffin C, Jabs EW, Hawkins AL et al (1992): Structure of the human spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase gene (exon/intron gene organization and localization to Xp22.1). Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications 187(3): 1493-1502.
- 514. Fogel-Petrovic M, Shappell NW, Bergeron RJ, Porter CW (1993): Polyamine and polyamine analog regulation of spermidine/spermine N1acetyltransferase in MALME-3M human melanoma cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 268(25): 19118-19125.
- 515. Tomitori H, Nenoi M, Mita K, Daino K, Igarashi K, Ichimura S (2002): Functional characterization of the human spermidine/spermine N(1)acetyltransferase gene promoter. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1579(2-3): 180-184.
- 516. Babbar N, Gerner EW, Casero RA (2006): Induction of spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase (SSAT) by aspirin in Caco-2 colon cancer cells. *Biochemical Journal* 394(Part 1): 317-324.
- 517. Choi W, Proctor L, Xia Q, Feng Y, Gerner EW, Chiao PJ et al (2006): Inactivation of IkappaB contributes to transcriptional activation of spermidine/spermine N(1)-acetyltransferase. *Molecular Carcinogenesis* 45(9): 685-693.
- 518. Babbar N, Ignatenko NA, Casero RA, Gerner EW (2003): Cyclooxygenaseindependent induction of apoptosis by sulindac sulfone is mediated by polyamines in colon cancer. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 278(48): 47762-47775.
- 519. Wang Y, Xiao L, Thiagalingam A, Nelkin BD, Casero RA (1998): The identification of a cis-element and a trans-acting factor involved in the response to polyamines and polyamine analogues in the regulation of the human spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase gene transcription. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 273(51): 34623-34630.

- 520. Wang Y, Devereux W, Stewart TM, Casero RA (1999): Cloning and characterization of human polyamine-modulated factor-1, a transcriptional cofactor that regulates the transcription of the spermidine/spermine N(1)-acetyltransferase gene. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274(31): 22095-22101.
- 521. Pegg AE (2008): Spermidine/spermine-N(1)-acetyltransferase: a key metabolic regulator. *American Journal of Physiology Endocrinology and Metabolism* 294(6): E995-1010.
- 522. Pegg AE, Erwin BG (1985): Induction of spermidine/spermine N1acetyltransferase in rat tissues by polyamines. *Biochemical Journal* 231(2): 285-289.
- 523. Erwin BG, Pegg AE (1986): Regulation of spermidine/spermine N1acetyltransferase in L6 cells by polyamines and related compounds. *Biochemical Journal* 238(2): 581-587.
- 524. Turchanowa L, Dauletbaev N, Milovic V, Stein J (2001): Nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs stimulate spermidine/spermine acetyltransferase and deplete polyamine content in colon cancer cells. *European Journal of Clinical Investigation* 31(10): 887-893.
- 525. Aubel C, Chabanon H, Carraro V, Wallace HM, Brachet P (2003): Expression of spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase in HeLa cells is regulated by amino acid sufficiency. *International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology* 35(9): 1388-1398.
- 526. Casero RA, Pegg AE (1993): Spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase-the turning point in polyamine metabolism. *FASEB Journal* 7(8): 653-661.
- 527. Karssen AM, Her S, Li JZ, Patel PD, Meng F, Bunney WE et al (2007): Stress-induced changes in primate prefrontal profiles of gene expression. *Molecular Psychiatry* 12(12): 1089-1102.
- 528. Dumais A, Lesage AD, Lalovic A, Seguin M, Tousignant M, Chawky N et al (2005): Is violent method of suicide a behavioral marker of lifetime aggression? American Journal of Psychiatry 162(7): 1375-1378.

- 529. Barrett JC, Fry B, Maller J, Daly MJ (2005): Haploview: analysis and visualization of LD and haplotype maps. *Bioinformatics* 21(2): 263-265.
- 530. Schug J (2008): Using TESS to predict transcription factor binding sites in DNA sequence. *Current Protocols in Bioinformatics* 21: 2.6.1-2.6.15.
- 531. Porter CW, Ganis B, Libby PR, Bergeron RJ (1991): Correlations between polyamine analogue-induced increases in spermidine/spermine N1acetyltransferase activity, polyamine pool depletion, and growth inhibition in human melanoma cell lines. *Cancer Research* 51(14): 3715-3720.
- 532. Shappell NW, Miller JT, Bergeron RJ, Porter CW (1992): Differential effects of the spermine analog, N1, N12-bis(ethyl)-spermine, on polyamine metabolism and cell growth in human melanoma cell lines and melanocytes. *Anticancer Research* 12(4): 1083-1089.
- 533. Pegg AE, Hu RH (1995): Effect of polyamine analogues and inhibition of polyamine oxidase on spermidine/spermine N1-acetyltransferase activity and cell proliferation. *Cancer Letters* 95(1-2): 247-252.
- 534. Buckland PR (2006): The importance and identification of regulatory polymorphisms and their mechanisms of action. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1762: 17-28.
- 535. Buckland PR, Hoogendoorn B, Coleman SL, Guy CA, Smith SK, O'Donovan MC (2005): Strong bias in the location of functional promoter polymorphisms. *Human Mutation* 26(3): 214-223.
- 536. De Vera N, Martinez E, Sanfeliu C (2008): Spermine induces cell death in cultured human embryonic cerebral cortical neurons through N-methyl-Daspartate receptor activation. *Journal of Neuroscience Research* 86(4): 861-872.
- 537. Mann JJ (2003): Neurobiology of suicidal behaviour. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience* 4(10): 819-828.
- 538. Ferioli ME, Pinotti O, Pirona L (1999): Gender-related differences in polyamine oxidase activity in rat tissues. *Amino Acids* 17(2): 139-148.
- 539. Gilad VH, Halperin R, Chen-Levy Z, Gilad GM (2002): Cyclic changes of plasma spermine concentrations in women. *Life Science* 72(2): 135-141.

- 540. Dumais A, Lesage AD, Alda M, Rouleau G, Dumont M, Chawky N et al (2005): Risk factors for suicide completion in major depression: a casecontrol study of impulsive and aggressive behaviors in men. American Journal of Psychiatry 162(11): 2116-2124.
- 541. Klose RJ, Bird AP (2006): Genomic DNA methylation: the mark and its mediators. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 31(2): 89-97.
- 542. Aleman A, Cebrian V, Alvarez M, Lopez V, Orenes E, Lopez-Serra L et al (2008): Identification of PMF1 methylation in association with bladder cancer progression. *Clinical Cancer Research* 14(24): 8236-8243.
- 543. Ikeda R, Nishida T, Watanabe F, Shimizu-Saito K, Asahina K, Horikawa S et al (2008): Involvement of CCAAT/enhancer binding protein-beta (C/EBPbeta) in epigenetic regulation of mouse methionine adenosyltransferase 1A gene expression. International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology 40(9): 1956-1969.
- 544. Keller S, Sarchiapone M, Zarrilli F, Videtic A, Ferraro A, Carli V et al (2010): Increased BDNF promoter methylation in the Wernicke area of suicide subjects. Archives of General Psychiatry 67(3): 258-267.
- 545. Barski A, Cuddapah S, Cui K, Roh TY, Schones DE, Wang Z et al (2007): High-resolution profiling of histone methylations in the human genome. *Cell* 129(4): 823-837.
- 546. Ernst C, McGowan PO, Deleva V, Meaney MJ, Szyf M, Turecki G (2008): The effects of pH on DNA methylation state: In vitro and post-mortem brain studies. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods* 174(1): 123-125.
- 547. Huang HS, Matevossian A, Jiang Y, Akbarian S (2006): Chromatin immunoprecipitation in postmortem brain. *Journal of Neuroscience Methods* 156(1-2): 284-292.
- 548. Matevossian A, Akbarian S (2008): A chromatin assay for human brain tissue. *Journal of Visualized Experiments* (13).
- 549. Munshi A, Shafi G, Aliya N, Jyothy A (2009): Histone modifications dictate specific biological readouts. *Journal of Genetics and Genomics* 36(2): 75-88.

- 550. Hillary RA, Pegg AE (2003): Decarboxylases involved in polyamine biosynthesis and their inactivation by nitric oxide. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta* 1647(1-2): 161-166.
- 551. Bolkenius FN, Seiler N (1981): Acetylderivatives as intermediates in polyamine catabolism. *International Journal of Biochemistry* 13(3): 287-292.
- 552. Vujcic S, Diegelman P, Bacchi CJ, Kramer DL, Porter CW (2002): Identification and characterization of a novel flavin-containing spermine oxidase of mammalian cell origin. *Biochemical Journal* 367(Pt 3): 665-675.
- 553. De Alencastro G, McCloskey DE, Kliemann SE, Maranduba CM, Pegg AE, Wang X et al (2008): New SMS mutation leads to a striking reduction in spermine synthase protein function and a severe form of Snyder-Robinson X-linked recessive mental retardation syndrome. *Journal of Medical Genetics* 45(8): 539-543.
- 554. Meyer RA, Jr., Henley CM, Meyer MH, Morgan PL, McDonald AG, Mills C et al (1998): Partial deletion of both the spermine synthase gene and the Pex gene in the X-linked hypophosphatemic, gyro (Gy) mouse. Genomics 48(3): 289-295.
- 555. Ikeguchi Y, Wang X, McCloskey DE, Coleman CS, Nelson P, Hu G *et al* (2004): Characterization of transgenic mice with widespread overexpression of spermine synthase. *Biochemical Journal* 381(Pt 3): 701-707.
- 556. Murray-Stewart T, Wang Y, Devereux W, Casero RA (2002): Cloning and characterization of multiple human polyamine oxidase splice variants that code for isoenzymes with different biochemical characteristics. *Biochemical Journal* 368(Pt 3): 673-677.
- 557. Cervelli M, Bellini A, Bianchi M, Marcocci L, Nocera S, Polticelli F *et al* (2004): Mouse spermine oxidase gene splice variants. Nuclear subcellular localization of a novel active isoform. *European Journal of Biochemistry* 271(4): 760-770.

- 558. Wang Y, Hacker A, Murray-Stewart T, Fleischer JG, Woster PM, Casero RA (2005): Induction of human spermine oxidase SMO(PAOh1) is regulated at the levels of new mRNA synthesis, mRNA stabilization and newly synthesized protein. *Biochemical Journal* 386(Pt 3): 543-547.
- 559. Chomet PS (1991): Cytosine methylation in gene-silencing mechanisms. *Current Opinion in Cell Biology* 3(3): 438-443.
- 560. Kuratomi G, Iwamoto K, Bundo M, Kusumi I, Kato N, Iwata N et al (2008): Aberrant DNA methylation associated with bipolar disorder identified from discordant monozygotic twins. *Molecular Psychiatry* 13(4): 429-441.
- 561. Gimelbrant A, Hutchinson JN, Thompson BR, Chess A (2007): Widespread monoallelic expression on human autosomes. *Science* 318(5853): 1136-1140.
- 562. Fedorova L, Fedorov A (2003): Introns in gene evolution. *Genetica* 118(2-3): 123-131.
- 563. Chen GG, Turecki G, Mamer OA (2009): A quantitative GC-MS method for three major polyamines in postmortem brain cortex. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry* 44(8): 1203-1210.
- 564. Chen GG, Turecki G, Mamer OA (2010): A novel liquid-liquid extraction and stable isotope dilution NCI-GC-MS method for quantitation of agmatine in postmortem brain cortex. *Journal of Mass Spectrometry* 45(5): 560-565.
- 565. Gupta N, Zhang H, Liu P (2009): Behavioral and neurochemical effects of acute putrescine depletion by difluoromethylornithine in rats. *Neuroscience* 161(3): 691-706.
- 566. Camera K, Mello CF, Ceretta AP, Rubin MA (2007): Systemic administration of polyaminergic agents modulate fear conditioning in rats. *Psychopharmacology (Berlin)* 192(4): 457-464.
- 567. Taksande BG, Kotagale NR, Tripathi SJ, Ugale RR, Chopde CT (2009): Antidepressant like effect of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors involve

modulation of imidazoline receptors by agmatine. *Neuropharmacology* 57(4): 415-424.

- 568. Li M, Farley RA, Lester HA (2002): Voltage-dependent transient currents of human and rat 5-HT transporters (SERT) are blocked by HEPES and ion channel ligands. *FEBS Letters* 513(2-3): 247-252.
- 569. Kaya B, Unal S, Karabulut AB, Turkoz Y (2004): Altered diurnal variation of nitric oxide production in patients with panic disorder. *Tohoku Journal of Experimental Medicine* 204(2): 147-154.
- 570. Bernstein HG, Bogerts B, Keilhoff G (2005): The many faces of nitric oxide in schizophrenia. A review. *Schizophrenia Research* 78(1): 69-86.
- 571. Bernstein HG, Heinemann A, Krell D, Dobrowolny H, Bielau H, Keilhoff G et al (2005): Hypothalamic nitric oxide synthase in affective disorder: focus on the suprachiasmatic nucleus. Cellular and Molecular Biology 51(3): 279-284.
- 572. Kiss JP (2000): Role of nitric oxide in the regulation of monoaminergic neurotransmission. *Brain Research Bulletins* 52(6): 459-466.
- 573. Pepicelli O, Raiteri M, Fedele E (2004): The NOS/sGC pathway in the rat central nervous system: a microdialysis overview. *Neurochemistry International* 45(6): 787-797.
- 574. Smith KL, Jessop DS, Finn DP (2009): Modulation of stress by imidazoline binding sites: Implications for psychiatric disorders. *Stress* 12(2): 97-114.
- 575. Piletz JE, Zhu H, Ordway G, Stockmeier C, Dilly G, Reis D *et al* (2000): Imidazoline receptor proteins are decreased in the hippocampus of individuals with major depression. *Biological Psychiatry* 48(9): 910-919.
- 576. Halaris A, Piletz JE (2003): Relevance of imidazoline receptors and agmatine to psychiatry: a decade of progress. *Annals of the New York Academy of Science* 1009: 1-20.
- 577. Halaris A, Plietz J (2007): Agmatine: Metabolic pathway and spectrum of activity in brain. *CNS Drugs* 21(11): 885-900.
- 578. Casero RA, Pegg AE (2009): Polyamine catabolism and disease. *Biochemical Journal* 421: 323-338.

- 579. Jacobs BL, Van Praag H, Gage FH (2000): Adult brain neurogenesis and psychiatry: a novel theory of depression. *Molecular Psychiatry* 5(3): 262-269.
- 580. Malaterre J, Strambi C, Aouane A, Strambi A, Rougon G, Cayre M (2004): A novel role for polyamines in adult neurogenesis in rodent brain. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 20(2): 317-330.
- 581. Harada J, Sugimoto M (1997): Polyamines prevent apoptotic cell death in cultured cerebellar granule neurons. *Brain Research* 753(2): 251-259.
- 582. Sparapani M, DallOlio R, Gandolfi O, Ciani E, Contestabile A (1997): Neurotoxicity of polyamines and pharmacological neuroprotection in cultures of rat cerebellar granule cells. *Experimental Neurology* 148(1): 157-166.
- 583. Zhu MY, Wang WP, Cai ZW, Regunathan S, Ordway G (2008): Exogenous agmatine has neuroprotective effects against restraint-induced structural changes in the rat brain. *European Journal of Neuroscience* 27(6): 1320-1332.
- 584. Zhu MY, Wang WP, Huang JJ, Regunathan S (2007): Chronic treatment with glucocorticoids alters rat hippocampal and prefrontal cortical morphology in parallel with endogenous agmatine and arginine decarboxylase levels. *Journal of Neurochemistry* 103(5): 1811-1820.